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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 26 APRIL 2021  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Myburgh ,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Good morn ing  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  you ready?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes we a re .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson  as  you know today has  

been schedu led  fo r  the  cont inuat ion  o f  Mr  Gama’s  

ev idence.   He las t  gave ev idence  I  th ink  i t  was on the  11  10 

March th is  year ;  he  is  here .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And ready to  take  the  oa th .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay p lease  admin is te r  the  oa th  or  

a f f i rmat ion .   Good morn ing  Mr  Gama.  

MR GAMA:   Good  morn ing  DCJ.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR GAMA:   S iyabonga Innocent  Gama.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any ob jec t ions to  tak ing  the  20 

prescr ibed oath?  

MR GAMA:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  b ind ing  on  your  

consc ience?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  
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REGISTRAR:   Do you so lemnly  swear  tha t  a l l  the  ev idence  

you w i l l  g i ve  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  

bu t  the  t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and  say,  so  

he lp  me God. .  

MR GAMA:   So  he lp  me God.  

REGISTRAR:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you ve ry  much and thank you fo r  

coming back Mr  Gama to  ass is t  the  commiss ion  and 

ava i l ing  yourse l f .  

MR GAMA:   Thank you Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson  the  documents  tha t  a re  

o f  par t i cu la r  re levance to  Mr  Gama’s  ev idence are  f i rs t l y  

and pr inc ipa l l y  Bund le  7  Transnet  Bund le  7  Exh ib i t  BB28 

tha t  i s  Mr  Gama’s  exh ib i t  and then we w i l l  a lso  be  re fer r ing  

to  Bund le  6  tha t  i s  Exh ib i t  BB27 the  Trans – the  so  ca l led  

Transnet  POI  Reference Bund le .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay I  have  got  –  I  have got  bo th  o f  

them.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   S ince las t  … 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Gama’s  lega l  representa t i ves  are  they 

s t i l l  the  same? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes and they are  present .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .   For  the  reco rd  Mr  Gama is  

s t i l l  represented by  the  same lega l  representa t i ves .   Thank  
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you.   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rpe rson  s ince  the  las t  s i t t ing  Mr  

Gama has p rov ided us  w i th  two add i t iona l  a f f idav i t s .   He –  

one o f  them is  conta ined towards the  end o f  Exh ib i t  28  the  

o ther  one was g iven to  us  th is  morn ing .   We have hard  

cop ies  and a t  the  appropr ia te  t ime  I  m ight  ask  you to  –  to  

in t roduce tha t  in to  ev idence.   We hope maybe a t  tea  t imes 

tha t  we can fo rmal ly  ge t  i t  pag ina ted and added  to  the 

bund le .   So fo r  p resent  pu rposes I  wou ld  l i ke  s imp ly  to  add 

Mr  Gama’s  –  an  u l t imate  a f f idav i t .   10 

 Mr  Gama cou ld  I  ask  you p lease  to tu rn  to  page 

250.130.   Cha i rperson the  documenta t ion  las t  t ime went  up  

to  page 250.   The pag ina t ion  o f  the  documents  tha t  

fo l lowed are  250.1  and fu r the r  so  no t  idea l  bu t  i t  was 

caused by  the  fac t  tha t  there  is  another  exh ib i t  tha t  s ta r ts  

a t  page 251.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  no  tha t  i s  f ine .   So the  page tha t  

you have asked us  to  go  to  now is  200 and? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   250.130.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.    20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A re  you there  Mr  Gama? 

MR GAMA:   A lmost .   Yes I  have go t  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Gama there  you w i l l  f ind  the 

commencement  o f  your  a f f idav i t  tha t  runs up  unt i l  page 

250.175 and then  inc ludes a  ser ies  o f  annexures wh ich  run  
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f rom po in t  176 a l l  the  way to  po in t  257.    

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Do you conf i rm tha t?  

MR GAMA:   I  con f i rm tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  I  cou ld  take  you back p lease to  

page 250.175 do you conf i rm tha t  you depose  to  th is  

a f f idav i t?  

MR GAMA:   Yes I  do .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   On the  18 t h  o f  March 2021  and do 

you conf i rm the  t ru th  and accuracy o f  th is  a f f idav i t  10 

MR GAMA:   Yes I  do .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Page 250.175 Mr  Myburgh be ing  the  las t  

page o f  h is  a f f idav i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   O f  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  s ta r ts  a t  page 

250.130?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes and i f  I  cou ld  ask  you… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  I  cou ld  ask  you p lease to  en ter  tha t  

in to  ev idence Cha i rperson marked  Exh ib i t  BB28.5 .13 .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  S iyabonga Innocent  

Gama tha t  s ta r ts  a t  page 250.130 is  admi t ted  as  an  exh ib i t  

and w i l l  be  marked as  Exh ib i t  BB28 .5 .13 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Cha i rperson.   Cha i rperson  

sub jec t  to  your  d i rec t ion  we have agreed w i th  our  l earned 
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f r iends tha t  the  proceed ings w i l l  commence th is  morn ing  

w i th  Mr  Gama read ing  the  ba lance o f  h is  in i t ia l  open ing  

s ta tement .   We have looked a t  tha t ;  we have no ob jec t ion  

to  h im do ing  so .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You w i l l  –  you w i l l  reca l l  tha t  

p rev ious l y… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh yes,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There  was a  ru l ing  where  he  dea l t  

w i th  par t  o f  i t  and jus t  the  ev idence o f  the  w i tnesses tha t  10 

he  was go ing  to  dea l  w i th  on  tha t  day.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  Mr  Gama had dea l t  w i th  the  f i rs t  

f i ve  and a  ha l f  pages o f  h is  open ing  s ta tement .   I  assume 

tha t  he  wou ld  want  to  p ick  up  there  and perhaps  I  cou ld  

d i rec t  you r  a t ten t ion  p lease.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   To  page 250 .6 .   I  unders tand tha t  Mr  

Gama wou ld  l i ke  to  ca r ry  on  read ing  i n to  the  record  h is  

open ing  s ta tement .   From there  he  d id  prev ious l y  dea l  w i th  20 

the  ev idence o f  Mr  Todd and a lso  the  conc lus ion .  

 Cha i rperson Mr  Gama has then prepared a  fu r ther  

open ing  s ta tement  wh ich  seems to  me to  dea l  

p redominate l y  w i th  p rocedura l  mat te rs .   He wants  t o  read 

tha t  open ing  s ta tement  a f te r  he  has dea l t  w i th  th is .  
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 We were  p rov ided w i th  the i r  open ing  s ta tement  th is  

morn ing  we have got  ha rd  cop ies  and perhaps  a t  the  

appropr ia te  t ime I  can hand I  up  to  you and we w i l l  then 

f ind  a  p lace fo r  i t  in  the  bund le .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .   Wel l  the  prev ious one I  

have seen so  i f  there  i s  any new one I  wou ld  need to  see i t  

f i rs t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  can  then hand i t  up  to  you i f  I  may?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   Okay.   But  tha t  one can be dea l t  w i th  

la te r  no t  now is  tha t  r igh t?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  I  th ink  tha t  sub jec t  to  your  

d i rec t ion  as  I  have i t  and I  have jus t  squ izzed th rough i t  i t  

seems to  dea l  w i th  p redominant ly  p rocedura l  i ssues.   Mr  

Gama has ce r ta in  compla in ts  tha t  he  w ishes to  leve l  

aga ins t  the  lega l  team which  is  o f  course  o f  r igh t  and he 

a lso  appears  to  take  issue Cha i rperson w i th  the  ru l ing  tha t  

you made.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   In  re la t ion  to  p roceed ings on  Fr iday.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.    20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   To  the  best  o f  my knowledge he 

seems to  dea l  w i t h  those two th ings broad ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  we do not  have any d i f f i cu l t y  –  i t  

i s  no t  a  case o f  someone be ing  imp l ica ted  or  … 
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Anyth ing  o f  the  sor t .   F rom the  lega l  

team’s  po in t  o f  v iew we wou ld  have no d i f f i cu l t y.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wi th  Mr  Gama dea l ing  w i th  that  

sub jec t  to  your  d i rec t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   Wel l  maybe Mr  Gama i f  i t  i s  f ine  w i th  

you I  do  no t  th ink  I  wou ld  have any d i f f i cu l t y  to  you  

ar t i cu la t ing  your  concerns bu t  I  wou ld  l i ke  jus t  to  read i t  in  

advance.   Can I  g ive  you a  chance to  dea l  w i th  th is  10 

somet ime dur ing  the  course  o f  the  day?  

MR GAMA:   That  i s  f ine  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wou ld  tha t  be  f ine?  When I  have had a  

look a t  i t .   Bu t  the  prev ious one you can dea l  w i th  i t  now i f  

you wou ld  l i ke  to  read i t .  

MR GAMA:   Thank you ve ry  much.   Thank you ve ry  much 

Cha i rperson.  

 As  you know I  had s ta r ted  w i th  my open ing  

s ta tement  on  the  11 t h  o f  March.   I t  shou ld  no t  be  const rued  

tha t  I  have been read ing  i t  s ince  then because  then i t  20 

m ight  become the  longest  open ing  s ta tement .   I  do  no t  

want  to  be  in  ( ta lk ing  over  one another ) .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  you can go  in to  the  re levant  books  

o f  record .    

MR GAMA:   No thank you very  much.   I  th ink  when we 
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dea l t  w i th  i t  I  had ind ica ted  tha t  there  were  var ious  

tes t imon ies  wh ich  were  prov ided  by  w i tnesses who have 

sought  to  imp l ica te  me and to  h igh l igh t  some o f  the  more 

g la r ing  d iscrepanc ies ,  incons is tenc ies  and improbab i l i t ies  

and fa l s i t ies  I  then cont inue w i th  my s ta tement  a t  page 6  o f  

the  s ta tement  under  head ing  number  8 .  

 I  s ta r t  w i th  the  s ta tement  o f  Popo Mole fe  and h is  –  

h is  tes t imony.   From Popo Mole fe ’s  tes t imony the  

commiss ion  has learn t  how my appo in tment  a t  Transnet  

a l leged ly  occu r red .  10 

 Accord ing  to  Mole fe  my appo in tment  os tens ib l y  

occu r red  due to  t he  in f luence o f  G igaba.   Th i s  a l legat ion  I  

be l ieve  has been purposed to  f i t  the  s ta te  capture  

nar ra t i ve .  

 I  wou ld  l i ke  to  exp la in  aga in  tha t  as  ind ica ted  in  my 

a f f idav i t  deposed  to  concern ing  my h is to ry  a t  Transnet  I  

have worked th rough the  ranks and was u l t imate ly  

appo in ted  as  CEO through ha rd  work  and ded ica t ion  and  

not  th rough the  in f luence and hand o f  G igaba as  Mr  Popo  

Mole fe  wou ld  have you to  be l ieve .  20 

 Mr  G igaba was appo in ted  as  the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l i c  

Enterp r ises  in  2010.   A t  tha t  t ime I  had a l ready worked a t  

Transnet  fo r  more  than s ix teen years .  

 The Min i s te r  i s  on ly  ever  invo lved in  board  

appo in tments  and so  i t  i s  hard  to  unders tand how Popo  
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Mo le fe  cou ld  reach the  conc lus ion  tha t  Mr  G igaba had a  

hand in  my appo in tment  as  a  CEO at  a  d iv is ion  o f  Transnet  

wh ich  is  be low board  leve l .  

 I t  must  there fore  be  reco rded tha t  th is  i s  fa lse .  

 Popo Mole fe  admi t ted  in  h is  o ra l  tes t imony under  

oa th  tha t  the  contents  o f  what  he  had s ta ted  was not  w i th in  

h is  own persona l  knowledge.   I  am dea l ing  there  w i th  the  

Transcr ip t  o f  h is  tes t imony to  the  s ta te  capture  commiss ion  

o f  the  7 t h  o f  May 2019 a t  page 6 .  

 So h is  own v i va  voce tes t imony when he f i rs t  10 

appeared a t  th is  commiss ion  when he was be ing  led  by  

Advocate  Pau l  P re tor ius  he  however  went  to  g reat  lengths  

Cha i r  to  c la im tha t  I  was one o f  th ree  arch i tec ts  o f  s ta te  

capture  a t  Transnet .  

 He never  de f ined  or  exp la ined what  an  arch i tec t  o f  

s ta te  capture  i s  o r  even worse  the  fac ts  on  wh ich  he  re l ied  

fo r  such a  s ta r t l ing  and I  must  say  fa lse  a l legat ion .  

 The a l legat ion  tha t  I  am one o f  t h ree  a rch i tec ts  o f  

s ta te  captu re  has  never  been even remote l y  substant ia ted  

by  c red ib le  ev idence.  20 

 On the  top ics  o f  Reg iments ,  Tr i l l i an  and Nkonke I  

have been accused o f  co l lud ing  w i th  the  a fo rement ioned 

ent i t ies .   The t ru th  o f  the  mat te r  i s  tha t  each o f  these 

ent i t ies  cont rac t s  were  te rm inated  by  me dur ing  my  tenure  

a t  Transnet .  
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 Such te rm inat ions were  based on  ob jec t i ve  

ev idence p laced  before  me a t  tha t  t ime tha t  in te r  a l ia  

Transnet ’s  cont inued re la t ionsh ip  w i th  them wou ld  br ing  

the  reputa t ion  o f  the  SOE in to  d is repute .  

 Popo Mole fe  fa i led  to  make ment ion  tha t  the  

cont rac ts  w i th  Reg iments  and Tr i l l i an  were  te rm inated by  

me wi th  the  concur rence o f  the  board  in  October  o f  2016.  

 Th is  was approx imate l y  n ine  months  be fore  the  

emergence o f  the  now and famous  June 2017 Gupta  emai l  

t ro l l s  tha t  capt iva ted  the  count ry  fo r  many months .  10 

 Terminat ing  cont rac t s  i s  ha rd ly  the  conduct  o f  a  

person who is  co l lud ing  w i th  those sa id  pa r t ies .   Popo 

Mole fe  as  non-execut ive  Cha i rman o f  Transnet  was a t  

pa ins  to  po in t  ou t  to  the  med ia  dur ing  October  2018 tha t  

Transnet  had te rm inated my cont rac t  due to  ac ts  o f  a l leged 

f raud,  cor rup t ion  and misconduct  on  my par t .  

 In  the  p lead ings  w i th  re ference to  the  arb i t ra t ion  

tha t  I  am hav ing  w i th  Transnet  Popo Mole fe  den ies  tha t  

Transnet  te rm inated my employment  due to  m isconduct .  

 The a forement ioned a rb i t ra t ion  proceed ings have 20 

not  been commenced.  Such a  tu rna round po in ts  to   

a .  The persona l  vendet ta  o r  i ncompetence on the  par t  o f  

the  board  and Popo Mole fe  or  they  are  d ishonest .  

Fo l lowing my d i smissa l  and in  a  b id  to  ga ther  ev idence tha t  

he  ought  to  have co l lec ted  befo re  d ismiss ing  me Popo  
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Mo le fe  h i red  a  re t i red  b ishop and o f fe red  amnesty  to  

managers  a t  Transnet  i f  they  came fo rward  and ind ic ted  

tha t  I  had asked  them to  perpet ra te  a  f raud or  co r rup t ion  

aga ins t  the  company.  

 S ign i f i can t  00 :15 :59 came fo rward  as  the  no t ion  o f  

me be ing  cor rup t ,  i t s  fa ls i t y  tha t  has been created by  Popo 

Mole fe  and those  o f  h is  i l k .   

 Mo le fe  in  h i s  a f f idav i t  exp la ined tha t  he  has  

in i t ia ted  c iv i l  l i t i ga t ion  aga ins t  me and o thers  a t  the  South 

Gauteng H igh Cour t  b ind ing  me as a  respondent  w i th  10 

Reg iments  and Tr i l l i an  en t i t ies  whose cont rac ts  a t  Transnet  

I  had te rm inated.  

 Dur ing  h i s  o ra l  tes t imony Popo Mole fe  c rea ted the  

percept ion  tha t  Transnet  was s t rugg l ing  f inanc ia l l y  dur ing  

my tenure  w i th  the  SOE.   The t ru th  and the  fac ts  however  

a re  very  d i f fe ren t  in  tha t  dur ing  my las t  year  a t  the  he lm o f  

Transnet  and as  ev idence by  the  fac ts  no t  f i c t ion  tha t  has 

rou t ine ly  repor ts  in  our  med ia  Transnet  remained s t rong  

f inanc ia l l y.  

 By  way o f  example  ne t  p ro f i t  g rew by 75% f rom 20 

R2.8  b i l l i on  in to  2017 to  R4.9  b i l l i on  in  March 2018 wh ich  

was aga ins t  an  11 .3% improvement  in  to ta l  revenue f rom 

R65.5  b i l l i on  to  R72.9  b i l l i on  and  an 18% improvement  in  

opera t ing  pro f i t  f rom R27.6  b i l l i on  to  R32.5  b i l l i on .  

 Th is  per fo rmance ind i ca tes  tha t  Transnet  was  
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f inanc ia l l y  independent  and d id  no t  requ i re  any subs idy  or  

guarantee f rom the  s ta te .    

 Cha i rperson have the  commiss ion  and the  South  

A f r i can pub l i c  been mis led?  What  we have w i tnessed over  

the  past  two years  a t  Transnet  i s  ex t reme sabotage o f  a  

SOE.   

 The in ten t ions are  dub ious and as  I  have po in ted  

out  be fore  to  Popo Mole fe  the  PRASA re la t ion  o f  Transnet  

i s  a foo t  and I  have g iven a  foo t  no te  Cha i r  in  te rms o f  what  

I  have def ined as  PRASA re la t ion  a t  Transnet .  10 

 I  co ined the  phrase 00:18:22  to  re fer  to  the  

phenomenon where  Popo Mole fe  led  in tens i ve  fo rens ic  

invest iga t ions l ead ing  to  a  s ta te  o f  para lys is  and  lack  o f  

dec is ion  mak ing  and wh i ls t  the  board  g ives  the  impress ion  

o f  purpose i t  i s  an  i l l us ion .  

 The author i t y  o f  execut ives  is  cur ta i led  and the  

board  takes dec is ions tha t  ought  to  be  taken by  Genera l  

Managers  and the  main  bus iness su f fe rs  as  a  resu l t  

thereof .  

 In  2020 we w i tnessed tha t  ne t  p ro f i t  a t  Transnet  as  20 

as  a t  the  end o f  March increased by  34 .9% to  R3.9  b i l l i on .   

Whi le  th i s  i s  s t i l l  respectab le  Cha i r  bu t  because i t  cou ld  

and shou ld  have  been less  however  suggests  tha t  you r  

observers  must  watch  i f  they  w i l l  no t  be  a  dec l ine  lead ing  

to  a  rea l  co l lapse and pro f i tab i l i t y  ove r  the  nex t  th ree  
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years  when the  impact  o f  00 :19 :15 fu l l y  se ts  in .  

 Between 2016 and 2017 Transne t  embarked on a  

process to  c rea te  a  new s t ra tegy  tha t  insu la te  i t  f rom low 

domest ic  g rowth  and penet ra te  new markets  whose  growth  

was in  excess o f  the  s ta te  in  South  A f r i can domes t ic  GDP 

growth .  

 For  the  year  ended March 2018 Transnet  announced  

a  75% growth  a  ne t  p ro f i t  o f  R4.9  b i l l i on  aga ins t  an  

increase o f  11 .3% to  R72.9  b i l l i on  dr i ven by  s t rong vo lume 

growth .  10 

 A l l  o f  the  fundamenta l s  t racked pos i t i ve ly  aga ins t  

South  A f r i can GDP growth  o f  on l y  0 .7%.   These were  no t  

the  resu l ts  o f  a  s t rugg l ing  company.   Yet  in  May 2019 Popo 

Mole fe  in fo rmed the  commiss ion  tha t  the  new board  had  

ve t ted  a  f inanc ia l  co l lapse o f  the  company.   

 A News 24 repor t  by  Lameez Omar jee  on  the  7 t h  o f  

May 2019 wh ich  I  have captured.   I t  cap tures  succ inc t l y  the 

fa lse  s ta tement  tha t  was prov ided to  the  commiss ion .  

 The ev idence Cha i r  as  I  have exh ib i ted  is  d i f fe ren t .   

I  quote  he  says:  20 

“ I t  was a  jus t  a  mat te r  o f  t ime before  

Transnet  became Eskom not  tha t  we l i ke  

where  Eskom is  i t  i s  ser ious,  i t  i s  in  ser ious  

t roub le  and because o f  tha t  the  count ry  i s  

in  t roub le . ”  
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 He then a l so  went  on  to  say tha t  when the  new 

board  took over  in  2018 Transnet  had been on the  verge o f  

co l lapse.   Th is  i s  no t  a  cor rec t  ana lys is  o f  Transnet  

00 :20 :53.   I t  was dramat ized;  i t  was sensat iona l i sed to  

d rum up suppor t  w i th  the  a l legat ions o f  i l l ega l  ac t i v i t y  tha t  

was be ing  v is i ted  upon peop le  such as  myse l f  and o ther  

exper ienced execut ives  who were  be ing  pu rged a t  

Transnet .  

 I  have a l ready Cha i r  dea l t  w i th  the  tes t imony o f  

Todd so  I  am go ing  to  sk ip  tha t  and then go to  Revenue 10 

Management  and Cost  Conta inment  S t ra tegy.  

 I  then dea l  w i th  the  issues o f  Nkonk i .   When Nkonk i  

was h i red  some o f  the  key pro jec ts  they were  tasked to  

look  a t  were  revenue cont rac ts  espec ia l l y  in  the  coa l  l ine  

and the  i ron  o re  l ine .  

 Th is  i s  an  area o f  Transnet ’s  respons ib i l i t y  where  

es tab l i shed compan ies  dominate  the  a l loca t ion  o f  ra i l  and 

por t  capac i ty  to  the  de t r iment  o f  emerg ing  m iners .  

 By  way o f  example  the  most  s ign i f i can t  o f  these  

cont rac ts  i s  the  Kumba Cont rac t  wh ich  i s  fo r  the  hau lage o f  20 

i ron  ore  f rom S ishen to  Sa ldanha.   Th is  evergreen cont rac t  

a rose Cha i r  a rose hast i l y  ou t  o f  the  des i re  to  e l im ina te  an  

embedded der i va t ive  wh ich  arose  f rom an 00:22:11 base 

pr ic ing  reg ime on the  cont rac t  wh ich  was ente red  in to  in  

the  la te  ‘70 ’s .  
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 Transnet  the re fo re  in  2005 had en tered i n to  a  new 

23 year  cont rac t  tha t  wou ld  exp i re  in  2028.   I t  ra tes  tha t  I  

even the  lowest  in  the  wor ld  per  ton  k i lomet re .   The amount  

to  less  than 1  US  cent  per  ton  per  k i lomet re  or  12 .8  South  

A f r i can cents  pe r  ton  per  k i lomet re  to  hau l  i ron  ore  fo r  

Kumba f rom S ishen to  Sa ldanha.  

 So fo r  the  861 k i lomet re  t r ip  Kumani  pays R111.00  

per  ton  pe r  wh i le  Assmang wh ich  is  i t s  compet i to r  is  

charged a t  a  ra te  o f  17 .3  cents  per  ton  fo r  the  same i ron  

ore  product ion  f rom the  Kumani  m ine in  the  Nor the rn  Cape  10 

wh ich  amounts  to  R140 pe r  ton .  

 Th is  rep resents  a  d i f fe rence o f  R38 fo r  eve ry  ton  

hau l  demonst ra t i ng  a  ta r i f f  tha t  w i l l  no t  pass muster  w i th  

our  compet i t ion  laws.  

 So in  2013 Kumba had in i t ia l l y  agreed tha t  i t s  ra te  

needed to  be  normal ised in  l ine  w i th  Assmang in  

acco rdance w i th  fa i r  bus iness prac t ices .  

 However  in  nego t ia t ions  tha t  we had res tar ted  in  

2018 i t  repor ted  Transnet  and i t s  management  under  my 

leadersh ip  to  Min is te r  Prav in  Gordhan who a t tempt ing  to  20 

leve l  the  p lay ing  f ie lds  w i th  Assmang and t r y ing  to  ge t  ou t  

o f  an  an t i -compet i t i ve  cont rac t .  To  th is  day Kumba pays 

Transnet  approx imate ly  R1 b i l l i on  less  pe r  annum than  

what  they ought  to  pay had i t s  t a r i f f  been norma l ised in  

l ine  w i th  Assmang ta r i f f  wh ich  was  normal ised in  2013.  
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 These ant i -compet i t i ve  behav iour  in  the  super  

p ro f i t s  be ing  earned by  Kumba is  sa id  to  be  condoned unt i l  

2028.   So any Transnet  o f f i c ia l  who seeks to  norma l ise  th is  

earns  the  wra th  o f  the  Ang lo  Amer ican PLC owned  Kumba 

resources.    

 A l l  e f fo r ts  to  renegot ia te  these ta r i f f s  a re  s tone  

wa l led  by  Kumba.   These are  the  env i ronment  where  

Kumba earns in  excess o f  R20 b i l l i on  ne t  p ro f i t  per  annum 

at  the  expense o f  a  s ta te  owned ent i t y  and to  the  de t r iment  

o f  the  00 :24:14 o f  i ron  ore  in  the  count ry.  10 

 As an  example  Kumba earn ings be fore  in te res t ,  tax  

deprec ia t ion  and  amor t i sa t ion  fo r  the  year  ended 31  

December  2020 increased to  a  rogue –  record  R45.8  b i l l i on  

resu l t ing  in  an  00 :24:32 marg in  o f  57% aga ins t  52% the  

prev ious year  wh ich  is  a  remarkab le  fea t  indeed.  

 Cha i rperson th is  i s  the  rea l  s ta te  captu re .   The 

Transnet  Kumba agreement  i s  under  compet i t i ve  and 

exc lus ionary  in  tha t  Ang lo  Kumba has captured the  ra i l  and  

por t  capac i ty  on  the  i ron  ore  l ine  and kept  ou t  b lack  jun io r  

i ron  o re  m iners .   In  fac t  a l l  b lack  i ron  ore  m iners  se l l  the i r  20 

i ron  ore  to  Kumba because they  have no ra i l  and po r t  

capac i ty  a l l  o f  wh ich  has been a l loca ted  to  those who were  

in  m in ing  pr io r  to  1994 even though min ing  l i cences have  

been issued in  the  r i ch  i ron  ore  area o f  the  Nor the rn  Cape 

the  m ine rs  do  no t  have a l loca t ion  to  expor t  manganese o r  
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i ron  ore  in  the i r  own names.  

 So i f  we then move on to  po in t  number  10 .   A new 

board  was appo in ted  a t  Transnet  in  May 2018.   I t s  f i rs t  

o rder  o f  bus iness  Cha i rperson in  June 2018 was to  accuse  

the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  p res id ing  over  male f i cence a t  

Transnet .    

 My a t tempts  to  induct  the  board  to  Transnet  

p rocesses,  cont ro l  sys tems,  s t ra tegy and cha l lenges and to  

a rm the  board  members  w i th  the  necessary  in fo rmat ion  to  

in fo rm them even to  educate  them and to  a l lay  the  10 

a l legat ions were  met  w i th  huge res is tance.  

 They were  armed  wi th  no  opera t iona l  knowledge or  

adequate  exper t i se  o f  the  company they d i rec ted .   Then  

they se t  ou t  to  ach ieve the i r  mandate  o f  rou t ing  ou t  

cor rup t ion  a t  Transnet  by  remov ing  by  way o f  no th ing  less  

than a  pu rge the  en t i re  top  layer  o f  execut ive  management  

s ta r t ing  w i th  the  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  in  2018.  

 They a lso  fa i led  to  apprec ia te  the  s t ra tegy o f  

Transnet  who sought  to  enhance the  market  demands 

s t ra tegy and fu tu re  proof  Transnet ’s  ex is tence ins tead they 20 

abandoned and  d ismant led  i t  w i thout  a t tempt ing  to  

unders tand i t .  

 The board  comple ted  i t s  mandate  o f  management  

upheava ls  in  June 2020.   The resu l t  i s  tha t  the  co rpo ra te  

memory  a t  Transnet  has been comple te l y  e rased.   Wi th 
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every  execut ive  w i th  long tenure  hav ing  been  fa lse ly  

accused,  charged  or  ex i ted  in  an  a t tempt  to  b r ing  sweep ing  

changes by  what  I  be l ieve  is  an  i l l  equ ipped board .  

 The pressur isa t ion  o f  Transnet  i s  comple te  and a l l  

tha t  South  A f r i ca  needs to  do  is  to  fo l low ve ry  c lose ly  

Transnet ’s  fu tu re  f inanc ia l  and opera t iona l  per fo rmance  

observe  i t s  dec l i ne  and  the  eros ion  o f  i t s  cont r ibu t ion  to  

the  deve lopment  o f  s ta te .  

 So the  rea l  co l lapse Cha i rpe rson o f  Transnet  has  

no t  ye t  happened  i t  i s  jus t  ahead o f  us .  10 

 In  the  same submiss ion  much was made about  the  

recovery  o f  R618 mi l l ion  f rom China South  Ra i l .   The  

in te rphase be ing  tha t  th is  amoun t  was improper l y  pa id  to  

CSR and to  the  new board ’s  c red i t  look  a t  what  i s  ach ieved  

–  th is  i s  fa lse  and mis lead ing .  

 The fac ts  a re  tha t  R618 mi l l ion  had been pa id  to  

CSR aga ins t  an  advance payment  guarantee by  CSR 

issued by  a  AAA ra ted  bank.   The money had been pa id  on  

the  adv ice  o f  in te rna t iona l  company Pr i cewate r  House 

Coopers ;  i t  was l eg i t imate  and was in tended fo r  spares and  20 

too ls  p repar ing  fo r  locomot ives  tha t  had been supp l ied  

s ince  2015.  

 Th is  was fo r  the  MSA cont rac t  wh ich  was due to  be  

rep laced by  a  new MRS cont rac t .   Th is  so  ca l led  re fund 

has now resu l ted  in  many locomot ives  be ing  parked in  the  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 21 of 416 
 

sys tem and pre jud iced to  say ing  the  e f f i c iency  o f  the  

ra i lway sys tem.   

 You may have read in  recent  newspaper  repor ts  I  

jus t  saw in  the  l as t  month  Transnet  re leas ing  a  s ta tement  

to  conf i rm tha t  the  coa l  indust ry  ind ica ted  tha t  i t  was 

dea l ing  w i th  and exper ienc ing  opera t iona l  p rob lems wi th in  

Transnet .   The chrome indust ry  has fo l lowed su i te .   The  

conta ine r  indust ry  the  same.    

 The opera t iona l  p rob lems a re  se l f - in f l i c ted  

Cha i rperson and they resu l t  f rom not  hav ing  t imeous ly  pu t  10 

in  p lace  a  main tenance re l iab i l i t y  sys tem wi th  the  OEM’s  to  

have adequate  spares and too ls  because the  war ran ty  

per iod  fo r  the  locomot ives  tha t  were  supp l ied  to  the  coa l  

l ine  in  2015.    

 The locomot ives  are  s tand ing  id le  because there  is  

no  main tenance  cont rac t  in  p lace .  The cont rac t  was  

cance l led  by  the  Popo Mole fe  led  board  so  tha t  they cou ld  

come and announce tha t  they have  recovered R618 mi l l ion .   

Th is  was done by  pe rsons who  s imply  cannot  beg in  to  

unders tand the  h igh ly  complex  ne twork  and soph is t i ca ted  20 

in te rnat iona l  bus iness wh ich  a t  any g iven t ime has  

enumerab le  mov ing  par ts .  

 Cha i rperson there  were  o thers  such as  Mohammady,  

Ca l l la rd  and Wi tness number  2  who have been se t  up  to  

suppor t  o r  compl iment  the  nar ra t i ve  o f  a l leged cor rup t ion  
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leve l led  aga ins t  me a t  th is  commiss ion .  

 I  deny Cha i r  in  the  s t rongest  te rms they are  

fa lse  accusat ions .   I  dea l  w i th  these a l legat ions by  po in t ing  

ou t  the  many fa l s i t ies  in  the i r  s ta tements  in  my a f f idav i t .   

They a l l  have u l te r io r  mot ive  and are  dr i ven  by  the  

pr inc ip les  to  ach ieve a  par t i cu la r  ob jec t i ve .   B r ie f l y,  I  dea l  

w i th  Franc i s  Ca l la rd ’s  tes t imony.   Ca l la rd  was invo lved in  

the  investment  case o f  the  locomot ive  and was 

subsequent ly  appo in ted  by  MNS a t  the  suggest ion  o f  the  

Aud i t  Commi t tee  Cha i rman to  ass is t  MNS in  the 10 

invest iga t ion .  

 Ca l la rd ’s  tes t imony to  the  Commiss ion  seems to  

be  tha t  o f  a  man who fe l t  compel led  to  descr ibe  a l l  o ther  

peop le  as  be ing  gu i l t y  o f  some o f fence o r  p rocess s tep  

wh i ls t  downp lay ing  h i s  own invo lvement  in  mat te rs  wh ich  

shou ld  have been  scru t in ised.   Whi le  Ca l la rd  seem to  have  

most  in fo rmat ion  ava i lab le  he  was qu i te  se lec t i ve  about  the  

in fo rmat ion  he  shared w i th  the  Commiss ion  and  in  most  

ins tances share  many use less  i tems o f  in fo rmat ion .  

 Over  and above tha t ,  h is  tes t imony is  fu l l  20 

innuendo con jec ture  and specu la t i on .   Many in fe rences he 

draws are  no t  suppor ted  by  fac t  bu t  by  h is  own r i ch  and  

fe r t i le  specu la t i ve  m ind.   I t  seems tha t  Ca l la rd  use h is  

appearance a t  h is  Commiss ion  as  a  b id  to  supp lement  

income.   He cur ren t ly  has a  c la im o f  over  R 4  m i l l ion  a t  
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Transnet /MNS he  c la ims tha t  he  d id  fo r  them.    

 Ca l la rd  a l so  seeks to  downp lay  h is  invo lvement  

in  many i ssues and in  many i ssues,  Cha i r,  where  he  c la ims  

lack  o f  knowledge,  I  say  he  knows much more  than he led  

on .   However,  he  a lso  t r ies  to  ho ld  h imse l f  to  be  an  exper t  

in  a l l  th ings espec ia l l y  f inanc ia l  mat te rs  wh ich  he  is  no t .    

 When i t  comes to  Mohammed,  h is  tes t imony and  

h is  s ta tement .   Mohammed,  he  t r ied  very  ha rd  to  suppor t  

Pop Mole fe  bu t  a t tempts  to  downp layed to  ev idence  led  so  

tha t  he  appears  to  c rea te  the  i l l us ion  o f  an  ob jec t i ve  10 

w i tness.   He d i s tanced h imse l f  f rom events  tha t  he  was 

in t imate ly  invo lved h im so  tha t  he  can min im ise  h is  ro le .  

 Mohammed,  he  was a l so  no t  a  c red ib le  w i tness  

be fore  the  Commiss ion .   I  ra ise  th is  i ssue as  a  lo t  has  

been sa id  to  you w i thout  any  ev idence.   Dur ing  my 

tes t imony today I  w i l l  p rov ide  the  Commiss ion  w i th  fac tua l  

ev idence when I  make s ta tements .  

 Ev idence based  tes t imon ies  are  impor tan t  to  

b r ing  the  t ru th  to  the  fo reground .   Any o f  the  asser t ions  

tha t  a re  a ided s ta te  capture  a re  fa lse  and are  a  cunn ing  20 

ca l cu la t ion  wh ich  has been care fu l l y  c ra f ted  to  m is lead the  

Commiss ion  and so  de f lec t  accountab i l i t y  and  

respons ib i l i t y.  

 Aga in ,  I  w i l l  i n fo rm the  Commiss ion  th rough my 

ev idence in  o rder  to  re f lec t  the  t rue  s to ry.   Wi tness number  
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2  seeks to  accuse me o f  launder ing  money on beha l f  o f  the 

Guptas .   Th is  i s  fa lse  Cha i r.   Unfo r tunate ly,  I  was not  ab le  

to  comment  more  on  the  s ta tement  as  I  have not  been  

favoured w i th  the  fu l l  copy o f  my d ia ry  bu t  I  have dea l t  w i th  

aspects  o f  i t  wh ich  we can dea l  w i th  i t  la te r  on  today.  

 I  have a lso  requested th rough my lega l  team 

cop ies  o f  mapp ings o f  my own veh ic le  and my ce l l  phone in  

o rder  to  ass is t  me in  de termin ing  where  I  was a t  re levant  

t imes as  to  p rov ide  a  proper  answer.  

 Cha i rperson,  I  am de l igh ted  tha t  we have an 10 

oppor tun i ty  to  address you on the  mat te rs  tha t  have been  

brought  to  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  Commiss ion  and I  know tha t  

you w i l l  d is t i l  the  t ru th  s ta te  o f  a f fa i rs  f rom the  fa ls i t ies  

advanced before  you.  

 I  be l ieve ,  Cha i r,  tha t  you are  endowed wi th  a  

des i re  to  de termine t ru th  and to  remove in jus t i ce .   That  you 

w i l l  be  fa i r  to  a l l  o f  us  who have appeared before  you and  

more  so  tha t  those who have been un jus t l y  accused who 

have been ident i f ied  and def ined as  enemies wor th  to  be  

ta in ted  and defamed wi thout  p rov id ing  the  Commiss ion  w i th  20 

ac tua l  ev idence,  f ina l l y  have an oppor tun i ty  to  p rov ide  to  

you an honest  ve rs ion  o f  events .  

 I  thank you ve ry  much,  Cha i r.   We are  now in  

p re lude number  2  o f  my open ing  s ta tement .   The f ina l  one,  

we w i l l  dea l  w i th  i t .   I t  i s  much shor te r  than th is ,  once you 
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have had the  oppor tun i ty.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  thank you,  Mr  Gama.   Wel l ,  one,  

what  you have jus t  f in ished read ing  is  –  those pa r ts  o f  your  

open ing  s ta tement  wh ich  you were  –  you d id  no t  read las t  

t ime.  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  i t  i s  one open ing  s ta tement .   Now the  

s ign i f i cance why I  want  to  emphas ise  tha t .   The  

s ign i f i cance is  tha t  I  have jus t  no t iced tha t  the  o ther  one  

tha t  was handed up to  me tha t  we  ta lked about  ea r l ie r,  the  10 

open ing  s ta tement ,  tha t  was handed up to  me th i s  morn ing  

is  marked Second  Open ing  S ta tement .  

MR GAMA :    Or  f ind  the  remarks  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]   So I  know tha t  ear l ie r  on  

w i thout  read ing  i t  and w i thout  hav ing  had t ime to  look  a t  i t ,  

I  sa id  you cou ld  dea l  w i th  i t  la te r  bu t  now what  i s  –  has  

crossed my mind is .   I  may be s ta r t ing  a  wrong precedent  i f  

I  s ta r t  a l low ing second or  f i rs t  open ing  s ta tements .   There  

may be th i rd  open ing  s ta tements  and they a l l  take  t ime.   20 

So,  bu t  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  tha t  s ta tement  m ight  be  dea l ing  

w i th  Fr iday.   I s  i t  Fr i day,  the  30 t h?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    To  the  ex ten t  tha t  you might  be  w ish ing  

to  ra ise  concerns  about  what  w i l l  happen on Fr iday,  I  wou ld  
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imag ine  tha t  tha t  cou ld  be  ar t i cu la ted  maybe on  Fr iday.   

There  is  no th ing  wrong w i th  a r t i cu la t ing  concerns about  

what  w i l l  happen  on Fr iday,  labe l l ing  tha t  as  an  open ing  

s ta tement  m ight  be  a  wrong labe l .   I t  m igh t  jus t  be  

ar t i cu la t ing  those  concerns.    

 So in  p r inc ip le  tha t  i s  one th ing .   But  a l low ing a  

second open ing  s ta tement  m igh t  be  prob lemat ic .   But  

maybe we can –  you can re f lec t  on  tha t  and somet ime 

dur ing  the  day we can see what  we can do.   I  have – I  

th ink  my eye d id  land on some sentence here  tha t  suggests  10 

what  your  in ten t i ons are  about  F r iday.   

 I  jus t  want  to  say,  to  a f f i rm tha t  I  want  to  hear  a l l  

perspect ives .   And I  want  to  hear  as  many peop le  as  

poss ib le  par t i cu la r ly  peop le  aga ins t  whom a l lega t ions o f  

wrongdo ing  have  been made.   But  o f  course ,  we opera te  

w i th in  ce r ta in  t ime const ra in ts .   The on ly  th ing  tha t  has  

crossed my mind  a  few minutes  ago is  tha t  w i th  regard  to  

Fr iday another  op t ion  m ight  because in  te rms o f  t ime i t  i s  

d i f f i cu l t .   I t  i s  jus t  d i f f i cu l t .    

 We have fo r  th is  even ing  the  app l i ca t ion  –  20 

Mr  G igaba ’s  app l i ca t ion  i n  re la t ion  to  Ms Magma’s  

ev idence and depend ing  on the  ou tcome o f  tha t  

app l i ca t ion ,  we  shou ld  o r  cou ld  have Ms Magma’s  

ev idence.   I f  the  Lega l  Team cou ld  cons ide r  whethe r  there  

is  a  poss ib i l i t y  tha t  Ms Ngoma and  Mr  G igaba are  ava i lab le  
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on  Fr iday morn ing  and i f  they  are  ava i lab le  on  Fr iday 

morn ing ,  we cou ld  cons ide r  p roceed ing  w i th  your  ev idence 

in to  the  even ing  wh ich  cou ld  then enab le  us  no t  to  l ose  any  

t ime because then we cou ld  r igh t  in to  the  even ing  w i th  you 

wh ich  is  the  t ime  we wou ld  have taken on Fr iday morn ing  

and maybe even more .  

 So tha t  i f  we do not  f in ish  then on Fr iday 

morn ing ,  I  cou ld  hear  Mr  G igaba ’s  app l i ca t ion  and maybe 

Ms Magma’s  ev idence and then hear  you in  the  a f te rnoon.   

But  tha t  wou ld  depend on how the  Lega l  Team is  w i th  tha t  10 

too .   I  th ink  Ms Ngoma has been  issued w i th  a  summons 

fo r  th is  even ing  and tha t  wou ld  depend on whethe r  – on  

the i r  ava i lab i l i t y.    

 So ,  bu t  tha t  i s  the  on ly  th ing  I  cou ld  th ink  o f  bu t  

i f  tha t  does not  work ,  I  cannot  see any o ther  way o f  dea l ing  

w i th  the  s i tua t ion .   But  I  wou ld  a l low you in  due  course  

pre fe rab le  on  Fr iday i f  we s t i l l  have to  p roceed in  tha t  way  

to  make the  remarks  you want  to  make about  tha t  po in t .   

You unders tand?  

MR GAMA :    Ja .   Cha i rperson,  a l l  I  am request ing  is  20 

accommodat ion  on  th is  mat te r  and i f  you accommodate  me,  

as  you are  suggest ing ,  there  i s  no t  even a  need fo r  me to  

address aspects  o f  what  I  be l ieve  cou ld  be  const i tu t iona l  

r igh ts ,  you know,  be ing  i n f r inged w i th .   So i f  I  cou ld  then 

jus t  dea l  w i th  the  issue o f  the  Lega l  Team on ly.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    So ,  a l l  o f  us  have to  be  accommodated.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no .   I  unders tand.  

MR GAMA :    . . .accommodat ion  tha t  I  am not  ge t t ing  f rom 

the  Commiss ion .   That  i s  a  p rob lem.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   No,  I  unders tand tha t .   A l l  I  wou ld  

l i ke  to  –  unders tand is  tha t  there  are  log is t i ca l  and 

prac t ica l  d i f f i cu l t ies .   Not  l i ke  one does not  want  to ,  you  

know,  jus t  p rac t ica l .   Mr  Myburgh ,  I  do  no t  know whethe r  

you w ish  to  say anyth ing  about  what  c rossed my mind?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  have two o ther  poss ib le  p roposa ls .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Maybe my learned f r iend and I  can  

address you in  chambers  on  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    There  is  –  as  you know,  Mr  Mole fe  i s  

se t  up  p resent ly  fo r  Thursday even ing .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  I  am qu i te  sure  tha t  he  may be –  

m ight  be  eas ie r  to  move h im than to  move Mr  and Ms  20 

Gigaba.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The o ther  th ing  wh ich  we cou ld  

d iscuss w i th  you,  DCJ,  i s  how deep we cou ld  go  i n to  the  

even ing  on Fr iday.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  we cannot  go  too  deep on Fr iday.   In  

fac t ,  we cannot  go  in to  the  even ing  a t  a l l  Fr iday and tha t  i s  

one o f  the  prob lems.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Perhaps a t  tea t ime  I  can 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Because. . .   So what  i t  amounts  to .   I  

mean,  genera l l y  speak ing ,  one,  be tween one and  two is  

lunch t ime.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  i f  Mr  Gama’s  counse l  becomes 

ava i lab le  a t  one,  i t  means,  genera l l y  speak ing ,  s ta r t ing  a t  

two.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sure .  

CHAIRPERSON :    And we cannot  go  beyond four.   So i t  

means jus t  two hours .   Ac tua l l y,  I  have been cons ider ing  

whethe r  on  Fr iday i f  I  shou ld  no t  ask  you to  ta lk  to  

Mr  Gama’s  lega l  team wi th  the  v iew to  s ta r t ing  ear l ie r.   

That  was even before  I  thought ,  you know,  tha t  they 20 

wanted us  to  s ta r t  a t  one.   So,  bu t  maybe du r ing  the  tea 

break . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . you  and Mr  Gama’s  counse l  can 

approach me.   But  le t  us  take  i t  f rom there .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Good morn ing ,  Mr  Gama.  

MR GAMA :    Good morn ing ,  Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    On the  11 t h  o f  March,  we have dea l t  

w i th  cer ta in  in t roducto ry  i ssues ,  we have dea l t  w i th  

Mr  Segang,  you r  MBA.   We have dea l t  w i th  your  

re ins ta tement .   We have dea l t  w i th  the  issue o f  GMS and 

Abe lose and cer ta in  aux i l ia ry  i ssues.    

 I  jus t  want  to  be fore  go ing  fo rward  to  o ther  10 

top ics ,  jus t  ask  you a  few quest ions tha t  re la te  to  the 

th ings tha t  we have dea l t  w i th ,  b road ly,  a l ready.   In  re la t ion  

to  your  re la t ionsh ips  or  your  v is i t s  to  the  Saxonwold  

compound o f  the  Guptas .   Were  you inv i ted  to  the  Gupta  

wedd ing?  

MR GAMA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  was he ld ,  as  we have i t ,  on  the  

1 s t  o f  May 2013.  

MR GAMA :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  the  answer  no? 20 

MR GAMA :    No.   Sor ry.   Am I  too  fa r  f rom the  mic?  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  you were ,  ja .  

MR GAMA :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You were  no t  inv i ted?  

MR GAMA :    No.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then i f  I  can  take  you,  p lease,  in  

re la t ion  to  the  ev idence you gave about  Mr  Essa.   Cou ld  I  

ask  you to  tu rn  to  page 52 o f  Exh ib i t  BB-28,  Bund le  7?  

MR GAMA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You w i l l  reca l l  tha t  you were  asked 

in  the  10 .6  about  the  t r ip ,  a  Duba i  t r ip  in  January  2016.   I  

jus t  want  to  p ick  up ,  i f  I  may,  a t  paragraph 32.5 .   Th is  i s  a t  

page 52.   A re  you  there?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You say:  10 

“ I  d id  no t  under take a  t r ip  to  Duba i  dur ing  the  

per iod  18  to  24  January.  

I  t rave l led  to  Davos,  Swi tzer land v ia  Duba i  on  

17  January  2016 fo r  the  purposes o f  

p resent ing  log i s t i cs  and in f ras t ruc ture  re la ted  

papers  a t  the  Wor ld  Economic  Forum as par t  

o f  the  South  A f r ican Government  and Bus iness  

De legat ion  wh ich  a t tended fo r  the  purposes o f  

p romot ing  South  A f r i ca ’s  in te res t .  

Dur ing  the  even ing  o f  22  January,  I  s topped 20 

over  in  Duba i  upon my re tu rn  f rom Davos.  

A f te r  one day ’s  s tay,  I  depar ted  fo r  

Johannesburg  on  the  morn ing  o f  

24  January  2016. . . ”  

 Paragraph 36.2 .1 :  
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“ I  a r r i ved a t  and checked- in  a t  the  Obero i  

Hote l  in  Duba i  on  Fr iday,  22  January  a t  

approx imate l y  m idn igh t  and I  checked out  o f  

the  ho te l  on  24  January  2016 a t  approx imate ly  

a t  08 :30 . . . ”  

 So you wou ld  have checked out  on  the  Sunday,  i f  

I  have i t  cor rec t l y.   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR GAMA :    I  do  no t  know the  da te  bu t  i t  was the  

24 t h  o f  January.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  see  tha t  i f  Fr iday was the  22n d ,  10 

then I  assume . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    Okay.   Oh,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . . the  24 t h  was the  Sunday.  

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  yes ,  ja .   I t  must  be  Sunday.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So as  I  have i t ,  you  wou ld  have 

s tayed a t  the  Obero i  Hote l  then fo r  two n igh ts ,  the  Fr iday  

and Saturday n igh t .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The next  subparagraph:  

“Whi ls t  in  Duba i ,  I  had a  br ie f  meet ing  w i th  20 

Essa dur ing  the  la te  a f te rnoon on Saturday,  

23  January  2016 wh ich  meet ing  took p lace a t  

my hote l .  

Essa had ar ranged the  ho te l  book ing  on my  

beha l f  a lbe i t  tha t  I  pa id  fo r  my 
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accommodat ion . . . ”  

 You say in  the  next  subparagraph:  

“Our  d i scuss ions  were ,  fo r  the  most  par t ,  

en tered on in fo rmat ion  shar ing  concern ing  h is  

v is ion  to  c rea te  a  major i t y  b lack  owned 

management  consu l tancy,  the  de ta i l s  o f  wh ich  

he  under took to  share  w i th  me as h i s  p lans 

deve loped in to  someth ing  more  const ruc t i ve . . . ”  

 And then you go on to  say:  

“A t  no  s tage d id  I  meet  any o the r  peop le . . . ”  10 

 Can I  jus t  ask  you?  How d id  your  meet ing  w i th  

Mr  Essa come about?  

MR GAMA :    I t  came about  because I  was s topp ing  over  in  

Duba i .   I  th ink  he  must  have ca l led  me.   I  cannot  remember  

whethe r  he  knew or  tha t  I  was s topp ing  over  in  Duba i  bu t  

he  must  have ca l led  me because I  in tended to  s top  over  in  

Duba i  and then he ca l led  me to  say:   Okay,  i f  I  s top  ove r,  i t  

i s  f ine .    

 I  th ink  my b iggest  p rob lem when I  wanted to  s top  

over  there  was tha t  my o f f i ce  was s t i l l  a r rang ing  fo r  ho te l  20 

accommodat ion  because I  had found tha t  when I  was in  

Davos,  what  we in tended to  do  I  cou ld  no t  do  i t  there .   And 

then I  thought  tha t  Duba i  was ac tua l l y  the  bes t  p lace  

because i t  i s  in  the  m idd le  o f  the  wor ld .   Davos is  more  o f  

a  smal l  town.   I  needed to  buy a  dress  fo r  a  mat r i c  dance 
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fo r  my daughte r.   So I  thought  Duba i  wou ld  be  the  best  

p lace  to  do  i t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    And she wou ld  be  ve ry  happy.   I  am sure  

tha t  you got  i t  ou ts ide  o f  the  count ry.  

MR GAMA :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  you say he  phoned you?  

MR GAMA :    Sor ry?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Essa phoned you?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And how d id  i t  come about  then tha t  

Mr  Essa ar ranged  your  ho te l  book ing?  

MR GAMA :    I  th ink  in  the  course  o f  my d iscuss ion ,  I  had 

sa id  to  h im:   Look,  I  was not  go ing  to  s top  over  fo r  a  long 

t ime in  Duba i  bu t  because I  d id  no t  have the  ho te l  book ing ,  

I  wou ld  no t  be  ab le  to  s top  over.   And I  th ink  tha t  i s  when 

he suggested tha t  no  he  w i l l  book me in to  a  ho te l  in  Duba i  

i t se l f .   And tha t  i s  how I  go t  to  ge t  to  th is  p lace  ca l led 

Obero i  Hote l .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    D id  you s tay  there  be fore?  20 

MR GAMA :    No,  I  never  s tayed there  be fore .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.   D id  you ever  s tayed there  

a f te rwards?  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  had never.   I  on ly  went  there  once .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then you say your  d iscuss ion ,  
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fo r  the  most  par t ,  cent red  on  in fo rmat ion  shar ing 

concern ing  h is  v is ion  to  c rea te  a  major i t y  b lack  owned  

management  consu l tancy.   Can you expand on tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.   I  th ink  f rom wha t  he  was ind i ca t ing  and I  

th ink  tha t  i s  where  i t  t ru ly  and eventua l l y  came f rom,  as  I  

unders tood i t  la te r,  was tha t  he  wanted to  c rea te  a  major i t y  

b lack  owned management  consu l tancy because mos t  o f  the 

consu l t ing  houses tha t  we have are  la rge ly  in te rna t iona l  

houses tha t  a re  no t  owned by  South  A f r i can ent i t ies  and 

h is  des i re  was  tha t  South  A f r i ca  wanted to  c rea te  a  10 

major i t y  b lack  owned management  consu l tancy o f  wh ich  he  

thought  tha t  i f  he  were  ab le  to  co l lec t  peop le  f rom d i f fe ren t  

consu l tanc ies  who were  b lack  they wou ld  then c rea te  tha t  

k ind  o f  capac i ty  to  take  on l a rge  consu l tancy ass ignments  

in  the  South  A f r i can corpora te  space.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  was he ta lk ing  about  Tr i l l i an?  

MR GAMA :    I  suspect  tha t  the  –  what  do  you ca l l  i t  –  the  

evo lu t ion  f rom Reg iments  to  Tr i l l i an ,  I  th ink  I  must  have 

heard  a t  some po in t  tha t  he  may  have been beh ind  tha t  

Tr i l l i an  as  an  owner  bu t  I  do  no t  rea l l y  have any fac ts  to  20 

adduce in  te rms o f  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  d id  you d i scuss Tr i l l i an  and 

Reg iments?  

MR GAMA :    He d id  no t  have a  name.   Remember,  he  was  

f rom Reg iments .   So,  and he was ta lk ing  about  th is  
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evo lu t ion  tha t  he  wanted to  c rea ted th is  la rge  b lack  owned  

management  consu l tancy.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So you d id  no t  d iscuss by  name 

Tr i l l i an  and Reg iments?  

MR GAMA :    No,  no  no t  by  name.   Not  by  name.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    By  th is  t ime,  d id  you know tha t  

Mr  Essa was invo lved w i th  Tr i l l i an?  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  d id  no t  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When d id  you come to  lea rn  o f  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    A t  some po in t ,  I  th ink  towards the  end o f  10 

2016.   Somebody,  I  th ink ,  in  our  R isk  Depar tment  sa id  to  

me:   Look,  we suspect  tha t  Mr  Essa owns the  ma jor i t y  o f  

Tr i l l i an  bu t  i t  was  a  susp ic ion .   I  do  no t  th ink  he  had the  – I  

do  no t  th ink  she had the  ac tua l  in fo rmat ion .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  we . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    She had heard  i t  th rough cer ta in  peop le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Gama,  can I  –  I  d id  no t  ge t  the  

da te .   What  da te  d id  you say?  

MR GAMA :    I  th ink  i t  was a round 2016.   I t  was rea l l y  

a round the  t ime tha t  we were  now cons ider ing  te rm inat ing  20 

the  cont rac t  be tween Reg iments  and Tr i l l i an .   I t  must  have  

been around September /October  2016.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sor ry?   Sep tember  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    September  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    September  2016.  
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MR GAMA :    October  2016,  thereabouts .   There  was tha t  

susp ic ion  f rom some o f  our  R isk  peop le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  jus t  so  tha t  I  can unders tand the  

contex t  and I  on ly  have,  rea l l y,  one or  two more  quest ions.   

Jus t  so  tha t  I  unders tand th is .   Was Mr  Essa suggest ing  

tha t  you shou ld  jo in  th is  b lack  owned management  

consu l tancy or  was Mr  Essa feed ing  you out  as  to  i f  th is  

consu l tancy was es tab l i shed wou ld  Transnet  g ive  i t  work  or  

what  exact ly  was the  ob jec t  o f  th is  meet ing?  

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  the  ob jec t  o f  the  meet ing  is  the  la t te r  10 

where  he  was say ing  inco rpora tes  such as  Transnet .   

Would  they be  look ing  a t  ma jor i t y  b lack  owned,  b lack  

owned management  consu l tancy  w i th  exper t i se ,  wh ich  

wou ld  then a l lev ia te  the  need to  use mul t i -na t iona l  o r  

in te rna t iona l  en t i t ies  tha t  were  probab ly  domic i led  in  South  

A f r i ca  bu t  reg is te red e l sewhere .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what  was your  response  to  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Wel l ,  he  had under taken to  share  w i th  me h is  

v is ion  a t  a  la te r  da te  in  te rms o f  what  i s  i t  tha t  wou ld  

t ransp i re .   So he d id  no t  –  I  th ink  i t  was a  concept .   I t  was 20 

conceptua l  a t  the  t ime when we were  d iscuss ing  i t .   He was  

sound ing  me out  whethe r  we wou ld  be ,  you know,  we wou ld  

as  Transnet  look  a t  such  a  consu l tancy go ing  fo rward .   So I  

had sa id  to  h im when he has shaped h i s  thoughts  and h is  

th ink ing  around i t  he  cou ld  come back to  me.    
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 Bu t  I  a lso ,  I  th ink ,  ment ioned a t  the  t ime tha t  I  

d id  no t  rea l l y  l i ke  hav ing  consu l tan ts  as  a  genera l  ru le .   In  

fac t ,  by  the  t ime I  had le f t  Transnet  I  had es tab l i shed an  

in te rna l  consu l t ing  capab i l i t y  wh ich  I  be l ieve  s t i l l  ex i s t  to  

th is  day because  i t  was prec i se l y  fo r  the  reason tha t  we 

had re l ied  too  much on and pa id  too  much money to  

consu l tan ts ,  ex te rna l  consu l tan ts .  I  wanted us  to  rea l l y  jus t  

b r ing  in  consu l tan ts  fo r  the  –  fo r  shor t  per iods fo r  

capab i l i t ies  and in fo rmat ion  tha t  we d id  no t  have o f  wh ich  

was spec ia l i sed .    10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So ,  cor rec t  me i f  I  am wrong ,  bu t  by  

January  2016,  Transnet  had a l ready done some bus iness  

w i th  Tr i l l i an ,  had i t  no t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes,  I  th ink  so .   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And we w i l l  come la te r  bu t  tha t  

re la tes  in te r  a l ia  to  the  c lub  loan.   Cor rec t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And there  we know tha t  payments  

were  made or  a  payment  was made by  –  to  Tr i l l i an  in  

December  o f  2015.   Cor rec t?  20 

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  w i th  no  ment ioned made  a t  th is  

meet ing  o f  work  tha t  Tr i l l i an  had a l ready done fo r  

Transnet?  

MR GAMA :    No ,  no ,  no .   There  was no ment ion .   The  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 39 of 416 
 

p redominant  en t i t y  tha t  had done some work  a t  Transnet  in  

tha t  yea r  o r  the  years  be fore  was Reg iments .   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   And cou ld  I  take  you then,  

p lease,  back to  page 48?  And perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  ask  you  

to  have a  look a t  your  parag raph  31.3 .   I  do  no t  want  to  

rehash th is  bu t  I  jus t  want  to  pu t  to  you the  ev idence tha t  

Mr  S ingh gave in  response to  th is  paragraph,  so  to  re f resh 

your  memory.   Th is  paragraph re fers  to  the  fac t  tha t  you 

saw Mr  S ingh and Mr  Essa together  in  Mr  S ingh ’s  o f f i ce  in  

Ju l y  o r  August  2015.    10 

 Mr  Essa then ind ica ted  tha t  he  wou ld  l i ke  to  

have a  meet ing  w i th  you and you sa id  tha t  he  cou ld  ge t  

your  contac t  de ta i l s  f rom Mr  S ingh.   And th is ,  essent ia l l y  

Mr  Gama,  you w i l l  reca l l  the  background how you came to  

v is i t  the  Saxonwo ld  res idence.   Do you reca l l  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  i s  no t  t rue ,  to  pu t  to  you.   

Mr  S ingh says tha t  th is  never  happened and tha t  i t  s imp ly  

–  you have made  i t  up  as  a  conven ience,  as  he  puts  i t ,  to  

exp la in  how i t  i s  tha t  you came to  go  to  the  Saxonwold  20 

res idence.  

MR GAMA :    [ laughs]  No,  no  Cha i r.   There  is  no  

conven ience o r  anyth ing  to  do  w i th  Saxonwold  in  re la t ion  

to  th is  meet ing .   I  met  Mr  Essa a t  S ingh ’s  o f f i ce  and I  

asked h im to  g ive  –  I  asked S ing  to  g ive  Essa my  number  
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so  tha t  he  cou ld  ca l l  me because he sa id  tha t  he  wanted to 

have a  meet ing  w i th  me.   So tha t  was the  long and  shor t  o f  

i t .   So  you never  gave Mr  Essa your  number,  he  go t  i t  f rom 

Mr  S ingh,  co r rec t?   Ja .   And he subsequent ly  ca l l ed  you,  

cor rec t?   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Mr  S ingh made the  po in t  

tha t  i t  cou ld  no t  have been in  August  because you w i l l  see  

your  in t roduct ion  a t  31 .3  says:  

“ In  o r  du r ing  Ju ly /August…”  

He says i t  cou ld  no t  have been in  August  because in  10 

August  he  had been seconded to  Eskom.  

MR GAMA :    As  I  have sa id ,  I  do  no t  know the  exact  da tes  

tha t  i s  why I  sa id  e i ther  Ju ly /August .   So i f  he  says  i t  cou ld  

no t  have been August ,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  and i f  he  had  a l ready 

gone to  Eskom at  tha t  t ime then i t  means i t  was Ju ly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then i t  means i t  must  have  been in  

Ju l y?  

MR GAMA :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  jus t  to  end o f f  in  re la t ion  to  Mr  

Essa.   As  I  unders tand your  ev idence,  Mr  Gama,  and  20 

p lease co r rec t  me i f  I  am wrong,  you are  say ing  tha t  you 

met  Mr  Essa fou r  t imes.   The f i r s t  in  2015 as  pa r t  o f  we 

might  ca l l  a  Reg iments ’ meet ing  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Myburgh,  be fore  you go 

away f rom th is  pa r t i cu la r  meet ing ,  I  jus t  want  to  make sure ,  
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Mr  Gama,  tha t  in  regard  to  th is  meet ing  o f  Mr  Sa l im Essa  

and Mr  S ingh where  you saw Mr  Essa in  Mr  S ingh ’s  o f f i ce  

and you came to  h im,  Mr  S ingh,  a re  you say ing  you  cannot  

be  m is taken abou t  tha t?   You know i t  happened? 

MR GAMA :    Yes,  no ,  I  cannot  be  m is taken.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja .   And wou ld  you have any  reason  

to  fa lse ly  imp l ica te  Mr  S ingh in  hav ing  a  meet ing  w i th  Mr  

Sa l im Essa in  h is  o f f i ce?  

MR GAMA :    No,  Cha i r,  why wou ld  I?   No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And you sa id  i t  is  no t  conven ience,  there  10 

is  no  conven ience.  

MR GAMA :    No ,  I  do  no t  see what  k ind  o f  conven ience 

wou ld  tha t  be .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja  because he was ca tegor ica l  tha t  i t  d id  

no t  happen.   Ja ,  okay.  

MR GAMA :    I  d id  no t  go  to  tha t  meet ing  because o f  Mr  

S ingh i t  was because Mr  Essa ca l led  me.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes ,  yes .  

MR GAMA :    I t  has  go t  no th ing  to  do  w i th  Mr  S ingh.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Ja ,  you mean the  meet ing  a t  20 

Saxonwold?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  ja .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you .   So,  Mr  Gama,  I  jus t  

wanted to  make sure  tha t  I  have th is  cor rec t ,  you r  ev idence  
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i s  tha t  you met  Mr  Essa four  t imes.   The f i rs t  t ime as  par t  

o f  th is  Reg iments ’ cont ingent  wh ich  you dea l  w i th ,  th is  i s  

dur ing  2015,  you  dea l  w i th  tha t  a t  parag raph 31.2 .1 .   The  

second t ime then  in  Mr  S ingh ’s  o f f i ce  you now say  tha t  in  

Ju l y  o f  2015 then in  Duba i  in  January  o f  2016 and as  I  

reca l l ,  you  say you saw h im on one  o ther  occas ion  casua l ly  

in  a  res tau rant .   I s  tha t  an  accura te  summary  o f  your  

ev idence?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then in  re la t ion  to  the  th ings we  10 

dea l t  w i th  las t  t ime,  I  jus t  wanted to  pu t  to  you -  and an  

a f f idav i t  w i l l  need to  be  produced to  th is  e f fec t  bu t  we 

asked Transnet  to  search  fo r  your  payment  o f  the  

Eversheds ’ cos t  b i l l  o f  about  a  m i l l ion  rand.  

MR GAMA :    Over  the…? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    O f  the  Eversheds ’ cos ts  b i l l .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Remember  you say tha t  you pa id  i t  

in  December  o f  2009.   

MR GAMA :    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Transnet  has no t  been ab le  to  f ind  

any proof  o f  tha t .   Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  the  d i f f i cu l t y  I  th ink  tha t  I  have is  tha t  my 

bank cou ld  on ly  go  back 10  years ,  tha t  i s  rea l l y  t he  on ly  

d i f f i cu l t y  tha t  I  have but  I  am aware  tha t  I  pa id  i t .   In  fac t  I  
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so ld  shares in  o rder  fo r  me to  be  ab le  to  pay.   The 

d i f f i cu l t y  i s  tha t  the  bank has i nd i ca ted  tha t  they can on ly  

go  back 10  years  so  i t  fa l l s  ou ts ide ,  I  th ink  i t  i s  on  year  11  

or  12  now.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The se t t lement  ag reement  i t se l f  I  

take  i t  you  wou ld  agree does not  say  anyth ing  about  you 

be ing  re imbursed  fo r  amounts  a l ready pa id .  

MR GAMA :    You want  to  me to  respond on –  I  th ink  

deve lop  i t ,  I  am l is ten ing .    

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  tha t  the  se t t lement  agreement  you are  10 

ta lk ing  about ,  Mr…? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You want  h im to  comment  on  the  

propos i t ion  tha t  the  se t t lement  agreement  does not  say  

anyth ing  about  h im be ing  pa id  back pay?  I  th ink  i t  m igh t  

no t  say  tha t  bu t  i t  does say  re ins ta tement ,  I  th ink  

re t rospect ive ly  i f  I  am not  m is taken .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  we l l  the  prov is ion  says tha t  

Transnet  w i l l  make a  cont r ibu t ion  equ iva len t  to  75% of  Mr  

Gama’s  taxed lega l  cos ts .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry,  jus t  b r ing  the  m ic  c loser,  Mr  

Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :  I t  says  Transnet  w i l l  make a  

cont r ibu t ion  equ iva len t  to  75% of  Mr  Gama’s  taxed lega l  

cos ts  incu r red  dur ing  Mr  Gama’s  H igh  Cour t  app l i ca t ion  
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and in  respect  o f  h is  un fa i r  d i sm issa l  d ispute  re fer red  to  

the  barga in ing  counc i l .   I  am s imply  pu t t ing  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  i s  about  cos ts  tha t  you are  ta lk ing  

about?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Not  –  oh ,  I  thought  i t  was about  back 

pay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    In  o ther  words,  I  am s imply  say ing  10 

tha t  the  se t t lement  agreement  does not  ta lk  about  Mr  Gama 

be ing  re imbursed  amounts  tha t  have a l ready been pa id .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  i s  rea l l y  the  on ly  po in t  I  am 

put t ing ,  Mr  Gama,  i f  you  want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    The se t t lement  agreement  ta lks  to  

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV OLDWADGE SC :    Mr  Cha i rman… 

CHAIRPERSON :    Sor ry,  sor ry?  

ADV OLDWADGE SC :    I  th ink  i t  i s  on ly  fa i r  to  Mr  Gama 20 

tha t  he  present  i t  –  i s  i t  now fo r  Mr  Myburgh to  even look  

a t  the  document?   What  about  Mr  Gama,  he  shou ld  have 

s igh t  o f  th is  document ,  Mr  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  you want  h im to  re fer  Mr  Gama to  

the  se t t lement  ag reement?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  have got  no  d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  tha t  a t  

a l l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Gama –  Cha i rperson,  fo r  some 

reason the  f i les  a re  a lways beh ind  the  w i tness,  today I  see 

tha t  they were  f i le  boxes on the  f loor  bu t  seeming ly  have  

not  been brought  f rom s torage.   I  do  apo log ise .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you want  to  keep the  quest ion  un t i l  

la te r  and proceed  w i th  o ther  quest ions?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  I  th ink  I  am go ing  to  need to .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes and then when the  f i les  maybe a f te r  

tea  break be here  then you can go back to  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then jus t  on  th is  i ssue o f  cos ts .   

As  I  unders tand your  ev idence,  you accept  tha t  you  d id  no t  

pay the  Bowmans ’ account  o r  you cannot  remember  hav ing  

pa id  i t ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GAMA :    You mean f rom my persona l  account?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  th ink  a t  tha t  t ime I  have not  pa id  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then I  jus t  want  to  pu t  to  you  20 

tha t  when Mr  Mkwanaz i  and Mr  Mapoma were  asked how 

you came to  be  pa id  75% of  Transnet ’s  cos ts ,  they were  

bo th  a t  a  loss  fo r  an  exp lanat ion .   Ne i ther  o f  them sa id  

we l l ,  we were  pay ing  Mr  Gama to  re imburse  h im.  

ADV OLDWADGE SC :   Cha i r,  sor ry,  tha t  i s  no t  cor rec t .   
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The ev idence o f  those two w i tnesses jus t  named by Mr  

Myburgh is  very  c lea r,  the i r  in te rpre ta t ion  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  p lease speak  up a  b i t?  

ADV OLDWADGE SC :   They were  invo lved –  those two  

persons,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  and Mr  Mapoma were  invo lved in  the  

process,  un l i ke  Mr  Mole fe .   I t  i s  c lea r  what  the i r  ev idence 

was in  re la t ion  to  the  repayment  to  Mr  Gama o f  those fees.   

I t  i s  no t  cor rec t  to  say tha t  they were  a t  loss ,  they were  

par t  and parce l  o f  tha t  negot ia t i on  process so  they had 

f i rs thand knowledge o f  what  had  t ransp i red .   I  th ink  i t  i s  10 

impor tan t  to  pu t  tha t  to  Mr  Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  the  quest ion  re la tes  to  the i r  

response when they were  quest ioned here ,  i r respect ive  o f  

what  they knew.   The quest ion  re la tes  to  how they 

responded when they were  quest ioned.  

MR GAMA :    Now I  reca l l  tha t  tha t  was the  response tha t  I  

have jus t  p laced on reco rd .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  i t  i s  no t  how I  reca l l  the 

ev idence but  I  th ink  i t  can  pe rhaps  be someth ing  dea l t  w i th  20 

in  a rgument .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You w i l l  remember  tha t  bo th  o f  them 

were  taxed abou t  how is  i t  poss ib le  tha t  you landed up 

pay ing  Mr  Gama 75% of  Transnet ’s  lega l  fees?  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes ,  I  remember  tha t ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And to  the  best  o f  my reco l lec t ion  

they d id  no t  know,  tha t  seemed to  be  someth ing  o f  an  

anomaly  fo r  them.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And a lso  –  i f  you  cou ld  bear  w i th  me 

fo r   a  moment?   Yes… 

CHAIRPERSON :    There  is  cer ta in ly  –  my reco l lec t ion  is  

tha t  they cer ta in l y  had d i f f i cu l t y  jus t i f y ing  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   What  they cer ta in l y  d id  no t  do ,  10 

to  the  best  o f  my reco l lec t ion  is  to  say th is  was a imed a t  

re imburs ing  Mr  Gama for  mon ies  tha t  he  had a l ready pa id  

because tha t  i s  someth ing  –  and  I  am not  c r i t i c is ing  Mr  

Gama,  tha t  i s  someth ing  tha t  we heard  about  fo r  the  f i rs t  

t ime when Mr  Gama gave h is  ev idence,  tha t  i s  my 

reco l lec t ion .   So,  Mr  Gama,  when we get  the  f i les  I  w i l l  

then take  you to  th is  s ing le  paragraph.  

MR GAMA :    Ja .   Maybe,  Cha i r,  jus t  –  i s  i t  rea l l y  jus t  a  

p r inc ip le  i ssue,  the  pr inc ip le  was tha t  I  wou ld  be  pa id  75% 

of  the  tax  b i l l  o f  [ ind is t inc t  –  d ropp ing  vo i ce ] .   There  was 20 

no d iscuss ion  o r  a  c lause in  the  ac tua l l y  se t t lement  

agreement  tha t  ta lked about  okay,  the  fac t  tha t  i t  must  be  

re imbursed,  you jus t  had to  p resen t  the  b i l l  and show what  

the  b i l l  was so  whether  I  had a l ready pa id  fo r  i t  o r  no t ,  the 

issue was tha t  tha t  was the  ag reement  and tha t  I  shou ld  be  
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pa id  tha t  75%.   So,  I  mean,  the  issue about  the  fac t  tha t  

some o f  i t  was  re imbursement  –  remember,  when you have 

a  lega l  case you  are  pay ing  a l l  the  t ime.   By  the  t ime we  

had the  se t t lement  I  had pa id  c lose  to  5  m i l l i on  of  lega l  

cos ts .   So I  had been pay ing ,  i t  was not  as  i f  –  I  th ink  the  

on ly  one tha t  I  have not  pa id  was the  Bowmans.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   And then,  as  I  reca l l  

your  ev idence dea l ing  w i th  the  MBA,  I  jus t  wanted to  go  

back to  one th ing .   As  I  unders tand,  Mr  Gama,  you must  10 

cor rec t  me i f  I  am wrong,  you say tha t  you r  [ ind is t inc t ] ,  tha t  

the  un ivers i t y  conducted an i nvest iga t ion  when the  

a l legat ions about  Mr  Sagar  came to  l igh t ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And I  asked you whether  you be  

prepared to  share  those documents  w i th  us ,  i t  p robab ly  i s  

my fau l t ,  fo r  no t  hav ing  fo l lowed  up on tha t ,  a re  you s t i l l  

p repared to  share  those documents  w i th  us?  

MR GAMA :    I  have shared those documents  w i th  the  

Commiss ion .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Have you?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe we  shou ld  take  the  tea  

ad journment  now.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you,  Cha i rperson,  we can 

get  ou t  the  f i les .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   I t  i s  twenty  f i ve  past  e leven,  we  

w i l l  resume a t  twenty  to  twe lve .   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you  Cha i rpe rson.   Mr  Gama,  

as  I  unders tand i t ,  the  f i les  have now been re t r ieved f rom 

the  s to re .   Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  go  to  Transnet  bund le  

3 ,  tha t  i s  EXHIBIT 16 and 17,  Mapoma and Todd.   I  wou ld  

l i ke  you to  go  to  16  and i f  I  cou ld  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  up 10 

page 19.   I  am jus t  go ing  to  show you the  prov is ion  in  the  

se t t lement  agreement .  

MR GAMA :    19?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    19 .   So the  re levant  c lause is  c lause 

3 .5 ,  wh ich  I  read to  you.   I  was requested to  show you i t  in  

wr i t ing .   There  i t  is :  

“Transnet  w i l l  make a  cont r ibu t ion  equ iva len t  to  

75% of  Mr  Gama’s  taxed lega l  cos ts  incur red . ”  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry,  I  m issed the  page,  Mr  

Myburgh.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Page 19,  one n ine .  

CHAIRPERSON :    ON bund le  7?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No,  bund le  3 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bund le  3 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    EXHIBIT 16 .    
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CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  my reg i s t ra r  i s  no t  hear ing  you.   I  

do  no t  have bund le  3 .   Bund le  3B? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bund le  3 ,  EXHIBIT 16.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   I t  i s  on ly  –  i t  i s  bund le  3 ,  there  i s  

no  A  or  B?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  paragraph 3  or  c lause 3 .5 :  

“ “Transnet  w i l l  make a  cont r ibu t ion  equ iva len t  to  

75% of  Mr  Gama’s  taxed lega l  cos ts  incur red  dur ing  10 

Mr  Gama’s  H igh  Cour t  app l i ca t ion  and in  respect  o f  

h is  un fa i r  d i smissa l  d ispute  re fer red  to  the  Transnet  

barga in ing  counc i l . ”  

I s  there  anyth ing  tha t  you want  to  add to  what  you have  

a l ready tes t i f ied  to?  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  th ink  i t  reads as  i t  reads.   I  th ink ,  as  I  

have sa id ,  i t  was  75% of  the  lega l  cos ts  a t  the  H igh  Cour t  

as  we l l  as  the  labour  d i spute .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   Now,  Mr  Gama,  cou ld  I  ask  

you p lease to  go  back to  page –  bund le  7 ,  page 22,  your  20 

f i rs t  a f f idav i t .  

MR GAMA :    Bund le  22?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bund le  7 .   I  jus t  want  to  –  I  have not  

led  you w i th  re fe rence to  each par t i cu la r  pa ragraph but  you 

w i l l  see  a t  page 24 you s tar t  th is  a f f idav i t  by :  
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“Set t ing  ou t  the  background to  my employment  w i th  

Transnet . ”  

A number  o f  these issues you have touched on and they  

a lso  –  some o f  them are  dea l t  w i th  in  your  open ing  

s ta tement .   I s  there  anyth ing  tha t  you w ish  to  h igh l igh t  

under  tha t  head ing  pages 24,  25  a l l  the  way th rough  to  29? 

MR GAMA :    H igh l igh t  as  in  emphas ise?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  i s  the re  anyth ing  tha t  you fee l  

you wou ld  l i ke  to  dea l  w i th  a t  th is  s tage?  Of  course  my  

learned f r i end i s  more  than ent i t led  to  re -examine you and 10 

to  take  you to  anyth ing  tha t  he  fee ls  has been le f t  ou t  bu t  

fo r  p resent  purposes is  there  anyth ing  tha t  you w ish  to  

dea l  w i th  tha t  has  no t  been dea l t  w i th?     

MR GAMA :    No,  I  th ink  in  the  in te res t  o f  t ime. . .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    R igh t .   And then a t  page 29 you dea l  

w i th  Mr  Mapoma’s  s ta tement  and tha t  i s ,  we know,  re la tes  

to  your  re ins ta tement  and costs .   That  goes a l l  the  way to 

page 35.   Anyth ing  you want  to  dea l  w i th  there?  

MR GAMA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then a t  page 36 you dea l  w i th  20 

the  ev idence o f  Mr  Todd and you dea l  w i th  h is  a f f idav i t  

da ted  the  31  Ju ly  wh ich  dea ls  w i th  your  re ins ta tement  and  

then a t  page 40 you dea l  w i th  what  i s  re fe r red  to  as  h i s  

second a f f idav i t  and tha t  re la tes  more  to  the  GNS issues 

and tha t  runs th rough to  the  end o f  page 46.   Those are  
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th ings tha t  we canvassed las t  t ime,  i s  there  anyth ing  you  

wou ld  l i ke  to  add to  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then a t  the  foo t  o f  page  46 you 

have a  head ing  In  Genera l  and you then dea l  w i th  

parag raph 29,  any po l i t i ca l  in te r fe rence,  those are  

parag raphs in  the  10 .6 ,  30  tha t  dea ls  w i th  costs ,  31  dea ls  

w i th  your  v is i t s  to  –  or  you r  s ing le  v is i t  to  the  Saxonwold  

compound and tha t  then runs on  to  the  end o f  page 30.   I s  

there  anyth ing  you want  to  add to  tha t?  10 

MR GAMA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then you dea l  w i th  overseas  

t rave l  a t  the  foo t  o f  page 50.   The on ly  t r ip  tha t  we have  

dea l  w i th  and tha t  we have  ques t ioned you about  i s  the  

January  2016 t r ip  wh ich  you dea l  w i th  –  and we dea l t  w i th  

th is  morn ing  a t  paragraph 32.5  and fu r the r.   We went  

th rough tha t  th is  morn ing .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I s  there  anyth ing  you want  to  add to  

tha t?  20 

MR GAMA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then page 53,  a t  the  foo t  o f  the 

page,  the  bas is  fo r  the  th ree  payments  o f  lega l  costs ,  I  

th ink  we ’ve  t rave rsed most  o f  tha t .   That  then takes you to 

the  head ing :   Request  fo r  Outs tand ing  Documents .   I s  
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there  anyth ing  you want  to  add in  re la t ion  to  the  bas is  o f  

p repayments  o f  lega l (? ) .  

MR GAMA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I f  I  cou ld  then take  you p lease –  

those ass i s t ing  me have managed to  have p laced in  the  f i le  

your  la tes t  a f f idav i t ,  the  one you gave us  th is  morn ing  

dea l ing  w i th  w i tness two.   Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  go  to  

page 262?  So i t ’s  250.262,  r igh t  towards the  end o f  bund le  

7 .  

MR GAMA :    250 po in t?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Po in t  262,  you w i l l  f ind  i t ,  Mr  Gama,  

the  las t  so r t  o f  20  pages o r  so .  

MR GAMA :    262.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  i t  250.262?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    250.262,  yes ,  Cha i rpe rson.   A re  you  

there ,  Mr  Gama.  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    There  you f ind  an  a f f idav i t ,  i t  s ta r ts  

a t  262,  i t  runs to  269 and i t  inc ludes I  th ink  i t  i s  four  

annexures SG1 th rough to  SG4 runn ing  f rom po in t  270 to  20 

po in t  297.   Do you conf i rm tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I f  I  cou ld  ask  you then to  tu rn  page 

to  page 250.269,  the  s ignature  page and a l though the  da te  

i s  no t  f i l l ed  in  there  i t  wou ld  appear  f rom the  po l i ce  s tamps  
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and I  wou ld  jus t  ask  you to  conf i rm th is ,  tha t  you appear  to  

have deposed to  th is  a f f idav i t  on  the  26  Apr i l  2021,  

p resumably  ear l ie r  th is  morn ing .  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And do you conf i rm the  t ru th  and  

accuracy o f  th is  a f f idav i t?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cha i rperson,  m ight  I  ask  you then to 

en ter  in to  ev idence Mr  Gama’s  a f f idav i t  deposed to  on  the  

26  Apr i l  2021 as  EXHIBIT 28.5 .15? 10 

CHAIRPERSON :    The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  S iyabonga Innocent  

Gama tha t  s ta r ts  a t  page 250.262 is  admi t ted  as  an  exh ib i t  

and w i l l  be  marked as  EXHIBIT 28.5 .15 .  

AFFIDAVIT  OF MR SIYABONGA INNOCENT GAMA 

STARTING AT PAGE 250.262 HANDED IN AS EXHIBIT  

28 .5 .16 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now,  Mr  Gama,  th is  a f f idav i t  dea ls  

w i th  the  a f f idav i t  o f  w i tness 2 .   What  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  do  is  to  

take  you to  tha t  a f f idav i t  and then we w i l l  a lso  obv ious l y  go  

th rough what  i s  in  e f fec t  you r  response.   But  perhaps,  i f  20 

you w ish ,  leave open bund le  7  a t  page 250.262.   Cou ld  I  

ask  you to  d raw out  bund le  BB14D? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh,  bund le  6 ,  can I  send tha t  

away fo r  the  t ime  be ing?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bund le  6?   Yes,  you can,  
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Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.   Thank  you.   Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    BB14D.   I f  I  cou ld  ask  you –  and I  

am now go ing  to  re fer  you to  the  red  numbers  o f  the  r igh t  

hand s ide .   Cou ld  you tu rn  to  page 89 p lease?  Are  you  

there?  

MR GAMA :    A lmost .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :   A re  you there ,  Mr  Gama.  

MR GAMA :    Yes I  am.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  want  to  jus t  take  you th rough th i s  10 

a f f idav i t .   Wi tness 2  says:  

1 .  I  am employed as  a  sen ior  secur i t y  o f f i c ia l  in  the  

Transnet  Group,  I  have been appo in ted  to  th is  

pos i t ion  a t  Transnet  w i th  e f fec t  f rom the  year  

2019.    

2 .  I  was prev ious ly  employed as  CPO persona l  

d r iver  fo r  S iyabonga in  h is  capac i ty  as  Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  and la te r  as  

Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  Transnet . ”  

A re  you ab le  to  conf i rm tha t?  20 

MR GAMA :    I  con f i rm number  2 ,  no t  number  1 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    P resumab ly  because you do not  

have persona l  knowledge o f  parag raph 1?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :     
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“3 .  For  the  per iod  January  2018 to  December  

2019 I  was se l f -employed.   In  th is  per iod  I  

was cont rac ted  to  per fo rm c lose pro tec t ion  

du t ies  fo r  va r ious bus iness peop le  in  South  

A f r i ca  and o the r  A f r i can count r ies . ”  

Do you have any comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes,  I  can comment  on  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You are  go ing  to  c ross- re fer  to  your  

a f f idav i t?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay,  jus t  g ive  us  second,  we can 

ba lance every th ing .   Cha i rperson,  tha t  i s  bund le  7 ,  Mr  

Gama wishes to  c ross- re fer  to  h is  a f f idav i t ,  tha t  i s  the 

a f f idav i t  a t  250.262,  bund le  7 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  I  have got  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    P lease go ahead.  

MR GAMA :    I  th ink  we now use the  b lack  numbers?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja  on  tha t  one you use b lack  numbers .  

MR GAMA :    So  i f  we tu rn  to  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  you w i l l  s ta r t  dea l ing  w i th  w i tness  20 

2  a t  page 250.265,  i t  s ta r ts  on  the  o ther  page but  there  is  

no th ing  o f  substance on the  o ther  page,  i f  tha t  i s  what  you 

are  look ing  fo r?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.   So tha t  page,  Cha i r,  260.265 (s ic ) .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  
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MR GAMA :    I  record  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    You s tar t  a t  paragraph 9  and in  

parag raph 9 .1  you dea l  w i th  pa ragraphs 1  t o  4  o f  w i tness  

2 ’s  a f f idav i t .  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.  

MR GAMA :    So  i f  you  look a t  9 .1 ,  9 .2  and 9 .3 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You jus t  want  to  say tha t  i s  where  you 

respond –  you comment  about  th is .  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR GAMA :    I t  i s  jus t  a  b i t  fa r (? )  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t ,  we l l  le t  me take you th rough  

tha t ,  Mr  Gama,  I  suppose the  eas ies t  i s  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  the  l igh t ing  qu i te  bad there  or  

somet imes you see bet te r  w i thout  the  specs.  

MR GAMA :    Ja .   I t  i s  c lose r,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Do you want  to  repeat  

what  you say in  the  a f f idav i t  o r  you jus t  wanted to  re fer  Mr  

Myburgh to  …[ in tervenes]  20 

MR GAMA :    I  wanted to  re fer  Mr  Myburgh in  as  fa r  as  the 

issue o f  the  pe r iod  o f  employment  where  he  ind i ca tes  tha t  

he  was se l f -employed fo r  the  per iod  o f  January  2018 to  

December  2019.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  
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MR GAMA :    Tha t  my in fo rmat ion  is  tha t  he  was employed  

a t  the  f i rm tha t  i s  recorded the re  in  9 .2 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    For  the  per iod  21  August  2018 to  31  January  

2020 wh ich  I  be l ieve  i s  a  mater ia l  and inexp l i cab le  

omiss ion  in  te rms  o f  what  he  ind i ca tes  to  you in  po in t  3 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  can I  jus t  ask  you,  what  i s  the 

source  o f  your  in fo rmat ion?  

MR GAMA :    F rom the  f i rm i t se l f .   I  was aware  o f  i t  and I  10 

conf i rmed i t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t  and then i f  I  can  take  you  

back to  w i tness 2 ’s  a f f idav i t  who says –  w i tness 2  says a t  

parag raph 5  a t  red  numbers  89 :  

“ I  have been invo lved in  the  c lose  pro tec t ion  

indust ry  s ince  1995 but  o f f i c ia l l y  qua l i f ied  as  a  CPO 

in  2007.   I  am reg is te red as  a  CPO wi th  the  p r iva te  

secur i t y  indust ry  regu la t ion  au thor i t y,  PS iRA.   

Through the  years  I  have prov ide  c lose  pro tec t ion  

serv i ces  to  va r ious c l ien ts  in  the  pub l i c  and pr i va te  20 

sectors  bo th  loca l l y  and in te rnat iona l l y. ”  

Do you have a  comment  in  re la t ion  to  those  th ree  

paragraphs?  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  have no pe rsona l  knowledge.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then under  the  head ing :  
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“Dut ies  as  CPO and ac t ing  as  dr i ver  fo r  Gama. ”  

Paragraph 8 :  

“The p r imary  ob jec t i ve  o f  p rov id ing  CPO serv ices  to  

Gama was to  ensure  tha t  h is  sa fe ty  was no t  

compromised. ”  

Do you agree w i th  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes in  te rms o f  the  job  desc r ip t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Paragraph 9 :  

“My dut ies  as  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Jus t  remember  no t  to  lower  your  vo ice  10 

too  much,  Mr  Gama.  

MR GAMA :    Okay,  thank you,  Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Paragraph 9 :  

“My dut ies  as  CPO and p r iva te  dr iver  fo r  Gama 

inc luded the  fo l low ing:  

1 .  On no rmal  work ing  days I  wou ld  co l lec t  Gama a t  

h is  res idence a t  a round 06h00 in  the  morn ing  and  

t ranspor t  h im to  the  o f f i ce  or  to  meet  in  venues  

dur ing  the  day as  per  h is  d ia ry.   I t  was not  

unusua l  to  work  15  hour  days and on many  20 

occas ions on ly  a r r i v ing  home a f te r  m idn igh t . ”  

Do you w ish  to  comment  on  tha t?    

MR GAMA :    No,  no th ing  to  add,  I  agree w i th  tha t  

s ta tement .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    9 .1 .1 :  
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“For  the  las t  number  o f  years  a  co l league ass is ted  

me wi th  the  pro tec t ion  and t ranspor t ing  o f  Gama.   

We used to  a l te rna te  ou r  work ing  schedu les  where  

one o f  us  wou ld  be  t ranspor t ing  Gama whi ls t  the  

o ther  one wou ld  be  per fo rming admin is t ra t i ve  tasks  

or  hav ing  o f f  days. ”  

Do you w ish  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes,  tha t  i s  cor rec t  bu t  maybe incomple te .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I s  there  someth ing  you want  to  add? 

MR GAMA :    Yes a lso  the re  wou ld  have been occas ions  10 

where  bo th  o f  them wou ld  be  in  convoy but  no t  necessar i l y  

in  the  same car.   I f  they  needed to  do  some k ind  o f  

reconna issance fo r  whatever  reason,  one wou ld  go  ahead  

or  be  in  convoy.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   9 .1.2 :  

“Othe r  CPOs who ass is ted  w i th  the  pro tec t ion  o f  

Gama over  the  years  inc luded a  co l league who la te r  

on  became the  CPO for  Thamsanqa J i yane,  Ch ie f  

P rocurement  Off i cer  a t  Transnet  a t  the  t ime and a  

cer ta in  Bongan i  whose name I  cannot  reca l l  and  20 

who la te r  passed away. ”  

Comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    I t  i s  a  CPO for  who,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  J iyane.  

MR GAMA :    I  am jus t  th ink ing  in  the  reco rd  you d id  no t  –  i t  
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shou ld  be  Thamsanqa.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  am indebted to  you,  Mr  Gama.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  I  m issed tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  i t  i s  the  DCJ tha t  usua l l y  p icks  

me out  bu t  p lease fee l  f ree  to  do  the  same.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  I  d id  no t  hear  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  o ther  than tha t  po in t  wou ld  you 

agree w i th  tha t  paragraph?  

MR GAMA :    Ja .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    We then go over  the  page,  

parag raph 9 .2 :  

“ I  fu r thermore  o f ten  t ranspor ted  Gama over  

weekends on pr iva te  t r ips .   Some o f  these t r ips  

were  to  v i s i t  h is  fami ly  in  Swaz i land and Kwazu lu -

Nata l  o r  f r iends and bus iness peop le  in  and around 

Gauteng.   On occas ions I  t ranspor ted  h im to  Durban  

where  he  owns a  f la t .   Whi ls t  in  Durban I  used to  

s tay  a t  the  Maharan i  Hote l .   I  have never  been  

inv i ted  to  jo in  Mr  Gama a t  h is  f la t . ”  20 

Wish  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  I  no te  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Paragraph 9 .3 :  

“ I  was a lso  respons ib le  to  look  a f te r  the  

main tenance o f  Gama’s  pr i va te  veh ic les .   Gama 
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never  made use  o f  o f f i c ia l  Transnet  t ranspor t ,  he  

a lways used h i s  p r iva te  veh ic les  fo r  o f f i c ia l  

purposes. ”  

Conf i rm tha t?  

MR GAMA :    No ,  he  was not  respons ib le  –  he  is  no t  a  

mechan ic ,  so  I  do  no t  know when  he says he  looked a f te r  

the  main tenance o f  p r iva te  veh ic les .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  you say he  was not  respons ib le  

fo r  the  main tenance?  

MR GAMA :    No.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Was he respons ib le  fo r  mak ing  –  

sor ry,  DCJ?  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no ,  I  am jus t  wonder ing  whethe r  

w i tness 2 ’s  use o f  ma in tenance there  re la tes  to  the  job  o f  a  

mechan ic  o r  whether  i t  i s  someth ing  more  super f i c ia l  bu t  o f  

course  we do not  know,  he  has used main tenance here .   I  

th ink  we can move on.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   I f  he  was not  respons ib le  fo r  

the  main tenance  and the  techn ica l  wou ld  he  have been  

respons ib le  fo r  ensur ing  tha t  you r  veh ic les  were  in  good 20 

orde r,  in  work ing  cond i t ion?  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  never  go t  to  wa tch  them and so  on .   Ja ,  

f rom t ime to  t ime the  veh ic les  were  d i r t y  then they  wou ld  

be  taken to  a  car  wash.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Paragraph 9 .4 :  
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“The  fo l low ing veh ic les  owned by  Gama were  used  

to  t ranspor t  h im on o f f i c ia l  and p r iva te  t r ips  namely :  

1 .  BMW X5.   Th i s  veh ic le  was la te r  g iven to  Gama’s  

daughte r.  

2 .  Range Rover  Vogue,  wh ich  a  fu l l y  a rmoured  

veh ic le ,  a  photog raph o f  th is  veh ic le  i s  a t tached. ”  

Perhaps we cou ld  go  to  tha t ,  us ing  the  red  numbers .   

Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  go  to  page 104?  Do you w ish  to  

comment  on  tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  see  some …[ in tervenes]  10 

MR GAMA :    I t  cou ld  be  o r  no t  be  a  p ic tu re  o f  the  ca r,  I  do  

no t  know,  i t  i s  a  s ide  p ic tu re ,  so  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sor ry,  I  beg your  pardon?  

MR GAMA :    I  am say ing  i t  cou ld  be  or  no t  be .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  wanted to  say,  Mr  Myburgh,  fo r  the 

record  I  see tha t  some pages in  th is  bund le  have got  bo th  

the  b lack  and the  red  numbers .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  we w i l l  s t i ck  to  the  red  numbers  20 

th roughout ,  i s  tha t  r igh t ,  on  th is  bund le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  fo r  the  purposes  o f  th is  

ev idence,  i f  we cou ld  s t i ck  to  the  red  numbers  p lease.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What  co lou r  was your  Range Rover  
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Vogue,  Mr  Gama? 

MR GAMA :    B lack .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sor ry,  jus t  so  tha t  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    D id  you say b lack?  

MR GAMA :    B lack .  

CHAIRPERSON :    B lack ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Jus t  so  I  unders tand your  ev idence,  

you say w i th  re fe rence to  th is  pho tograph th is  may or  may  

not  be  your  veh ic le?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   Then p lease go back to  

parag raph 9 .4 .3 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe one can ask  –  the  p ic tu re  may or  

may not  have been your  veh ic le  bu t  i s  the  p ic tu re  s im i la r  to  

your  veh ic le?  

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  s im i la r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes and then the  th i rd  veh ic le  l i s ted  

is :  

“A Mercedes Benz 500 wh ich  was o f ten  used fo r  20 

t r ips  to  Kwazu lu -Nata l .   Four th  veh ic le  l i s ted ,  a  

Mercedes Benz SL63 wh ich  was most ly  used as  a  

weekend veh ic le ,  photograph o f  th is  veh ic le  i s  

a t tached as  annexure  W202. ”  

That  you f ind  a t  red  number  page 106.   Do you want  to  
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comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    I  agree.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then the  f i f th  veh ic le  tha t  i s  

l i s ted  is :  

“A Mercedes Benz S65 s ince  2017  th is  veh ic le  was  

used to  a l te rna te  w i th  the  Range Rover  i n  

parag raph 942. ”  

Do want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    No,  no th ing  to  add.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  beg your  pardon?  10 

MR GAMA :    Noth ing  to  add.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then over  t he  page,  paragraph 9 .5 :  

“Othe r  veh ic les  tha t  Mr  Gama owned over  the  years  

were  the  fo l low ing. ”  

Perhaps I  can j us t  pa raphrase th is  because i t  i s  no t  o f  

par t i cu la r  impor tance.    

“A Land Rover  D iscovery,  a  Lexus 4  x  4 ,  a  Lexus  

Sedan,  a  BMW 320 and a  Min i  Cooper. ”  

Do you have any comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  th ink  he  is  ta lk ing  about  ca rs  tha t  he  20 

may have seen over  the  years .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

MR GAMA :    Whethe r  I  owned them or  no t ,  I  th ink 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Which  maybe s ince  he says you  owned  
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them,  maybe you might  be ,  maybe you might  w ish  to  

spec i fy  wh ich  ones you owned,  wh ich  ones you d id  no t  own 

because he makes the  a l legat ion  tha t  you owned them.  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  no ,  he  has made tha t  a l legat ion  on  a l l  the  

veh ic les  bu t  i t  i s  no t  t rue .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay [ laugh ing ]  okay.  

MR GAMA:    He wou ld  see my daughter ’s  ca r  and then he 

says i t  i s  my car.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  we l l  do  you  want  to  c la r i f y  tha t ,  do  

you want  to  c la r i f y  wh ich  ones you own,  wh ich  ones you 10 

may not  have owned.   

MR GAMA:    L ike  the  X5 is  my daughter ’s  ca r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  repeat  tha t .  

MR GAMA:   The BMW X5 is  my daughter ’s  ca r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m,  d id  you own i t  be fore  you gave i t  to  

her  o r  you bought  i t  fo r  her  w i thout  f i rs t  own ing i t?  

MR GAMA:    No,  i t  was he rs .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR GAMA:    I  jus t  somet imes used i t  because you cou ld  –  

i t  i s  a  d iese l  you can go to  Durban  and then come back on  20 

i t ,  on  what  i t  g ives  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR GAMA:    I  wou ld  no t  have to  f i l l  too  much pet ro l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  Mr  Gama i f  you look a t  paragraph 

9 .5 ,  wh ich  o f  those veh ic les  d id  you not  own?  
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MR GAMA:    The Lexus four  by  four,  I  d id  no t  own,  the  

Land Cru i se r  I  d id  no t  own,  the  M in i  Cooper  was a lso  my 

daughte rs .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  jus t  so  tha t  I  unders tand i t ,  the  

Min i  Cooper,  you  say i t  was my daughter 's  ca r,  you d id  no t  

own i t?  

MR GAMA:    Sor ry,  the  Min i  Cooper?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja .  

MR GAMA:    I  am say ing  i t  was my  daughter ' s  ca r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  and then the  Land Rover  10 

D iscovery  and the  Lexus four  by  four  a t  951 Wi tness 2  says  

Land Rover  D iscovery,  wh ich  was  la te r  t raded to  buy the  

Range Rover  re fe r red  to  in  parag raph 9 .4 .2 ,  do  you deny  

tha t?  

MR GAMA:    No,  no  I  have sa id  to  you the  Lexus four  by  

four  I  d id  no t  own ,  tha t  i s  952.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    952 Lexus  four  by  fou r  wh ich  was 

used by  Mr  Gama ’s  w i fe .  

MR GAMA:    And a lso  the  Land Cru iser  I  d id  no t  own and  

the  Min i  Cooper  I  d id  no t  own.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Where  do  I  f ind  the  Land Cru iser?  

MR GAMA:    I t  i s  on  952,  i t  says  an  o ld  Land Cru i se r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  Lexus four  by  four  wh ich  was  

used by  Mr  Gama ’s  w i fe  an  o ld  Land Cru ise r  was t raded to  

buy th is .   So you say tha t  952 is  wrong in  i t s  en t i re ty?  
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MR GAMA:    I  am say ing  I  d id  no t  own the  cars .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay.  

MR GAMA:    I  never  owned them a t  the  t ime when they  

were  the re .   A lo t  o f  these cars  somet imes he wou ld  r igh t ly  

po in t  ou t  they were  the re  and then they were  rep laced by  

o ther  cars  bu t  i t  is  no t  l i ke  I  have tha t  f lee t  o f  cars  maybe  

in  -  I  do  no t  have .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  paragraph 9 .6 :  

“Due to  the  fac t  tha t  we used  Gama’s  pr iva te  

veh ic les  fo r  t ranspor t ,  I  d id  no t  keep log  books o f  10 

da i l y  t r ips  under taken by  h im. ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  th ink  i t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then under  the  head ing  t r ips  to  

the  Gupta  res idence,  paragraph 10:  

“ I  can reca l l  tha t  I  have t ranspor ted  Gama on fou r  

occas ions to  the  Gupta  res idence a t  Saxonwold  

Dr ive  Johannesburg ,  none o f  these t r ips  were  

recorded in  h is  d ia ry. ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  20 

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  no  none o f  tha t  happened i t  i s  a  f ic t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    On the  one occas ion  tha t  you say 

you went  to  the  Gupta  res idence d id  Wi tness 2 ,  take  you  

there?  
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MR GAMA:    He may have.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  he may have taken you once?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 11:  

“On ar r i va l  a t  the  res idence,  Gama wou ld  go  in to  

the  house.   I  wou ld  wa i t  fo r  h im to  re turn  in  t he  

veh ic le  in  the  park ing  a rea ins ide  the  premises. ”  

And comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    What  he  cou ld  say tha t  i s  tha t  on  ar r i va l  a t  

the  res idence,  I  went  in to  the  house and then I  came out  10 

ins tead o f  say ing  I  wou ld  –  as  i f  i t  was a  regu lar  th ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t ,  12 :  

“Whi ls t  wa i t ing  fo r  Gama in  the  park ing  area.  I  have  

seen J iyane 's ,  wh i te  VW Gol f  R parked in  the  

park ing  area on  two occas ions.   I  ac tua l l y  saw 

J iyane go ing  in to  the  res idence on one occas ion . ”  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  cannot  comment  on  tha t ,  I  know noth ing  

about  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 13:  

“One day J i yane ment ioned to  me in  pass ing ,  tha t  I  20 

was be ing  exposed to  the  quote  “shady s tu f f  tha t  

they do . ”   I  d id  no t  ask  h im what  he  meant  and le f t  

i t  a t  tha t ,  on  th i rd  you re fer red  to  h is  and Gama’s  

dea l ings w i th  the  Gupta  fami ly. ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  
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MR GAMA:    No,  I  know noth ing  about  tha t ,  s i r  I  deny any 

re ference to  any  shady s tu f f  bu t  I  do  no t  know what  he  

d iscussed w i th  J i yane but  he  says he  d iscussed i t  w i th  h im,  

whethe r  i t  happened or  no t  I  do  no t  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 14,  on  a…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  one second,  the  t ransc r ibers  can 

they te l l  me whether  they hear  Mr  Gama c lear ly,  i s  tha t  a 

thumbs up o r  what  i s  tha t ,  he  must  ra ise  h i s  vo i ce?  Okay,  

p lease t ry  and speak up.  

MR GAMA:    Okay,  I  w i l l  ge t  c lose r  to  the  m ic ,  Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja ,  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 14:  

“On anothe r  occas ion  wh i ls t  wa i t ing  fo r  Gama in  the  

park ing  area a t  the  res idence Br ian  Mole fe  ar r i ved 

w i th  h is  Aud i  S8  and he went  in to  the  house.   He 

drove the re  on  h i s  own,  a t  the  t ime,  he  had a l ready  

been seconded to  Eskom as CEO.”  

You want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  have no knowledge.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you know whethe r  Mr  Mole fe  eve r  20 

drove an Aud i  S8? 

MR GAMA:    Whether  he  dr ives  an  Aud i  S8,  no  I  thought  i t  

was an A8,  I  am not  sure  I  th ink  he  used to  have a  s i l ver  

A8,  I  am not  aware  o f  S8,  I  th ink  an  S8 is  a  d i f fe ren t  make 

o f  ca r.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And do you  know whether  Mr  J iyane  

ever  d rove a  wh i te  VW Gol f  R?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  am not  aware .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then under  the  head ing  su i tcase 

co l lec ted  a t  Gupta  res idence pa ragraph 15:  

“Dur ing  or  about  November  2016,  dur ing  one o f  the  

v is i t s  to  the  Gupta  res idence,  wh i l e  I  was wa i t ing  in  

the  park ing  area in  the  Range Rover  fo r  Gama,  he  

came out  o f  the  res idence and to ld  me tha t  I  shou ld  

expect  the  pe rson tha t  wou ld  be  br ing ing  a  bag to  10 

me in  a  few minutes .   Approx imate ly  10  m inutes  

la te r,  a  man who I  th ink  i s  a  re la t ive  o f  the  Gupta ’s  

came out  o f  the  house w i th  a  su i t case in  h is  hand.   

He came to  the  veh ic le  and sa id  tha t  I  must  open 

the  boot ,  wh ich  I  d id .   He gave the  su i tcase to  me  

and I  pu t  i t  in to  the  boot .   I  no t iced tha t  i t  was a  

po lo  branded su i tcase,  a  p ic tu re  o f  the  su i tcase 

s im i la r  to  one re fer red  to  i s  a t tached as  Annexure  

W2-03. ”  

Before  I  –  o r  le t  take  you to  tha t  p ic tu re  and then ask  you 20 

to  comment  on  the  who le  paragraph.   That  p ic tu re  you f ind  

Mr  Gama,  red  number  page 108.    

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I  see.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  do  you say to  paragraph 15,  do  

you have any comment?   

MR GAMA:    Yes,  I  can comment  i t  never  happened,  as  I  

have tes t i f ied  to  the  Commiss ion  I  d id  no t  know any peop le  

who s tayed in  the  res idence so  I  do  no t  th ink  they wou ld  

have g i ven me anyth ing .   I  have never  seen the  su i tcase,  

as  I  have sa id  to  you I  was the re  fo r  about  10  to  15  

minutes  and went  in  w i th  Mr  Essa came out  w i th  h im.   there  

was no such –  th i s  i s  f i c t ion .    

CHAIRPERSON:    I  see  tha t  he  says tha t  i s  Wi tness 2 ,  tha t  10 

th is  was on or  about  November  2016.   I  remember  f rom the  

a f f idav i t  o f  you rs  tha t  we dea l t  w i th  ear l ie r  tha t  i t  seems 

tha t  when you went  to  the  Gupta  res idence i t  was  around 

November,  was i t  2015 or  was i t  2016?  

MR GAMA:    I t  was 2015.  

CHAIRPERSON:    2015,  yes  and  we know Mr  Myburgh 

whethe r  du r ing  2015,  Wi tness 2  was prov id ing  pro tec t ion  

serv i ces  to  Mr  Gama because I  am wonder ing  i f  whether  we  

are  dea l ing  w i th  a  s i tua t ion  where  you d id  go  there ,  there  a 

prob lem wi th  the  da tes  and then maybe about  whethe r  20 

there  was a  su i tcase or  no t ,  bu t  whether  -  because he a l so  

re fers  to  November  and I  th ink  in  your  a f f idav i t  you ta lk  

about  November  bu t  as  you say 2015.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Fo r  what  per iod  o f  t ime d id  Wi tness 

2 ,  p rov ide  you w i th  CP0 serv ices?  
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MR GAMA:    I  th ink  accord ing  to  h is  –  there  was someth ing  

in  the  ear l ie r  paragraphs.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  thought  he  dea ls  somewhere  w i th  the  

per iods when he  was p rov id ing  p ro tec t ion  se rv i ces to  you  

but  I  do  no t  see i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He says genera l l y  a t  parag raph 2 ,  

you wou ld  have seen DCJ,  

“ I  was p rev ious l y  employed as  a  CPO and persona l  

d r iver  fo r  Mr  Gama in  h is  capac i ty  o f  Ch ie f  

Execut ive  o f  Transnet  and ten  la te r  as  the  new CEO 10 

o f  Transnet . ”  

Can you remember  what  pe r iod  o f  t ime he prov ided you  

w i th  CPO serv i ces?  

MR GAMA:    I  suspect  i t  wou ld  have been between 2013  

and 2017.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And hence,  as  you sa id  he  m ight  

have been the  d r iver  who –  or  he  m ight  have taken  you to  

the  Gupta  res idence on the  one occas ion  tha t  you say you 

went  there .  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  I  th ink  he  p robab ly  d id .   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then a t  paragraph 16:  

“On Gama’s  re turn  f rom the  res idence he asked me 

to  take  h im to  the  Mas low Hote l  a t  the  corner  o f  

R ivon ia  and Grayston  Dr i ve  i n  Sandton.   I  d ropped 

Gama a t  the  en t rance o f  the  ho te l  and went  to  pa rk  
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the  veh ic le . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    I t  never  happened.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 17:  

“A f te r  a  wh i le  I  went  in to  the  ho te l  to  o rder  

someth ing  to  d r ink .   I  no t iced tha t  Gama and J i yane  

were  s i t t ing  in  the  lounge by  the  bar.   A few minutes  

la te r  Gama ca l led  me and ins t ruc ted  me to  take  the  

su i tcase tha t  he  co l lec ted  f rom the  Gupta  res idence  

and to  pu t  i t  in  the  boot  o f  J iyane 's  veh ic le .   J iyane  10 

gave me h i s  keys and exp la ined to  me where  h i s  

veh ic le  was pa rked. ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    I t  never  happened.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 18:  

“As ins t ruc ted  I  went  to  the  Range Rover  and took  

the  su i tcase f rom the  boot  and took i t  to  J iyane 's  

veh ic le ,  a  wh i te  Mercedes Benz  GL,  wh ich  was 

parked c lose  to  the  en t rance o f  the  ho te l .  I  

subsequent ly  pu t  the  su i t  su i t case in  the  boot  o f  20 

J iyane 's  veh ic le ,  bu t  be fore  I  c losed the  boot ,  I  

dec ided to  see what  was ins ide  the  su i tcase.   When 

I  opened i t ,  I  saw tha t  the  bag was s tacked w i th  

cash.  The top  layer  conta ined bund les  o f  R50,  00  

and R100,00 notes .   I  locked J iyane ’s  veh ic le  and  
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d id  no t  say  anyth ing  to  e i the r  Gama o r  J i yane o f  

what  I  had seen ins ide  the  su i tcase. ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    I t  never  happened Cha i r.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Dur ing  the  t ime tha t  Wi tness 2 ,  

p rov ided you w i th  CPO serv i ces ,  d id  you have occas ion  to  

v is i t  the  Mas low Hote l  a t  the  corner  R ivon ia  and Grayston  

Dr ive ,  i s  i t  somewhere  you wou ld  go?  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  I  have on occas ion  many occas ions  

v is i ted  tha t  ho te l ,  Mas low.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then under  the  head ing 

co l lec t ions a t  Me l rose Arch ,  paragraph 19:  

“Dur ing  the  per iod  o f  p rov id ing  CPO serv ices  fo r  

Gama I  t ranspor ted  h im to  Mel rose Arch  in  

Johannesburg  on  th ree  occas ions,  where  he  

co l lec ted  cash f rom Sa l im Essa. ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    No,  i t  d id  no t  happen.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you  eve r  meet  Mr  Essa a t  

Me l rose  Arch?  20 

MR GAMA:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you  know where  Mr  Essa ’s  

o f f i cers  were?  

MR GAMA:    No,  I  do  no t  know tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  paragraph 20:  
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“Gama in t roduced me to  Essa  on a  prev ious  

occas ion ,  I  have learned th rough media  repor ts  tha t  

Essa is  l inked to  the  Gupta ’s .   I  a t tach  here to  as  

Annexure  W2-04  a  p ic tu re  ob ta ined f rom the  

in te rnet  as  conf i rmat ion  tha t  th is  i s  the  person  

known to  me as Essa. ”  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  go  to  red 

number  page 110 ,  one one zero ,  do  you want  to  comment  

on  tha t  parag raph  and the  photograph? 

MR GAMA:    I  can  take  a  p i c tu re  o f  DCJ is  covered fa i r l y  10 

o f ten  in  the  newspaper,  i t  w i l l  have h is  p ic tu re  and h is  

name and I  can say th is  i s  the  person tha t  i s  known as 

Just ice  Zondo.   I  do  no t  know what  to  make o f  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    But ,  do  you know,  p ic tu re  a t  page 

110,  do  you know tha t  to  be  Sa l im Essa?  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  I  know tha t  as  Sa l im Essa.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then Wi tness 2  says a t  pa rag raph 

21:  

“ I  can spec i f i ca l l y  reca l l  the  de ta i l s  o f  two o f  the  

co l lec t ions wh ich  are  d i scussed be low. ”  20 

And then he s ta r ts  w i th  a  co l lec t i on  on  the  13 t h  o f  June  

2017 and he says  a t  parag raph 22:  

“ In  the  f i rs t  ins tance,  wh ich  occur red  on 13 June 

2017,  Gama con tac ted  me and requested tha t  I  

shou ld  co l lec t  a  parce l  f rom Essa a t  the  Mel rose 
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apa r tments  and thereaf te r  p i ck  h im up a t  the  A f r i can  

Pr ide  Hote l  in  Me l rose Arch . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    May  I  request  tha t  we  take a l l  o f  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  perhaps best  then 

you can re fer  to  the  m inutes  tha t  you want  to  o r  shou ld  we  

go th rough the  who le  th ing ,  okay fa i r  enough.   And then a t  

parag raph 23:  

“As ins t ruc ted  I  d rove to  the  Me l rose apar tments  

where  I  wa i ted  fo r  Essa in  the  park ing  area .  10 

Somet ime a f te r  my ar r i va l  a t  Me l rose Arch  Essa 

approached me where  I  was wa i t ing  in  Gama’s  

Range Rover.   Essa handed over  a  s t r iped bag w i th  

a  z ip  to  me,  I  a t tach  here  to  a  p ic tu re  o f  a  bag  

s im i la r  to  the  one tha t  Essa handed to  me as  

Annexure  W2-05. ”  

Perhaps I  cou ld  ask  you to  go  to  page 112 red  numbers  

there  you w i l l  f ind  a  p ic tu re  o f  the  bag.   I f  we go back to  

parag raph 23 a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page 94:  

“A f te r  pu t t ing  the  bag in  the  boot  o f  the  veh ic le  I  20 

drove to  the  A f r i can Pr ide  Hote l  where  I  co l lec ted  

Gama a t  the  en t rance.   I  a t tach  here to  as  Annexure  

W2-06 a  pr in tou t  o f  Goog le  Maps t rave l  h i s to ry  

ob ta ined f rom my ce l lu la r  phone  as  conf i rmat ion  

tha t  I  a r r i ved a t  Me l rose Arch  a t  20h27 and 
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depar ted  a t  21h36. ”  

Now tha t  Annexure  you f ind  a t  page 114 and there  you w i l l  

see the  bo t tom par t  o f  the  page re ference to  Mel rose Arch  

and 8 :27  and 9 :36pm.   We go back  to  parag raph 24:  

“La te r  tha t  even ing  I  t ranspor ted  Gama to  an  

address in  Bryanston where  c lose  f r iend o f  h is  

swayed. ”  

See Annexure  W2-06 as  conf i rma t ion  tha t  I  a r r i ved  

a t  the  Bryanston address a t  22h37 and tha t  I  

depar ted  f rom the re  a t  01h57 in  the  ear ly  morn ing . ”  10 

That  annexure  you f ind  a t  red  number  page 117 and then  

you w i l l  see  a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page the i r  re fe rence to  a 

Bryanston address and choose  a  t ime 10:37pm and  

1 :57am.   Now and i f  we go to  paragraph 25:  

“Whi le  a f te r  a r r i v ing  a t  h is  c lose  f r iend ’s  res idence  

Gama opened the  bag ins ide  the  boot  and I  saw tha t  

i t  was s tacked w i th  R200,00 no tes .   I  ass is ted  

Gama to  count  the  money r igh t  there  in  the  boot  in  

the  Range Rover.   To  the  best  o f  my reco l lec t ion ,  

the  amount  came to  approx imate l y  R1mi l l ion . ”  20 

Paragraph 26:  

“Gama d iv ided the  cash amount  approx imate ly  i n  

ha l f .   He took the  one ha l f  ins ide  the  house,  we 

handed he handed i t  to  h is  c lose  f r iend.   From the  

o ther  ha l f  he  counted out  R50 000 ,00 wh ich  he  gave 
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me as  a  present .   A t  the  t ime I  was in  the  process  

o f  bu i ld ing  my house in  Soweto ,  I  used some o f  th is  

money to  buy bu i ld ing  mater ia l  the  remain ing  money  

was le f t  in  the  bag in  the  boot  o f  the  veh ic le ,  wh ich  

he  la te r  took f rom the  boot  o f  the  veh ic le  a t  h is  

res idence in  Midrand when I  d ropped h im o f f . ”  

I  th ink  you want  to  c ross  re fe r  Mr  Gama to  your  a f f idav i t?  

MR GAMA:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    P lease go ahead.  

MR GAMA:    Thank you.   So I  w i l l  dea l  i f  13 t h  o f  June ne” .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  2017.  

MR GAMA:    So  on th is  par t i cu la r  day tha t  he  re fers  to  and 

i t  i s  even cer ta in  t imes and the  Goog le  Maps.  I  have 

a t tached fo r  you r  re fe rence what  ac tua l l y  t ransp i red  on  

tha t  day.   You w i l l  see  tha t  I  was a t  a  meet ing  in  Pre tor ia  

and i f  you re ference to  my a f f idav i t  and I  th ink  I  have  

a t tached minutes  a lso  o f  tha t  meet ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  we l l  perhaps I  cou ld  take  

you th rough th is ,  so  tha t  we can go  th rough i t  thorough ly,  i f  

you wou ld  t ry  and ass is t .   You dea l ing  as  I  unders tand,  20 

cor rec t  me i f  I  am wrong,  Mr  Gama wi th  pa ragraph 13 a t  

page 250.266 the re  i t  says :  

“A t  13  June 2017. ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then you say a t  13 .1 .1 .   

“Wi tness 2  a l leges in  parag raph 22  to  26 . ”  

That  i s  what  we have been dea l ing  w i th .  

“That  on  13  June 2017,  I  contac ted  h im and  

a l leged ly  requested h im to  co l lec t  a  parce l  f rom 

Sa l im Essa a t  Me l rose apar tments  and tha t  

fo l low ing on the  co l lec t ion  o f  the  parce l  I  a l leged ly  

requested  h im to  co l lec t  me f rom Af r i can Pr ide  

Hote l .   As  can  be seen f rom Annexure  W2-05 ,  

Wi tness  2  ar r i ved a t  Me l rose Arch  a t  20h27 and 10 

depar ted  20h36. ”  

You say ove r  the  page:  

“ I  was then a l leged ly  t ranspor ted  to  a  c lose  f r iend  

in  Bryanston  a t  20h37 and  ar r i ved  a t  my res idence  

a t  01h57. ”  

And you say a t  paragraph 13.2 :  

“ I  deem i t  p rudent  to  in fo rm the  Commiss ion  tha t  

th is  i s  incons is ten t  w i th  the  ac tua l  events  o f  the  day  

on  13 June 2017 ,  as  I  was a t  a  po in t  a t tend ing  a  

spec ia l  Board  meet ing  o f  Transnet  d i rec tors  i n  20 

Pre tor ia ,  wh ich  commenced a t  17h33 and ended a t  

18h03.  I  annex here to  marked SG2 a  copy o f  the  

m inutes  o f  the  a foresa id  Board  meet ing . ”  

So th is  was a  ha l f  an  hour  Board  meet ings,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR GAMA:    That  i s  cor rec t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Be tween ha l f  past  f i ve  and 6  o 'c lock  

in  the  a f te rnoon o r  ear l y  even ing?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And i f  we can -  I  can take  you then 

to  SG2.  

MR GAMA:    So  o r  i f  you  can jus t  f in ish  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Oh sor ry.   F rom annexure  W2-06:   

“Wi tness 2  le f t  the  meet ing  in  P re tor ia  a t  19h43,  

one hour  and 45 minutes  a f te r  the  meet ing  had  

conc luded.   There  wou ld  have been no reasonab le  10 

exp lanat ion  fo r  me to  s tay  in  Pre tor ia  fo r  an  ex t ra  

hour  and 40 minu tes  a f te r  the  end o f  the  meet ing . ”  

Okay,  so  le t  me jus t  take  you then  to  SG2,  SG2 is  headed 

minutes  o f  the  c losed sess ion  o f  the  spec ia l  Board  o f  

d i rec tors  meet ing  –  I  beg your  pardon th i s  i s  a t  page 276,  

m inutes  o f  the  c losed sess ion  o f  the  spec ia l  Board  o f  

d i rec tors  meet ing  number  20-17/18FY he ld  a t  17 :33  on 13 

June 2017 a t  P la t inum Board room Bu i ld ing  21  CSIR,  Mar in  

o r  Deer  Road,  Pre tor ia . ”  

A re  those the  m inutes  you re fer red  to?   Cha i rperson,  I  see  20 

tha t  i t  i s  1  o 'c lock .  

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  you con f i rm tha t  those are  the  

m inutes  you are  re fer r ing  to?  

MR GAMA:    Those a re  the  m inutes I  re fe r red  to  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  okay le t  us  take  the  lunch 
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ad journment  and we w i l l  resume a t  two,  we ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:    A l l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay let  us cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Chai rperson.   Good 

af ternoon Mr Gama.  

MR GAMA:   Good af ternoon Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We had been looking at  SG2 at  page 

250.276 and we saw that  that  was a specia l  board meet ing 10 

that  was held in Pretor ia CSIR and i t  started at  17:33 and i f  I  

take you to page – over the page to 277 i t  f in ished at  18:03 

i t  lasted approximately  for hal f  an hour  f rom hal f  past  f ive 

unt i l  s ix,  correct? 

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So i f  I  understand the point  you make 

in your aff idavi t  at  paragraph 13.3 you say that  W206 

ref lects that  Witness 2 lef t  Pretor ia  at  19H43 – one hour and 

forty minutes af ter the meet ing had concluded.   You say 

there was – would be no reasonable explanat ion for me to 20 

stay in Pretor ia for one hour and forty minutes af ter the 

meet ing.  Is that  r ight? 

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I f  we go please to that  annexure at  

page 114 – red numbers – 114.  
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MR GAMA:   The other f i le? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes I  beg your  pardon.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So the f i rst  part  of  i t  appears to  ref lect  

i f  one fol lows how the t iming works in other instances and 

explained by Witness 2 that  he arr ived at  CSIR at  9:30 in the 

morning and lef t  at  7.43 pm.  Were you at  the CSIR that  

day? 

MR GAMA:   Yes I  was.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   As you have i t  though you would have 10 

lef t  at  approximately what t ime? 

MR GAMA:   Probably around 18:15.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then the second part  the fact  that  

you or he arr ived at  Mel rose at  8:37 and departed at  8:36 is 

that  then the sum tota l  of  your defence on this issue? 

MR GAMA:   Ja what I  am basical ly indicat ing is  that  he 

makes assumpt ions that  I  may have been with h im dur ing al l  

of  these t ime per iods but  for me i t  is qui te clear f rom the 

minutes of  that  meet ing that  – and I  th ink that  is  also the 

problem that  we have wi th not  having the – the fu l l  d iary 20 

which is one of  the biggest  problems Chai r  that  we have 

been facing because as I  have ind icated I  would l ike to have 

cross-examined Witness 2 and i t  would have been much 

clearer.   So I  am – we are navigat ing almost  at  hal f  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja there are di ff icul t ies.  
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MR GAMA:   Yes,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   Yes wel l  the – I  th ink i t  would be – i t  would have 

been much clearer so I  t r ied to use the informat ion at  hand 

to indicate that  I  would not  have been with him when he lef t  

one hour forty minutes af ter the meet ing.   The meet ing 

ended – I  do not  st ick around when the meet ing has ended I  

leave.   So i f  he had been there i t  is  possible that  he was in a 

di fferent  car and he was not  wi th me.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Would you remember whether you would 10 

have gone to that  meet ing in the car  he was dr iv ing? 

MR GAMA:   No I  do not  remember.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You do not  remember.  

MR GAMA:   I  do not  remember.   That  is why I  am saying he 

is showing something f rom his cel l  phone that  he was there 

at  a part icular  t ime.  He may have been in the 

reconnaissance car  arr iv ing there very ear ly and then 

leaving later but  i t  does not  mean that  he was wi th me. Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  you have accepted that  you were 20 

at  CSIR for the whole day.  

MR GAMA:   I  may have been the minutes that  I  have 

indicated to you they indicate that  there was a special  

meet ing that  took place at  17:33 and i t  ended at  18:03.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  Mr Gama how can you say wi th  
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certainty that  you would not  have – or that  you would have 

lef t  immediately and that  you would not  have stayed there for 

another hour and a hal f  or so? 

MR GAMA:   Because… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   How can you say that? 

MR GAMA:   Because there would have been nothing for me 

to stay there for.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So what – when you look then at  114 is 

– is i t  your case that  you –you consider th is page here to be 

a f raud or  are you saying wel l  perhaps Witness 2 went to  10 

these places but  he was not  go ing wi th me 

MR GAMA:   I t  may ei ther be a f raud or he may have gone to 

those places but  he was not  wi th me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  would Witness 2 have taken you on 

the 13t h of  June 2017 to the CSIR in the ord inary course? 

MR GAMA:   Wel l  you see – you say in al l  records? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   No in the ordinary course of  events? 

MR GAMA:   Oh in  the ordinary course? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   Sorry.   Okay.   Ja he – he could have but  f rom 20 

what I  can gather  in  terms of  th is navigat ion schedule i t  is 

just  ent i re ly impossible that  at  the end of  the meet ing I  would 

stuck around on those premises – that  is – that  is not  even 

our off ices so these are not  our off ices so I  could not  you 

know have stayed there for an hour and forty minutes af ter  
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we f in ished the meet ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   How – how many cars would go wi th h im?  

Would there – would you be in one car and then there would 

be another car that  in terms of  reconnaissance.  

MR GAMA:   Yes somet imes – somet imes i t  would be my car  

– I  am always in my car.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   And then there could be… 

CHAIRPERSON:   With one or more of  the protectors in your  

car? 10 

MR GAMA:   Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  Okay.  

MR GAMA:   With one protector in my car.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   Dr iv ing and then the other one being … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   The one who is on the lookout  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes and the other one would – would fol low 

you or be in f ront  of  your one? 

MR GAMA:   We would always – Chair  they would… 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   ( Inaudible).  

MR GAMA:   They would almost  always be in f ront .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay.  

MR GAMA:   A lmost  always be in f ront  or in convoy.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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MR GAMA:   They would not… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   When I  have lef t  there is no reason to be 

staying behind.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   So I  do not  understand i f  he is c laiming that  he 

was wi th me or why at  the meet ing he stayed behind.   I  

doubt  i t  that  – i t  may be a day when he was off  and maybe 

just  decided that  he was going to t ravel  there because he – 

he knew that  we were working there and then cont inued with 10 

whatever else he was doing there.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   The – most  of  the – that  day to the 

extent  that  th is re f lects that  he was there what is t rue is that  

you were also there for most  of  that  day,  is that  correct? 

MR GAMA:   Ja for  a per iod yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja for a certain number of  hours.  

MR GAMA:   Hm. 

CHAIRPERSON:   You were in the same place? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   Now you – you cannot remember or 20 

could – can you whether you would have been – he would 

have dr iven your car or whether he would have been in the 

other one on that  day? 

MR GAMA:   I  do not  th ink he drove my car  Chai r.   This is 

what I  am saying.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Oh okay.  

MR GAMA:   This is what I  am saying that  I  do not  th ink…  

CHAIRPERSON:   On your  version he would be in  the other  

car.  

MR GAMA:   Ja,  yes I  do not  th ink he drove my car or  th is is  

not  in sync wi th real i ty.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   But  in terms of  pract ice and 

what used to happen is the posi t ion that  the two cars insofar  

as one of  them has got  you inside would – would be 

supposed to be together? 10 

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   So i f  there was a minute apart .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   That  is the normal.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   Discrepancy I  would not  have a problem with i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   But  an hour and forty minutes is just  too much.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is just  too much yes.  20 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   So assuming that  is not  a si tuat ion 

where he was – okay let  us put  i t  th is way because I  th ink 

there are facts that  both of  you agree upon namely for a 

certain number of  hours you were in the same place on that  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 89 of 416 
 

day okay.   And even on your vers ion he would have been 

there in his off ic ia l  capaci ty would have been working he 

would not  be there on his own – on his pr ivate you know – 

for  his  pr ivate purposes a lr ight .   Now one would – one would 

have assumed and you must te l l  me i f  that  assumpt ion is 

wrong that  he would therefore – because he was at  work he 

would be expected to be there for as long as work required 

him to be there and would leave when work required him to 

leave.  

MR GAMA:   Ja.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Unless he decided to do his own things 

and that  I  would image maybe you would be aware i f  he – i f  

he changed and lef t  work at  that  t ime. So – so would you – 

would you accept  or would you not  accept  that  the 

probabi l i t ies are that  there – there whatever t ime he was 

there including the t ime that  you think he would not  have 

been there he is supposed to be connected wi th – he is not  

supposed to have started doing his  own th ings,  is that  a fa i r  

assumpt ion? 

MR GAMA:   Yes i t  is supposed to be connected wi th work 20 

and Chai r  the whole concept of  c lose protect ion… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   Is that  you would be very close to the pr inciple.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   And you do not  wonder away.  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 90 of 416 
 

CHAIRPERSON:   Go (speaking over  one another).  

MR GAMA:   And do other th ings.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   And – so that  is why I  was saying.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   Even i f  he was in his own car i f  i t  was made 

within a minute.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja that  is f ine.  

MR GAMA:   Or two I  would then say look we were together.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  10 

MR GAMA:   But  I  do not  know from th is and I  can say 

wi thout  fear of  any contradict ion Chai r  that  he was not  in the 

same car as me.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes at  least  that  – that  – he was on your  

vers ion he would have been on the other – in the other car? 

MR GAMA:   Hm and also i f  he is o ff  Chair  he may have gone 

to – to whatever was being done there.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   But  then stayed behind.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  20 

MR GAMA:   Because he was doing something e lse.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   He would not  be required.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes he would not  be required yes.  

MR GAMA:   To – to fo l low me what I  lef t  for home.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  do not  know how categor ical ly you 

maybe that  you lef t  at  a part icular t ime or as soon as the 

meet ing ended because one knows f rom experience 

somet imes depending on how f i rst  one is for t ime somet imes 

when meet ings f in ish somet imes people hang around and 

talk more and so on even though maybe somet imes that  

amount of  t ime might  be unusual .  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   No i t  would not  have happened Chai r.   Let  10 

us say one was there f rom midday.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   As an example.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   By the t ime i t  is 18:00 and you f in ish wi th your 

meet ings you would – there is not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You want to go.  

MR GAMA:   There is no reason to – i f  i t  was you know my 

off ices I  would then say okay maybe I  went back to the 

off ice.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   And d id some work maybe I  had some f i les.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   But  th is si tuat ion does not  ar ise.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Mr Myburgh.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   So i f  we go back to the 

aff idavi t  page 94.  

MR GAMA:   My one? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   No Witness 2’s aff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Of  course I  am sorry Mr Myburgh – of  

course Mr Gama this is al l  on the assumpt ion that  the t ime 

st ipulated in the minutes is correct  or when the meet ing 

ended? 

MR GAMA:   No,  no absolutely,  absolutely and our 

secretar ies and minute takers they were always spot  on.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   In fact  i f  – i f  they say the meet ing started 17:33 

i t  may have been late.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR GAMA:   Because maybe i t  was 17:13 meet ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay al r ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So do I  understand then i f  you go to 

page 95 that  what  you saying is you did not  go Mel rose Arch 

– page 95.   Red numbers.  

MR GAMA:   Where –  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   At  the top of  the page.  Is that  what  

you are saying? 

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay.   Did you then later that  evening 

go to this address in Bryanston of  a  close f r iend of  yours? 
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MR GAMA:   I  do not  know.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay let  us have a look at  what – go 

back to th is annexure at  114.   In fact  at  115 at  the foot  of  the 

page i t  says:  

“22 Egland Road, Bryanston. ”  

MR GAMA:   114.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   114 and the second page of  i t  is 115.   

I t  ref lects that  Witness 2 arr ived at  th is Bryanston address at  

10:37 pm and that  he lef t  at  1:57 am.  Did you go there that  

evening? 10 

MR GAMA:   No i t  is highly doubtfu l  ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sorry.  

MR GAMA:   I t  is h ighly doubtful  Chair.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  would there have been any reason 

for Witness 2 to go there wi thout  you? 

MR GAMA:   Yes somet imes i f  they were dr iv ing – even when 

I  am not  there somet imes they would even be at  my home 

wait ing for  me.  Let  us say I  just  an example.   I f  I  go to Cape 

Town and I  am coming back on the same day they wi l l  drop 

me at  the ai rport  and then they wi l l  go to the off ice for  a  few 20 

hours and somet imes they wi l l  go and wash the car and then 

go to my home and then an hour before the f l ight  arr ives 

then they wi l l  come through.  Somet imes he wi l l  go to his 

home and come back just  before the – so there was a lot  of  

carte blanche in  terms of  what people could do.   I f  somebody 
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said okay maybe I  needed to go and wai t  somewhere they 

would go and wai t .   I  would not  know.  The biggest  problem 

with th is th ing is  that  there are inconsistencies.   He talks for  

a – and I  th ink the main thing he says no there was some 

money that  was exchanged. There was money that  got  given 

to h im.  But  none of  these things happened i t  is a f ict ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Gama I  just  want to understand 

this paragraph 24 he says:  

“Later that  evening I  t ransported Gama to an 

address in Bryanston.”  10 

Did he do that  or did he not? 

MR GAMA:   Sorry.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Did Witness 2 t ransport  you to an 

address in Bryanston? 

MR GAMA:   I  am saying i t  is highly doubt ful .  I t  is highly 

doubt ful  because i t  does not  look l ike he was actual ly  

working wi th me on that  part icular  day and there is  nobody 

who comes on the night  shi f t .   You work the whole day and 

then – and then you f in ish.   Because i f  he was work ing why 

did he stay behind in Pretor ia when I  lef t?  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is on your version? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja on your version.  

MR GAMA:   Because somet imes i f  – i f  a person is not  

working they wi l l  st i l l  go i f  the other one says look the – 
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there are going to  be a lot  people that  we do not  know there 

and maybe during this t ime you could be there and then af ter 

that  you could leave.  So i f  I  lef t  say at  18:15 and he stayed 

behind i t  could be that  he was not  a t  work.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Gama did you have a close f r iend 

who resided at  22 Egland Road, Bryanston? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Not  your house? 

MR GAMA:   No.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So what would have caused Witness 2 

then l i teral ly in the middle of  the night  to go to th is address 

at  10:37 and leave at  1:57? 

MR GAMA:   Wel l  I  mean – one of  the things that  I  have 

indicated that  he – he has not  test i f ied to which arose for  

instance is that  he was seen at  some point  t respassing 

outside of  that  part icular property.  So the – the address 

could show that  the person is there but  he is not  inside he is  

just  on the verge.   He was caught in  the cameras t respassing 

in that  part icular area at  a point  so you never know you know 20 

what – what was his mot ive in some of  these things.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Are you – are you saying there is an 

incident  that  you know of .  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   In terms of  which he went to th is  address 
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wi thout  you and wi thout  your knowledge? 

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay that  is a part icular incident .   But 

general ly speaking would the posi t ion be that  in your 

absence he would have no legi t imate reason to go there.  

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   As far as you are concerned? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Correct .  

MR GAMA:   Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   And did you – I  might  have 

asked you th is – did you on the – the evening or the night  of  

13 June go to  th is residence of  your close f r iend in 

Bryanston? 

MR GAMA:   I  have indicated that  th is is h is google map I  do 

not  have my own so this is the – this is the problem.  I f  I  had 

the diary I  would be able to say there are certa in things in  

there that  are just  inconsistent  and I  do not  understand – i t  

is his  Google Maps that  is where he says he was i t  does not  20 

mean that  is where I  was.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  on this issue of  the diary because i t  is  

the second t ime you ment ioned i t .   Would that  have been 

your diary that  you are looking for that  you were using at  the 

t ime? 
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MR GAMA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Is i t  a  diary that  would have 

remained at  Transnet when you lef t  or is i t  a d iary that  you 

would have taken wi th you but  you cannot f ind anymore? 

MR GAMA:   No i t  is a d iary that  remained at  Transnet  an 

electronic diary which would have been qui te useful  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   Because i t  wi l l  te l l  you the day starts on such 

and such a t ime these are the meet ings and this  is what has 

happened.  You wi l l  see Chai r  that  they have t r ied to give 10 

some kind of  reproduct ion which is SG4 but  those things are 

nothing more than . .  

CHAIRPERSON:   On – in – is that  the same bundle? 

MR GAMA:   Ja on the same bundle.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What page? 

MR GAMA:   250.297.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh I  th ink i t  is the other bundle.   250.  

MR GAMA:   297.  

CHAIRPERSON:   297.  – 297? 

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .    20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes I  see that  ja.  

MR GAMA:   So i f  – i f  you look at  that  i t  is very di ff icul t  to  

see I  probably cannot see.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja i t  is very f ine pr int .  

MR GAMA:   The end of  my opt ions of  seeing.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is f ine pr int  ja.  

MR GAMA:   But  in there i t  would show a person’s name l ike 

a meet ing request  – somebody who requested a meet ing.   

The people to whom that  meet ing requests was sent  to and 

then i t  wi l l  have the heading in terms of  what was that  

part icular meet ing.   And that  is what  assisted in some part  to  

say there was a meet ing in Pretor ia – there was a board 

meet ing in Pretor ia and then therefore one was able to cal l  

for the minutes and – of  that  part icu lar meet ing.  But  I  cannot  

say for instance that  using that  I  cannot say was I  there f rom 10 

9:30 l ike he was there at  9:30 i t  say.   And even h is – i f  you 

look at  which I  d id  not  go into – i f  you look at  his  

CHAIRPERSON:   Aff idavi t .  

MR GAMA:   His aff idavi t  the pictures there at  – is i t  114 that  

we were referr ing to? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja I  th ink i t  was 114.  

MR GAMA:   So i f  we can go there Chai r.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR GAMA:   I t  says that  before – i f  you look r ight  at  the 

beginning i t  says he was dr iv ing for three hours for ty three 20 

minutes in  the morning.   So I  do not  know where i f  you going 

to Pretor ia f rom Johannesburg you dr ive for three hours forty  

three minutes i t  does not  say where that  t r ip  started.   I t  is 

one of  those anomal ies where I  am saying i f  you look at  th is  

th ing I  do not  know whether there is any rel iance that  you 
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can place on this part icular th ing page 114 and 115.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR GAMA:   I t  – I  th ink i f  you – I  do not  know whether  but  i t  

is mi les – i t  is probably mi les and says forty four  mi les – i f  i t  

is mi les for three hours forty three minutes and then parked 

f rom 9:30 which would mean that  the person would have lef t  

home maybe around f ive thi r ty.  

CHAIRPERSON:   F ive thi r ty.  

MR GAMA:   Or maybe around – let  us say six o’clock and for  

three hours forty three minutes almost  four hours you dr iv ing 10 

f rom Midrand to Pretor ia.   I t  does not  – i t  does not  make 

sense.   And i t  is al l  of  those things Chai r  which makes one 

highly suspicious about whether you can place any kind of  

re l iance on this.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay  Mr Myburgh.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A lr ight  let  us go back to page 95 of  

Witness 2 ’s aff idavi t  and deal  wi th the second col lect ion he 

says cal led on the 13t h of  July 2017 and Mr Gama perhaps 

what I  wi l l  do is I  wi l l  go through the whole part  again I  am 

mindful  of  the defence that  you ra ise in your aff idavi t  and 20 

then you can address me.  Paragraph 27:  

“The second instance occurred a month later  

on 13 July 2017 when Gama inst ructed me to 

dr ive him to the Melrose Apartments where 

Essa stayed.   On our arr ival  I  parked the 
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Range Rover in  the parking area at  the 

apartments Gama went inside to  meet wi th  

Essa.   Approximately I  presume that  and 

should not  be there thi r ty  minutes la ter  Gama 

walking wi th Essa returned wi th a p last ic bag 

which he put  in the boot  of  the vehicle.   He 

then inst ructed me to dr ive to the res idence 

of  a person he knew in Sandhurst . ”  

Paragraph 28.   

“Whi le Gama visi ted such person inside the 10 

house I  wai ted for him in the vehicle.  I  

subsequent ly decided to check what was 

inside the plast ic bag which he co l lected 

f rom Essa.   When I  opened the plast ic bag I  

not iced i t  was f i l led wi th packets of  R200 

notes bound with elast ic bands.”  

Paragraph 29.  

“ I  at tach hereto as Annexure W2-07 a 

pr intout  of  Google Maps Travel  h istory on my 

cel l  phone as conf i rmat ion that  I  ar r ived at  20 

Melrose Arch at  15H51 and departed at  

17H04.  The t ravel  history shows that  I  

ar r ived at  25 Cleveland Road, Sandhurst  at  

17H26 and departed f rom there at  19H05.  I  

at tach hereto as Annexure W2-08 a pr intout  
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f rom Google Maps ind icat ing that  the 

Sandhurst  residence v is i ted is diagonal ly  

opposi te 25 Cleveland Road as I  explained. ”  

 Now those two annexures the f i rs t  one you wi l l  

f ind at  page 117 you wi l l  see there at  the top the f i rs t  two or 

Melrose Arch 15 . . . [ record cut ]  fou r.   And you w i l l  see  there  

is  a  g reen c i r c le ,  Consu la te  Genera l .   A t  A you w i l l  see  – 

you w i l l  f ind  a t ime o f  17 :26  and 19:05.   And then i f  you go 

over  the  page . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    Sor ry,  where  do  you see 17:26?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you see the  green c i rc le?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Where  to  f rom here?   

Consu la te  Genera l .   Oppos i te  tha t .   You see tha t  t ime 

there ,  17 :26?  

MR GAMA :    Oh,  okay.   Ja ,  there  is  someth ing  tha t  says  

17 :26.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    19 :05 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  am –  can you see where  i t  i s ,  

17 . . .   There  is  a  seven.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    One,  seven . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  appears  to  be  a  s ix  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Two,  s ix .  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .po in t  two s ix .   Ja ,  maybe i t  i s  17  bu t  i t  

i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  te l l .  
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MR GAMA :    Ja  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  w i l l  . . . [ in tervenes]   

MR GAMA :    . . .e igh t  as  we l l  there .   I  do  no t  –  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Perhaps I  can ask  the  i nvest iga tors ,  

Cha i rperson.   In  fac t ,  I  have a l ready asked them.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What  we have here  i s  an  improved  

copy.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Copy?  A l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  w i l l  see  i f  they  can perhaps  10 

improve th i s  page  in  par t i cu la r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Maybe the re  is  a  d i f fe ren t  way tha t  i t  

can  be pr in ted  o r  perhaps pr in t  i t  in  a  darker  o r  l igh ter  

co lour  o r  someth ing  so  tha t  i t  can  be seen.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then the  Annexure  W-208,  you  

w i l l  f ind  a t  119.  

MR GAMA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And there  you w i l l  see  25 C leve land  20 

Road,  Sandhurs t .    

MR GAMA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then a t  paragraph 30 you say 

tha t :  

“Wi tness 2  says Gama la te ly. . .  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 103 of 416 
 

 Sor ry.  

“ . . . la te r  accused me o f  s tea l ing  some o f  the 

money f rom the  bag.   He then in fo rmed my 

manager  and  the  superv isor  o f  h is  

susp ic ion . . . ”  

 Now th is  i s  a lso  someth ing  tha t  you address in  

your  a f f idav i t .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Under  the  head ing  a t  13  Ju ly  a t  page  

250.267,  paragraph 14.  10 

MR GAMA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You want  to  go  th rough tha t?  

MR GAMA :    250 po in t . . .?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    250.267.  

MR GAMA :    267.   Thank you.   Ja .   Once aga in ,  as  I  

ind ica ted  Cha i r,  I  deny th i s  ve rs ion  tha t  he  was w i th  me  

and I  have a t tached minutes  o f  a  who le-day meet ing  tha t  I  

had a t tended a t  SG-3 a t  250.278.   The minutes  w i l l  show,  

Cha i r,  tha t  I  was  a t  tha t  meet ing  up  unt i l  15 :47 .   That  w i l l  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    [ Ind is t inc t ]  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    . . .250.294.  

[Par t ies  in te rven ing  each o the r  –  unc lear ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    On my –  is  i t  page 294 where  i t  shows 

when you le f t  o r  when the  meet ing  . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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MR GAMA :    When the  meet ing  ended.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   The meet ing  ended –  15 .47 .  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   H ’m.    

MR GAMA :    And then,  Cha i r,  i f  you  then go back to  

250.297 wh ich  is  the  page a t  the  back.    

CHAIRPERSON :    The one w i th  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    [ laughs]  Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]  

MR GAMA :    I t  i s  a lways bet te r  on  the  compute r.   You can  10 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR GAMA :    You can make i t  a  l i t t le  b i t  b igger.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MR GAMA :    [Speaker  moves away f rom microphone –  

unc lea r ]   I  am t ry ing  to  use –  g lass(? )  he re .   The –  on  the  

compute r  i t  w i l l  i nd ica te  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  do  no t  th ink  I  have any chance o f  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    [ laughs]  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh,  maybe you can te l l  me 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    Wha t  i s  in  what .  

CHAIRPERSON :    What  . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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MR GAMA :    . . .exp la in  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    In  i t  and then i f  the  Commiss ion ’s  Lega l  

Team can check on  the  computer  and see tha t  i s  t rue ,  tha t  

i t  can  be p laced on reco rd .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So say –  a l though on the  hard  copy one 

cannot  see,  on  the  computer  th is  i s  what  one can see.  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Okay.   So what  i s  in  there?  

MR GAMA :    So  what  i s  in  he re ,  Cha i r,  i s  an  ind ica t ion  tha t  10 

–  I  had a  meet ing  a f te r  th is  meet ing  wh ich  s ta r ted  a t  16 :00 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  i s  four  o ’c lock? 

MR GAMA :    Yes,  a t  four  o ’c lock .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MR GAMA :    I t  s ta r ted  a t  16 :00  to  18 :00 .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m.  

MR GAMA :    So  even i f  he  had then sa id  no  he was w i th  

me to  go  to  th is  Mel rose Arch ,  i f  the  meet ing  f in ished a t  

15 :47 ,  he  was in  Mel rose Arch  a l ready in  15 :51 ,  four  

m inutes  la te r.   I t  i s  imposs ib le  tha t  I  cou ld  be  – I  cou ld  20 

have been w i th  h im.   So I  had another  meet ing  w i th  the  

Cha i rman o f  the  Board  o f  Transne t  w i th  the  CFO,  Mr  Pete r,  

where  we were  busy w i th  a r rangements  in  te rms o f  a  board  

pack tak ing  the  cha i rman –  the  cha i rperson th rough a  

board  pack fo r  an  upcoming meet ing .  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 106 of 416 
 

 I  cou ld  no t ,  Cha i r,  have been in  Mel rose Arch  

and a lso  a t  the  same t ime be a t  the  Car l ton  Cent re .   I t  i s  

jus t  no t  poss ib le .   So I  am us ing  th is  to  ind i ca te  tha t  there  

is  no  re l iance tha t  can be p laced on the  tes t imony o f  

Wi tness 2  on  e i ther  the  Goog le  Maps tha t  he  ta lks  about  o r  

on  what  he  a l leges to  have happened dur ing  those t imes.  

 So the  team has  g iven us  –  we took th is  –  we 

were  g iven th is  by  the  Lega l  Team of  the  Commiss ion .   

They have g i ven us  these documents .   They w i l l  be  ab le  to  

c ross  tha t  and i t  w i l l  show and i t  w i l l  show tha t  there  was  10 

tha t  meet ing  be tween myse l f ,  the  CFO and the  cha i rpe rson 

o f  the  board .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  I  –  I  mean,  perhaps a  be t te r  

way to  do  i t  i s  jus t  to  ask  Mr  Gama’s  a t to rneys to  p r in t  th is  

ou t  fo r  us  in  an  A5 or  someth ing  tha t  we can a l l  read and i t  

can then be a t tached to  h i s  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    Ja .   I  th ink  tha t  cou ld  happen.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  Gama,  you say tha t  on  the 20 

13 t h  o f  Ju ly,  you a t tended th is  who le-day meet ing .   I f  you  

go to  page 278.   So th is  i s  a  meet ing  tha t  i s  he ld  a t  the  

o f f i ces  o f  the  TNPA,  Transnet  Nat iona l  Por ts  Author i t y  in  

Park town.   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  yes .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  the  m inutes ,  in  fac t ,  re f lec ted  

tha t  you were  no t  there  the  who le  day.   I f  you  go to  page 

252.85 i t  re f lec ts  tha t  you came there  on ly  a t  11 :03 .    

MR GAMA :    Tha t  i s  cor rec t  and I  s tayed unt i l  the  end o f  

the  meet ing .   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  do  how we do we know tha t  

you s tayed unt i l  the  end o f  the  meet ing?  

MR GAMA :    Because I  was there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When you read the  m inutes ,  i t  seems 

to  me tha t  you came the re  and you  to ld  the  peop le  a  ser ies  10 

o f  th ings f rom your  pe rspect ive  as  the  GCE tha t  captured,  

i s  i t  no t?  

MR GAMA :    H ’m.   Ja ,  there  is  no  way where  i t  says  l i ke 

tha t .   I f  I  had le f t  the  meet ing ,  I  had in tended to  – i t  was a  

day when I  had in tended to  be  w i th  them the  who le  day.   

There  was someth ing  tha t  took  my t ime ear l y  in  the  

morn ing .   I  th ink  I  on ly  –  I  jo ined them an hour  la te r  than I  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Two hours  l a te r  Mr  Gama.  

MR GAMA :    . . . than I  had in tended  to  and I  had s tayed w i th  20 

them the  who le  day wh ich  is  why  you w i l l  see  in  the  –  in  

the  d ia r ies  the  meet ing  be tween  me and the  cha i rperson  

was in i t ia l l y  schedu led  to  s ta r t  a t  two o ’c lock  to  four  

o ’c lock  and then i t  was moved  to  four  o ’c lock  to  s ix  

o ’c lock .    
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.  

MR GAMA :    So  tha t  I  cou ld  be  w i th  them.   So i f  I  had le f t ,  

the  peop le  wou ld  have recorded tha t  I  le f t  be fore  the  end  

o f  the  n igh t .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Can you a f te r  –  i f  you  go to  285.   I t  

says :   The GC,  Mr  S  Gama jo ined the  meet ing  a t  11 :03 .   He 

was we lcomed by  the  cha i rperson.   I t  says :   The GC drew 

the  commi t tee ’s  a t ten t ion  to  the  fo l low ing.   There  is  a  

who le  se r ies  o f  bu l le t  po in ts .   I t  takes us  to ,  I  th ink ,  to  287 

where  i t  says :   The meet ing  was  ad journed a t  12 :30  and 10 

res tar ted  a t  12 :58 .   Do you see tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes,  tha t  was fo r  lunch.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Was tha t  your  input?  

MR GAMA :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I s  i t  recorded there  in  those  

passages?  

MR GAMA :    I  th ink  my input  –  there  are  var ious names o f  

peop le  in  te rms o f  they needed to  do  what .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  th ink  what  I  w i l l  –  wha t  I  am 

look ing  to  ask  you is .   I f  you  have a  look above the  20 

head ing  8 .6  a t  page 287.  

MR GAMA :    Yes? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You w i l l  see  tha t  the  second las t  

sentence says:   The DGCE s ta ted  tha t  a  meet ing  shou ld  be  

ar ranged w i th  PRSA wi th in  the  next  45-days.   Do you see 
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tha t?  

MR GAMA :    A t  page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :   Page 287.  

MR GAMA :    Yes? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Jus t  above the  head ing  8 .6 .   I t  i s  

where  i t  says  the  meet ing  was ad journed.   Two l ines  above 

tha t  –  th ree  l ines  above tha t  you w i l l  see  there  is  a  

sentence tha t  says:   The DGCE s ta ted  tha t  a  meet ing  

shou ld  be  ar ranged w i th  PRSA wi th in  the  next  45-days.    

MR GAMA :    Yes,  I  can read tha t .   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you see  any fu r ther  re fe rence to 

you in  these minu tes  a f te r  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    So  when I  a r r i ved,  they gave  me an 

oppor tun i ty  to  speak and I  addressed them on a  few th ings 

and I  th ink  I  was g iv ing  them feedback on cer ta in  per t inent  

mat te rs .   And then a f te r  tha t ,  we sa t  and they went  th rough  

some o f  the i r  normal  i ssues.   And we sa t  th rough tha t  

a f te rnoon w i th  them.   Because I  had se t  as ide  the  who le  

day to  be  w i th  them.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja ,  I  unders tand your  ev idence.   I  20 

am jus t  ask ing  you i f  you see any  re ference to  you  hav ing  

sa id  anyth ing  a f t e r  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Wel l ,  I  [ laughs]  I  do  no t  know whether  I  

needed to  say anyth ing  except  tha t  –  a l l  I  am say ing  is  tha t  

I  was a t  the  mee t ing  and I  can re la te  to  every th ing  tha t  i s  
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in  the  m inutes  because i t  was d i scussed in  my p resence.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  i f  we go back to  Wi tness 2 ’s  

a f f idav i t .   D id  you on th i s  day,  the  13 t h  o f  Ju ly,  d id  you go 

to  25  C leve land Road? 

MR GAMA :    I  do  no t  know.   I  can te l l  you  tha t  he  d id  bu t  I  

do  no t  know.   I  do  no t  even know where  25  C leve land Road 

is .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you know anyone who s tays  a t  25  

C leve land Road?  

MR GAMA :    No,  I  do  no t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And he says a t  paragraph 30 tha t  

you la te r  accused h im o f  s tea l ing  some o f  the  money f rom 

the  bag.  

MR GAMA :    No,  tha t  i s  f i c t ion .   I t  i s  rea l l y  f i c t ion .   I t  i s  a  

lo t  o f  i t  tha t  we are  t r y ing  to  dea l  w i th  here .   I  never  

accused h im o f  s tea l ing  any money.   There  is  no  money 

tha t  he  wou ld  have s to len .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Dur ing  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA :    I  th ink  he  is  jus t  pu t t ing  f lavour,  you know.   

You put  some Ra jah and some Masa la  in  so  tha t  you r  s to ry  20 

looks much more  co lour fu l  and be l ievab le .    

CHAIRPERSON :    In  –  dur ing  the  en t i re  t ime tha t  he  was 

one o f  your  p ro tec tors ,  i s  there  any t ime,  even i f  i t  is  no t  in  

re la t ion  to  the  bag,  i s  there  any t ime when you may have 

accused h im o f  s tea l ing  any money? 
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MR GAMA :    Cha i r,  i f  . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    A t  a l l?  

MR GAMA :    I f  I  had occas ion  to  accused h im,  he  wou ld  

no t  work  fo r  me the  fo l low ing day.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m,  h ’m,  h ’m.  

MR GAMA :    Because I  jus t  wou ld  no t  work  w i th  tha t  k ind  

o f  person i f  I  thought  tha t  there  was someth ing  tha t  had 

happened.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR GAMA :    So ,  and I  do  no t  know who i s  th is  manager  o f  10 

h is  o r  superv isor  tha t  he  says I  sa id  tha t  he  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    [ Ind is t inc t ]  [Speakers  in te rven ing  each  

o ther  –  unc lea r ]  

MR GAMA :    . . . those are  the  peop le  who wou ld  then – bu t  

there  are  many c lose  pro tec t ion  o f f i cers .   I f  you  have got  

one tha t  s tea l s ,  you ask  the  Secur i t y  Depar tment  to  change 

tha t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MR GAMA :    And g ive  you another  one.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  20 

MR GAMA :    H ’m.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you know the  address 

22  K i l la rney Road ,  Hyde Park?  

MR GAMA :    Not  o f f  hand,  Cha i r.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    And i f  you have a  l ook a t  page 117  

o f  Wi tness 2 ’s  annexure .   You w i l l  see  tha t  i t  re f lec ts  tha t  

he  then proceeds  to  22  A lgan(? )  Road.  

MR GAMA :    117.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    117.   A r r i ves  a t  19 :31 .   He pa rks  

19 :36.   Was he not  d ropp ing  you  o f f  a t  th is  res idence o f  

your  c lose  f r iend? 

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  he  cou ld  have bu t  I  do  no t  know th is  o ther  

address?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  am sor ry?  10 

MR GAMA :    I  am say ing  he  cou ld  have but  I  do  no t  know 

th is  o ther  address tha t  he  says he  took me too .   I  have not  

been there .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  the  one tha t  you know the  Bryanston 

one?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay a l r igh t .   The one tha t  you  do not  

know is  16  Mel rose. . .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  the  one you say do  not  know? 20 

MR GAMA :    Ja ,  I  am say ing  I  cou ld  no t  have been there .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    I t  says  i t  i s  A f r i can Pr ide ,  Mel rose A rch .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    Accord ing  to  th is .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MR GAMA :    I  am say ing  I  cou ld  no t  have been there  and 

a lso  be  w i th  the  cha i rperson o f  the  board  a t  the  same t ime 

a t  the  Car l ton .   These are  the  t imes tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    That . . .  

MR GAMA :    . . . tha t  he  was there .   So i t  i s  qu i te  poss ib le  

tha t  on  h is  o f f  days he  went  to  a  number  o f  p laces and then 

he then b r ings th is  in  here  and he says th is  i s  when  he was  

w i th  me.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  10 

MR GAMA :    He cou ld  no t  have been w i th  me when I  was  

w i th  the  cha i rperson o f  the  board .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    How do you know tha t  you ac tua l l y  

a t tended tha t  meet ing  w i th  the  cha i rperson o f  the  board?  

MR GAMA :    Because i t  i s  on  the  d ia ry.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  bu t  the  d ia ry,  does tha t  re f lec t  

tha t  you a t tended  i t  o r  does i t  re f lec t  an  appo in tmen t?  

MR GAMA :    I t  re f lec t s  an  appo in tment .   I t  even  shows 

when i t  was moved f rom one t ime  to  the  next  t ime.   You do  20 

not  have –  when you have meet ings w i th  the  cha i rpe rson o f  

the  board ,  you have meet ings w i th  the  cha i rperson o f  the  

board .   They do not  change.   I f  tha t  meet ing  had changed 

fo r  any reason as  i t  showed tha t  i t  moved f rom two o ’c lock  

to  four  o ’c lock ,  i t  wou ld  then go and show tha t  i t  changed 
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bu t  i t  never  changed.   I t  remained there .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So Mr  Gama,  can you th ink  o f  any 

reason why Wi tness 2 ,  i f  he  was  not  d ropp ing  you o f f  a t  

ha l f -past  seven on the  even ing  o f  13  Ju l y  2017,  wou ld  have  

gone to  22  A lgan Road fo r  f i ve  m inutes?  

MR GAMA :    I  cannot  th ink  fo r  h im .   I  do  no t  know.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You cannot  th ink  o f  any reason? 

MR GAMA :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   Le t  us  then go back to  page 

96 under  the  head ing  towards the  m idd le  o f  the  page:   10 

Money found in  Gama’s  veh ic les .   A t  paragraph 31,  

Wi tness 2  says:  

“ I  can reca l l  two ins tances where  I  found cash 

in  Gama’s  veh ic les . . . ”  

 A t  32 :  

“ I  do  no t  know where  the  money came f rom. . . ”  

 Under  the  head ing :   Money in  boot ,  Mercedes-

Benz SL63:  

“Dur ing  or  about  August  o r  September  2015,  

Gama went  on  an  ove rseas t r ip . . . ”  20 

 A t  34 :  

“As par t  o f  my no rmal  du t ies ,  I  wou ld  a t tend to  

the  main tenance o f  Gama’s  veh ic les .  

In  h is  absence,  I  went  to  check on  the 

cond i t ion  o f  h is  veh ic les  a t  h is  res idence in  
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Pony Lane in  Mid rand.  

Upon inspect ing  the  Mercedes-Benz SL63,  I  

found s tacks  o f  R 200,00 notes  in  the  spare  

whee l  compar tment  o f  the  veh ic le .    

I  es t imated the  amount  to  be  around  

R 100 000,00. . . ”  

 Wou ld  you l i ke  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Ja .   I  th ink  i f  anybody had found money in  a  

veh ic le  they wou ld  have come to  me and sa id :   I  have  

found some money in  the  veh ic le .   There  was no t ime when 10 

Wi tness 2  never  came to  me and sa id :   Go look.   I  have 

found some money.   I  do  no t  th ink  you wou ld  see money  

the  way tha t  he  kept  say ing  tha t  he  sees money.   That  you 

wou ld  see money  and keep qu ie t ,  you know.    

 You wou ld  see money and say:   Hey,  I  found 

money he re .   Maybe you fo rgo t  about  i t .   Or  whatever.   

There  was no such.   I t  i s  a l l  jus t  f i c t ion  in  h is  head where  

he  is  t r y ing  to  c rea te  some k ind  o f  a  s to ry.   Because what  

d id  he  do  when he found the  money?  D id  he  come to  me 

and  sa id :   I  found some money.   Maybe,  have you  20 

misp laced some money?  I  have got  money now.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.   Mr  Game,  be fore  we  get  to  

tha t .   Was there  R 100 000,00 in  the  whee l  compar tment  o f  

your  veh ic le?  

MR GAMA :    No,  there  was not .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Oh.  

MR GAMA :    Never  eve r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    D id  you go ove rseas in  

August /September  2015?  

MR GAMA :    I  do  no t  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    R igh t .   You s tay  in  Pony Lane in  

Midrand.  

MR GAMA :    I  th ink  he  wou ld  know where  I  s tayed,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   And you were  a t  a  po in t  

d r iv ing  a  Mercedes-Benz SL63?  10 

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And wou ld  i t  be  unusua l  fo r  h im to 

check on  the  cond i t ion  o f  you r  veh ic les  wh i ls t  you a re  

away?  

MR GAMA :    I  no t  su re  i f  I  have asked h im.   I  do  no t  

remember  ask ing  h im to  check and the  cond i t ion .   I  do  no t  

th ink  [ laughs]  i t  was necessary  fo r  h im to  check any 

cond i t ion .   Why wou ld  he  t rave l  when I  am not  there  to  go  

and check on  the  cond i t ion  o f  the  car  when my ch i ld ren  can 

s tar t  a  ca r  and swi tch  i f  o f f  i t  needed to  be?  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When you were  ove rseas,  what  d id  

the  CPO’s  tha t  were  ass igned to  you,  what  wou ld  the  

typ ica l l y  do?  

MR GAMA :    They no rmal ly  take  leave.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And i f  they  do  not  take  leave? 
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MR GAMA :    Then they wou ld  p robab ly  be  ass igned to  

someone e l se  to  work  dur ing  tha t  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then Wi tness 2  goes on under  the  

head ing :   Money in  boot  o f  Range Rover.    

“On 20 Apr i l ,  I  t ranspor ted  Gama do an o f f i c ia l  

d ia r ised meet ing  a t  the  o f f i ces  o f  Dene l .   

Ne l lmap ius  Dr ive ,  I rene in  Centur ion .  

The meet ing  was  ca l led  by  the  fo rmer  Min i s te r  

and in  a t tendance were  Ch ie f  Execut ives  o f  

s ta te-owned ent i t ies .  10 

I  can reca l l  tha t  I  saw Mat j i la  Koko o f  Eskom,  

Min is te r  Lynne Brown and J i yane a t  the  Dene l  

p remises.  

I  a t tached he re to  as  Annexure  W2-09 a  

pr in tou t  o f  Goog le  Maps t rave l  h i s to ry  on  my 

ce l l  phone as  conf i rmat ion  tha t  I  a r r i ved  a t  the  

Dene l  o f f i ces  a t  09 :29  and depar ted  there  a t  

12 :49 .  

I  wa i ted  in  Gama’s  Range Rover. . . ”  

 He says a t  39 :  20 

“ . . . in  the  park ing  area fo r  the  meet ing  to  

f in ish . . . ”  

 A t  38 :  

“Whi ls t  wa i t ing  fo r  Gama,  I  dec ided to  do  a  

random inspect ion  o f  the  veh ic le .  
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Ins ide  the  boot  I  saw a  red  med ica l  a id  bag 

and dec ided to  open i t .  

To  my su rpr i se ,  the  bag was s tacked w i th  

R 200,00 notes .   

I  es t imated tha t  the  bag  conta ined  

approx imate l y  R 100 000,00. . . ”  

 Now tha t  W2-09,  you w i l l  f ind  a t  page 121.   Red  

numbers .    

MR GAMA :    121. . .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You w i l l  see  there ,  Dene l  Dynamics ,  10 

towards the  m idd le  o f  the  page.   Ne l lmap ius  Dr i ve ,  I rene,  

Centur ion .   A r r i v ing  a t  09 :29 ,  leav ing  a t  12 :49 .   I  want  you  

to  comment  on  these th ree  parag raphs,  36 ,  37  and 38.  

MR GAMA :    Ja .   My comment  i s  as  fo l lows.   The  –  there  

cou ld  have been  tha t  meet ing  bu t  i f  i t  was a  meet ing  o f  

s ta te-owned ente rpr ises ,  Ch ie f  Execut ives  w i th  the  Min is te r  

and i t  was a lso  normal ly  be tween  –  w i th  the  Min i s te r  and 

the  cha i rpersons o f  those SOE’s .   The p resence o f  J iyane 

is  odd because J iyane is  no t  –  o r  was not  an  SOE,  Ch ie f  

Execut ive .   He worked a t  Transnet  bu t  he  was not  the  Head 20 

o f  Transnet .    

 So  tha t  on  i t s  own,  I  th ink  fo r  h im  i t  g ives  some 

k ind  o f  a  f lavour  bu t  he  wou ld  no t  have been inv i ted  to  

those meet ings.   So I  do  no t  know i f  there  was such a  

meet ing ,  why he th inks  tha t  J iyane wou ld  have been 
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p resent .   Aga in ,  R 200,00 notes ,  R 100 000,00.   I t  i s  l i ke  

the  ear l ie r  vers ion .   He wou ld  a lways f ind  R 200,00  no tes  

and i t  i s  approx imate ly  R 100 000 ,00.    

 And he says he  has es t imated.   He had a l l  the  

t ime.   He cou ld  have counted i t  ins tead o f  es t imat ing  and 

then he can te l l  you  i t  was so  much.   And i f  there  was such  

money,  why d id  he  no t  te l l  me tha t :   You have a  w ind fa l l  

here .   Here  is  R 100 000,00.   Why  wou ld  R 100 000 ,00 jus t  

be  lay ing  around  in  a  car  ins tead  o f  be ing  in  a  bank?  I t  

does not  make sense Cha i r.    10 

 I t  i s  –  the  resu l t  o f  what  I  be l ieve  a  person  who  

has been induced  and coached to  come up w i th  some s tory.   

So some o f  the  th ings he  w i l l  come up w i th  a re  th ings o f  

rea l  events  tha t  took p lace.   So he wou ld  say there  was a t  

a  meet ing  a t  Dene l .   Maybe i f  you go and check ,  maybe  

there  was a  meet ing  a t  Dene l .   But  the  peop le  tha t  he  says  

were  there ,  they wou ld  no t  o rd inar i l y  be  a t  tha t  mee t ing .    

 I f  you  ask  Min is te r  Brown:   D id  you meet  J iyane 

o f  Transnet?   She wou ld  te l l  you  tha t :   I  do  no t  know who  

he is .   Because i t  was on ly  the  Ch ie f  Execut ives  tha t  wou ld  20 

go there .   I f  Koko was the re ,  i t  i s  probab ly  because he was  

the  ac t ing  CEO o f  Eskom at  the  t ime.   So,  and there  wou ld  

no t  be  any o the r  execut ive  f rom Eskom other  than the  

Cha i rperson o f  Eskom and the  CEO and the  Min is te r.    

 So ,  bu t  here ,  i t  goes to  show tha t  as  –  he  t r ies 
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to  be  f lavour fu l .   He then cont inues to  make m is takes 

because he is  t ry ing  to  te l l  –  to  c rea te  a  be l ievab le  s to ry  

ou t  o f  someth ing  tha t  was not  there .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  see ,  Mr  Myburgh,  tha t  the  w i tness says  

in  paragraph 36:   He saw Mat j i la  Koko o f  Eskom.   Now a t  

Eskom you had,  I  guess maybe a t  d i f fe ren t  s tages,  Mat j i la  

Koko and I  th ink  you have Mr  Co l l i n  Mat j i la .  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  I  am not  su re  where  he  mean t  Mat j i la  

Koko or  whether  he  meant  . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

MR GAMA :    Mr  Co l l in ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .Co l l in  Mat j i la .    

MR GAMA :    I t  i s  to  c lea r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  there  wou ld  need to  be  c la r i f i ca t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  DCJ.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When you  say he  was coached by  

who you th ink  tha t  happened?   

MR GAMA:   I  have a  scenar io  here  Cha i r,  where  somebody  

res igns f rom an ent i t y,  Transnet  and he leaves i n  20 

November  o f  2017.   So he wr i tes  a  le t te r  to  h is  manager  

and he says I  res ign  because I  do  no t  want  to  face  a  

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  tha t  I  shou ld  be  fac ing .   

 He leaves,  okay.   I  do  no t  know i f  he  to ld  you tha t  

he  ran  away f rom a  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  f rom h is  manager,  
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bu t  anyway he leaves in  November  2017.   He then  comes 

back,  he  says no  I  res igned,  no  I  was d ismissed.   You do 

not  hear,  you do not  unders tand.   

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  m igh t  he lp  i f  you  s ta r ted  by  g i v ing  the  

answer  to  who you th ink  coached h im.   Then i f  you need to  

e labora te  we can  take  i t  f rom there ,  because the  quest ion  

was do you know or  you have somebody tha t  you th ink  

coached h im.   

MR GAMA:   I  wou ld  no t  know the  present  fo r  sure ,  bu t  the  

C i ty  Press repor ts  tha t  he  met  w i th  the  non-execut i ve  Cha i r  10 

o f  Transnet ,  why is  a  c lose  pro tec t ion  o f f i cer  meet ing  w i th  

the  non-execut ive  Cha i r  o f  Transnet ,  and then in  there ,  i t  

then says the  non-execut ive  Cha i r  then re fers  h im to  Mr  

Mohammed Mohamedi  to  say no ,  he  must  re ins ta te  th is  

man.   

 You re ins ta te  somebody who appea ls  a  d i smissa l .   

I f  there  was an appea l  i t  wou ld  have happened w i th in  the  

60  days a f te r  the  d ismissa l .   So i f  he  was d ismissed as  he  

c la ims,  because  he res igned anyway a f te r  I  have  

ment ioned tha t  he ,  i f  he  was d i smissed i t  means  tha t  by  20 

January  2018 he wou ld  have f i led  an  appea l .   

 Then we must  d iscover  tha t ,  tha t  appea l  and then  

when tha t  appea l ,  then there  must  be  a  process,  the  

barga in ing  counc i l  o r  where  ever  t ha t  i t  goes to  and then i t  

re ins ta tes  h im.   Th is  one,  meets  the  non-execut ive  Cha i r  o f  
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Transnet  as  re fer red  to  the  ac t ing  GCE o f  Transnet .   

 From there  i t  goes to  the  genera l  manager  tha t  is  

dea l ing  w i th  labour  i ssues and then he is  re -employed 

wh ich  is ,  wh ich  are  h i s  words and then when he is  re -

employed,  i t  i s  as  i f  okay,  we have these par t i cu la r  i ssues.   

I f  you  can g ive  me a  be l ievab le  s to ry  a round the  person o f  

Mr  Gama,  then maybe we can h i re  you.   

 Then he proceeds to  wr i te  a  lo t  o f  th is  f i c t ion  tha t  

we see here  today.   

CHAIRPERSON:   O f  course  you are  no t  say ing ,  bu t  you w i l l  10 

te l l  me i f  you are  say ing ,  a re  you say ing  tha t  i s  what  

happened o r  a re  you say ing  i t  i s  a  poss ib i l i t y  tha t  

someth ing  l i ke  tha t  m ight  have happened? 

MR GAMA:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  i s  the  la t te r?  

MR GAMA:   Yes,  I  am say ing  tha t  i s  a  poss ib i l i t y.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

MR GAMA:   Because what  I  do  no t  unders tand when  I  read 

the  newspaper  and I  see what  is  happen ing  and  these  

peop le  have con f i rmed i t  accord ing  to  the  newspaper  to  20 

say th is  i s  what  has happened.   Mohammed says th i s  

fe l low was re fe r red  to  me by the  Cha i rperson o f  the  board ,  

and then I  was asked to  dea l  w i th  th is  man.   

 I  am then say ing  was he re ins ta ted  as  an  

inducement?   There  was someth ing  in  there ,  in  the 
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newspaper  tha t  says he  has been  re ins ta ted  because tha t  

was long before  these s ta tements  were  made  to  the  

commiss ion .   

 I t  says  he  has been re ins ta ted  because he has been  

asked to  say tha t  Gama has been br ib ing  po l i cemen,  

money launder ing  and someth ing  very  c lose  to  tha t  then  

happens.   So i t  i s  no t ,  I  am not  pa in t ing  a  s to ry  tha t  d id  no t  

happen.   

 Some o f  the  th ings tha t  were  sa id  there ,  were  

pred ic ted  in  tha t  a r t i c le  and then they happened.   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  thank you.   How does one 

exp la in  then a l l  the  de ta i l s?  

MR GAMA:   Sor ry?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   How does one exp la in  a l l  the  de ta i l?  

MR GAMA:   How does one exp la in  the  de ta i l?   Wel l ,  here  

there  is  a  mot ive .   There  is  an  in ten t  and person has got  

t ime.   I  mean peop le  who wr i te  mov ies ,  l i ke  S teven 

Sp ie lbe rg ,  they s i t  and they conce ive  these th ings.   I t  does  

not  mean tha t  every th ing  tha t  we see in  the  mov ies  ever  20 

happened or  i s  the  t ru th .   

 So somebody w i l l  have those k inds o f  th ings where  

they s i t  and they say okay,  th is  i s  what  we cou ld  say.   They 

t ry  to  do  a  s to ry  tha t  i s  be l ievab le .   For  ins tance,  w i tness 2  

says to  the  Cha i rperson tha t  I  gave R50 000-00 but  I  never  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 124 of 416 
 

sa id  anyth ing .   

 I  never  sa id  what  i s  the  repayment  per iod .   He says  

he  assumed tha t  tha t  i s  h is  money,  tha t  he  can take  i t .   I t  

i s  a l l  f i c t ion  Cha i r.   Who g ives you money and never  says  

anyth ing?   

CHAIRPERSON:   I f  I  unders tand h is  vers ion ,  i t  was not  a  

loan.   There  was  enough money and you were  jus t  g iv ing  

h im money.   There  was enough  money,  there  was no  

prob lem.   R50 000-00 was not  a  p rob lem.  

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  bu t  who g ives money,  does not  say  and he  10 

makes the  assumpt ion  okay no,  th is  i s  my money.   As  you  

say money is  no  prob lem.   Le t  me take i t .   I f  indeed such 

has happened and then I  sa id  one  day okay,  can I  have my 

money back.   What  was he go ing  to  do .   

 I f  he  is  somebody  who is  used to  be ing  g i ven money  

to  do  th ings.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  as  I  unders tand h is  vers ion ,  a t  

leas t  the  contex t ,  he  seems to  have made i t  c lea r  to  h im  

tha t  you were  jus t  g iv ing  h im money wh ich  he  cou ld  use as  

he  so  f i t s .   That  i s  my unders tand ing  o f  h is  vers ion .   As  I  20 

say,  because the re  was money,  money was not  a  p rob lem.  

MR GAMA:   Money was not  a  p rob lem.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MR GAMA:   So  you get  g iven money,  you ask  no  quest ions.    

CHAIRPERSON:   You take  the  money.  
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MR GAMA:   You take  the  money.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MR GAMA:   And you go to  [ ind is t inc t ]  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see Mr  Gama,  I  suppose i t  i s  

someth ing  tha t  we are  go ing  to  unpack in  more  de ta i l  in  

t ime,  bu t  what  you are  do ing ,  you are  dea l ing  w i th  th is  

what  m ight  be  desc r ibed as  the  ord ina ry  course .   Ev idence  

is  go ing  to  be  led  in  th is  commiss ion  shor t l y  tha t  a t  the  

Guptas  they had a  cash d i spens ing  mach ine .   10 

MR GAMA:   Cash? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A cash d ispens ing  mach ine ,  an  ATM 

mach ine .   

MR GAMA:   Oh,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You have a lso  heard  ev idence tha t  Mr  

S ingh fo r  example  had e igh t  sa fe t y  depos i t  boxes a t  Knox  

Vo l t .   Ev idence i s  go ing  to  be  heard  in  th is  commiss ion  tha t  

Mr  Peter,  h is  rep lacement  and the  your  ch ie f  f inanc ia l  

o f f i cer  he  had or  h is  mother  had seven sa fe  depos i t  boxes  

a t  Knox Vi l le .   20 

 Ev idence has been led  by  dr ivers  tha t  cash was  

s tored there .   Th is  i s  no t  an  ord ina ry  s i tua t ion  we are  

dea l ing  w i th .   One th ing  tha t  i t  i s  no t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   Sor ry,  you say the re  was an ATM mach ine?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   
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MR GAMA:   Okay.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And th is  commiss ion  has heard  a  ra f t  

o f  ev idence about  there  be ing  lo ts  and lo ts  o f  cash used by  

many,  many a  sen ior  execut ive .   So what  i t  perhaps tu rns  

on  is  how many occas ions you went  to  the  Guptas .   You 

say you on ly  wen t  there  once.   

MR GAMA:   That  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Le t  us  dea l  then w i th  hav ing  dea l t  

w i th  the  red  med ica l  a id  bag.   Le t  us  dea l  w i th  random 

co l lec t ions o f  cash a t  page 97.   I  reca l l  occas ions where  10 

cash amounts  were  g iven to  Gama a t  random p laces.   Cash 

co l lec ted  a t ,  i s  tha t  [ ind is t inc t ] .    

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh,  do  no t  fo rge t  

what  you want  to  pu t  to  h im.   Le t  me go back to  the  issue  

o f  w i tness 2  and  h is  vers ion  aga ins t  you r  vers ion .   Was  

there  a  t ime when you and w i tness 2  had issues between  

the  two o f  you wh i le  he  was one o f  your  d r i vers?    

MR GAMA:   We l l  Cha i r,  the  s ta tements  tha t  w i tness 2  

wro te  wou ld  ind i ca te  those issues.   That  there  were  issues 

yes.   20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  what  I  am look ing  a t  i s  I  know he 

sa id  you accused  h im o f  s tea l ing  money f rom the  bag  but  

you sa id  the re  was no such.   So I  am ask ing  f rom your  own 

vers ion  whether  t he  two o f  you ever  had any issues wh i le  

he  was your  d r i ve rs  to  [ ind is t inc t ]  
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MR GAMA:   Yes,  tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r,  bu t  i t  was not  about  

money.   

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  was not  about  money?  

MR GAMA:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   There  were  some issues but  no t  about  

money?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  okay.   Now the  reason why I  am 

ask ing  is  because you sa id  tha t  he  may have been  induced 

w i th  someth ing ,  i t  seems to  me you suggest  a t  work ,  a t  10 

Transnet ,  to  e f fec t i ve l y  fabr i ca te  s to r ies  about  you .   D id  I  

unders tand you cor rec t l y?  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   So what  I  wanted to  f ind  ou t  was 

whethe r  your  pos i t ion  is  tha t  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  he  makes 

a l legat ions aga ins t  you wh ich  you  say a re  fa lse ,  you say  

he  is  f abr i ca t ing  because he must  have been induced to  do  

tha t  aga ins t  you  or  whethe r  he  m ight  have some grudge  

aga ins t  you as  we l l ,  and there  m ight  have been some 

issues tha t  you say wou ld  dr i ve  h im to  fa lse ly  imp l ica te  you 20 

in  a l l  k inds o f  th ings.   

 So tha t  i s  what  I  want  to  es tab l i sh .   Whether  i t  i s  

on ly  the  issue o f  inducement  o r  whether  you say there  

were  some issues a lso  be tween the  two o f  you wh ich  you 

th ink  may have dr iven h im to  fabr ica te  s to r ies  aga ins t  you.  
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MR GAMA:   Yes Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  okay I  see  the  sun is  g iv ing  you a  

prob lem.   The sun l igh t  i s  g iv ing  you a  prob lem.  

MR GAMA:   Le t  me jus t  move a  l i t t le  b i t  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  bu t  there  are  ce r ta in  i ssues wh ich  

you th ink  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   Yes,  there  a re .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Which  dr ive  h im to ,  d rove  h im to 

fabr ica te  some s tor ies  about  you.  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  a l r igh t .   A t  some s tage I  guess we 

can hear  about  tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Perhaps we shou ld  dea l  w i th  i t  now.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  maybe . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson i f  i t  i s  a  conven ien t  

po in t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   I  do  no t  know i f  someth ing  can be done,  

bu t  I  can see you are  hav ing  a  p rob lem wi th  the ,  i s  i t  the  

sun l igh t  tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  i t  i s  jus t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Shedd ing  l igh t  on  your  ev idence.   

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  tha t  someth ing  tha t  can be dea l t  w i th  

o r  no t?   Oh,  okay a l r igh t .   Le t  us  t ry  and cont inue  in  the  

meant ime but  they w i l l  a t tend to  i t .   Okay.   so  I  th ink  Mr  

Myburgh says we l l ,  maybe le t  us  hear  about  those  issues 
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tha t  you say may have d r iven the  w i tness to  fabr i ca te  

s to r ies  about  you .  

MR GAMA:   Yes.   Cha i r,  I  th ink  w i tness 2  i s  aggr ieved.   He 

is  aggr ieved because he be l ieves tha t  i f  i t  was not  because 

o f  me he wou ld  no t  have res igned.   He c la ims tha t  I  made  

l i fe  unbearab le  fo r  h im and tha t  caused h im to  res ign  f rom 

the  company.  

 But  what  we a re  dea l ing  w i th  here  Cha i r,  i s  

somebody who commi t ted  ac t s  o f  d ishonesty.   You are  

dea l ing  w i th  someone,  i f  i t  was in  the  army,  someone who  10 

cou ld  have been cour t  marsha l led ,  because i f  somebody is  

ass igned to  p ro tec t  the i r  p r inc ip le ,  and goes and does 

someth ing  wh ich  is  counter  to  tha t ,  i t  i s  l i ke  when you do  

not  fo l low the  code.   

 When your  p r inc ip le  i s  th rea tened ,  you shou ld  be  

the  f i rs t  person who goes to  your  p r inc ip le  and say there  is  

a  th rea t  and th is  i s  what  we are  go ing  to  dea l  w i th .   Th is  i s  

a  person Cha i r,  who when the  th rea t  came th rough  d id  no t  

go  to  the  pr inc ip le  to  say there  is  a  th rea t .   

 I t  was when I  subsequent ly  d iscovered th rough  20 

camera  foo tage tha t  cer ta in  th ings had happened.   I  then 

asked h is  manager.   I  sa id  look ,  th is  i s  what  has happened  

and I  see th is  fe l low do ing  one,  two,  th ree .   Can you f ind  

ou t?    

 I t  was on ly  a f te r  tha t ,  tha t  he  then  came out  and he  
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sa id  to  the ,  to  h is  manager  yes,  i t  d id  happen.   I t  happened 

l i ke  th is  and l i ke  th is  and l i ke  th is ,  bu t  in  tha t  s ta tement  

tha t  he  wro te ,  he  s t i l l  l i ed  about  i t .   He s t i l l  made i t  as  i f  he 

vo lun tee red the  in fo rmat ion  when he d id  no t .   

 But  a lso  I  wou ld  no t  have seen i t  i f  he  ac tua l l y  had  

not  commi t ted .   I f  there  was no commiss ion  o f  tha t  ac t ,  bu t  

he  commi t ted  tha t  ac t  wh ich  is  why I  was ab le  to  then ask  

h is  manager  and then i t  was on tha t  bas is  tha t  h is  manager  

had then sa id  look,  you r  in tegr i t y  i s  quest ionab le .   

 I t  wou ld  appear  tha t  you d id  no t  take  the  s teps tha t  10 

you ought  to  have taken to  p ro tec t  the  pr inc ip le  and then 

he moved h im f rom me pend ing  an invest iga t ion  and then 

subsequent  to  tha t ,  you w i l l  see  i t  comes th rough  in  h is  

s ta tement .   

 He then had th is  g rudge tha t  he  c la ims tha t  h is  l i fe  

was made mise rab le .   Because o f  what  he  had done and 

there fo re  he  had  to  leave and I  th ink  in  h i s  own words he  

then says th is  was the  cu lm inat ion  o f  somebody tha t  I  had 

worked fo r,  ve ry  we l l  fo r  many years ,  bu t  a f te r  tha t  a f te r  

tha t  inc ident  Cha i r,  then the  d ishonesty,  the  lack  o f  20 

in tegr i t y  was then covered and the  fa ls i t ies ,  the  l ies  tha t  

he  then made to  cover  tha t  even t ,  because he had been 

g iven the  oppor tun i ty  to  come c lean.   

 A l l  tha t  he  was supposed to  have done was  

supposed to  be  ab le  to  come c lean and say th is  i s  what  
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happened,  bu t  s t i l l  even in  tha t  s ta tement ,  he  t r ied  to  

m is lead and misrepresent  what  had ac tua l l y  happened and 

as  a  resu l t  o f  tha t ,  I  then fe l t  tha t  look ,  I  cannot  have th is  

person.   

 So whatever  i t  i s  tha t  h is  manager  then d id  was an  

enqu i ry  tha t  t r ied  to  dea l  w i th  tha t  i ssue because he was  

say ing  as  a  pro tec t ion  o f f i ce r  your  f i rs t  du ty  i s  to  p ro tec t  

your  p r inc ip le ,  bu t  in  te rms o f  what  you d id ,  you  ac tua l l y  

consp i red  w i th  o ther  peop le  aga ins t  you r  p r inc ip le .   

 So th is  i s  the  k ind  o f  person tha t  we are  dea l ing  10 

w i th  and there fo re  yes,  he  ho lds  a  grudge tha t  he  was  

go ing  to  be  d i sc ip l ined and he dec ided to  res ign  a l though 

he c la ims a l so  tha t  he  was d i smissed.   H is  s to ry,  bu t  what  I  

do  know is  tha t  I  was to ld  tha t  he  res igned and le f t  and  

tha t  was pr io r  to  whatever  d isc ip l i nary  hear ing  tha t  he  was 

supposed to  have  had.   

 There fore ,  as  a  resu l t  o f  tha t ,  when I  even ta l k  

about  the  inducement ,  i s  to  then say we can re ins ta te  you 

but  we want  you to  te l l  these k inds  o f  ta i l s ,  ja .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Myburgh?   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Le t  us  car ry  on  a t  page 

9011.   A t  paragraph 39 under  the  head ing  random 

co l lec t ions o f  cash:  

“ I  can reca l l  occas ions where  cash amounts  

were  g i ven to  Gama a t  random p laces.   Cash 
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co l lec ted  a t  the  Bu l i  Co l lege in  Midrand.  

Somet ime dur ing  2016 Gama and I  were  on  ou r  

way to  h is  home in  Pony Lane in  Midrand.   On 

our  way Gama asked me to  s top  a t  the 

en t rance to  the  Bu l i  Co l lege in  M idrand wh ich  

is  no t  fa r  f rom h is  house. ”  

Now am I  p ronounc ing  tha t  co r rec t l y?    

 I s  there  such a  co l lege c lose  to  your  house? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay.   A t  41 :  10 

 “On our  a r r i va l  . . . ”  

 I  p resume i t  shou ld  be  a t  the  co l lege:  

 “ I  no t iced G iyane ’s  Mercedes Benz GL parked 

a t  the  en t rance.   G iyane got  ou t  o f  h is  car  and  

handed a  w ine  box wh ich  was sea led  w i th  ce l lo  

tape to  Gama.   The box was very  heavy and  

d id  no t  fee l  as  i f  i t  con ta ined  bot t les .   I  

suspected tha t  the  box conta ined money. ”  

 You want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:   Ja ,  f i rs t  and fo remost  I  mean there  was no  20 

such box tha t  I  met  w i th  G iyane about ,  and i f  he  says there  

was a  box and i t  conta ined money and then he says  i t  was  

very  heavy,  I  do  no t  know what  i s  heavy be tween  bot t les  

and p ieces o f  paper  wh ich  is  money.   

 I f  he  says i t  was very  heavy,  I  do  no t  th ink  tha t  
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bo t t les  w i th  w ine  in  them wou ld  be  l igh ted  but  there  was no 

such th ing  tha t  happened.   What  happened in  Bu l i  Co l lege,  

G iyane used to  work  in  Pre to r ia .   There  was  a  re -

organ isa t ion  a t  Transnet .   

 I  was ab le  to  meet  each and  every  one o f  the  

execut ives  face  to  face  and the re  was a  le t te r  tha t  I  

needed to  hand over  to  h im and he had asked tha t  a f te r  

hours ,  because he was not  ava i l ab le ,  tha t  i f  I  cou ld  g ive  

h im the  le t te r,  he  w i l l  come and meet  me on my way home,  

and tha t  i s  what  happened.  10 

 I  ac tua l l y  gave h im tha t  le t te r.   So and there  was 

not  a  box tha t  G iyane gave me.   There  was a  le t te r,  an  

o f f i c ia l  le t te r  tha t  I  gave to  G iyane  a t  Bu l i  Co l lege in  2016.   

I  th ink  i t  wou ld  have been around  May o f  2016 when th is  

re -organ isa t ion  took p lace.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you were  dr i ven there  by  w i tness  

2?  

MR GAMA:   Sor ry?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You were  dr i ven there  by  w i tness 2 .    

MR GAMA:   Yes,  I  was go ing  home.   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And Giyane was there  in  h is  

Mercedes Benz GL.  

MR GAMA:   I  do  no t  know.   I  do  no t  know the  k ind  o f  ca r.   I  

need to  pay a t ten t ion  to  these k ind  o f  th ings.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You had  an impress i ve  ar ray  o f  
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veh ic les  Mr  Gama,  I  wou ld  have thought  you wou ld  have  

been ab le  to  te l l  us .   

MR GAMA:   No,  I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh you may be get t ing  i t  

wrong.   Peop le  w i l l  say  you have an impress i ve  ar ray  o f  

cars .   They are  o ld  cars ,  they a re  12 ,  13 ,  14  years  o ld .   So 

when I  have a  ca r,  I  do  no t  se l l  car.   I  w i l l  have my 

ins ta lment  sa le  agreement  fo r  f i ve  years .    

 Then un less  I  need to  buy anothe r  car  I  keep the  

ca r.   I  even have a  30  year  o ld  ca r  tha t  I  have been 

dr iv ing .   I t  i s  no t ,  i t  i s  no t  a  f lashy  l i fe  s ty le  o r  anyth ing  o f  10 

tha t  na ture ,  bu t  a  GL to  me is  l i ke  an  ML,  and I  have not  

seen Giyane dr i ve  a  GL,  bu t  maybe he does have.   

 I  do  no t  know.   I  thought  I  have seen h im dr ive  a  

ca r,  maybe a  C someth ing .   So,  a  GL,  I  th ink  a  GL is  l i ke  

an  ML.   I t  i s  these b ig  ca rs .   I  do  no t  know.   I  do  no t  th ink  

there  i s  such a  th ing .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You do no t  th ink  there  is  such a  

th ing?   

MR GAMA:   The  car  tha t  he  was dr iv ing ,  bu t  maybe he 

was,  bu t  I  have seen h im dr ive  a  Mercedes,  bu t  a  p r iva te  20 

ca r,  a  sedan.   Four,  f i ve  seate r.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t ,  and  then under  t he  head ing  

cash co l lec ted  on  the  N17 h ighway  near  Spr ings.   42 :  

 “On a  Fr iday even ing  some t ime in  2017 I  went  

to  Gama’s  res idence in  Pony Lane Midrand 
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where  I  co l lec ted  a  new Mercedes Benz S65 

f rom the  p remises wh ich  he  had  booked out  

ear l ie r  f rom a  dea lersh ip  as  a  tes t  veh ic le . ”  

 Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  

MR GAMA:   No,  he  d id  no t .   He d id  no t  go  to  my res idence.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You had not  booked out  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   To  co l lec t  such a  ca r.   I t  i s  no t  t rue .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Had you not  booked out  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

MR GAMA:   No.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A new Mercedes Benz S65 as  a  tes t  

veh ic le?  

MR GAMA:   Wel l ,  the  f i rs t  th ing  is  they do  not  g i ve  you a  

new ca r.   A demo car  i s  a  demo,  i t  i s  no t  new.   But  he  d id 

no t  fe tch  i t  f rom home.   I  asked h im to  p i ck  i t  up  in  

Woodmead.   So i t  i s  no t  t rue .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  you had  then booked out ,  le t  me 

get  the  language r igh t ,  a  demo Mercedes Benz S65.    

MR GAMA:   Yes,  I  wanted to  tes t  d r ive  i t .    20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you asked h im to  co l lec t  i t  in  

Midrand,  no t  f rom your  house?  

MR GAMA:   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  see .   

MR GAMA:   Here  in  Woodmead.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   43 :  

 “F rom Pony Lane I  p roceeded . . . ”  

MR GAMA:   Where  he  says he  proceeded to  Woodmead is  

where  he  p i cked the  car.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sor ry :  

 “F rom Pony Lane I  p roceeded to  a  shopp ing  

cent re  in  Woodmead and you say tha t  i s  where  

he  p icked up the  ca r,  where  I  met  a  c lose  

f r iend o f  Gama and Giyane ’s  d r iver  in  the  

park ing  area  o f  the  shopp ing  cent re .   Gama’s  10 

c lose f r iend got  in to  the  S65 w i th  me wh i ls t  

G iyane ’s  d r i ve r  depar ted  in  anothe r  d i rec t ion . ”  

 Sha l l  I  f in ish  th is  who le  par t  and then you comment  

on  i t ,  o r  wou ld  you pre fe r  to  comment  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:   I  th ink  i t  i s  eas ie r  i f  you  jus t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .  

MR GAMA:   Went  th rough a l l  o f  i t ,  so  tha t  we do not  

. . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay.  

MR GAMA:   Because i t  i s ,  i t  can  be t i r ing  and the  wate r  i s  20 

ge t t ing  f in ished.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Paragraph 44:  

 “F rom the  shopp ing  cent re  . . . ”  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  you  must  say  when you run  out  o f  

wate r.   They w i l l  g ive  you more  wa ter.   A re  you  runn ing  out  
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o f  i t?    

MR GAMA:   No,  no  I  s t i l l  have.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Paragraph 44:  

“F rom the  shopp ing  cent re  Gama’s  c lose  f r iend and 

I  p roceeded to  the  N17 h ighway where  jus t  a f te r  the  

f i rs t  to l lga te  towards Spr ings,  I  pu l led  ove r  to  the  

shou lder  o f  the  road.   A t  tha t  spot ,  two o the r  

veh ic les  a lso  ar r i ved and parked on the  shou lder  o f  

the  road.   The one veh ic le  was an Aud i  w i th  w i tness 10 

1  as  the  dr iver  and Gama as the  passenger.   The  

o ther  veh ic le  was  a  Mercedes Benz GL wi th  G iyane  

as  the  d r iver. ”  

45 :  

“Gama got  ou t  o f  the  Aud i  and I  go t  ou t  o f  the  S65.   

Gama then got  in to  the  dr i ver ’s  seat  o f  the  S65,  

where  he  jo ined h is  c lose  f r iend.   G iyane a l so  go t  

ou t  o f  h i s  veh ic le  and he wa lked over  to  the  dr iver  

s ide  o f  the  S65  where  he  handed a  b ig  packet ,  

wh ich  I  assume conta ined cash,  in  my presence to  20 

Gama. ”  

46 :  

“ In  the  meant ime  wi tness 1  le f t  the  scene w i th  the  

Aud i  and Giyane le f t  shor t l y  a f te rwards. ”  

47 :  
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“A lso  in  the  meant ime another  PCO ar r i ved in  a 

Toyota  Coro l la  w i th  whom I  had ar ranged to  p i ck  me 

up a t  tha t  loca t ion .  

48 :  

“ I  w ish  to  s ta te  tha t  a l l  the  ar rangements  as  

desc r ibed above were  in  Gama’s  ins t ruc t ions. ”  

MR GAMA :    Thank you.   So th is  i s  a  very  s imp le  th ing  

where  I  needed to  tes t  d r ive  t h is  veh ic le  and I  was go ing  to  

KZN,  so  we met  there .   So aga in ,  rea l  events  bu t  w i th  

f lavour.   I  do  no t  reca l l  J iyane there .   I  do  no t  reca l l  –  I  do  10 

not  know about  th is  J iyane ’s  d r i ve r,  I  am go ing  to  have to  

maybe t ry  and –  maybe they shou ld  g ive  an  a f f idav i t  in  

te rms o f  whether  they were  there .  

 So there  wou ld  no t  have been any  b ig  packets  tha t  

was –  so  le t  us  assume the re  was a  packet  o f  money tha t  

somebody needed to  g ive  me,  why wou ld  you convoy b r ing  

two,  th ree  cars  and then you g ive  the  pe rson there?  I t  

does not  make sense.   But  there  was not  any o f  tha t ,  there  

was no packet  o f  money tha t  as  be ing  g i ven.   He says  

there  were  two cars  tha t  a r r i ved,  one was w i tness 1  and  20 

the  o ther  one was J iyane.    

I  do  no t  reca l l  a  lo t  o f  these in t r i ca te  th ings tha t  

happened but  what  I  do  know is  there  was no packet  o f  

money or  he  says he  assumed i t  conta ined cash.   There  

was no such.   We exchanged ca rs ,  I  had to  t rave l  and I  
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t rave l led .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  cou ld  you jus t  exp la in  what  

ac tua l l y  d id  happen he re?  So you  tes t  d rove th is  S65 and  

a t  a  po in t  you then got  ou t  o f  i t  and got  in to  your  ca r  wh ich  

–  le t  me unders tand what  happened.  

MR GAMA :    No,  no ,  no ,  the  tes t  d r iv ing  was go ing  to  take  

p lace a f te r  he  b rought  the  ca r.   He brought  the  ca r.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    R igh t  and then?  

MR GAMA :    To  where  we met ,  i t  was next  to  the  to l lga te ,  

very  c lose  to  the  to l lga te  f rom the  N17,  I  cannot  remember,  10 

I  th ink  i t  i s  ca l led  R i f les  someth ing .   He brought  the  car  

because I  was in  a  meet ing  e lsewhere .    

Wi tness 1 ,  as  he  ca l l s  h im,  b rough t  me to  tha t  p lace  

so  tha t  I  cou ld  ge t  on to  the  ca r  and then I  wou ld  have 

thought  tha t  he  then got  in to  the  car  w i th  w i tness 1  and 

where  h is  ca r  was tha t  he  says someone e lse  came to  p ick  

h im up.   I t  was not  such an in t r i ca te  th ing  as  i t  i s  now 

be ing  pa in ted ,  i t  was rea l l y  jus t  to  say go  and  fe tch  th is  

ca r,  do  no t  come back on  the  N1 because i t  i s  go ing  to  be  

t ra f f i c  and I  want  to  t rave l  when there  is  s t i l l  a  b i t  o f  l i gh t .  20 

Wi tness 1  i s  go ing  to  b r ing  me f rom the  meet ing  

tha t  I  was a t  and  then I  can take  the  car  and dr i ve .   I t  was 

not  a l l  o f  these in t r i ca te  th ings tha t  the  f lavour  demands  

tha t  they shou ld . . .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l igh t .   And then under  the  head ing :  
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“B reakdown in  re la t ionsh ip . . . ”  

I  th ink  you have a l ready touched on th is .  

“ . . .w i th  Gama and  d ismissa l . ”  

He says a t  49 :  

“Dur ing  August  2017 my re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Gama 

became s t ra ined as  I  d id  no t  ge t  a long w i th  Gama’s  

c lose  f r iend re fer red  to  in  pa ragraph 24 above,  the  

reason be ing  tha t  ove r  t ime she more  and more  

ins is ted  tha t  I  ass is t  he r  w i th  p r iva te  bus iness and  

to  under take non-work  re la ted  t r ips  fo r  he r.   I  10 

re fused to  adhere  to  her  requests  as  I  fe l t  tha t  she  

was abus ing  my serv i ces  as  CPO for  Gama for  he r  

own se l f i sh  cause.   Gama d id  no t  take  k ind  to  my  

a t t i tude towards h is  c lose  f r iend. ”  

15  My re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Gama reached  breakpo in t  in   

November  2017 when Gama and  h is  c lose  f r iend 

accused me o f  spr ink l ing  mut i  in  and around the i r  

house and be ing  invo l ved w i th  w i tchc ra f t .   Noth ing 

cou ld  be  fu r ther  f rom the  t ru th  o f  th is .   On 17 

November  2017 I  res igned f rom Transnet  as  I  cou ld  20 

not  to le ra te  Gama’s  accusat ions and a t t i tude 

towards me any longer.   Desp i te  hav ing  res igned as  

s ta ted  above,  Transnet  cont inued  w i th  d isc ip l ina ry  

proceed ings aga ins t  me on 6  December  in  my 

absence and I  was summar i l y  d ismissed.   The 
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charges aga ins t  me i n te r  a l ia  en ta i led  tha t  I  had 

bet rayed the  t rus t  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Gama and tha t  I  

spr ink led  an  unknown substance a t  Gama’s  

res idence the reby put t ing  h is  and  h is  fami ly ’s  l i ves  

in to  danger.  

53 .  I  subsequent ly  approached Transnet  to  seek 

red ress due to  the  fac t  tha t  I  be l ieved tha t  I  was 

t rea ted  unfa i r l y,  tha t  I  was v ic t im ised and eventua l l y  

un fa i r l y  d ismissed on Gama’s  ins t ruc t ion .  

54 .  A f te r  due cons idera t ion  Transnet  agreed tha t  I  was 10 

unfa i r l y  d ismissed.   I  was the re fore  re ins ta ted  to  

the  pos i t ion  o f  CPO wi th  e f fec t  f rom 1  December 

2019 re t rospect ive  f rom 1  January  2018. ”  

Now these are  th ings tha t  you I  th ink  have touched on 

a l ready,  what  o ther  comments  do  you have?  

MR GAMA :    Cha i r,  p robab ly  th is  i s  a t  the  nub o f  why we  

are  hav ing  th is  d i scuss ion  today.   A t  paragraph 49 there  is  

a  who le  lo t  o f  l ies ,  there  was no such tha t  took p lace but  

he  is  p re fac ing  i t  in  th is  fash ion  so  tha t  there  seems to  

have been someth ing  un toward  tha t  had happened.   He 20 

then says a t  pa ragraph …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry,  so  a re  you say ing  tha t  where  

he  says tha t  you r  c lose  f r iend used to  make demands in  

e f fec t  fo r  h im to do  non-work  re la ted  tasks  or  t r ips  fo r  her  

and tha t  th is  then s t ra ined the  re la t ionsh ip  be tween you  
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and h im,  tha t  i s  w i tness 2 ,  you say there  is  no  such th ing?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r i gh t .   I  jus t  wanted to  be  su re ,  

ja ,  o f  what  you are  say ing .   Okay,  cont inued,  ja .  

MR GAMA :    So parag raph 50 where  he  says i t  reached  

breakpo in t ,  the  b reakpo in t  i s  no t  i n  November,  Cha i r,  i t  i s  

in  August  when i t  happened.  

CHAIRPERSON :    O f  2017?  

MR GAMA :    That  i s  cor rec t .   Where  I  observed these  

th ings on  the  camera .   I  then approached h is  manager  to  10 

say th is  i s  what  I  have observed,  can you f ind  ou t  f rom h im 

what  i s  i t  exact ly  tha t  he  was do ing?  And then he wro te  a 

s ta tement  to  say  th is  had been g iven to  h im by someone 

tha t  I  knew to  spr ink le  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now i s  tha t  spr ink l ing  someth ing?  I s  

tha t  what  you observed?  

MR GAMA :    Yes,  tha t  i s  what  I  observed,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You observed h im sp r ink l ing  someth ing  

around your  house.  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR GAMA :    I t  was a  brown powder  in  te rms  o f  the 

s ta tement  tha t  he  wro te .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay,  okay.  

MR GAMA :    That  he  had been g i ven th is  b rown powder.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes ,  yes .  

MR GAMA :    Bu t  he  then says no ,  he  never  came wi th  i t  to  

the  house,  tha t  he  th rew i t  away in  the  f reeway but  I  

observed h im spr ink l ing  th is  there .  

CHAIRPERSON :    On cameras?  

MR GAMA :    On the  cameras.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MR GAMA :    And then …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wou ld  th is  have been dur ing  the  day?  

Would  i t  have been dur ing  the  even ing?  10 

MR GAMA :    N igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    When he spr ink led  i t  accord ing  to  what  

you observed o r  i t  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR GAMA :    I t  was a t  n igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was a t  n igh t?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR GAMA :    And then I  had not  been aware  tha t  he  was  

there ,  i t  was one o f  these th ings tha t  I  ta lk  about ,  tha t  

…[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  so  in  te rms  o f  –  as  fa r  as  you were  

concerned you d id  no t  expect  to  be  in  your  house.  

MR GAMA :    He  was not  supposed to  be  there .   Ja ,  he  

came there  [ ind is t inc t ] .  

CHAIRPERSON :    He came the re?  
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MR GAMA :    [ ind is t inc t ]  a t  n igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

MR GAMA :    By  cover  o f  n igh t  and hop ing  tha t… 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t ,  cont inue?  

MR GAMA :    Yes.   So then he wr i tes  the  s ta tement  to  say  

who gave i t  to  h im but  then in  h i s  s ta tement  he  then says 

no ,  he  never  –  he  was asked to  go  and spr ink le  i t  bu t  he  

never  spr ink led  i t .   So I  am say ing  then i f  he  never  

spr ink led  why then d id  I  see in  the  cameras because I  

wou ld  never  have  asked h im,  I  wou ld  have never  asked fo r  10 

the  invest iga t ion  to  say there  is  someth ing  w i th  th i s  fe l low 

and there  are  these th ings tha t  a re  happen ing .   I  wou ld  no t  

have known i f  he  th rew in  the  f reeway as  he  c la ims 

because he wro te  a  s ta tement ,  Cha i r,  where  he  says no ,  I  

th rew i t  away in  the   -  on  the  f reeway.   But  then I  see th is  

th ing  and i t  was a  v ic ious th ing ,  you know,  to  have many  

prayers  to  dea l  w i th  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  he acknowledged tha t  he  had  been –  

tha t  the  cameras cor rec t l y  captured h im,  he  was a t  the  t ime 

–  the  cameras showed h im to  have been there  and  he jus t  20 

den ied  –  he  den ied  what  i t  was tha t  he  was spr ink l ing  or  

there  was no den ia l ,  i t  was [ indist inct  – dropping vo ice]   o r  

what  was the  pos i t ion?  

MR GAMA :    So th is  i s  where  the  d ishonesty  i s ,  Cha i r.   So 

I  ra ise  th is  i ssue because o f  what  I  have observed.   He 
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then den ied  tha t  i t  happened,  tha t  he  spr ink led  anyth ing .   

He then says no ,  he  d id  have someth ing  tha t  he  was sent  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    To  spr ink le .  

MR GAMA :    To  spr ink le .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  d id  no t  spr ink le .  

MR GAMA :    In  the  s ta tement ,  ja ,  he  says bu t  he  d id  no t  

spr ink le .   But  i f  he  had not  spr ink led  i t ,  I  wou ld  no t  have 

seen h im spr ink l ing ,  I  wou ld  no t  have asked the  quest ion .   

I f  he  had rece ived and rea l l y  th rown away th i s  th ing  on  the 10 

f reeway,  I  was not  w i th  h im when  he was on the  f reeway  

when he was supposed to  have th rown i t  away but  because  

he d id  no t  th row i t  away,  he  then captured –  he  gets  

captured by  the  camera  do ing  th is  th ing .   So he wr i tes  

about  i t  to  say  no ,  so  and so  gave i t  to  me and sa id  th is  i s  

what  I  must  do  and then he then c la ims no,  bu t  I  d id  no t  do  

i t .   Then why wou ld  I  ask  i f  he  had not  done i t?   So tha t  i s  

the  o ther  th ing .   So I  then say to  h is  manager  look ,  jus t  do  

no t  ass ign  h im to  me because as  you can see,  he  admi ts  

tha t  someth ing  l i ke  th i s  happened but  he  now t r ies  -   he  20 

creates  another  f lavour  o f  i t  to  say  no ,  i t  d id  no t  happen in  

th is  way.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   I  in te r rup ted  you wh i le  you were  

dea l ing  w i th  th is .   I  do  no t  know i f  you have f in ished .    

MR GAMA :    Yes ,  so  i f  I  then move to  51 ,  Cha i r.   He says 
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he  res igned because he cou ld  no t  to le ra te  my accusat ions.    

The accusat ion  happened once,  he  admi t ted  to  i t  in  a 

s ta tement .   You know,  he  ta lks  about  an  a t t i tude.   He was  

no longer  work ing  w i th  me so  I  do  no t  know what  he  ta lks  

about  bu t  I  th ink  tha t  then becomes the  source  o f  –  so  you  

now have somebody w i th  a  grudge aga ins t  you,  somebody 

tha t  used to  work  w i th  you very  c lose ly  tha t  you no  longer  

t rus t ,  tha t  now has a  grudge aga ins t  you and has become 

an enemy because he now th ings tha t  he  los t  h is  job  

because o f  you.   That  i s  rea l l y  what  we are  dea l i ng  w i th  10 

here .  

I  am not  te r r ib ly  fami l ia r  w i th  a l l  o f  those issues but  

the  be t raya l  o f  t rus t ,  tha t  i s  ac tua l l y  what  i t  was and the  

pu t t ing  me in to  danger  a lso  because th is  was a  very  tox ic  

th ing  tha t  I  rea l l y  do  no t  unders tand but  you cross  tha t  

a rea  you [ ind is t inc t ] .  

CHAIRPERSON :   Am I  r igh t  to  say you suspected or  

be l ieved tha t  wha t  he  d id  was connected w i th  w i tchc ra f t?  

MR GAMA :    Wel l ,  I  d id  no t  have to  suspect ,  he  to ld  me.  

CHAIRPERSON :   Ja .  20 

MR GAMA :    I t  i s  in  her  s ta tement ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :   Ja .   How d id  he  put  i t?  

MR GAMA :    Oh,  I  have got  i t ,  I  have got  i t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    You have got  h is  s ta tement?  

MR GAMA :    Yes,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  so  you can make ar rangements  to  

share  i t  w i th  the  Commiss ion .   

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

MR GAMA :    Then you can read i t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :   Yes.   Okay,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  I  wou ld  jus t  l i ke  to  take  you to  

two las t  paragraphs p lease.   Page 100,  paragraph 58,  

under  the  head ing :  R isk  and secur i t y  concerns,  says:  

“ In  expos ing  Gama’s  apparent  inappropr ia te  10 

conduct  in  the  s ta tement  I  be l ieve  tha t  my and my  

fami ly ’s  sa fe ty  and secur i t y  may come under  th rea t .   

I t  i s  wor thy  to  no te  tha t  a  few days a f te r  my 

res ignat ion  in  November  I  no t iced on two  

consecut ive  days  drones hover ing  above my house .   

A l though I  canno t  say  w i th  cer ta in ty  I  be l ieve  tha t  

Gama may have  been beh ind  these inc idents  in  

a t tempts  to  v i c t im ise  and in t im ida te  me.   I  am 

fur ther  aware  tha t  my manager,  w i tness  1 ,  had  

rece ived th rea ts  on  h is  ce l lu la r  phone to  the  e f fec t  20 

tha t  he  shou ld  no t  coopera te  w i th  the  Zondo 

Commiss ion  in  re la t ion  to  a l lega t ions o f  improper  

conduct  by  execu t ives  o f  Transnet  wh ich  is  o f  g rea t  

concern . ”  

Do you want  to  comment  on  tha t?  
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MR GAMA :    I  have no reason to  th rea ten w i tness 1  or  –  I  

mean,  w i tness 2 .   I  do  no t  know how to  procure  d rones to  –  

I  jus t  suspect  tha t  h is  c i t ing  o f  d rones is  a lso  a  f igment  o f  

h is  imag ina t ion .   I  am not  beh ind  any a t tempts  to  in t im ida te  

h im,  I  do  no t  do  tha t ,  I  p ray  fo r  h im every  day bu t  I  do  no t  

–  I  have no reason to  h i re  d rones or  t ry  to  in t im ida te  or  

th rea ten h im.   He knows h imse l f  where  he  is ,  he  knows the  

t ru th .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then f ina l l y  pa rag raph 59 :  10 

“ I  am fur thermore  concerned tha t  a l though Gama is  

no  longer  w i th  Transnet  he  may s t i l l  have in f luence  

over  execut ives  and sen io r  managers  a t  Transnet  

and tha t  I  may be sub jec ted  to  fu r ther  v i c t im isa t ion  

by  ind i v idua ls  loya l  to  h im. ”  

Do you want  to  dea l  w i th  tha t?  

MR GAMA :    Innuendo,  con jec ture ,  there  is  no th ing  tha t  I  

can say to  those  k inds o f  th ings,  i t  i s  h is  be l ie f  sys tem.   I  

am not  there ,  there  i s  no  such but  I  th ink  the  issue o f  

whethe r  he  wou ld  be  seen to  be  t rus twor thy  or  loya l  20 

towards h is  p r inc ipa ls  by  o ther  co l leagues in  the  secur i t y  

indust ry  i s  someth ing  tha t  he  shou ld  h imse l f  th ink  about  

because where  somebody can be  crea t ive  and make l ies  

about  the i r  p r inc ipa ls ,  I  th ink  everybody –  i t  i s  someth ing  

tha t  he  shou ld  have thought  about  be fore  he  s ta r ts  the  
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invent ions and the  f lavour.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No,  Mr  Gama,  I  jus t  want  to  po in t  ou t  

someth ing  to  you.   Can you go to  page …[ in tervenes ]  

MR GAMA :    Perhaps befo re  you do,  Cha i r?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  sure .  

MR GAMA :    I  do  no t  know i f  i t  wou ld  be  –  I  do  no t  know 

what  t ime i t  i s ,  I  do  no t  keep a  watch  bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  i s  about  ten  to  four.  

MR GAMA :    I f  we cou ld  take  a  shor t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    A shor t  ad jou rnment .  10 

MR GAMA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  we normal ly  take  i t  a t  

four  so  we may as  we l l  take  i t  now.   I t  w i l l  be  a  ten  m inutes  

ad journment .   I  th ink ,  Mr  Myburgh ,  we wou ld  s ta r t  w i th  the  

next  s t ream.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  i s  the  same s t ream but  maybe a t  f i ve?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  have got  –  on  th is  score  I  have got  

l i te ra l l y  two more  quest ions or  th ree  more  quest ions to  ask  

Mr  Gama to  f in ish  on  th is .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    On th is  one,  yes ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  So lomons jus t  Whatsapped me to 

f ind  ou t  whethe r  we a re  on  fo r  fou r  o ’c lock .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The remote  l ink  i s  in  the  p rocess o f  
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be ing  es tab l i shed .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  we l l  what  I  have in  m ind is  tha t  we 

shou ld  go  on w i th  Mr  Gama to  f i ve .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Fa i r  enough .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because the  even ing  sess ion  we  a lways  

say they must  a r r i ve  a t  four,  be  ready.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I f  we are  done w i th  the  day w i tness then  

we s tar t .   I f  no t ,  we s tar t  a t  f i ve .   Okay,  a l r igh t ,  we w i l l  

ad journ  fo r  ten  m inutes .   We ad journ .  10 

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  con t inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Gama I  jus t  wanted to  take  you,  i f  

I  may,  to  page 94 o f  Wi tness 2 ’s  s ta tement  o r  a f f idav i t .   

From what  I  can see Wi tness 2  on l y  ever  uses th ree  

spec i f i c  da tes ,  he  ta lks  o f  the  co l lec t ion  on  the  13 t h  o f  June  

2017,  you see tha t ,  then ove r  the  page . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR GAMA:    Page 94?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    94 ,  red  number ing .    He speaks o f  a  20 

co l lec t ion  on  13 June 2017,  we have been over  th is ,  and 

over  the  page a  co l lec t ion  on  the  13 t h  o f  Ju l y  2017 and 

then the  th i rd  t ime tha t  he  uses a  spec i f i c  da te  i s  in  

parag raph 36 he speaks o f  you hav ing  been a t  a  meet ing  a t  

Dene l  on  the  20 t h  o f  Apr i l  2017,  bu t  we know tha t ’s  no t  
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con tent ious because you accept  tha t .   So,  the  two  dates ,  

events  i n  re la t ion  to  the  13 t h  o f  June and the  13 t h  o f  Ju l y  

a re  content ious bu t ,  on  bo th  occas ions,  you have ,  v ia  the  

in fo rmat ion  tha t  has been p rov ided to  you  by  the  

Commiss ion ,  been ab le  to  source  minutes  o f  meet ings,  a  

spec ia l  meet ing  o f  the  Board  o f  D i rec to rs  and  then a  

meet ing  o f  the  TNPA which ,  on  your  vers ion  es tab l i shes  

your  de fence,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR GAMA:    I  th ink  tha t ’s  a  lega l  te rm,  

es tab l i shes…[ in te rvenes] .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Your  exp lanat ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Your  exp lanat ion ,  okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  your  s ide  o f  the  s to ry  about  whatever  

a l legat ion  he  makes.  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  i f  you  cou ld  then go,  p lease to  

your  a f f idav i t  and can I  take  you  to paragraph 7  a t  page  

250.2 .6 .4 .  paragraph 7  you say,  

“The lega l  team o f  the  Commiss ion  –  as  the  l ega l  20 

team o f  the  Commiss ion  i s  we l l  aware ,  I  en te r ta ined 

the  thought  o f  caus ing  w i tness  2  to  be  cross-

examined and in  th is  contex t ,  I  requested the 

Commiss ion  to  p rov ide  me wi th  my  d ia r ies  spann ing  

the  per iod  re levant  to  the  tes t imony o f  w i tness 2 .   
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To  da te  such access has no t  been p rov ided,  sub-

two,  any a t tempt  a t  caus ing  the  e f fec t  o f  c ross-

examinat ion  o f  w i tness 2  i s  dependent  on  and w i l l  

be  premised upon demonst ra t ing  tha t  I  was ,  

phys i ca l l y,  no t  in  a t tendance and/or  in  the  company 

o f  w i tness 2  when cer ta in  meet ings t ransp i red ,  and 

cash was conveyed as  he  a l leges  but  ra ther  tha t  I  

was e l sewhere  and potent ia l l y  in  the  company o f  

o ther  persons.   The Commiss ion ’s  lega l  team’s  

fa i lu re  to  p rov ide  access to  my d ia ry  has pre jud i ced  10 

me and depr ives  me o f  my ab i l i t y  to  tes t  the 

ev idence o f  w i tness 2  th rough cross-examinat ion” ,  

 Now,  i f  necessary,  we can put  up  an  a f f idav i t  

dea l ing  w i th  th is  bu t  Mr  Gama,  you w i l l  know,  and th is  has  

been p laced on record  be fore  tha t  what  the  Commiss ion  

has prov ided you  w i th  i s  e lec t ron i c  da ta  tha t  wou ld  make 

up a  d ia ry,  f rom January  2012 unt i l  September  2018,  in  fac t  

there  were  ove r  14  000 records tha t  were  p rov ided to  you,  

we went  th rough th is  las t  t ime ,  Mr  Ben jamin ,  in  fac t  

de l i vered th is  on  a  f lash  d isk  to  your  a t to rneys.   I  wou ld  20 

jus t  ask  you,  a lso ,  to  conf i rm tha t  when you gave ev idence  

on the  11 t h  o f  March my  invest iga tors  ac tua l l y  sa t  w i th  your  

a t to rney and demonst ra ted  how you cou ld  recrea te  your  

d ia ry  w i th  re fe rence to  tha t  e lec t ron i c  in fo rmat ion ,  wou ld  

you conf i rm tha t ,  on  the  11 t h  o f  March?  
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MR GAMA:    Yes,  except  tha t  i t  doesn ’ t  rec reate  a  d ia ry  

and I  th ink  I ’ ve  been a t  pa ins  to  exp la in  to  Mr  Myburgh,  

and I  th ink  I  exp la ined ear l ie r  th is  morn ing  tha t  what  th is  

does,  I  th ink  you  ca l l  i t  e lec t ron ic  da ta ,  I ’m  look ing  fo r  a  

d ia ry  I  don ’ t  have a  d ia ry.   The e lec t ron ic  da ta  g ives  you  

50 to  60% of  in fo rmat ion  tha t  you wou ld  ord inar i l y  f ind  in  

the  proper  d ia ry.   So,  we have used the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  we  

have been g iven to  the  ex ten t  tha t  we can.   So,  i t  doesn ’ t  

g ive  us  the  k ind  o f  in fo rmat ion  tha t  we wanted and tha t ’s  

why we have sought  to  resor t ,  now,  to  meet ing  m inu tes  and  10 

those k inds o f  th ings jus t  to  show and demonst ra te  tha t  

some o f  these th ings,  when they are  a l leged to  have  

happened,  tha t  I  was not  even a t  the  p laces where  w i tness  

2  says tha t  I  have been.   so ,  I  know f rom the  in te rac t ion  

be tween myse l f  and my lega l  team and the  lega l  team and 

the  Commiss ion ’s  lega l  team tha t  the  14  000 records,  as  i t  

were ,  p rov ide  e lec t ron ic  da ta  bu t  they don ’ t  p rov ide  a  

d ia ry.   So,  I  th ink  i t ’s  someth ing  wh ich  we ’ve  gradua l ly  had  

to  accept  tha t ,  tha t ’s  what  i t  i s ,  i t ’s  no t  the  d ia ry  as  we 

wou ld  know i t  because we be l ieve  tha t ,  i f  i t  was ac tua l l y  20 

the  d ia ry  i t se l f ,  I  th ink  i t  wou ld  have been much ,  much  

bet te r.   For  ins tance,  there  a re  t hese two o r  th ree  dates  

tha t  have been g iven but  we don ’ t  have any o f  the  o ther  

da tes  where  he  says cer ta in  th ings  cou ld  have happened or  

tha t  cou ld  have been usefu l…[ in tervenes] .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Gama on ly  th ree  spec i f i c  da tes  

are  g iven and your  case in  respect  o f  two o f  them l ies  in  

the  m inutes  wh ich  you t racked us ing  the  da ta  tha t  was  

g iven to  you and you ’ve  ac tua l l y  shown the  Cha i rpe rson 

one o f  these schedu les  tha t  none  o f  us  can read and you  

say,  we l l  tha t  shows me,  tha t  I  was in  a  meet ing  w i th  the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  Board .  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  and I ’ ve  ind ica ted  to  you what  i t  shows,  

i t ’s  the  meet ing  requests .   So,  i t  says  so  and so  need a  

meet ing  request  fo r  these peop le ,  fo r  a  meet ing  to  take  10 

p lace a t  such and such a  day.   The way tha t  i t  works ,  you  

have to  go  in to  a  spec i f i c  da te ,  l ook  fo r  those th ings bu t  

somet imes i t  doesn ’ t  te l l  you  where  the  meet ings were  and  

the  on ly  reason you are  ab le  to  ge t  the  meet ings and f ind  

ou t  where  they were  is  i f  there ’s  m inutes  tha t  took  p lace.   

Cer ta in  t imes you can have a  meet ing  somewhere  and  

there  are  no  minutes  tha t  were  taken because i t  was not  a  

fo rmal ,  you know,  meet ing .   So,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  the  

issue…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t ’s  a  hardcopy  tha t  you are  look ing  fo r  20 

or?  

MR GAMA:    I ’m  t ry ing  to  remember  what  th is  th ing  was 

ca l led  on  the  d ia ry,  i t ’s  a  Mic rosof t ,  exchange is  

i t…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  I  take  i t  tha t  i t ’s  someth ing  tha t  
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peop le  in  the  Commiss ion  i s  no t  in  possess ion  o f ,  whatever  

i t  i s  you are  look ing  fo r?  

MR GAMA:    They are  unab le  to  p rocure  i t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR GAMA:    They ’ve  t r ied .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And,  has Transnet  sa id  they don ’ t  have i t  

as  we l l ,  Mr  Myburgh,  do  you know? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  beg your  pardon?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Has Transnet  sa id  they don ’ t  have i t  as  

we l l?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  they have.  

CHAIRPERSON:    They have ja  so  I  jus t  wanted to  make 

sure  tha t  i f  there  i s  a  compla in t  aga ins t  the  Commiss ion  i t  

wou ld  be  addressed but  you say  Mr  Gama a l so  conf i rms 

tha t  he  accepts  tha t  the  Commiss ion  doesn ’ t  have i t ,  

obv ious ly  i f  the  Commiss ion  had i t ,  i t  p robab ly  wou ld   have  

no reason not  to  g ive  h im.   So,  the  pos i t ion  i s  s imp ly  –  i s  

the  pos i t ion ,  Mr  Gama tha t  you s imp ly  –  you are  s imp ly  

lament ing  the  absence o f  tha t  d ia ry  w i thout  b laming 

anybody…[ in te rvenes]?  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No,  I  do  no t  w ish  to  appor t ion  b lame,  

I  know tha t  the  team has –  a l l  I  say  is  tha t  the 

Commiss ion ’s  lega l  team has a lso  fa i led  to  f ind  i t  fo r  me,  

bu t  I  know tha t  they t r ied  so  maybe  i t ’s  jus t  the  manner  and  

way in  wh ich  we wr i te  i t  in  Eng l ish  yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t  okay  tha t ’s  

f ine…[ in tervenes] .  

MR GAMA:    So ,  I ’m not  say ing  tha t  i t ’s  because o f  a  lack  

o f  t ry ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MR GAMA:    And so ,  I ’m  say ing ,  what  we have g ives us  

someth ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  bu t  no t  eve ry th ing?  

MR GAMA:    Yes ,  bu t  i t  doesn ’ t  g ive  us  every th ing  i t  g ives  

us  50  to  60% of  what  d ia r ies  wou ld  have been used  fo r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  we l l  maybe I  may as  we l l  

ment ion  th is ,  Mr  Gama,  now tha t  we ’ re  ta lk ing  about  th is .   

To  the  ex ten t  tha t  anybody,  w i tness,  whether  i t ’s  somebody 

imp l ica ted ,  wrongdo ing  or  no t ,  i f  they  have got  concerns 

we are  qu i te  happy fo r  them to  a r t i cu la te  those concerns  

and my a t t i tude is  tha t ,  we must  look  a t  those concerns 

and be ab le  to  say,  we have looked a t  th is ,  has go t  mer i t ,  

th is  i s  what  shou ld  happen,  address i t ,  th is  maybe we don ’ t  

agree i t ’s  go t  no  mer i t  bu t  i f  peop le  have got  concerns le t  

them ar t i cu la te  them and then we look a t  them,  we come 20 

back to  them and  say,  th is  i s  our  response.   So tha t  i s  par t  

o f  the  reason why I  wanted to  know about  th is  d ia ry  even 

ear l ie r,  okay.  

MR GAMA:    Ja ,  I ’m  not  ask ing  the  Commiss ion  to  s t i l l  

con t inue t r y ing ,  I  th ink  they ’ ve  t r i ed ,  so  we a re  say ing  –  
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we ’ re  jus t  lament ing  the  fac t  tha t  what  we in tended to  do .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR GAMA:    We wanted to  c ross -examine the  w i tness.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  Mr  Gama tha t  –  I ’m  a f ra id  I  don ’ t  

unders tand why you can ’ t  c ross-examine the  w i tness w i th  

re ference to  the  m inutes  o f  the  meet ing  on  the  13 t h  o f  June  

and the  m inutes  o f  the  meet ing  on  the  13 t h  o f  Ju ly,  jus t  as  

you ’ve  ar t i cu la ted  your  case here .  

MR GAMA:    I  th ink  we cou ld  argue th is  ad in f in i tum  Cha i r,  10 

I  have no in ten t ion  to  –  I  can ’ t  take  i t  fu r ther.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    As  I  unders tand i t ,  you  in  fac t ,  w i th  

re fe rence to  the  e lec t ron i c  in fo rmat ion  tha t  the  Commiss ion  

prov ided you w i th ,  you were  ab le  to  work  ou t  tha t  on  the  

13 t h  o f  June you were  a t  the  spec ia l  Board  meet ing  and on  

the  13 t h  o f  Ju ly  you were  a t  a  meet ing  on  the  – w i th  the  

TNPA and tha t  then caused you or  your  a t to rneys  to  ask  

the  Commiss ion  to  p roduce these two se ts  o f  m inutes .   

SG2 and 3  i sn ’ t  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes,  bu t  i t  m igh t  no t  be  –  i t  may not  have 20 

re f lec ted  every th ing  tha t  happened on tha t  par t i cu la r  day.  

For  ins tance,  w i th  what  we have,  I  cou ldn ’ t  be  ab le  to  te l l  

you  why I  was de layed fo r  two hours  a t  the  meet ing  o f  the  

TNPA,  bu t  my d ia ry  p robab ly  wou ld  have done tha t .  So,  

th is  i s  someth ing  –  i t ’s  a  usefu l  too l  bu t  i t  doesn ’ t  ach ieve,  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 158 of 416 
 

comple te ly,  the  ob jec t i ves  fo r  wh ich  I  wanted the  d ia ry  fo r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    O f  course ,  the  po in t  o f  content ion  

there  is  no t  your  t ime o f  a r r i va l  a t  the  meet ing ,  i t ’s  your  

t ime o f  depar tu re  and you say tha t  can be determined w i th  

re ference to  the  m inutes .  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then jus t  to  comple te  th is ,  so  we 

gave you tha t  demonst ra t ion  on  the  11 t h  o f  March then on  

the  18 t h  o f  March,  and you ’ve  exp la ined how th i s  came 

about  w i th  re fe rence to  the  in fo rmat ion  the  Commiss ion  10 

had g iven you,  Mr  Khan…[ in tervenes] .  

MR GAMA:    Sor ry,  can you repeat  tha t ,  sor ry.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    On the  11 t h  o f  March we gave you a  

demonst ra t ion ,  on  the  18 t h  o f  March Mr  Khan requested the  

Commiss ion  to  p rov ide  you w i th  these two se ts  o f  m inutes  

and tha t  –  I ’m  so r ry  tha t  was on the  17 t h  on  March  and on 

the  18 t h  o f  March  Mr  Ben jamin  prov ided them.  You want  to  

see the  emai l  s t r ing ,  o r  w i l l  you  take  my word  fo r  i t ,  here  i t  

i s?  

MR GAMA:    Wel l ,  I  don ’ t  know where  we are  go ing  to  w i th  20 

th is .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Qu i te  s imp le  Mr  Gama,  the  

in fo rmat ion  tha t  you gave i t ’s  –  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  you  

were  prov ided w i th  you used i t  to  es tab l i sh  t ha t  you were  

in  these two meet ings and you asked us  to  p rov ide  you  
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w i th  the  m inutes  and we prov ided them to  you w i th in  one 

day.  

MR GAMA:    And? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You accept  tha t?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    F ine .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  answer  was yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Gama I ’d  l i ke  to  tu rn  to  a  

d i f fe ren t  top ic ,  and I  wou ld  l i ke  to…[ in tervenes] .  

MR GAMA:    I ’m  sor ry  the  document  tha t  has been g iven to  10 

h im must  he  s lo t  i t  in  somewhere  in  the  bund le  or?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  don ’ t  th ink  i t ’s  necessary  DCJ,  i f  

the  chrono logy is  accepted by  Mr  Gama,  tha t  on  the  17 t h  a  

request  was made by  h is  a t to rney fo r  the  two se ts  o f  

m inutes  and on the  18 t h  o f  March the  Commiss ion  prov ided  

h is  a t to rney w i th  the  two se ts  and those are  the  m inutes  

tha t  then,  a re  nex t  to  h is  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Gama,  what  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  do  – 

because i t  becomes impor tan t  fo r  many o f  the  top ics  tha t  20 

we ’ re  go ing  to  address in  due course  i s  to  look  a t  your  ro le  

in  re la t ion  to  the  1064 locomot ives  and perhaps you cou ld  

ass is t  us  w i th  work ing  ou t  exact l y  how you f i t ted  in ,  what  

ro le  you p layed f rom the  beg inn ing  to  the  end.   I s  i t  my 

unders tand ing  tha t  in  a l l  o f  your  in te rac t ions in  re la t ion  to  
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the  1064 locomot ives ,  and there ’s  par t  o f  your  a f f idav i t  tha t  

I ’ l l  take  you to ,  you were ,  a t  a l l  t imes the  Ch ie f  Execut ive  

o f  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l?  

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then –  in  fac t ,  le t  me cor rec t  

myse l f  r igh t  towards the  end you took ce r ta in  dec is ions,  as  

I  reca l l ,  you  were  a t  the  he lm  fo r  example  when the  

re loca t ion  was dea l t  w i th  and you were  a lso  a t  the  he lm  

when the  c lub  loan was secured ,  does tha t  acco rd  w i th  

your  reco l lec t ion?  So tha t  wou ld  have been in  2015?  10 

MR GAMA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  cou ld  you jus t  exp la in  to  the  

Cha i rperson f rom the  beg inn ing ,  how th is  un fo lded,  the  

1064 locomot ives ,  your  ro le  in  i t ,  your  ro le  in  the  bus iness  

case,  your  ro le  in  the  post  tender  negot ia t ions ,  you r  ro le  in  

the  increase in  the  ETC,  f rom the  beg inn ing  to  the  end,  to  

what  you were  members  o f  sub-commi t tees ’ e t ce tera?  

MR GAMA:    Okay,  do  you have a  re ference tha t  we can 

use l i ke  my a f f idav i t  to  dea l  w i th  tha t  i ssue?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The d i f f i cu l t y  w i th  tha t  i s  tha t  i t ’s  20 

dea l t  w i th  so r t  o f  p i t ted  i f  you  know what  I  mean,  in  a  

sense tha t ,  fo r  example ,  i f  you  look a t  page 250.1 .33  you 

ta lk  there ,  about  the  bus iness case and the  hand ing  over  

o f  the  bus iness case.   I s  tha t  a  conven ien t  p lace  to  s ta r t  o r  

do  you want  to  s ta r t  ear l ie r,  dea l ing  w i th  the  market  
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demand s t ra tegy e tce te ra?  

MR GAMA:    That ’s  f ine ,  I  cou ld  g ive  you a  broad brush 

and  maybe what  –  what  cou ld  ass i s t  the  Commiss ion  on  

these mat te rs  i s  an  unders tand ing  o f  the  dec is ion  mak ing  

process and then  we can go in to  –  I  th ink  there  are  th ree  

th ings tha t  we need to  unders tand about  any –  o f  these 

dec is ions.   Whether  i t ’s  the  1064,  the  100,  95  any  

investment  dec is ion .   The f i rs t  th ing  is  tha t  there  is  an  

investment  case tha t  i s  made wh ich  is  a  bus iness case fo r  

the  investment  t o  be  made wh ich  is  ca l led  the  i nvest ing 10 

dec is ion  and tha t  invest ing  dec i s ion  is  normal l y  taken in  a 

contex t  where  a  number  the   o f  assumpt ions must  be  made  

and what  I ’ ve  seen a  lo t  here  happen is  tha t  the re  then 

became a  marr i age between the  assumpt ions and the  

invest ing  dec is ion  in  te rms o f  what  then happened and  

then when peop le  wanted to  make cer ta in  compar isons 

they fa i led  to  ge t  ou t  o f  the  post  in  te rms o f  the  invest ing  

dec is ion  and the  investment  case,  Cha i r.    

So,  as  w i th  the  case w i th  the  1064 –  so  there  was  

an investment  dec i s ion  tha t  was made tha t  the  1064  20 

locomot ive  tha t  must  be  purchased but  even tha t ,  be fore  

you got  to  i t ,  as  Mr  Myburgh ind ica tes ,  Transnet  had a  

locomot ive  lead p lan ,  there  was a  market  demand s t ra tegy  

wh ich  gave the  contex t  to  i t .   The  market  demand s t ra tegy  

sa id ,  how do we  meet  the  demands o f  the  market  w i thout  
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look ing  a t  the  const ra in ts  tha t  we as  Transnet  have in  

te rms o f  how to  f inance a  cap i ta l  investment  p rog ramme.  

So,  I ’ l l  come back to  tha t ,  the  second dec i s ion  is  the 

procu rement  dec i s ion .   The procurement  dec is ion  is  when 

you go out  to  the  market  and you s tar t  the  process  to  f ind 

b idders  tha t  can supp ly  you w i th  th is  equ ipment .  So,  in  th is  

case,  we are  ta lk ing  about  locomot ives .    

That  p rocess is  a  very  separa te  process f rom the  

investment  dec is ion  and typ ica l l y  the  procurement  dec i s ion  

takes p lace a f te r  the  investment  dec is ion  has been made 10 

or  s imu l taneous ly  in  te rms o f  long lead p rocu rement  

p rocesses such as  –  fo r  in f ras t ruc tu re  or  fo r  locomot ive .   

The procurement  dec is ion  is  then p remised on how you ca l l  

fo r  p roposa ls ,  how you ad jud ica te ,  how you qua l i f y  and 

d isqua l i f y,  what  a re  the  f inanc ia l ,  techn ica l ,  commerc ia l  

c r i te r ia  tha t  a re  measured in  o rder  to  a r r i ve  a t  an  

ad jud ica ted  dec is ion  and then the  th i rd  dec is ion  is  the  

f inanc ing  dec is ion .   The  f inanc ing  dec is ion  ta lks  to  how a re  

you go ing  to  f inance the  cap i ta l  investment  p rog ramme.   

The p rogramme is  the  who le  prog ramme so i f  you  have the  20 

MTS,  you have  the  who le  prog ramme but  the  pro jec ts  

w i th in  the  programme and the  cap i ta l  p rogramme.  So,  there 

are  var ious pro jec ts ,  and they are  c lose ly  in te r tw ined 

because fo r  cer ta in  o f  these th ings  i f  you  do ce r ta in  th ings  

here  you must  a lso  do  cer ta in  t h ings the re  so  tha t  you  
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have a  comple te  p ic tu re  in  te rms o f  the  –  what  Mr  

…[ ind is t inc t  –  d ropped vo ice ] .  

The f inanc ing  dec i s ion  ta lks  to  whether  you are  

go ing  to  f inance in -house,  f rom your  own cash f low,  a l l  o f  

the  cap i ta l  o r  whether  you are  go ing  to  bor row some o f  the 

money,  and i t  a lso  takes in to  account  the  per iod  w i th in  

wh ich  you a re  go ing  to  …[ ind i s t inc t ]  the  assets .   So,  fo r  

ins tance you cannot  go  fo r  a  bank overdra f t  i f  you  are  

go ing  to  f inance an asset  tha t  has  an  asset  l i fecyc le  o f  20  

or  30  years ,  so  then you t ry  to  match  your  asset  tha t  you  10 

are  acqu i r ing  w i th  the  f inanc ia l  ins t rument  tha t  i s  

commisera te  w i th  tha t .   There  is  a  de l ineat ion  in  Transnet  

in  te rms o f  who does what .  So,  fo r  me as  a  lowly  ra i lway 

man who is  jus t  t ry ing  to  –  my job  in  Transnet  was to  meet  

cus tomer  expecta t ions.   Customers  want  to  move a  product  

f rom po in t  A to  po in t  B .   What  we found was,  the  assets  

were  too  o ld ,  locomot ives  were  more  than 35 years  o ld ,  

they fa i led  a l l  the  t ime,  a  t r ip  to  Durban wh ich  cou ld  

ord inar i l y  by  t ra in  take  12 hours  wou ld  take  35 hours .   You  

can ’ t  run  an  economy when producers  and consumers  20 

cannot  no t ,  w i th in  reason –  w i th  reasonab le  expecta t ion  

know what  t ime the i r  cargo w i l l  be  the re  because peop le  

are  chas ing  jus t  in  t ime pr inc ip les ,  the i r  p roduct ion  –  there  

are  fac tor i es  tha t  need cer ta in  raw mater ia l s  to  go  in to  a  

process in  o rder  fo r  them to  run .  
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So ,  as  a  resu l t ,  even though ra i lways are  cheaper  

than t rucks  or  road,  peop le  ended up t ranspor t ing  a  vast  

number  o f  tonnages v ia  the  road because o f  the  lack  o f  the 

re l iab i l i t y  o f  the  ra i l .   What  had t r iggered is ,  there  was a  

ser ious under  investment  wh ich  had happened  over  a  

per iod  o f  t ime in  the  ra i lway,  in  fac t  the  las t  locomot ives  

tha t  had been acqu i red  were  around 1972 wh ich  was a  

prob lem and tha t ’s  why you were  now hav ing  a  process and 

a  sys tem where  you had locomot i ves  tha t  fa i led  because  

they were  too  o ld .   They had gone th rough mid l i fe  re f i t s  10 

and some o f  the  par ts  tha t  were  requ i red  were  no  longer  

there .   Some o f  these locomot ives  are  no  longer  even in  

manufac ture  bu t  Transnet  was s t i l l  runn ing  them.  

So,  what  ended up happen ing  is  tha t  i f  you  had 20  

locomot ives  runn ing  you wou ld  park  2  locomot ives  f rom 

which  you wou ld  take  some par t s  to  use on the  o thers  

because there ’s  nowhere  e l se  tha t  you are  go ing  to  f ind  

these par ts ,  they are  now obso le te .   So,  tha t  was the  

s i tua t ion  tha t  we  were  in ,  bu t  we  were  a l so  say ing  tha t  i f  

we wanted to  c rea te  a  wor ld  c lass ,  compet i t i ve  l og is t i c  20 

sys tem for  our  count ry,  re l iab i l i t y  i s  a t  the  top  end o f  the  

sys tem tha t  you need to  c rea te  and in  o rder  to  be  re l iab le  

you need locomot ives  tha t  have fewer  fau l t s  per  100 000 

ton  k i lomet res  as  much as  poss ib le .   Ours  was jus t  s imp ly  

ou t  o f  the  range tha t  you cou ld  have your  c l ien t s  to  have 
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any  fo rm o f  conf idence in  the  sys tem tha t  you had and as  a  

resu l t ,  there fo re ,  the  ra i lway was  jus t  no t  re l iab le  and we 

found tha t  more  and more  t rucks  were  on  the  road and tha t  

causes a lso ,  un to ld  i ssues.  

So,  we as  the  peop le  who then ,  had to  dea l  w i th  the  

c l ien ts ,  we requ i red  to  have these assets  tha t  wou ld  g ive  a  

measure  o f  respectab i l i t y  to  the  promise  tha t  we made to 

customers .   So,  we,  the  lowly  ra i lway peop le  were  on ly  

rea l l y  in te res ted  in  acqu i r i ng  these  assets  so  tha t  we cou ld  

pu t  them in to  opera t ions and run  them.   The group  had to 10 

fund and f inance  th is ,  they have t reasury  opera t ions and  

f inance peop le  who are  h i red  to  do  th is .   Then the  o ther  

th ing  tha t  we were  then do ing  was to  then be invo lved in  

the  procurement  p rocess.  The procurement  p rocess  has go t  

i t s  own p rocedures manua l  in  t e rms o f  how i t  works .   So  

you ’ re  look ing  a t  the  in te rp lay  o f  these three processes.   

The invest ing decision we could not  make at  our  div is ion 

because what we needed to buy was just  s imply too large for  

our delegated author i ty or anyth ing so this was probably I  

th ink Transnet had a R300 bi l l ion market  demand st rategy I  20 

cannot remember the actual  number I  th ink i t  went  to about  

350 and these locomot ives that  we wanted to acquire were 

est imated at  roughly about  40 bi l l ion of  that  which was about 

15 to 18% of  the – the total  of  Transnet.    

So Transnet  had to look at  th is very closely so the 
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investment decis ion therefore a lso had to take p lace at  

board level  in fact  i t  took place at  minister ia l  level  because 

of  the – the size of  i t  and there were PFMA issues.   So I  

th ink that  is the context  wi thin  which these key decisions had 

to be made.   

So Transnet  Freight  Rai l  worked on the investment 

case up to a certain point  and the Transnet said okay thank 

you very much we think we l ike what you want to achieve 

however i t  is too big for you so we run wi th i t  on your  behal f .   

We would l ike your input  f rom t ime to t ime so give us some 10 

support  people that  we can l ia ise wi th that  wi l l  deal  wi th 

these issues but  we wi l l  a lso get  external  people to assist  us 

because i t  is just  s imply too big.    

And so that  is what they did.   So that  was the 

investment decision unt i l  the t ime when i t  went  to board f rom 

the board i t  went  to the ministers and then i t  was approved.   

So that  was the aspect  that  we deal t  wi th at  TFR.   So we 

came up wi th  a business case up to a part icular level  when 

we presented i t  to what is  ca l led the Group Capi tal  

Investment Commit tee.    20 

Af ter the Group Capi tal  Investment Commit tee then 

the Group CFO then had to take this and run wi th i t  and do 

al l  of  the di fferent  th ings that  had to be done l ike the capi ta l  

assurance,  the r isk management f ramework etcetera around 

i t  leading to the board the decisions to hatch al l  o f  those 
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th ings.    

 But  then the second decis ion that  we were involved 

in as TFR was the pre-payment.   So our chief  procurement 

off icer  then was g iven the author i ty v ia the board also just  to 

go to the board f i rst  to say now you can in i t iate and you can 

start  the process.   And then we had to go back to the board 

and say these are the commit tees that  we wi l l  put  in place in 

order for us to be able to del iver.  

 Then TFR also ran wi th the procurement process.   

We then have high value tender teams which is an audi t  10 

funct ion and a compl iance funct ion that  looks at  every step 

of  the way as you deal  wi th th is and t icks an say okay you 

can go to  the next  step you have ful f i l led sat isfactory these 

part icular steps.  

 The thi rd one which is the f inancing one which 

involved how you f inance i t  that  is  way over our league at  

the – that  is what the Group funct ion and f inance and 

t reasury typical ly  deal t  wi th al though they would ask us for  

input  in terms of  i f  we produce so many per year  how much 

money would you need in that  year to – in order to be able to  20 

f inance and pay?  

 So I  th ink that  prov ides context  Chair  and then we 

can then go into the actual… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Speci f ics and the processes.  

MR GAMA:   The actual  speci f ic th ings but  then I  th ink once 
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we have understood that  – I  th ink speci f ical ly when you do 

the investment decision you – you make al l  k inds of  

assumpt ion f rom a clean slate or f rom certain things that  you 

know.   

 You might  f ind that  by the t ime you get  to the end of  

the process that  which you thought you know you f ind that  

you only know –knew 50 or 60% of  i t  and then you have to 

deal  wi th i t  so you end up wi th what is  cal led an est imate of  

the investment in terms of  what i t  is  going to cost .  

 And then once you do the procurement  decision the 10 

procurement decision is the one that  gives you the actual  

cost  that  you are going to deal  wi th and then the f inal  step 

wi l l  then come in because I  can give you an actual  today to 

say i f  we bought al l  of  them today i t  is going to cost  us so 

much we knew that  out  of  the – out  of  the procurement 

process.   But  then you need the clever f inance people to  

then say to you okay i f  i t  is going to be del ivered over a 

seven year per iod and you have to borrow money what does 

that  mean; what is i t  that  we wi l l  have to do?   

Then they ta lk about  the net  present  value or the 20 

future value of  the present  cash f lows and i t  gets – i t  gets 

compl icate we never real ly got  too involved in i t .   They would 

tel l  us what i t  was and we would accept  what they tel l  us 

because that  is  what they do every day – that  is – that  is  

their  job.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   So I  just  wanted to look then at  

the f i rst  phase as you ca l l  i t  – the business case or 

investment decision.   Could I  just  take you to certain  parts of  

your  aff idavi t  p lease?  At  page 250.133 and I  am talk ing now 

of  your th i rd aff idavi t .    

CHAIRPERSON:   And that  is at  Bundle 7? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bundle 7 Chai rperson.   Are you there 

Mr Gama? 

MR GAMA:   Yes I  am.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now just  to thrash out  what you have 

been saying about  the business case.   At  9.3:  

“The 1064 locomot ive business case was 

developed at  TFR where af ter i t  was handed 

over to head off ice.”  

MR GAMA:   Correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then you go on to say:  

“ In terms of  the development of  the business 

case for the 1064 locomot ives wi l l  probably 

be between six  and ten ind ividuals that  20 

contr ibuted to the development of  the 

business case.   The team was coordinated by 

Cal lard whose main role was to ensure that  

the business case was coherent  and that  i t  

integrated var ious e lements of  business,  
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f inancial ,  commercial ,  technical  as wel l  as 

operat ional  capabi l i t ies wi thin TFR with a 

view to opt imise in the f leet . ”  

At  9.5.  

“The business case was f ina l ised by TFR 

somet ime in 2012 and then submit ted the 

Group Finance divis ion of  Transnet SOC 

Limited which then appointed McKinsey as 

wel l  as other  t ransact ion advisors that  would 

assist  Transnet in acquisi t ion of  the 1064 10 

locomot ives. ”  

 So I  just  wanted to conf i rm with you these t ransact ion 

advisors they were not  appointed at  TFR level  they were 

appointed at  Transnet level  af ter  the business case was 

handed over to them, is that  correct? 

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then you say at  9.6:  

“Once the business case had been handed 

over f rom TFR divis ion to head off ice the 

business case became the responsibi l i ty of  20 

head off ice.”  

MR GAMA:   Correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You say at  9.7:  

“Between May 2012 and Apri l  2013 the 

business case was deal t  wi th by the Group 
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Chief  Financial  Off icer at  the t ime Anoj  Singh 

and Mohammedy as the General  Manager 

responsible for  capi tal  assurance and 

integrat ion”  

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then you say at  9.8:  

“ In  the main Cal lard and Pi l lay together wi th  

others f rom the TFR div is ion cont inued to 

support  and assist  McKinsey and the 

Transnet  group in terms of  providing 10 

professional  input  concerning technical  

informat ion that  was requi red. ”  

 And then i f  I  can take you to 10.1 you say the same 

thing:  

“The in i t ia l  business case was prepared by 

TFR.”  

At  10.2:  

“The business case was submit ted to Group 

Finance and f rom the t ime that  i t  was 

presented as a business case at  the Transnet  20 

Capi tal  Investment Commit tee Group Finance 

advised that  they were appoint ing McKinsey 

to evaluate the business case. ”  

And you make the point  again at  11.2:  

“The appointment of  t ransact ion advisors 
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took place at  Group head off ice level . ”  

Over the page you were not  – 12.1:  

“Party to the appointment of  ei ther  McKinsey 

nor Regiments. ”  

MR GAMA:   Correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then I  just  wanted you to conf i rm 

13.2:  

“ I  conf i rm that  Singh performed the key 

oversight  role and I  in my capaci ty as CEO of  

TFR during the per iod May 2012 to Apri l  10 

2014 provided him with support  in the form of  

Human Resources f rom with in  the TFR 

divis ion.”  

MR GAMA:   Correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And the relevance of  those dates May 

2012 when the in i t ia l  business case was presented and Apri l  

2013 when the board conf i rmed i t .  

MR GAMA:   Sorry where are you now? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The signi f icance of  the date May 2012 

to Apri l  2013.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Paragraph 20.2.  

MR GAMA:   Yes the s igni f icance of  that  date is that  in May 

2012 is when we basical ly took the investment case to the 

Transnet Capi tal  Investment Commit tee and af ter May 2012 

when they the group off ice then accepted the business case 
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they then said look we need to evaluate and assess this 

business case.   I t  took them then the bet ter part  of  the next  

twelve months to do exact ly that .   And then in Apri l  2013 the 

board approved the business case.  That  is the sign i f icance 

of  those dates.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then i f  I  could take you Mr Gama 

because you – a lot  of  th is is then repeated but  gathered 

together are then qui te useful ly.   At  page 250.169 – 169 

under the heading Acquisi t ion of  the 1064 diesel  and electr ic  

locomot ives.  10 

MR GAMA:   169? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   169 yes.   Paragraph 78 you conf i rm 

that  you were then the Chief  Execut ive Off icer dur ing the 

acquisi t ion phase.   You talk about  a team f rom TRF having 

been responsible.    

At  78.3 over the page:  

“Once the investment case was adopted by 

Capi tal  i ts future management was assumed 

by Mr Singh the GCFO of  Transnet.   You 

submit ted the investment case to the Group 20 

Execut ive Commit tee.   Once approved by the 

Execut ive Commit tee i t  was considered by 

the GCEO who recommended i t  to BADC 

whose chairperson in turn recommended the 

investment case to the board. ”  
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I  just  want to go through those – those steps i f  I  may? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So could you just  perhaps expand 

upon those var ious di fferent  levels and the role of  the Chief  

Execut ive,  the role of  BADC and then the role of  the board in  

re lat ion to the business case.  

MR GAMA:   So i f  – i f  we use 78.3 as a – as a pi l lar.   So the 

Capi tal  Investment Commit tee is charged with looking at  the 

investment case.   The people at  Group Finance would then 

look at  i t  they assess and evaluate under the leadership of  10 

the Group Chief  Financia l  Off icer.   

Once they are sat isf ied wi th i t  they do many tests 

f inancial  and r isk f ramework tests.   Once they are sat isf ied 

wi th i t  then i t  moves upstai rs to the Group Execut ive 

Commit tee for approval  or recommendat ion.  The Group 

Execut ive Commit tee is the highest  decision making audi  

amongst  the execut ives and is  chai red by the Chief  

Execut ive Off icer.   Once the Group Execut ive Commit tee has 

then deal t  wi th i t  then the GCE has to engage the board 

commit tees.    20 

So in th is case i t  had to go to the board Acquisi t ion 

And Disposals Commit tee.   And once the board Acquisi t ion 

And Disposals Commit tee has approved or  got  i t  

recommended to i t  then that  chairperson of  that  commit tee or 

that  sub-commit tee of  the board would then recommend the 
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investment case to the board i tsel f .    

And in  th is  case af ter the board has approved i t  a lso 

needed to go to the – to the Minis ter because i t  exceeded 

the delegated f ramework wi thin which the board could 

approve.  I  th ink the board could approve around R4 bi l l ion 

so anything above the R4 bi l l ion has to go to the Minis ter.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So I  just  wanted to ask you about th is 

BADC as we cal l  i t  the BADC.  That  we know is a commit tee 

of  the board,  correct? 

MR GAMA:   That  is correct .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And typical ly who would – who would 

si t  on the BADC?  How many members would i t  have? 

MR GAMA:   Probably four or f ive non-execut ive board 

members would s i t  in there and then the GCFO and the GCE 

were ex-off ic ia l  members of  that  commit tee.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Of  the BADC?  So that  would have 

been up unt i l  they went – they were seconded to Eskom 

would i t  be Mr Molefe and Mr S ingh? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And how is  the chairperson of  the 20 

BADC appointed do you know? 

MR GAMA:   I  do not  know probably by the chairperson of  the 

board.   I  am not  sure.   I  have seen in certain  instances 

where I  th ink there were two separate processes that  get  

fo l lowed in th is type of  th ing.    
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Amongst  the non-execut ives they would si t  and they 

wi l l  say we have f ive commit tees in the board we need a 

chairperson of  each and then they would decide amongst  

themselves who was going to chai r  th is one.   But  I  know that  

two commit tees which is the HR and Remunerat ion 

Commit tee even af ter they have agreed they have to send 

that  to the Minister to approve.    

So that  – that  is the HR and RAMCO as wel l  as the 

Audi t  and Risk Commit tee I  th ink those ones the Minister  

then gives f inal  approval  of  who wi l l  chair  that .   So the 10 

chairperson of  the board wi l l  then provide the Minister  to say 

these are the people who wi l l  be the members and th is is the 

person who wi l l  be the chairman and then in terms of  

corporate governance we wi l l  a lso share a very br ief  CV of  

each of  the members.   But  most  of  the t ime the – because in 

Transnet  the board members are al l  appointed by the 

Minister so the Minister would have had some of  the CV’s of  

these people before they were appointed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Gama just  picking up f rom that  

we were at  78.3 and explained that  to us and then what you 20 

deal  wi th is the evolut ion of  the business case.   I f  I  could 

take you to page 171 you wi l l  see about  seven l ines down on 

the r ight  hand side:  

“On 25 Apri l  2014 one year af ter we handed 

over the process to the Group the board 
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approved the business case. ”  

So i t  culminated in board approval  is that  correct? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then you go onto say at  78.6 and 

you have already addressed this:  

“Once the business case was approved the 

procurement process was in i t iated.”  

I  just  want to ask you a few quest ions about that .   From what 

we have heard the procurement process the in i t iat ion of  i t  

you have the issuing of  RFP’s,  you have that  process in  10 

closing and then you have var ious stages the tender 

evaluat ion stage,  the BAFO stage,  best  and f inal  offer and 

the PTN Post  Tender Negot iat ion phase and that  then 

ul t imately resul ts in the conclusion of  what I  wi l l  refer to as 

LSA’s Locomot ive Supply Agreements.    Are they – is that  a  

correct  l ineat ion of  the var ious phases?  Tender evaluat ion,  

BAFO and PTN stage? 

MR GAMA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja.   Now who was – you say that  Mr 

Jiyane TFR was involved in that  procurement process.  20 

MR GAMA:   Yes Mr Jiyane was the overseer of  the 

procurement process.   Within the procurement process I  

th ink they were c lose to I  might  be wrong maybe 120 who 

deal t  wi th the approving.   And each of  these in  – maybe 

there were six or  seven di fferent  commit tees each of  them 
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had a chairperson.    

So there would be a chairperson for  the commercia l  

st ream and so that  educate they have got  certain things that  

they are looking for.   There is a chai rperson for the f inancia l 

st ream.  There would be a chai rperson for the technical  

st ream.  There would be a chai rperson for the suppl ier  

development st ream.  There were also BBBEE and equi ty  

sort  of  requi rements that  were required in that .    

So I  do not  know i f  I  have done just ice to the 

di fferent  commit tees but  then those chai rpersons const i tuted 10 

what was ca l led the tender evaluat ion team.  And each of  

those then reported to Jiyane.    

A longside that  was the high value tender evaluat ion 

team which is the independent team of  experts and people 

that  have got  audi t  and compl iance ski l ls and they wi l l  look 

at  the procedures manual .   They w i l l  look at  the ent i re  RFP 

to say what does i t  say and how do certain th ings happen.   

They wi l l  look at  any deviat ion that  needs to be made and 

they wi l l  make recommendat ions and they wi l l  say okay this  

deviat ion you can make but  go back to whoever is the 20 

delegated author i ty to give you the proper delegat ion to do i t  

etcetera,  etcetera.    

So in total  I  th ink roughly let  me just  say between 60 

and maybe 120 d i fferent  people I  have seen their  names in 

one of  the documents that  shows the di fferent  commit tees.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  I  do not  know i f  the number is  that  

important  but  I  understood in your aff idavi t  you talked about  

40 but  we wi l l  come to that .  

MR GAMA:   Ja I  am – I  am not  sure.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sure.  

MR GAMA:   That  is why I  am saying.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  th ink they referred to as cross – 

cross-funct ional .  

MR GAMA:   Yes cross-funct ional  team there is one for  

f inance,  commercial  etcetera some were smal ler some were 10 

bigger.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .  

MR GAMA:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now Mr Gama perhaps just  before we 

end off  for the day let  me just  ask you this.   Was the – would 

there then be a t ime where short  – there would be a short  

l ist  of  b idders and that  – that  prel iminary choice or 

assessment would have to be approved again by the BADC 

and the board before one entered the post - tender 

negot iat ion? 20 

MR GAMA:   I t  depends on the delegat ion that  was made at  

the t ime that  the investment decision is made.  So the board 

would give the GCE a delegat ion they wi l l  say we g ive you 

delegat ion to go out  on tender which is the procurement 

process.   I f  they want the GCE to short l ist  they would also 
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say that .    

And then they wi l l  say af ter you have short l isted  

come back to us for further delegat ion – share wi th us who 

you have short l isted etcetera and we can then make a 

decision in terms of  what the next  s teps ought to be.   So that  

is normal ly the process.    

Somet imes they wi l l  say GCE we give you the 

author i ty to go out  on tender,  short l ist ,  approve a suppl ier 

and come and share wi th us who the chosen suppl ier is  

based on your PPM. 10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now Mr Gama I  understand that  you 

would not  have been involved yoursel f  in the tender 

evaluat ion process but  that  you were involved in the post -

tender negot iat ions,  is that  correct? 

MR GAMA:   Yes I  was chosen or nominated as i t  were to  be 

part  of  the post - tender negot iat ions.   I  had a very fancy t i t le  

of  them the co-chai r  of  the negot iat ing commit tee and what i t  

real ly meant was that  i f  dur ing the negot iat ions there was 

anything that  the negot iat ing teams needed clar i ty on or i f  

there were deadlocks wi th suppl iers etcetera they could 20 

come to me and explain the problem and I  could then si t  wi th 

them and say okay go about i t  th is way,  look at  i t  in di fferent  

ways.    

As i t  turned out  I  was never approached at  any point  

by the teams to say we have deadlocked somewhere we 
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need your input  or counsel  or certa in amount of  wisdom.  I t  

d id not  real ly happen there.    

I  th ink at  each stage they came back and said we are 

now at  th is stage this is what we are doing.   They – i t  was 

more – i t  became just  more of  an informat ion shar ing th ing.   

I  never found mysel f  having to get  stuck in any kind of 

negot iat ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So who – who were the other  members 

of  the Locomot ive Steer ing Commit tee? 

MR GAMA:   The Locomot ive Steer ing Commit tee was 10 

chaired by the GCE.  I  was a member,  the GCFO was a 

member.    I  th ink legal  and compl iance was a member.   

Probably internal  audi t  and I  th ink J iyani  was an ex-off ic ia l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then what has also surfaced in  

evidence is a sub-commit tee of  the Locomot ive Steer ing 

Commit tee.   Do you recal l  such a body comprising yoursel f ,  

Mr Molefe and Mr Singh? 

MR GAMA:   Ja I  would not  say i t  is a sub-commit tee but  I  

th ink that  was the commit tee and then some of  the people 

who were ad-hoc members.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A lr ight .   And so you deal  wi th your ro le  

perhaps I  could just  take you so we can f in ish th is off  to 

page 250.165 paragraph 70.1.   You say:  

“ I  was indeed a member of  the Locomot ive 

Steer ing Commit tee i t  was Br ian Molefe who 
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designated me as co-chai r  of  the negot iat ing 

commit tee.   I  d id not  part ic ipate in any 

negot iat ions as al leged or at  al l  whi lst  I  d id  

in fact  offer to assist  wi th any deadlock or  

dispute – disputes that  arose dur ing the 

negot iat ion process.   I  was at  no stage 

requested into nor  to assist . ”  

 When you talk about  – sorry would you conf i rm that? 

MR GAMA:   I  conf i rm that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   When you ta lk about  the co-chair  who 10 

was the other – the other co-chair? 

MR GAMA:   I t  was Mr S ingh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Singh.   And who then you say you – 

you did not  become involved in the negot iat ions who actual ly  

ran and conducted them? 

MR GAMA:   In  the main Mr S ingh was actual ly based at  the 

place where the negot iat ions took p lace but  I  th ink he would 

be the one who would indicate whether he was ever 

approached in terms of  the negot iat ion process but  J iyane 

oversaw aspects of  i t .   At  the negot iat ion there were var ious 20 

teams.   

There was I  know that  there was a team that  looked 

af ter the Transnet Engineering sub-contract .   There were 

f inancial  teams but  in the main i t  was a lot  of  the same 

people who were at  the adjudicat ion who were also 
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negot iat ing.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Chai rperson I  see i t  is just  af ter f ive i f  

th is is a convenient  t ime to end the dayt ime session.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Unfortunately some of  us must  go into the 

evening session.   Yes I  th ink let  us adjourn the day session 

at  th is stage.   I  th ink that  in terms of  where we are wi th  

regard to Mr Gama’s ev idence Fr iday we are where we last  

discussed in chambers.   I  do not  know whether  in the 

meant ime there is  anything you wish to project  to me that  is  

ei ther yoursel f  or your ( ta lk ing over one another)  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Only – the only th ing that  I  can report  

back to you f rom my side is Mr Oldwadge wi l l  te l l  you of  his  

posi t ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Is that  apparent ly Mr . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Molefe.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Molefe is f lexible.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   As you know he is scheduled for  

Thursday night .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   He has indicated potent ia l ly – we 

haven’ t  taken i t  any further w i th  h im.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay a l r igh t .   Okay.   We leave i t  on  the  

bas is  tha t  on  your  s ide  somet ime on Thursday  or  the  
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even ing  sess ion  or  somet ime on Thursday we can make  

t ime fo r  Mr  Gama to  cont inue h is  ev idence even i f  i t  i s  fo r  

the  number  o f  hours  t ha t  h i s  counse l  wou ld  no t  be  

ava i lab le  on  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cha i r  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .on  Fr iday morn ing  and then cont inue 

a t  a  cer ta in  t ime on Fr iday sub jec t  to  what  they have to  

say.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cha i rperson,  I  th ink  he  wants  to  

address you on tha t .   As I  unders tand tha t  the i r  pos i t ion  10 

remains .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  i s  e i ther  Thursday and no Fr iday.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Or  i t  i s  Fr iday.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then,  o f  course ,  w i th  the  d i f f i cu l t y  o f  

Mr  O ldwadge not  be ing  he re  bu t  can I  le t  you  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  tha t  i s  f ine .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . . can  he address you?  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Before  –  he  m ight  be  

ab le  to  address us  bu t  I  wanted to  hear  your  s ide .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  you had made tha t  o f fe r.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  ab le  to  make tha t  to  may be to  

be  a  pos i t ion  tha t  f rom the  Lega l  Team’s  s ide  and the  

Commiss ion ’s  s ide  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .once the  Pres ident ’s  ev idence on  

Thursday is  done,  we cou ld  cont inue w i th  Mr  Gama’s  

ev idence,  whether  we have res t r i c ted  i t  to  a  par t i cu la r  

number  o f  hours  to  make sure  tha t  we do not  lose  t ime tha t  

wou ld  have been used on Fr iday morn ing .   From your  s ide ,  10 

tha t  i s  ava i lab le .   Then he can ind ica te  what  h is  pos i t ion  

is .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay a l r i gh t .   Counse l  fo r  Mr  Gama,  are  

you ab le  to  say anyth ing  about  the  pos i t ion?  

ADV OLDWAGE :    Mr  Cha i r,  I  do  no t  want  to  burden the  

record  w i th  the  repet i t ion  o f  what  i t  i s  tha t  I  communica ted  

to  you in  chambers .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  

ADV OLDWAGE :    Regre t tab le ,  my pos i t ion  is  tha t  I  must  20 

commi t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV OLDWAG E :    . . . f rom a  t im ing  pe rspect ive  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  
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ADV OLDWAGE :    . . . to  another  f i rm o f  a t to rneys by  v i r tue  

o f  a  mat te r  I  have in  cour t  on  Fr iday.   I  d id  commun ica te  to  

Mr  Myburgh . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV OLD WAGE :    . . . tha t  I  need to  know we l l  in  advance.   

So i f  i t  i s  no t  a  s i tua t ion ,  I  must  know by,  perhaps,  

tomorrow a f te rnoon.   I  have to  commi t  my t ime e lsewhere .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I  th ink  as  fa r  as  

I  am concerned.   One,  Fr iday proceeds as  p lanned,  s ta r t ing  

usua l  s ta r t ing  t ime.   However,  we cou ld  s ta r t  la te r  than the  10 

usua l  t ime to  accommodate  counse l  fo r  Mr  Gama i f  on  

Thursday they a re  ava i lab le  fo r  us  to  make su re  whatever  

t ime we wou ld  lose  on Fr iday is  used on Thursday but  i f ,  

obv ious ly,  they are  no t  ava i lab le  to  take  advan tage o f  

Thursday,  then the  pos i t ion  wou ld  remain  –  Fr iday remains  

as  was pr io r  to  today.   Okay a l r i gh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    We wi l l  then ad jou rn  fo r  about  10 ,  15-

minutes .   Wi l l  ten  m inutes  do  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  th ink  i t  shou ld ,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ten minutes ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    We jus t  need to  es tab l i sh  a  remote  

l ink  to  Mr  So lomon.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay.   Maybe we w i l l  say  15-

minutes .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Jus t  to  be  on  the  sa fe  s ide .   We wi l l  

ad journ  fo r  15-minutes  and then we w i l l  then s ta r t  w i th  the  

even ing  sess ion .   We ad jou rn .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON :    Good a f te rnoon ,  good even ing  to  those  

who may not  have been us  dur ing  the  day sess ion .   

Mr  Myburgh,  a re  you ready?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  we are .   Thank you,  10 

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cha i rperson,  as  you know,  th is  i s  an  

app l i ca t ion  brought  by  Mr  G igaba.   You shou ld  have  the  f i le  

in  f ron t  o f  you.   I t  i s  –  i t  bears  the  re ference 

SEQ18/20/2021 and in  essence i t  i s  an  app l i ca t i on  fo r  a  

de terminat ion  tha t  Ms Gigaba ’s  a f f idav i t  be  f ind  to  be  

inadmiss ib le .   In  the  a l te rna t ive  tha t  Mr  G igaba ’s  s ta tement  

o f  response to  be  admi t ted  and tha t  bo th  h i s  ev idence and 

tha t  o f  Ms Gigaba be heard  i n  camera  and not  d isc losed to  20 

the  pub l i c  o ther  than to  the  ex ten t  to  wh ich  you re fer red  to  

i t  in  your  f ina l  repor t  and tha t  Mr  G igaba is  g ran ted leave 

to  c ross -examine Ms Gigaba.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr  G igaba is  represented by  
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Mr  So lomons who is  remote l y  l inked but  you w i l l  see  tha t  

he  is  there .   Oh,  here  he  comes.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And w i th  your  d i rec t ion  and  leave,  

Cha i rperson  I  assume you wou ld  want  Mr  So lomon to  

address you on the  app l i ca t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes but  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And tha t  he  wou ld  then respond.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Le t  us  do  tha t .   Wel l ,  be fore  we do tha t .   

Ms Magma’s  lega l  rep resenta t i ves ,  i f  they  w ish  to  p lace  

themse lves on  record  in  regard  to  th is  app l i ca t ion  or  they 

want  to  do  so  on ly  in  regard  to  the  lead ing  o f  ev idence? 

ADV S LEBAGENG :    Thank you very  much,  Cha i r.   We do  

p lace ourse lves  on  reco rd .   My name is  S imbat i (? )  

Lebageng(?) .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV S LEBAGENG :    I  am f rom . . . [ ind is t inc t ] .   

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  20 

ADV S LEBAGENG :    I  am wi th  my a t to rney,  Ms Qua l i (? )  

and indeed Ms Gigaba is  he re  w i th  us .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV S LEBAGENG :    And inso far  as  the  app l i ca t ion  is  

concerned by  Ms  Gigaba.   I  am in fo rmed -  I  have  a  le t te r  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 189 of 416 
 

tha t  was sent  p r i o r  to  the  Commiss ion  and to  the i r  Lega l  

Team ind ica t ing  tha t  Ms Gigaba w i l l  no t  oppose and w i l l  

s imp ly  ab ide  by  the  dec i s ion  o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV S LEBAGENG :    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    A l r igh t .   Good a f te rnoon,  good even ing ,  

Mr  So lomons.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Good even ing ,  Cha i r.   I  appear  in  th is  

mat te r  together  w i th  my learned f r iend,  Mr  Gumby(? )  

[00 :03 :23]  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    For  the  app l i cant  in  the  app l i ca t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Cha i r,  we w i l l  a lso  re fe r  jus t  shor t l y  

be fore  the  commencement  o f  these proceed ings w i th  a  

le t te r  wh ich  was apparent ly  addressed to  the  Commiss ion  

f rom Ms Gigaba ’s  lega l  rep resenta t i ve .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV SOLOMONS :    We were  a l so  aware  tha t  on  the  las t  

occas ion  when our  app l i ca t ion  was due to  be  heard  and 20 

Ms Gigaba was due to  lead ev idence,  tha t  another  le t te r  

was read out  by  her  a t to rney on  her  beha l f ,  se t t ing  ou t  tha t  

she d id  no t  w ish  to  par t i c i pa te  fu r ther  in  the  p roceed ings.    

 So cer ta in  o f  the  a l legat ions tha t  a re  conta ined  

in  ou r  app l i ca t ion  and cer ta in  o f  the  submiss ions  have,  to  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 190 of 416 
 

some exten t ,  been superseded and we wou ld  submi t  Cha i r,  

bo ls te red by  the  a t t i tude o f  Ms Gigaba as  se t  ou t  in  the  two 

le t te rs  tha t  have  been presented  to  you.   We have done  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  jus t  hang on one second.    

ADV SOLOMONS :    . . . fu r ther  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Sor ry,  Mr  So lomons.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Yes?  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am aware  tha t  there  i s  a  cer ta in  le t te r,  

a  long le t te r  tha t  was shown to me th is  af te rnoon 10 

Ms Magma’s  a t to rneys.   I t  i s  too  long fo r  me to  read or  i t  

was too  long fo r  me to  read w i th in  tha t  tea  break.   So I  d id  

see ce r ta in  pa r t  o f  i t ,  very  l i t t le .   I  have not  read i t .   I  do 

no t  know –  I  d id  no t  ge t  the  impress ion  tha t  i t  i s  essent ia l  

to  read i t  be fore  the  hear ing .   A t  any ra te ,  i t  came la te .    

 So I  do  no t  take  i t  as  par t  o f  th is  app l i ca t ion ,  nor  

do  I  take  tha t  o ther  le t te r  tha t  was  read out  on  tha t  day as  

par t  o f  th is  app l i ca t ion .   I  be l ieve  tha t  what  I  have got  here  

is  s imp ly  the  papers  as  they s tood  n  tha t  day.   Whether  o r  

no t  anyth ing  has been f i led  s ince  then,  I  am not  aware  and  20 

cer ta in ly  I  have  not  been to ld .   So I  am very  keen  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am very  keen tha t  we use the  t ime we  

have to  dea l  w i th  the  app l i ca t ion  because i f  the  pos i t ion  is  
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tha t  we w i l l  o r  tha t  we end up hav ing  to  hear  her  ev idence,  

we need a l l  the  t ime tha t  we can have.   So I  jus t  ment ion  

tha t  so  as  you address me you know what  i t  i s  tha t  I  have 

read and what  i t  is  tha t  I  have not  read.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.   DCJ,  may I  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    Yes,  Cha i r  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Sor ry,  Mr  So lomons.   I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh  

want  say  someth ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No,  sor ry.   I  am ter r ib le  sor ry  to  

in te r rup t  bu t  I  have been asked tha t  Mr  So lomons  p lease  10 

c lean h i s  camera  i f  poss ib le  because the  techn ica l  peop le  

say the  p ic tu re  i s  very  fudged.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.   D id  you hear  tha t  Mr  

So lomons?  

ADV SOLOMONS :    I  heard .   I  w i l l  t ry  and ask  fo r  someone 

ass is tance.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   But  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    Can I  address you?  

CHAIRPERSON :    We –  I  can see you.   Yes,  cont inue.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Thank you.   Cha i r,  what  you have jus t  20 

p laced on record  crea tes  some d i f f i cu l t y  fo r  me and my  

c l ien t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV SOLOMONS :    In  th is  sense.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  
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ADV SOLOMONS :    We do be l ieve  tha t  the  l e t te r  tha t  we  

jus t  rece ived now is  impor tan t .   I t  was jus t ,  l i t e ra l l y,  sent  to  

us  a  few moments  ago.   We do be l ieve  i t  i s  impor tan t  

because i t  no t  on ly  bo l s te rs  my c l ien t ’s  app l i ca t ion  bu t  i t ,  

in  a  sense,  the  suppor ts  the  needs fo r  the  re l ie f  tha t  we 

seek.    

 And i f  I  p rec lude i t  f rom re fer r i ng  to  i t ,  i t  w i l l  

cer ta in ly  hamper  my c l ien t  in  p resent ing  h is  app l i ca t ion  in  

the  most  favourab le  manner  and we wou ld  hope in  the  most  

in fo rmat ive  manner  fo r  the  benef i t  o f  the  Commiss ion .   But  10 

I  do  no t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  want  to  say to  you is .   I  jus t  

wanted you to  know what  the  fac tua l  pos i t ion  is ,  namely  

tha t  I  have not  read the  who le  o f  tha t  le t te r  and  what  I  

have read is  very  l i t t le .   That  i s  as  fa r  as  I  wanted to  go ,  

you know?  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Whether  o r  no t  you can re ly  on  i t  and i f  

you  want  to  re l y  on  i t ,  what  needs to  be  done,  I  have not  

gone in to  tha t .   I  jus t  wanted you to  know tha t  as  a  mat te r  20 

o f  fac t  I  have not  read i t  because i t  came –  I  have not  had  

t ime.   I  have been s i t t ing  the  who le  day hear ing  ev idence.   

Ja .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    I  unders tand i t .   I  am apprec ia t i ve  o f  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  
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ADV SOLOMONS :    O f  tha t  d i f f i cu l t y.   But  Cha i r,  then there  

are  d i f fe ren t  ways to  dea l  w i th  i t .   I f  you  are  happy  fo r  me 

to  address you on aspects  o f  the  le t te r  in  the  absence o f  

you hav ing  no t  cons idered i t  in  i t s  en t i re ty,  I  wou ld  be  

happy to  do  so .   I f  you  requ i re  my  c l ien t  to  p lace  the  le t te r  

more  fo rmal ly  be fore  you by  way o f  an  a f f idav i t  then tha t  

may mean tha t  th is  app l i ca t ion  cannot  be  heard  now.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    . . . fa l l s  f la t .   I f  fac ts  a re  p laced  before  

the  Commiss ion ,  no t  by  my c l ien t ,  then we wou ld  be  –  and 10 

when I  say  be fore  the  Commiss ion  and p laced on  reco rd  

be fore  the  Commiss ion ,  then my c l ien t ,  w i th  respect ,  

shou ld  be  ab le  to  re ly  upon those fac ts  inso fa r  as  he  

deems any o f  those fac ts  o f  what  has been p laced on  

record  to  be  suppor t i ve  o f  h i s  app l i ca t ion  and hopefu l l y  

a lso  to  b r ing  those par t i cu la r  fac t s  p laced on record  to  the 

a t ten t ion  o f  the  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    One second. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    . . . to  a l low the  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    One second.   Mr  Myburgh . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

ADV SOLOMONS :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    One second,  Mr  So lomons.   Mr  Myburgh,  

do  you have any  pos i t ion  about  the  use o f  those  le t te rs  

tha t  a re  no t  here? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cha i rperson,  I  th ink  –  we l l ,  cer ta in ly  
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f rom the  Lega l  Team’s  po in t  o f  v iew.   I f  th is  i s  a  – i f  th is  i s  

go ing  to  g i ve  r i se  to  a  de lay  because Mr  So lomons wants  

to  pu t  in  an  a f f idav i t ,  we wou ld  ra ther  the  mat te r  be  dea l t  

w i th  now.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  i s  no t  c lear  to  me how th is  le t te r  

u l t imate ly  w i l l  ass is t  Mr  G igaba.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  obv ious ly,  Mr  So lomons wants  to  

make h is  . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   I  th ink ,  Mr  So lomons,  i f  you  say –  i f  

you  submi t  to  me tha t  I  can and shou ld  re ly  on  i t  as  i t  i s  

and I  do  no t  know i f  maybe you re l y  on  bo th  or  bo th  le t te rs ,  

the  one tha t  was  read out  here  las t  t ime and the  one tha t  

a r r i ved today.   I f  you  submi t  tha t  I  can and shou ld  have  

regard  to  i t ,  I  am qu i te  happy  to  le t  you make tha t  

submiss ion  and you re fe r  me to  whatever  po r t ions  o f  i t  tha t  

you th ink  are  re levant  o r  impor tan t  and we cont inue w i thout  

me mak ing  any  ru l ing .   And then once I  have heard  

every th ing ,  I  can take  i t  f rom there .   I s  tha t  f ine  w i th  you? 20 

ADV SOLOMONS :    That  i s  qu i te  f ine ,  Cha i r.   What  I  wou ld  

perhaps recommend,  sub jec t  to  you,  Cha i r,  i s  tha t  

Ms Gigaba ’s  lega l  representa t i ve  perhaps read in to  the  

record  and p lace as  she d id  on  the  las t  occas ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  bu t  I  do  no t  want  somebody to  read  
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the  who le  le t te r  because i t  i s  qu i te  long.   So I  – i f  you  have  

cer ta in  pa r ts  tha t  you want  to  re ly  on ,  I  am qu i te  happy to  

a l low you to  read those pa r ts .   That  i s  number  one.   

Number  two.   I  was must  choose to  p lace  some t ime l im i t  

on  the  t ime fo r  the  app l i ca t ion .    

 So maybe le t  us  do  tha t  f i rs t ,  so  tha t  as  you 

make your  submiss ions you have an unders tand ing  o f  how 

much t ime we –  you have.   Because o f  the  fac t  tha t  you are 

such an exper ienced counse l ,  I  th ink  I  shou ld  no t  g ive  you 

more  than 15-minutes .   What  do  you th ink?   [ laughs]   Th i s  10 

is  no th ing .   Th i s  i s  no th ing .    

ADV SOLOMONS :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    You can. . .  [ laughs]  

ADV SOLOMONS :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    You can hand le  th is  eas i l y.   [ laughs]   So 

i f  I  g ive  you 15-m inutes  f rom now,  i s  tha t  f ine?  

ADV SOLOMONS :    I  wou ld  be  gu ided by  your  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  le t  us  t ry  tha t .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Have you –  I  imag ine  you wou ld  have  

had the  oppor tun i ty.   Have you  had the  oppor tun i ty  o f  20 

see ing  ou r  submiss ions wh ich  was  sent  today somet ime to  

the  Commiss ion?  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  I  have not  seen them.   I  read the  

papers  las t  t ime when the  mat te r  was go ing  to  be  heard .   I  

have not  seen any new papers  today.   They might  be  here  
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bu t  I  am not  aware  o f  them.   I  have not  been  to ld  o f  

anyth ing  tha t  may have been f i led  today.   But  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    That  i s  f ine .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Wel l ,  Cha i r  I  w i l l  t ry  and s tay  w i th in  

the  15-minutes .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes-no,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  tha t  i s  f ine .  10 

ADV SOLOMONS :    Can I  jus t  a t  the  ou ts ide  then,  t i ck(?)  

where  we -  w i thout  necessar i l y  read ing  o f  the  sake  o f  t ime 

sav ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Perhaps to  s ta r t  w i th  Ms Gigaba ’s  

le t te r.   We want  to  jus t  make the  fo l low ing po in ts  where  we 

th ink  what  she has se t  ou t  in  the  le t te r  suppor ts  our  

content ions.   The  one is ,  she appears  to  take  the  po in t  tha t  

she is  no t  a  compat ib le  w i tness  a l though she does not  

want  to  be  a  content ions w i tness.    20 

 So she respects  the  subpoena rece ived by  he r  

bu t  i t  wou ld  seem to  us  she w ishes to  exe rc i se  a  mar t ia l  

p r i v i lege wh ich  i s  pa r t  o f  what  we have a rgued  in  our  

app l i ca t ion  and  in  our  in i t ia l  submiss ions  and  

supp lementary  submiss ions.   So tha t  i s  the  f i rs t  po in t .   And 
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Cha i r,  i f  you  want  to  make a  no te  o f  tha t .   That  i s  

parag raph 4  o f  the  le t te r.  

 The second po in t  tha t  we w ish  to  make wh ich  we  

submi t  i s  the  suppor t i ve  o f  our  content ions is .   She says in  

parag raphs 8 .3  and 8 .4  o f  her  le t te r. . .   Cha i r,  i f  you  wou ld  

a lso  jus t  bear  in  m ind.   I  on ly  had a  very  qu i ck  g lance a t  

the  le t te r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Bu t  she says –  thank you,  Cha i rperson.   

She says tha t  the re  are  ce r ta in  fac ts  tha t  a re  no t  w i t h in  he r  10 

persona l  knowledge.   She a lso  p lace i t  on  record  tha t  what  

i s  in  her  s ta tement  o r  a f f idav i t  i s  no t  in  a l l  respects ,  i t  

wou ld  appear  to  be ,  accu ra te .   That  i s  the  th i rd  th ing .  

 The fou r th  th ing .   In  paragraph 8 .5  she ra i ses  

secur i t y  concerns wh ich  we say suppor ts  the  a l te rna t ive  

re l ie f  tha t  we seek i f  she  is  to  g i ve  ev idence tha t  i t  shou ld  

be  i n  camera .   We have ra ised tha t  in  our  app l i ca t ion  as an  

a l te rna t ive .  

 And then re f ra in  f rom,  a  concern ,  she has go t  a  

concern  re la t ing  to  pub l i c  d i sc losure  wh ich  aga in  feeds in to  20 

our  submiss ion  i n  regard  to  the  a l te rna t ive  re l ie f .   Cha i r,  I  

am go ing  to  jus t  t ry  and share  our  amended submiss ion  

w i th  you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    [No aud ib le  rep ly ]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  you may do so .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    I  am t ry ing  now.   I  jus t  hope i t  w i l l . . .  I s  

the  document  on  your  screen,  Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  i t  i s  bu t  le t  me f ind  ou t .   

Mr  Myburgh,  do  you know whethe r  I  have go a  ha rd  copy  

here  in  the  f i le?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No,  Cha i rperson.   I  do  no t  th ink  you  

do.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  I  th ink  your  jun io r  a lso  shakes her  

head.   So.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    We ourse lves have not  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    You do not  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    rece ived the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . . the  amended wr i t ten  submiss ions.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  do  no t  th ink  i t  i s  a  d i f f icu l t y  i f  

Mr  So lomons . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  I  w i l l  no t  be  ab le  to  read the  tex t ,  20 

Mr  So lomons.   So i t  w i l l  be  be t te r  i f  you  dea l  –  you  

ar t i cu la te  those par t s  o f  the  rev ised wr i t ten  submiss ions 

tha t  you be l ieve  are  impor tan t .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Yes.   Cha i r  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  w i l l  no t  be  ab le  to  read f rom where  I  
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am.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Cer ta in ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    That  i s  no t  a  p rob lem.   But  perhaps we 

cou ld  –  i t  was sent  to  the  Commiss ion  and perhaps  fo r  the  

purposes o f  your  ru l ing  tha t  our  learned  f r iend 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   Maybe . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

ADV SOLOMONS :    . . .wh i l s t  I  p roceed.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe what  I  can te l l  you  Mr  So lomons  

is  tha t  i t  m igh t  be  conven ien t  because o f  t ime const ra in t s  

tha t  you dea l  w i th  your  c l ien t ’s  app l i ca t ion  on ly  inso fa r,  

today,  on ly  inso far  as  i t  re la tes  to  your  re l ie f  o ther  than 

leave to  c ross-examine because even i f  were  to  g rant  you 

leave to  c ross-examine,  you wou ld  no t  c ross-examine 

today  So another  day can be ar ranged.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Ja ,  we . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    So maybe . . . [ in tervenes]   20 

ADV SOLOMONS :    Ja  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe you –  maybe the  re l ie f  to  c ross-

examine can be dea l t  w i th  some o ther  t ime.   What  i s  more  

urgent  i s  such a  re l ie f  as  need to  be  dea l t  w i th  today i f  

Ms Mngoma is  to  tes t i f y.    
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ADV SOLOMONS :    Yes.   Yes,  Cha i r.   Wel l ,  tha t  invo l ves  

two aspects .   One is  ou r  app l i ca t ion  tha t  she shou ld  no t  

tes t i f y  in  re la t ion  to  the  contents  o f  her  a f f idav i t  tha t  had  

been shared w i th  us .   And then,  in  the  a l te rna t ive ,  i f  she  is ,  

i t  shou ld  be  he ld  i n  camera .   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    . . .and we make ou r  submiss ions in  our  

app l i ca t ion  why tha t  shou ld  be .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  le t  us  take  the  f i rs t  one.   What  i s  

the  bas is  fo r  the  f i rs t  one?  10 

ADV SOLOMONS :    Cha i r  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Or  i s  i t  d i f f i cu l t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    . . . the  bas is  fo r  th is  i s  –  there  are  a  

number  bu t  I  w i l l  j us t  t ry  to  dea l  w i th  them in  tu rn .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV SOLOMONS :    The main  th rus t  i s  tha t  these are  

par t ies  who are  marr i ed ,  who are  go ing  th rough an  

acr imon ious d ivo rce  and a  la rge  por t ion  and perhaps the  

major i t y  o f  her  ev idence conta ined in  the  a f f idav i t  

const i tu tes  communica t ions tha t  took p lace between a  20 

husband and w i fe  wh ich  wou ld  o rd inar i l y  be  pro tec ted  by  

the  mar i ta l  p r i v i lege.   So tha t  i s  the  f i rs t  po in t .  

 We say tha t  communica t ions  tha t  took p lace 

between Mr  and  Mrs  G igaba w i th in  the  mar i ta l  p r iv i lege  

contex t  shou ld  no t  be  a i red  in  pub l i c .   Second ly,  we say  
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tha t  because o f  the  ac r imon ious  na ture  o f  the i r  d ivo rce  

proceed ings,  there  is  an  inherent  r i sk  in  the  ev idence and  

the  verac i t y  o f  the  ev idence tha t  she is  go ing  to  g ive  and 

tha t  w i l l  impact  upon quest ions o f  c red ib i l i t y,  e t  ce tera .  

 And tha t  fear  has been exacerbated by  the  two  

le t te rs  tha t  she has addressed to  the  Commiss ion  and i t  

seems to  us  tha t  the  Commiss ion  shou ld  no t  be  used as  a  

p la t fo rm fo r  ev idence o f  th is  na tu re  where  the  par t ies  are  

in  engaged in  an  acr imon ious d ivorce  to  b r ing  about  the  

end o f  the i r  mat r imon ia l  reg ime.    10 

 And we submi t  tha t  i t  se ts  a  dangerous and 

perhaps d is tas te fu l  p res ident  tha t  the  Commiss ion ’s  work  

wh ich  we a l l  endorse  as  ex t remely  impor tan t  fo r  our  

democracy bu t  i t  shou ld  no t  be  used as  a  fo rum for  the 

area o f  domest ic  g r ievances but  tha t  i s  no t  the  reason why 

we say . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Hang on one  second,  Mr  So lomons.   

Maybe because I  am l i s ten ing  to  what  you have  to  say 

more  than read ing ,  I  am not  read ing  what  i s  on  the  screen.   

Maybe you shou ld  jus t  le t  us  see  your  face  and not  the 20 

wr i t ten  submiss ions.   I  w i l l  make  notes  o f  the  impor tan t  

po in ts .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Yes,  i t  i s  jus t . . .   Can you not  see me,  

Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  can  see a  l i t t le  b i t  bu t  I  am 
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focuss ing  more  on  your  –  on  what  you have to  say  to  me 

than the  wr i t ten  –  I  p re fer  to  see you.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    I  w i l l  s top  the  shar ing  then and – i s  

tha t  be t te r  then?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  ja ,  ja .   I  p re fer  to  see you  as  you 

make your  submiss ions.    

ADV SOLOMONS :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And w i l l  s imp ly  ask  tha t  you look  a t  you r  

wr i t ten  submiss ions and see  what  you need to  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

ADV SOLOMONS :    Cer ta in ly,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Cer ta in ly,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    So  Cha i r,  the  o ther  concern  tha t  we  

ra ised is  the  quest ion  o f  the  m ino r  ch i ld ren  born  f rom the  

marr i age.   There  are  numerous re ferences wh ich  we have 

h igh l igh ted  in  ou r  app l i ca t ion  where  they a re  imp l i ca ted  in  

the  ev idence and we need not  overemphas ise  tha t  the  

r igh ts  o f  those minor  ch i ld ren  wou ld  need to  be  p ro tec ted .  20 

 And to  have th i s  t ype o f  ev idence presented in  

so  a  pub l i c  a  fo rum which  concerns the  re la t ionsh ip  

be tween the  parents  who are  go ing  th rough th is  d ivo rce ,  

we submi t  i t  i s  another  fac tor  to  be  taken in to  account .   So 

Cha i r,  why we say . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  you  have  re l ied  on  two po in ts  in  

re la t ion  to  the  f i rs t  re l ie f .   The mar i ta l  p r iv i lege and the  

acr imon ious na tu re  o f  the  d ivorce  proceed ings.   I s  tha t  

r igh t?  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Mar i ta l  p r i v i lege.   You are  say ing  I  

must  re fuse to  hear  ev idence as  a  Commiss ion  tha t  may 

re la te  to  a l legat ions o f  s ta te  capture  and cor rup t ion  f rom a 

person who is  w i l l i ng  to  g ive  tha t  ev idence and knowing  

tha t  I  am not  a  c r im ina l  cour t?  10 

ADV SOLOMONS :    Cha i r,  i f  –  cer ta in ly  we accept  you are  

no t  a  c r im ina l  cour t .   The quest ion  o f  be ing  w i l l i ng  to  g ive  

ev idence,  we have a  concern  w i th .   We do emphas ise  tha t  

recent  events  have superseded our  in i t ia l  app l i ca t ion  and 

we wou ld  inv i te  you Cha i r  no t  to  ignore  what  has been 

submi t ted  to  the  Commiss ion  th rough Ms Gigaba ’s  

a t to rney ’s  le t te rs .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  have you got  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    To  say . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry.   Have you got  an  accura te  20 

s ta tement  o f  the  law on the  pr i v i lege tha t  you re fer  to?  

ADV SOLOMONS :    We have.   We have.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    In  our  heads . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    What . . .   Ja ,  what  does i t  say?  Jus t  read 
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i t .  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Wel l ,  wha t  we say i s .   Spousa l  

tes t imon ia l  p r iv i l ege –  we are  ta lk ing  now in  a  c r im ina l  

contex t  –  does not  ex is t .   We have to  p ro tec t  the  r igh ts  o f  

the  accused.   I t  ex is ts  fo r  pub l i c  po l i cy  reasons  and to  

p ro tec t  the  r igh t  o f  p r ivacy.   So . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no  what  I  want  i s  th is  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    What  I  want  i s  the  s ta tement  o f  the 

pr iv i lege,  the  pr inc ipa l .    10 

ADV SOLOMONS :    We . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Where  you have an accura te  s ta tement  

o f  what  the  pr iv i lege is .   Th is  wha t  may not  be  done.   Th i s  

i s  what  may be done.    

ADV SOLOMONS :    Yes,  Cha i r.   We . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  i t  no t  tha t  –  is  i t  ava i lab le?   Can i t  be  

invoked in  a  Commiss ion  –  a  Commiss ion  proceed ings?  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Wel l ,  o f  course  we recogn ise  tha t  we 

made the  po in t  in  our  amended submiss ions tha t  the  

Commiss ion  s tands in  a  s l igh t ly  d i f fe ren t  pos i t ion  bu t  what  20 

we are  inv i t ing  you Cha i r  to  ho ld ,  tha t  the  under l ine  pub l i c  

po l i cy  reasons  wou ld  app ly  to  a  commiss ion  because 

spousa l  –  and we re fer red  to  a  case o f  the  –  so r ry  –  we  

re fer red  to  the  au thors  in  . . . [ ind is t inc t ] ,  S J  van N iekerk  

and S  C Van der  Merwe .    
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 We have got  the  re ference.   I t  i s  a t  14 .1  o f  our  

amended submiss ions.   I f  you  can jus t  make a  no te ,  Cha i r?   

Paragraph 14.1  tha t :  

“Spousa l  tes t imon ia l  p r i v i lege re f lec t s  the  

pub l i c  in te res t  in  p reserv ing  the  ins t i tu t ion  o f  

marr i age and in  recogn i t ion  o f  the  law o f  

marr i age in  soc ie ty  and in  the  va lue  preserv ing  

fami ly,  spousa l  tes t imon ia l  p r iv i lege under l ines  

the  no t ion  tha t  spouses shou ld  be  ab le  to  

conf ide  in  one  another  f ree l y  and w i thout  10 

in te r fe rence f rom the  law. . . ”  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  once –  I  am so r ry,  Mr  So lomons.   I  

know I  am in te r rup t ing  you but  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV SOLOMONS :    Wel l  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  want  to  make sure  by  the  t ime the  15-

minutes  is  f in ished,  you have dea l t  w i th  th ings –  mat te rs  

tha t  I  th ink  are  impor tan t  to  ass i s t  me.  

ADV SOLOMONS :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Once i t  i s  accepted tha t  the  pr iv i lege is  

no t ,  le t  us  say,  app l i cab le  in  commiss ion  proceed ings.   20 

What  you wou ld  be  ask ing  me is .   You wou ld  be  say ing ,  

and you must  jus t  conf i rm i f  tha t  i s  what  you are  say ing .   

We know i t  i s  no t  app l i cab le ,  s t r i c t l y  speak ing ,  to  the 

commiss ion  proceed ings bu t  we th ink  tha t  i t  i s  someth ing  

tha t  the  Commiss ion  can take  in to  account ,  whatever  e lse  
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in  dec id ing  whether  to  g rant  the  re l ie f  tha t  we a re  ask ing  

fo r.   I s  tha t  what  you are  say ing?   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Qu i te  so  Cha i r,  what  we are  say ing  is  

tha t  there  i s  spe l l s  o r  tes t imon ia l  p r iv i lege and  in  tha t  

contex t  the  non-compel lab i l i t y  a rgument  tha t  we have 

ra ised shou ld  app ly  and we say tha t  rea l l y  d is t ingu ishes  

i t se l f  f rom the  judgment  in  the  const i tu t iona l  cou r t  in  S ta te 

versus Zuma regard ing  compel lab i l i t y  o f  w i tnesses.   

 So what  we are  say ing  Cha i r  i s  tha t  where  you have  

Ms Gigaba who now appears  to  be  a  re luc tan t  w i tness,  i s  10 

no  longer  a  vo lun tary  pa r t i c ipan t  in  the  commiss ion ’s  

p roceed ings,  we say tha t  in  te rms  o f  Sect ion  34  o f  the  Act  

she shou ld  no t  and cannot  be  compel led  to  tes t i f y  aga ins t  

Mr  G igaba,  because a l l  the  pro tec t ions tha t  one  wou ld  

normal ly  have,  a re  no  longer  there .   

 Because her  ev idence on he r  own vers ion  is  now 

inherent ly  unre l iab le  and in  th is  contex t  one shou ld  no t  

a l low the  a i r i ng  o f  spousa l  g r i evances aga ins t  one another  

in  the  pub l i c  fo rum o f  the  commiss ion .   So we are  ask ing  

you Cha i r  to  exerc ise  a  d i scre t ion  in  te rms o f  Ru le  1(1 )  so  20 

tha t  her  ev idence is  ru led  inadmiss ib le  and he r  

compel lab i l i t y  wh ich  she now re l ies  upon and wh ich  we 

have a lso  re l ied  upon is  such tha t  she shou ld  no t  be  

compel led  to  g ive  tha t  ev idence today before  the  

commiss ioner.   
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 Rea l ly  we a l so  re ly  Cha i r  on  the  procedura l  

p re jud ice  wh ich  we say ou twe ighs the  m in imal  p robat ive  

va lue  i f  any,  o f  Ms Gigaba ’s  ev idence wh ich  i t  o f fe rs .   So 

when you look a t  the  to ta l i t y,  when  you look a t  the  pos i t ion  

tha t  Ms Gigaba has now adopted,  the  procedura l  p r iv i lege,  

the  pre jud i ce  is  such tha t  you  shou ld  exe rc i se  tha t  

d iscre t ion  and f ind  tha t  tha t  compel lab i l i t y  i ssue wou ld  

app ly  to  the  work  o f  the  commiss ion .  

 Where  you have got  in  the  contex t  o f  the  spouses  

re la t ionsh ip  a  h igh  l i ke l ihood tha t  the  ev idence wou ld  be  10 

unre l iab le ,  fab r ica ted ,  h igh l y  sub jec ted ,  emot ive  and  

poss ib ly  v ind i c t i ve ly  mot iva ted .   Cha i r,  the  o ther  p rob lem 

we have and I  know you have sa id  we shou ld  separa te  the  

quest ion  o f  c ross-examinat ion  and I  am not  go ing  to  go  

there ,  because in  the  in te res t  o f  t ime and we ag ree w i th  

what  i s  beh ind  the  Cha i r ’s  ru l ing  in  tha t  regard ,  bu t  we do 

say tha t  were  she  to  g ive  ev idence ,  we wou ld  be  compel led  

to  have,  to  request  you Cha i r  to  have an oppor tun i ty  to  

tease out  the  co l la te ra l  i ssues wh ich  g ive  r i se  to  por t ions  

o f  the  ev idence conta ined in  her  s ta tement ,  wh ich  we aga in  20 

submi t  respect fu l l y  to  you Cha i r  i s  ou ts ide  o f  the  

commiss ion ’s  mandate ,  and shou ld  no t  be  a l lowed to  be 

a i red  in  th is  fo rum.   

 We have made  the  po in t  and  we jus t  want  to  

emphas ise  tha t  the  admiss ion  o f  ev idence o f  th is  na ture ,  
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we submi t  makes [ ind is t inc t ]  on  Mr  G igaba and h is  

ch i ld ren ’s  r igh ts  to  d ign i ty  and  pr ivacy and we wou ld  

submi t  Cha i r,  tha t  you have the  r i gh t  in  te rms o f  Regu la t ion 

15  to  de termine your  own procedures.   

 Ru le  6  a l lows you to  rece ive  ev idence tha t  you  

cons ider  re levant  and tha t  you need not  fo l low the  s t r i c t  

ru les  o f  ev idence regard ing  adm iss ib i l i t y  and we  wou ld  

submi t  tha t  exerc is ing  tha t  b road d iscre t ion  tha t  you have,  

th is  ev idence shou ld  no t  be  accepted.   

 Cha i r,  we make the  po in t  tha t  wh i l s t  Ru le  6  says  10 

tha t  the  ord ina ry  ru les  o f  the  admiss ib i l i t y  o f  ev idence in  

cour ts  o f  law need not  be  s t r i c t l y  app l ied  to  de termine 

admiss ib i l i t y,  we submi t  tha t  the  t ime tes ted  norms o f  

admiss ib i l i t y  in  cour t  p roceed ings  wou ld  f ind  re levance to  

the  commiss ion ’s  de terminat ions,  and th is  i s  because those  

norms wi th  respect  have been deve loped to  take  in to  

account  i ssues such as  re l iab i l i t y,  p robat i ve  va lue ,  fa i rness  

in  assess ing  ev idence,  a l l  o f  wh ich  are  concerns  wh ich  

ought  s im i la r ly  to  be  va lued in  the  commiss ion ’s  

assessment .   20 

 Sor ry  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   I  do  no t  know whether  you have 

gone beyond the  f i rs t  re l ie f ,  because I  am look ing  a t  your  

t ime,  whethe r  you have s ta r ted  address ing  the  second  

re l ie f  o r  the  a l te rna t ive  re l ie f  as  we l l .   So  I  am jus t  a le r t ing  
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you  to  t ime.   

 I  th ink  you may  we l l  have exhausted 15 minutes ,  

bu t  maybe you have exhausted ten .   So I  jus t  wan t  you to  

be  a l i ve  to  tha t .   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Yes.   Cer ta in ly  Cha i r.   We just ,  you  

asked me about  where  the  pr iv i lege ar ises  in  te rms o f  the 

Cr im ina l  P rocedure  Act .   I  am not  go ing  to  read i t ,  Sect ion  

198 and 199.   They are  to  be  found a t ,  i f  you  cou ld  make a  

no te  paragraph  29.10 a t  page 15 o f  our  amended 

submiss ions,  and I  am jus t  go ing  to  make th is  las t  10 

submiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   And then move on to  the  second leg ,  

bu t  what  we submi t  i s  tha t  Sect ion  198 o f  the  Cr im ina l  

P rocedure  Act ,  means tha t  a  w i tness in  Ms Gigaba ’s  

pos i t ion  may re fuse to  d isc lose  mar i ta l  communica t ions  

w i th  her  husband,  and she cou ld  a lso  re fuse to  d isc lose  

communica t ions wh ich  she has made.   

 So we wou ld  say tha t  she wou ld  be  ent i t led  to  

evoke tha t  p r i v i lege.   We say she shou ld  no t  be  compel led  20 

to  g ive  ev idence ,  and our  amended submiss ions se t  ou t  

very  c lea r ly  why we say th is  and we wou ld  urge you Cha i r,  

be fore  you make any ru l ing ,  wou ld  have regard  to  tha t .   

 Then jus t  mov ing  to  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry.   In  your  wr i t ten  submiss ions,  
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whatever  you th ink  i s  impor tan t ,  I  wou ld  l i ke  you to  

a r t i cu la te  i t ,  because I  m ight  no t  have t ime to  go  and read 

but  i f  you  have ar t i cu la ted  what  you be l ieve  is  impor tan t ,  

tha t  i s  f ine .   In  regard  to  th is  s t ress  re l ie f .   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   I  th ink  we have Cha i r,  in  respect  o f  

the  f i rs t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Re l ie f .  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   The f i rs t  re l ie f .   I t  i s  jus t  there  is  no  

t ime to re fer  you  to  a l l  the  au tho r i t ies  we re ly  upon,  bu t  

they a re  in  ou r  . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   In  the  wr i t ten  submiss ions.   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Wr i t ten  submiss ions.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   In  regard  to  the  in  camera  e lement .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   We submi t  to  you Cha i r,  tha t  i f  you  

do dec ide  to  have he r  ev idence led  and i f  she is  to  g ive  

ev idence,  the  p roceed ings shou ld  be  he ld  i n  camera .   The 

reason we say you have tha t  d iscre t ion  in  te rms o f  Sect ion  

4  o f  the  Act  and Regu la t ion  2  a l so  as  read w i th  Regu la t ion  20 

9 ,  g ives  you tha t ,  those powers .   

 4 .2  spec i f i ca l l y  says you can make an order  to  be  

he ld  in  camera ,  as  she has now e labora ted  upon  in  the 

la tes t  le t te r  tha t  was p laced  on record  be fore  the  

commencement  th is  a f te rnoon,  and as  e labora ted  upon by  
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Ms Gigaba in  h is  s ta tement ,  the  ev idence is  acu te ly  

in t imate  and pe rsona l ,  and i t  re la tes  no t  on l y  to  the 

spouses romant ic  and mar i ta l  re la t ionsh ips ,  bu t  a lso  to  

the i r  ch i ld ren ’s  p r iva te  l i ves .   

 Many o f  these impact  upon the  d i vorce  proceed ings  

wh ich  are  present ly  sub jud i ce  and pend ing .   We have  

dea l t  w i th  in  qu i te  some deta i l  in  our  submiss ions 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Jus t  hang on Mr  So lomon.   I  was s t i l l  j us t  

look ing  a t  the  power  in  Sect ion  4 .   10 

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   To  you know,  in  camera  proceed ings 

s t r i c t l y  speak ing  are  p roceed ings  where  the  Cour t  o r  the  

t r ibuna l  wou ld  exc lude the  pub l i c  in  e f fec t  f rom the  

hear ing .   I  know tha t  in  th is  commiss ion  the  te rm in  camera  

has been used somet imes or  what  we have done namely  to  

a l low wi tnesses who fea r  fo r  the i r  sa fe ty,  who do not  want  

the i r  ident i t ies  to  be  d i sc losed or  the i r  faces to  be  shown,  

to  g ive  ev idence  f rom a  venue tha t  i s  d i f fe ren t  f rom the  

venue o f  the  hear ing  and they are ,  the i r  ev idence is  heard  20 

by  the  pub l i c  and  they can be cross-examined.   

 But  the i r  ident i t ies  are  no t  pub l i shed and the i r  faces  

are  no t  shown.   Somet imes members  o f  the  lega l  team 

have re fer red  to  tha t  as  in  camera  but  s t r i c t l y  speak ing  i t  i s  

no t  in  camera ,  bu t  tha t  i s  what  i t  i s .   Here ,  Sect ion  4  says:  
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“A l l  ev idence and addresses shou ld  be  heard  

in  pub l i c ,  p rov ided tha t  the  Cha i rman o f  the  

commiss ion  may in  h is  d iscre t ion  exc lude f rom 

the  p lace where  such ev idence is  to  be  g iven 

or  such address is  to  be  de l i ver  any c lass  o f  

persons or  a l l  persons whose presence a t  the  

hear ing  o f  such ev idence or  address is  in  h is  

op in ion  no t  necessary  or  des i rab le . ”  

 Now o f  course  the  rea l i t y  i s  tha t  fo r  the  past  two  

and a  ha l f  years  or  whatever,  the  commiss ion  has been  10 

opera t ing  on  the  bas is  tha t  i t s  p roceed ings are  broadcast  

l i ve  and so  on .   They are  shown on TV and so  on .   You,  I  

do  no t  remember  tha t  the  papers  say anyth ing  o ther  than in  

camera  about  what  we shou ld  do  w i th  those ar rangements ,  

ex i s t ing  ar rangements  i f  we grant  your  re l ie f ,  bear ing  in  

m ind what  Sect ion  4  says,  namely  the  exc lus ion  o f  the  

pub l i c  f rom the  venue.   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Yes,  we l l  Cha i r,  we have sa id  and we  

agree w i th  you tha t  concea l ing  the  person ’s  face  in  these,  

in  th is  s i tua t ion ,  i s  no t  what  wou ld  meet  the  po tent ia l  harm 20 

tha t  we have descr ibed in  our  app l i ca t ion  and  in  our  

amended submiss ions.   

 What  we are  say ing  is  tha t  where  you have 

ev idence o f  an  acute l y  in t imate  and persona l  na tu re  tha t  

re la tes  no t  on ly  to  the  spouses romant ic  and  mar i ta l  
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re la t ionsh ip  bu t  a lso  to  the  ch i ld ren ’s  p r iva te  l i ves .   I t  i s  

inappropr ia te  to  have tha t  ev idence in  a  pub l i c  fo rum and  

perhaps the  answer  to  our  a l te rna te  re l ie f  tha t  we seek,  i s  

tha t  re in fo rces the  need fo r  tha t  ev idence not  to  be  led ,  

because i f  the  la te r  o f  these p roceed ings a re  such tha t  

a r rangements  cannot  be  made to  a f fo rd  tha t  p ro tec t ion ,  

tha t  rea l l y  re in fo rces the  need to  exc lude th is  ev idence in  

a l l  the  c i rcumstances tha t  we have descr ibed between a  

spouse and a  husband who may or  may not  be  imp l ica ted  

in  some wrongdo ing .   10 

 So i t  rea l l y  jus t  re in fo rces the  need to  exc lude her  

ev idence,  because i f  you cannot  and i t  i s  no  cr i t i c i sm o f  

the  commiss ion ,  bu t  i f  one cannot  p rov ide  tha t  t ype o f  

anonymi ty  and conf ident ia l i t y  and pro tec t ion  because o f  

the  na ture  o f  the  proceed ings,  then we submi t  tha t  rea l l y  

re in fo rces the  po in t  why Ms Gigaba shou ld  no t  be  

compel led  to  g ive  ev idence aga ins t  he r  husband  in  the  

manner  suggested.   

CHAIRPERSON:   My reco l lec t ion  Mr  So lomon,  my 

reco l lec t ion  o f  ev idence re la t ing  to  ch i ld ren  seems to  be  20 

s imp ly  ev idence about  some present  be ing  g iven to  a  ch i ld  

o r  someth ing  l i ke  tha t .   I  do  no t  remember  tha t  there  is  

ev idence tha t  re la tes  to  ch i ld ren  tha t  i s  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   We have . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Rea l l y  o f  any ser ious negat ive  na ture .   
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ADV SOLOMON SC:   We have h igh l igh ted  in  our  

submiss ions,  our  amended submiss ions Cha i r,  the  ev idence 

tha t  impacts  upon the  ch i ld ren ,  and jus t  by  way o f  

example .   She commences her  ev idence w i th  dea l ing  w i th  

the  na tu re  o f  the  romant ic  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Mr  G igaba  

when she was pregnant  w i th  her  f i rs t  ch i ld .   

 She desc r ibes those issues,  she descr ibes the  

coup le ’s  f inanc ia l  a r rangements  a t  tha t  t ime.   She 

desc r ibes be ing  unhappy w i th  Mr  G igaba ’s  pa rent ing .   

C la ims tha t  he  d id  no t  spend enough t ime w i th  h is  ch i ld ren .   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .    

ADV SOLOMON SC:   A lo t  o f  these,  I  wou ld  no t  necessar i l y  

want  to  go  th rough the  l i s t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no .  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Because  i t  i s  in  a  sense se l f -

de fea t ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Because we are  say ing  tha t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no ,  no .  20 

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Ev idence shou ld  no t ,  sor ry  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  a l r igh t .   Is  i t  f ine  i f  I  g ive  you,  I  

see we are  a t  near l y  quar te r  past .   I  th ink  you  s ta r ted  

maybe about  quar te r  to  o r  twenty  to ,  I  am not  sure .   I s  i t  

f ine  i f  I  g ive  you f i ve  m inutes  to  dea l  w i th  whatever  
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remains?  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   That  i s  f ine  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   We are  gra te fu l  fo r  the  indu lgence.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   What  we wou ld  jus t  submi t  on  the  

quest ion  o f  the  ch i ld ren ,  tha t  the  re ferences to  the  ch i ld ren  

are  no t  s imp ly  pass ing  re ferences.   Ms Gigaba ’s  c la ims 

in te r tw ine  the  ch i ld ren ’s  l i ves ,  the i r  hea l th ,  the i r  pos i t ions ,  

the i r  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the i r  parents ,  in to  the  a l l egat ions  10 

aga ins t  Mr  G igaba.  

 So there  is  rea l l y  a  c ross-po l l i c i sa t ion  wh ich  wou ld  

be  very  d i f f i cu l t  to  un tang le  and those re ferences are  jus t  

contex tua l i sed amongst  o the r  de ta i l s  about  immedia te  

fami ly  and ex tended fami ly ’s  homes and re la t ionsh ips .   So 

the  s i l ve r  th read  tha t  underp ins  the  en t i re  a f f idav i t  o f  Ms 

Gigaba runs deep ly  in to  the  fami ly  re la t ionsh ip ,  the 

ex tended fami ly  re la t ionsh ip ,  the  ch i ld ren .   

 That  ev idence o f  course  cannot  be  heard  least  o f  a l l  

tes ted  Cha i r,  w i thout  in t imate  aspects  o f  the  ch i ld ren ’s  20 

l i ves  be ing  d isc losed.   So in  do ing  so ,  regard less  o f  the  

ou tcome o f  the  f ind ings,  the  G igaba ch i ld ren  who are  now 

on ly  e igh t  and n ine  years  o ld ,  w i l l  invar iab l y  be  ta in ted  

w i th  l inks  o f  a l legat ions o f  S ta te  Captu re  and the 

acr imon ious d ivo rce  p roceed ings  be tween the i r  parents  
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be ing  a i red  in  so  pub l i c  a  fo rum.   

 We say tha t  such d isc losure  does not  serve  the  

pub l i c  conf idence  in  a  manner  t ha t  i s  p ropor t ionate  to  the  

harm occas ioned to  the  ch i ld ren ’s  best  in te res ts .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   And we  fu r thermore  oppose the  

compel lab i l i t y  o f  Ms Gigaba fo r  the  reasons we have 

s ta ted ,  bu t  our  concerns have been ce r ta in ly  exacerbated 

by  the  recent  events  and what  she has p laced on reco rd  

be fore  you.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   And rea l l y  the  lega l  teams who  

oppose our  app l i ca t ions,  suggest ing  tha t  the  ev idence w i l l  

be  pro tec ted  f rom pub l ic  d isc losure  on  the  bas is  o f  the 

ident i t y  o f  w i tnesses,  does not  ass is t  us  rea l l y  to  meet  

these requ i rements .   

 So we wou ld  submi t  Cha i r,  tha t  th is  i s  a  case fo r  the  

ex tens ion  o f  the  compel lab i l i t y  a rgument ,  tha t  g iven the  

un ique fac ts  tha t  you are  now p resented w i th ,  pa r t i cu la r l y  

Ms Gigaba ’s  changed a t t i tude,  she is  no  longer  a  w i tness  20 

who has s imp ly  come to  the  commiss ion ,  and we jus t  

wanted to  make th is  po in t  wh ich  rea l l y  concerns us  and  

th is  i s  our  f ina l  po in t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   I s  tha t  we unders tood she had  
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app roached the  commiss ion ,  bu t  i t  seems f rom the  le t te r  

tha t  we rece ived th is  a f te rnoon ,  tha t  the  commiss ion  

approached her  and when you  look a t  the  way her  

s ta tement  reads  w i th  the  head ings and the  f low o f  the  

s ta tement ,  i t  engenders  qu i te  a  lo t  o f  concern  on  the  par t  

o f  my c l ien t  as  to  how the  en t i re  nar ra t i ve  was s t ruc tu red  

and whether  tha t  was indeed the  [ ind is t inc t ]  o f  Ms  Gigaba 

in  the  sense o f  she says now p lac ing  on  record  tha t  there  

are  aspects  o f  the  s ta tement  tha t  she is  unhappy about .   

 What  we say se ts  a  dangerous pres ident  i s  tha t  i f  10 

the  commiss ion  is  p repared to  go  and seek out  w i tnesses  

who are  invo lved in  d ivorce  proceed ings wh ich  are  pend ing  

between spouses to  g ive  ev idence aga ins t  a  no t iona l l y  

imp l ica ted  spouse,  i t  rea l l y  wou ld  se t  a  very  dangerous  

pres ident .   

CHAIRPERSON:   No Mr  So lomon.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:   We wi l l  submi t  Cha i r  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no  Mr  So lomon.   I f  the  commiss ion  is  

se t  up  to  invest iga te  a l legat ions  o f  S ta te  Captu re  and  

cor rup t ion ,  i t  cannot  s top  to  look  fo r  peop le  who can ass is t  20 

us ,  jus t  because  they happen to  be  mar r ied  o r  happen to 

be  go ing  th rough some d ivorce  p roceed ings.   

 I t  looks  fo r  peop le  who can ass is t  us  to  de termine  

the  issues before  i t .   I t  i s  do ing  the  r igh t  th ing .   I f  i t  

becomes aware  tha t  somebody may have in fo rmat ion  tha t  
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w i l l  he lp  i t  w i th  the  issues tha t  i t  is  requ i red  to  dea l  w i th ,  i t  

wou ld  be  do ing  the  r igh t  th ing  to  make the  approach,  

because i t  seeks to  car ry  ou t  i t s  mandate .   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   No Cha i r,  we accept  tha t  bu t  in  

c i rcumstances where  the  w i tness  now says tha t  there  are  

aspects  o f  tha t  a f f idav i t  she  does not  agree w i th  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  tha t  w i l l  be  a  separa te  mat te r.   That  

wou ld  be  a  separa te  mat te r.   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   That  i s  what  we are  say ing .   Not  as  a  10 

genera l  p ropos i t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Bu t  jus t  in  these pa r t i cu la r  

c i rcumstances Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.    

ADV SOLOMON SC:   Those are  our  submiss ions Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  no  thank you.   Mr  Myburgh,  do  you  

want  to  say someth ing?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  thank  you Cha i rpe rson.   We 

have prepared some br ie f  wr i t ten  submiss ions,  i f  I  cou ld  20 

hand them up to  you.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   They have been prov ided prev ious ly  

to  Mr  So lomon.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson,  I  take  i t  tha t  we a lso  

have . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   15  m inutes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ten,  15  m inutes .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  okay.   Wel l ,  Mr  So lomon ended up 

hav ing  much more  than . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We wi l l  no t  take  more  than 15 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson,  in  these lega l  

submiss ions we se t  ou t  in  our  in t roduct ion  the  re l ie f  tha t  i s  10 

sought  and then  in  the  second sect ion  we dea l  w i th  the  

app l i cab le  regu la tory  f ramework  wh ich  I  am not  go ing  to  

waste  t ime on.   I  want  to  take  you d i rec t l y  p lease to 

Sect ion  3 .   

 That  i s  a t  page 4 ,  dea l ing  w i th  the  admiss ib i l i t y  o f  

the  w i tness ’s  a f f idav i t .   Now as a  genera l  s ta tement  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Jus t  one second .   Mr  So lomon,  can you 

hear  o r,  I  see  I  do  no t  see your  face ,  bu t  can you hear  Mr  

Myburgh?   20 

ADV SOLOMON SC:   I  can  indeed Cha i r,  I  though t  jus t  to  

[ ind is t inc t ]  and . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no  tha t  i s  f ine .   I  jus t  wanted to  make 

sure  tha t  you are  ab le  to  hear  so  tha t  i f  you ,  when you are  

requ i red  to  respond,  you w i l l  have heard  h im.  
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ADV SOLOMON SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  a t  paragraph 17 we make the  

po in t  Cha i rpe rson,  tha t  in  genera l  te rms the  w i tness ’s  

ev idence dea ls  d i rec t l y  w i th  mat te rs  tha t  fa l l  w i th in  the  

commiss ion ’s  te rms o f  re fe rence,  and a lso  tha t  the  a f f idav i t  

and the  ev idence fa l l s  w i th in  the  mandate  and area 

invest iga t ion  o f  the  commiss ion .  

 Then we se t  ou t  in  parag raph 19 and I  am not  go ing  

to  dea l  w i th  th is  on  the  record .   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  the  w i tness ’s  ev idence inc ludes  

and you wou ld  have seen tha t ,  and a  lo t  o f  i t  is  

cor robora tory.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A t  parag raph 20 we a l so  men t ion  tha t  

she presents  impor tan t  o r ig ina l  ev idence and then a t  21 

Cha i rperson,  we pose the  quest ion  then on what  bas i s  can 

th is  a f f idav i t  be  found to  be  inadmiss ib le ,  and when you  

look a t  Mr  G igaba ’s  a f f idav i t  as  a  who le ,  he  dea ls  w i th  20 

th ree  main  po in ts .   

 F i r s t l y  tha t  the  a f f idav i t  i t  i s  a l leged seeks to  

pub l i c ise  pr i va te  mat te rs .   Second ly,  tha t  the  admiss ion  o f  

ev idence is  p re jud ic ia l  to  h im and th i rd ly  tha t  the  na ture  o f  

the  w i tness ’s  ev idence,  i s  la rge ly  i r re levant  and o f  l i t t le  
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p robat ive  va lue .   

 We say the  f i rs t  content ion  i s  founded  on the  

a l legat ion  tha t  the  w i tness ’s  approach to  the  commiss ion  is  

and I  quote  “an  improper  e f fo r t  to  advance her  gender  in  

our  d ivo rce  proceed ings. ”   Wel l  Cha i rperson,  tha t  i s  a  

mat te r  fo r  ev idence,  as  mot ive  o f t en  is .   

 Then as  fo r  the  ba lance o f  the  app l i cant ’s  

compla in t s  under  th is  head,  about  pe rsona l  and 

mat r imon ia l  communica t ions and  as  he  puts  i t  most  

d is tu rb ing l y  re fe rences to  our  ch i ld ren ,  they w i l l  w i thout  10 

mer i t s  and I  wou ld  inv i te  you Cha i rpe rson,  to  have regard  

to  paragraph 16  o f  the  papers  and perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  

take  you there .   

 Th is  i s  a t  page 9 ,  paragraph 16.   Th i rd l y  and most  

d is tu rb ing ly,  Nomshu la  makes severa l  re fe rences to  our  

ch i ld ren  and th is  i s  a  po in t  Cha i rperson tha t  you put  to  Mr  

So lomon.   When you look a t  these f i ve  sub paragraphs,  I  

mean they are  comple te l y  innocuous.    

 They are  contex tua l  and I  am not  go ing  to  go  in to  

the  de ta i l  fo r  obv ious reasons.   We go back  to  our  20 

submiss ions a t  parag raph 24,  the  second content ion  is  

p remises on  the  hypothes is  tha t  the  w i tness may asser t  

mar i ta l  communica t ion  p r iv i lege under  c ross-examinat ion  

and thus avo id  answer ing  quest ions wh ich  wou ld  o therwise  

imp l ica te  her  improper  mot ive ,  and  th is  w i l l  somehow cause  
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p rocedura l  p re jud ice .   

 Wel l ,  o f  cou rse  tha t  i s  an  hypothes i s .   We do not  

know whethe r  Ms  Gigaba is  go ing  to  do  tha t .   But  what  i s  

c lea r  i s  tha t  mar i ta l  p r iv i lege does not  app ly  i n  these 

proceed ings and what  we a lso  know is  tha t  tha t  pr iv i lege 

fo r  the  purposes o f  the  a f f idav i t  was waved.   

 Then the  th i rd  content ion  is  the  weakest  o f  a l l  o f  

them.   What  i s  submi t ted  is  tha t  la rge  par ts  o f  the  ev idence 

are  i r re levant  and o f  l i t t le  probat ive  va lue .   Now 

Cha i rperson,  i f  I  cou ld  take  you p lease to  paragraph 28.3  10 

o f  the  a f f idav i t  a t  page 15 and I  wou ld  inv i te  you 

Cha i rperson to  read th rough these  var ious paragraphs and 

ask yourse l f  how conce ivab ly  can these th ings tha t  a re  

l i s ted  he re  be  i r re levant .   

 In  fac t  i t  i s  hard  to  imag ine  w i th  respect  a  g reater  

re levance to  the  work  o f  th is  commiss ion  w i th in  some o f  

the  th ings tha t  a re  l i s ted  in  th is  pa rag raph.    

CHAIRPERSON:   I  see ,  ja  I  see pa r t i cu la r l y  28 .3 .6 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   So . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Th i s  i s  h igh l y  admiss ib le .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l l  th ree  legs tha t  a re  re l ied  upon are  

w i thout  mer i t .   We then come to  the  in  camera  par t  o f  

th ings and rea l l y  what  I  want  to  jus t  d i rec t  your  a t ten t ion  to  
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i f  I  may,  i s  parag raphs 34 and 35 o f  our  submiss ions .   

 Of  course  Cha i rperson,  what  needs to  be  done here  

is  there  must  be  a  comparab le  wa i t ing  o f  compet ing  r igh ts  

o r  in te res ts .   That  i s  what  caused th is .   As  in  the  case o f  

cour ts ,  one o f  the  fac tors  to  be  we ighed in  the  ba lance,  i s  

the  impor tance o f  re ta in ing  the  t rus t  and conf idence o f  the  

pub l i c  in  the  proceed ings o f  the  commiss ion ,  and a lso  in  i t s  

eventua l  f ind ings and recommendat ion .   

CHAIRPERSON:   I  guess tha t  i t  does not  he lp  Mr  

So lomon’s  case tha t  h is  c l ien t  was  a  pub l i c  representa t i ve .   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l ,  p rec i se ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  does not  he lp  tha t  case.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   DCJ,  what  we do is  we s igh t  some 

author i t ies  a t  foo tno te  19 .   I f  I  cou ld  p lease take  you  to  the 

f lag  tha t  we have  a t  the  end o f  our  heads.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Where  we reproduce those th ree  

quota t ions,  a l l  judgments  o f  the  const i tu t iona l  cour t .   

Obv ious l y  a l l  in  d i f fe ren t  contex ts .   But  what  s t r i kes  a  

par t i cu la r  cord  w i th  us ,  i s  Sh inga a t  the  bo t tom.   Paragraph  20 

25.    

 The sect ion  makes dangerous in roads in to  our  

sys tem o f  jus t i ce ,  wh ich  ord inar i l y  requ i res  cour t  

p roceed ings tha t  a f fec t  the  r igh ts  o f  par t ies  to  be  heard  in  

pub l i c .    
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 These were  cr im ina l  appea ls  in  chambers .   I t  

p rov ides tha t  an  appea l  can be  determined by  a  judge 

beh ind  c losed doors  and we say tha t  th is  i s  equa l ly  

[ ind is t inc t ]  and par t i cu la r ly  impor tan t .   No member  o f  the  

pub l i c  w i l l  know what  t ransp i red .  

 Nobody can be present  a t  the  hear ing .   Far  f rom 

hav ing  any mer i t ,  the  prov is ions is  amicab le  to  the  ru le  o f  

the  law,  to  the  const i tu t iona l  mandate  o f  t ransparency in to  

jus t i ce  i t se l f ,  and  the  danger  must  no t  be  underest imated.   

Those cour t  p roceed ings car ry  w i th in  them the  seeds fo r  10 

ser ious po tent ia l  damage to  eve ry  p i l la r  on  wh ich  every  

const i tu t iona l  democracy is  based .  

 And then i f  I  cou ld  take  you to  parag raph 35 and 

th is  i s  the  po in t  tha t  you were  ra is ing  w i th  our  learned  

f r iend:  

“The Commiss ion  is  h is to r ica l l y  g ran ted app l i ca t ions  

to  main l y  p ro tec t  the  ident i t y  o f  w i tnesses whose  

ev idence is  lead before  the  Commiss ion .   Those  

app l i ca t ions were  founded upon secur i t y  th rea ts  to  

the  l i ves  and sa fe ty  o f  w i tnesses,  the  Wi tness  20 

Pro tec t ion  Act  o r  the  leg is la t i ve  and regu la to ry  

f rameworks  compel led  a  non-d isc losure  o f  tha t  

en t i t y  o f  persons  or  c lass i f ied  in fo rmat ion .   Even in  

those grave c i r cumstances,  the  presenta t ion  o f  

ev idence was not  p roh ib i ted  in  any  mater ia l  respect  
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f rom pub l ic  consumpt ion  wh ich  the  app l i cant  seeks  

to  ach ieve. ”  

And perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  –  because i t  i s  cent ra l  and we  

dea l t  w i th  i t  today,  where  the  ev idence o f  the  th ree  

Transnet  d r i vers ,  w i tnesses 1 ,  2  and 3  were  hear  in  

camera ,  they s t i l l  appeared,  they gave ev idence .   Yes,  

the i r  faces were  b lanked out ,  there  is  s t i l l  a  t ranscr ip t  o f  

the i r  a f f idav i t ,  there  i s  s t i l l  an  a f f idav i t  re la t ing  to  the  

ev idence.   What  Mr  G igaba i s  fo r  you to  shut  down th i s  

venue and fo r  t he  pub l i c  to  know noth ing  about  what  10 

happens l i te ra l l y  beh ind  c losed doors  save fo r  what  you  

may wr i te  in  your  repor t .   We say there  i s  s imp ly  no  bas is  

fo r  tha t .   I  do  no t  know whethe r  Mr  So lomon dea l t  w i th  the  

app l i ca t ion  fo r  c ross-examinat ion  bu t  we on ly  have one  

po in t  to  make.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink  he  d id  no t  bu t  he  m ight  have 

ment ioned some th ings re la t ing  to  these tha t  a re  

ment ioned in  the  cross-examinat ion  app l i ca t ion  bu t  I  sa id 

to  h im le t  us  leave out  the  cross -examinat ion  app l i ca t ion  

fo r  another  day.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you .   So,  Cha i rpe rson,  the  

bo t tom l ine  he re  is  th is  i s  a  h igh ly  re levant  and admiss ib le  

a f f idav i t ,  i t  wou ld  do  fundamenta l  damage to  the  pub l i c  

percept ion  o f  th is  Commiss ion  i f  we were  to  go  l i te ra l l y  

beh ind  doors .  
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 And then inso far  as  Ms Gigaba ’s  le t te r  i s  

concerned,  I  do  no t  want  to  p re judge what  Ms G igaba ’s  

counse l  may o r  may not  make o f  th is  le t te r  bu t  i t  i s  no t  

c lea r  to  me tha t  Ms Gigaba is  say ing  tha t  she is  no t  

coopera t ing  w i th  the  Commiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  th ink  on  the  cont rary… 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    She rea f f i rms o r  a f f i rms her  coopera t ion  

f rom what  I  –  the  b i t  tha t  I  have  read,  she seems to  be  

suggest ing  tha t  i t  m igh t  no t  even have been necessary  fo r  10 

a  summons to  be  issued.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  tha t  is  the  po in t  I  want  to  make  

in  conc lus ion ,  DCJ.   Paragraphs 10 and 11,  the  las t  

sentence o f  10 :  

“We are  ava i lab le  to  d iscuss the  way fo rward  in  the  

sp i r i t  o f  coopera t ion  and c i v ic  du ty. ”  

And then paragraph 11,  a t  the  end,  she sa id  tha t  she has 

been t rea ted  poor ly  by  the  Commiss ion ,  she has now been  

summoned wi th  been g iven an oppor tun i t y  to  make 

submiss ions as  to  the  necess i ty  f o r  the  summons.   So yes,  20 

she compla ined about  the  way tha t  she has been hand led ,  

the  Commiss ion  is  an  open book,  she must  vent i la te  tha t  

on  the  record ,  i f  she  is  a l lowed to  g ive  ev idence,  and those 

th ings must  be  dea l t  w i th .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    I f  there  are  er rors  in  her  a f f idav i t  

we l l ,  those must  be  cor rec ted .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Those are  our  submiss ions.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Thank you.   Mr  

So lomon can I  g ive  you seven minutes  in  response? 

ADV SOLOMON SC:    That  shou ld  su f f i ce ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    Cha i r,  we  do not  agree w i th  our  

learned f r iend ’s  character i sa t ion  o f  our  app l i ca t ion  as  10 

based on the  th ree  legs tha t  he  has a rgued.   We say tha t  

our  app l i ca t ion  dea ls  w i th  spousa l  tes t imon ia l  p r iv i lege,  

wh ich  is  the  compel lab i l i t y  i ssue ,  wh ich  he  has no t  dea l  

w i th .    

We say tha t  we have ra i sed tha t  i ssue and we say  

tha t  on  a  proper  read ing  o f  her  l e t te r  she has ra i sed the 

compel lab i l i t y  i ssue and where  someone has a  w i tness who  

is  no t  d i s respect fu l  o f  the  Commiss ion  in  the  sense tha t  

she re fuses to  come to  the  Commiss ion  –  she says  she is  

coopera t ing  w i th  the  Commiss ion  bu t ,  as  we read i t ,  she  is  20 

exerc is ing  he r  spousa l  tes t imon ia l  p r iv i lege concern ing  

compel lab i l i t y  and in  tha t  sense she shou ld  no t  be  

compel led  to  tes t i f y.  

 Second po in t  we have re l ied  up  is  the  mar i ta l  

communica t ions pr iv i lege and tha t  i s  Sect ions 198 and 199 



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 228 of 416 
 

o f  the  Cr im ina l  P rocedure  Act  and we make the  po in t ,  

wh ich  our  l earned f r iend,  w i th  respect ,  has no t  addressed,  

tha t  spousa l  tes t imony o f  p r iv i lege  means a  spouse  cannot  

be  compel led  to  g ive  ev idence in  c r im ina l  p roceed ings 

aga ins t  the i r  spouse a t  a l l  and we say the re  is  no  reason 

why tha t  shou ld  no t  app ly  in  these par t i cu la r  c i r cumstances  

to  the  Commiss ion  and the  work  o f  the  Commiss ion  and 

inso fa r  as  th is  par t i cu la r  app l i ca t ion  is  concerned and we 

submi t  tha t  i t  app l ies  fo r  two reasons.    

 The d i scre t ion  tha t  you have in  te rms o f  Sect ion  10 

3(4 )  o f  the  Commiss ions Act  and  second ly,  i t  i s  p r inc ipa l l y  

to  p ro tec t  the  ins t i tu t ion  o f  marr iage,  no t  jus t  an  accused,  

so  i t  i s  fa r  beyond the  nar row a rgument  tha t  our  learned 

f r iend is  evok ing  and we submi t  tha t  Mrs  G igaba is  bo th  no t  

a  compel lab le  w i tness and is  a l so  en t i t led  to  ra ise  mar i ta l  

communica t ion  p r iv i lege in  response to  quest ions  ar is ing  

ou t  o f  the  mar i ta l  re la t ionsh ip .   And the  mere  fac t  tha t  she  

ment ions i ssues re levant  to  the  mandate  does not  a f fo rd  

the  na ture  o f  her  ev idence,  p robat ive  we igh t  o r  render  he r  

compel lab le  in  the  sense tha t  our  learned f r iend a l though 20 

has no t  a rgued but  by  imp l ica t ion .  

 And o f  cou rse ,  Cha i r,  we make the  po in t  s t rong ly  

tha t  i f  the  s ta te  capture  lega l  team accepts  tha t  her  

ev idence may be  ta in ted  by  improper  mot ive  and tha t  th is  

i s  a  mat te r  fo r  ev idence,  tha t  po in t  on ly  rea l l y  bo l s te rs  our  
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a rgument  tha t  c red ib i l i t y  needs to  be  tes ted  and th is  i s  no t  

the  fo rum to  descend in to  mar i ta l  d isputes  and go and tes t  

c red ib i l i t y.  

 So,  Cha i r,  in  regard  to  the  f i rs t  leg  o f  our  

app l i ca t ion  we submi t  tha t  our  learned f r iend has  no t  pu t  

up  any compel l ing  reason why any o f  the  arguments  tha t  

we have advanced shou ld  no t  be  accepted.  

 Inso fa r  as  the  quest ion  o f  i n  camera  hear ings,  we  

have made our  submiss ions,  we s tand by  the  concern  we  

have tha t  where  in  c i rcumstances  such as  th is ,  g iven the  10 

s tance now adop ted by  Mrs  G igaba i t  wou ld  be  ex t remely  

pre jud ic ia l  par t i cu la r ly  to  the  ch i ld ren  born  o f  the  marr i age 

and we do not  agree w i th  our  learned  f r iend ’s  

character i sa t ion  o f  the  ev idence and how i t  may or  may not  

impact  upon fo r  tha t  ev idence to  be  a i red  fu l l y  in  the  fu l l  

g la re  o f  the  pub l i c  eye .   We wou ld  then aga in  ask  you  

Cha i r  to  upho ld  our  app l i ca t ion  tha t  the  a f f idav i t  be  found 

inadmiss ib le  and  tha t  she shou ld  no t  be  a l lowed to  g ive  

ev idence,  as  we have submi t ted ,  bu t  in  the  a l te rna t ive ,  i s  

she is ,  tha t  tha t  shou ld  be  done in  a  to ta l  p ro tec ted  20 

conf ident ia l  i n  camera  manner.   Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you,  Mr  So lomon.   P rayer  one i s  

c lea r,  p rayer  2A,  I  am not  sure  what  i t  means,  Mr  

So lomons.   Mr  So lomons?  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    I  am t ry ing  to  unmute  myse l f .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  I  am not  sue –  do  you pers is t  in  tha t  

p raye r?  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    Yes,  tha t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or  i s  tha t  fo r  la te r?  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    That  i s  fo r  la te r  we wou ld  submi t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  okay.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    Cha i r,  you need not  ru le  on  tha t  now.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes and then B  is  the  i n  camera  one.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja  and C?  10 

ADV SOLOMON SC:    I t  goes toge ther  w i th  B .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  C fo r  now o r  fo r  la te r?  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    I  th ink  i t  wou ld  be  –  i t  wou ld  go  –  i t  

wou ld  be  fo r  now,  Cha i r,  because i f  you agree  tha t  i t  

shou ld  be  he ld  i n  camera  you  w i l l  need to  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  i f  I  were  to  g rant  B  you wou ld  no t  

need C,  i s  i t  no t ,  because i t  wou ld  fo l low f rom B.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    I  th ink  so ,  Cha i r,  I  th ink  i t  i s  jus t  

be l t s  and braces but  I  th ink  you are  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  i f  I  am not  p repared to  g rant  B ,  what  20 

wou ld  tha t  make o f  C?  Would  i t  surv i ve  tha t  o r  no t?  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    No,  I  do  no t  th ink  there  wou ld  be  

much le f t  o f  C in  those c i r cumstances.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    And then D we have le f t  open .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  D we leave fo r  anothe r  day.  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And your  s ide  can remain  so  to  speak 

dominus l i t i s  i n  regard  to  tha t  a f te r  today in  te rms  o f  what  

i s  to  be  done and  when i t  i s  done,  we can look a t  tha t  and  

see to  what  ex ten t  a rgument  i s  necessary  or  whether  I  can  

jus t  dea l  w i th  i t  in  chambers  w i thout  hear ing  in  –  w i thout  

o ra l  a rgument .  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  we look a t  tha t  a f te r  today.  10 

ADV SOLOMON SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   I  am not  go ing  to  g ive  

reasons fo r  my dec is ion  bu t  i f  anybody w ishes to  have  

reasons they can make a  reques t  in  wr i t ing  and reasons  

wou ld  be  prov ided.  

RULING 

 Having heard  the  app l i ca t ion ,  I  am sat is f ied  tha t  Mr  

Malus i  Knowledge Nkanyez i  G igaba ’s  app l i ca t ion  fo r  p rayer  

one in  h is  no t ice  o f  mot ion  shou ld  be  d ismissed and i t  i s  

DISMISSED.  20 

 Wi th  regard  to  the  a l te rna t ive  in  p rayer  two tha t  

re la tes  to  Ms Mngoma,  Mrs  G igaba ’s  ev idence be ing  he r  i n  

camera ,  tha t  a lso  is  DISMISSED.  

 The app l i ca t ion  fo r  leave to  c ross-examine w i l l  be  

dea l t  w i th  a t  some o ther  s tage and  any o ther  re l ie f  tha t  the  
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app l i cant  makes i t  necessary  to  be  dea l t  w i th  a t  tha t  s tage,  

tha t  i s  covered by  the  no t ice  o f  mot ion .  

 That  i s  the  dec is ion ,  so  the  long and shor t  

…[ in te rvenes]  

ADV SOLOMON SC:    As  i t  p leases you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   The long and shor t  i s  tha t  Ms  

Mngoma,  Mrs  G igaba,  may g ive  ev idence and w i l l  do  so  in  

the  open.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    As  you p lease,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Sha l l  we take  ten  m inutes  10 

ad journment  and resume?  We wi l l  ad jou rn  fo r  ten  m inutes  

be fore  we resume.   We ad jou rn .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON :    A re  you ready,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  I  am,  Cha i rperson.   W i th  your  

leave I  unders tood tha t  my learned f r iend wou ld  l i ke  to  

address you.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay,  you can do so  f rom where  you 

are  i f  your  work  i s  work ing  and you w i l l  be  comfor tab le ,  20 

okay?  

ADV QOFA:    Thank you,  Cha i rperson,  I  was to ld  the  m ic  i s  

in  p roper  work ing  orde r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.  

ADV QOFA:    Through you,  Cha i r,  we have been requested 
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spec i f i ca l l y  by  Ms Gigaba tha t  i t  is  impor tan t  be fore  she is  

ca l led  to  address you tha t  the  contents  o f  the  le t te r  be 

p laced on reco rd  so  tha t  whatever  re fe rences she  has to  

make or  whatever  address she has to  make wou ld  be  

premises upon us  hav ing  p laced th is  le t te r  on  reco rd .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV QOFA:    Thank you very  much,  Cha i rpe rson .   I  w i l l  

there fo re  jus t  t ry  and go and swi f t l y  as  poss ib le  th rough 

the  le t te r  and i t  reads as  fo l lows.   Dated today:  

“The Honourab le  DCJ,  we re fe r  to  the  above mat te r  10 

and in  par t i cu la r  to  th is  a f te rnoon ’s  p roceed ings  

schedu led  fo r  the  hear ing  o f  Ms Gigaba ’s  

app l i ca t ion  as  we l l  as  the  lead ing  o f  Ms Magma’s ,  

our  c l ien t ’s  ev idence.    And impress ion  has been 

created,  i t  appears  fo r  us ,  wrong ly  tha t  our  c l ien t  i s  

re luc tan t  o r  re fuses to  coopera te  w i th  the  

Commiss ion .   We must  c la r i f y  a t  the  ou tse t  tha t  ou r  

c l ien t  does not  w ish  to  ac t  in  a  manner  wh ich  

undermines the  au thor i t y  o f  the  Commiss ion  or  the  

Cha i rperson.   She is  a  law-ab id ing  c i t i zen  who had 20 

w ished to  p lay  her  c iv i c  du ty  in  ass is t ing  the  

Commiss ion  to  the  best  o f  her  ab i l i t y.   She has  

ac ted  in  the  sp i r i t  th roughout  he r  engagement  w i th  

the  Commiss ion .   Our  c l ien t  a lso  has never  had 

d i rec t  encounter  w i th  Cha i rperson o f  the  
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Commiss ion ,  a  person she ho lds  in  ve ry  h igh  

regard .   Th is  i s  why she has dec ided tha t  th is  le t te r  

shou ld  be  addressed d i rec t l y  fo r  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  

Cha i rperson as  i t  i s  no t  c lear  whe ther  o r  no t  he  is  

fu l l y  aware  o f  the  issues ra ised here in .   Our  c l ien t  

has taken the  s tep  o f  communica t ing  d i rec t l y  w i th  

the  Cha i rperson because she be l i eves tha t  there  i s  

an imos i ty  exh ib i t ed  by  the  ev idence lead ing  team 

towards her  wh ich  has led  to  the  unnecessary  and  

inexp l i cab le  i ssu ing  o f  summons.   Our  c l ien t  i s  no t  10 

an  imp l ica ted  pe rson ye t  the  summons is  i ssued to  

compel  her  tes t imony as  though she i s  an  

imp l ica ted  person.   More  impor tan t ly,  she is  no t  a  

compel lab le  w i tness.   In  th is  le t te r  we w i l l  se t  ou r  

c l ien ts  concerns wh ich  we  unders tand the  

Cha i rperson has  ca l led  fo r  as  the  Commiss ion  i s  

aware .   Our  c l ien t  was prev ious ly  schedu led  to  g ive  

ev idence on the  9  Apr i l  2021 and th is  was  

subsequent ly  postponed a t  the  Commiss ion ’s  

ins tance to  the  13  Apr i l  2021.   However,  on  the  13  20 

Apr i l  we presented the  Commiss ion  w i th  a  le t te r  

s ta t ing  tha t  our  c l ien t ,  due to  cer ta in  const ra in t s  

tha t  she has,  wou ld  be  w i thdrawing  her  par t i c i pa t ion  

in  the  Commiss ion .   Th is  pos i t ion  was a l so  

re i te ra ted  when our  Ms Makat in i  appeared before  
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the  Commiss ion  on  the  a f te rnoon  o f  13  Apr i l  2021 .   

Dur ing  the  sa id  appearance the  Cha i rperson asked 

fo r  the  de ta i l s  o f  the  concerns tha t  our  c l ien t  had  

and unfor tunate l y  we had a t  the  t ime not  had an  

oppor tun i ty  to  consu l t  w i th  our  c l ien t  fo r  pu rposes  

o f  e l i c i t ing  the  de ta i l s  o f  concerns.   Fo l lowing the  

proceed ings o f  t he  13  Apr i l  2021  as  se t  ou t  here in  

above,  our  c l ien t  was se rved w i th  a  summons in  

te rms o f  Sect ion  3 .2  o f  the  Commiss ions Act  8  o f  

1907 w i th  ru les  o f  the  Jud ic ia l  Commiss ion  o f  10 

Inqu i ry  in to  a l legat ions o f  s ta te  capture ,  cor rup t ion  

and f raud in  the  pub l i c  sec to r  inc lud ing  organs o f  

s ta te  pub l i shed in  Government  Gazet te  41774 o f  16  

Ju l y  2018 to  appear  as  a  w i tness  to  g ive  ev idence 

before  the  Commiss ion  on  the  26  Apr i l  a t  four,  a t  

16h00.   The sa id  summons were  served a t  c l ien t ’s  

p lace  o f  res idence on the  16  Apr i l  2021 dur ing  her  

temporary  absence.   Our  c l ien t  rece ived the  

summons upon her  re tu rn  on  Monday 19 Apr i l  2021  

and fo rwarded same to  us  on  the  21  Apr i l  2021.   We 20 

have now had an oppor tun i ty  to  consu l t  w i th  our  

c l ien t  and she has re i te ra ted  tha t  she has a lways  

g iven the  Commiss ion  he r  fu l l  coopera t ion  and  

respect .   However,  the  concerns  ou t l ines  here in  

be low and wh ich  the  Cha i rpe rson requested tha t  our  
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c l ien t  shou ld  spe l l  ou t  in  de ta i l  have rendered i t  

d i f f i cu l t  fo r  her  to  cont inue ass i s t ing  the  

Commiss ion .   The concerns ra i sed by  our  c l ien t ,  

some o f  wh ich  have been brought  o t  the  

Commiss ion  in  the  past  our  hereby l i s ted  be low in  

compl iance w i th  the  d i rec t i ve  o f  the  Cha i rperson.  

8 .1  On the  eve o f  her  in i t ia l l y  schedu led  appearance  

before  the  Commiss ioner  8  Apr i l  2021 she had to  

consu l t  w i th  the  Commiss ion ’s  new ev idence leader,  

Adv Anton Myburgh SC,  who had rep laced Adv Pau l  10 

Pre tor ius  SC.   The change in  counse l  was  

dest ruc t i ve  as  our  c l ien t ’s  p rev ious counse l  had 

spec i f i ca l l y  d iscussed w i th  Adv Pre tor ius  tha t  he  

wou ld  lead he r  ev idence.   I t  a lso  became c lear  

dur ing  the  consu l ta t ion  tha t  Adv Myburgh had  

prev ious l y  no t  been favoured w i th  a  proper  

handover  repor t  o f  the  issues and  concerns a l ready 

ra ised w i th  Adv  Pre tor ius .   There  had  been a  few 

consu l ta t ions  be tween our  c l ien t  and Adv Pre tor ius  

prev ious l y  and s ign i f i can t  p rogress had been made  20 

in  p repar ing  our  c l ien t ’s  ev idence.   Th is  abrupt  

rep lacement  o f  the  ev idence leader  meant  tha t  ou r  

c l ien t  had to  go  th rough the  same process a l l  over  

aga in .   I t  i s  t raumat ic  fo r  our  c l ien t  to  be  fo rced to  

repeat  the  events  o f  her  tes t imony s ince he r  
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mar r i age is  in  a  s ta te  o f  co l lapse and the re  are  

m inor  ch i ld ren  invo l ved.   The Commiss ion  shows no  

cons idera t ion  and empathy [ ind is t inc t ]  when i t  

changes i t s  lega l  teams fo r  i t s  own und isc losed  

reasons.   Dur ing  the  a foresa id  consu l ta t ion  on  the  8  

Apr i l  2021 our  c l ien t  po in ted  out  to  the  ev idence  

leaders  tha t  there  were  cer ta in  fac ts  re f lec ted  in  the  

a f f idav i t  tha t  were  no t  in  her  pe rsona l  knowledge  

wh ich  needed to  be  d iscussed w i th  her  c la r i f ied .   AT 

the  t ime o f  i ssu ing  o f  the  summons th is  had not  10 

been addressed.   When these issues were  ra i sed 

w i th  the  ev idence lead ing  the  tone o f  Adv  

September  was accusatory  suggest ing  tha t  i t  was 

our  c l ien t ’s  fau l t  tha t  these er rors  were  no t  p icked 

up before  the  a f f idav i t s  submi t ted .   G iven her  s ta te  

o f  anx ie ty  about  the  ev idence wh ich  is  aga ins t  her  

cur ren t  husband and g ives de ta i l s  o f  her  mar r iage 

and ch i ld ren .   I t  i s  g ross l y  un fa i r  fo r  t he  

Commiss ion  ev idence leaders  to  seek to  sh i f t  b lame 

to  our  c l ien t .   Ins tead,  as  prev ious ly  suggested by  20 

Adv Myburgh and ag reed to  by  our  c l ien t ,  these  

aspects  cou ld  have been  c la r i f ied  in  a  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t .   Ser ious secur i t y  concerns  

per ta in ing  to  our  c l ien t ’s  sa fe ty  had to  been brought  

to  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  Commiss ion .   An under tak ing  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 238 of 416 
 

was made tha t  the  Commiss ion  wou ld  look in to  th is  

aspect .   Our  c l ien t  had not  heard  f rom the  

Commiss ion  in  th is  regard  nor  has she been  

a f fo rded any fo rm o f  secur i t y  o r  the  cour tesy  o f  an  

exp lanat ion  fo r  t he  fa i lu re  to  do  so .   Our  c l ien t ’s  

f i rs t  a f f idav i t  was leaked to  the  med ia  and she 

brought  he r  d issa t is fac t ion  w i th  th is  to  the  a t ten t ion  

o f  the  Commiss ion .   Th is  aspect  exacerbated our  

c l ien t ’s  secur i t y  concerns.   The Commiss ion  

under took tha t  i t  wou ld  invest iga te  the  source  o f  the  10 

leak and rever t  to  our  c l ien t .   No update  has to  da te  

been fu rn ished by  the  Commiss ion  to  our  c l ien t  

a round th is  i ssue .   Our  c l ien t  a lso  h igh l igh ted  to  the  

Commiss ion  her  d iscomfo r t  about  the  Commiss ion  

shar ing  he r  a f f idav i t  w i th  A jay  Gupta  w i thout  

in fo rmed her  o r  her  lega l  team.   I t  i s  ment ioned tha t  

A jay  Gupta  was imp l ica ted  but  he  has no t  been in  

the  count ry  s ince  the  Commiss ion  s ta r ted  and the re  

was no bas is  to  share  the  a f f idav i t  w i th  h im.   The  

Commiss ion  has been wrong ly  suggest ing  tha t  our  20 

c l ien t  vo lun teered to  come to  the  Commiss ion  when 

the  cor rec t  vers ion  is  tha t  she was approached by  

the  Commiss ion ’s  Mr  Sakh i le  Masuku in  December  

2020 and she  in  tu rn  agreed to  ass is t  the  

Commiss ion  in  compl iance w i th  her  c i v ic  du ty  and  
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as  a  law-ab id ing  c i t i zen .   The le t te r  must  be  read  

together  w i th  ou r  le t te r  da ted  13  Apr i l  2021.   We 

t rus t  tha t  the  above does se t  ou t  the  reasons fo r  

our  c l ien t ’s  non-appearance on the  13  Apr i l  and 

demonst ra te  tha t  her  dec is ion  to  do  so  was not  in  

de f iance o f  the  Commiss ion  bu t  emanates  f rom 

ser ious concerns  wh ich  the  Commiss ion  has fa i led  

to  address.   Th is  i s  fu r ther  demonst ra ted  by  our  

c l ien t ’s  dec i s ion  to  a t tend phys ica l l y  today in  o rder  

to  exp la in  her  s tance wh ich  she wou ld  have done  10 

even in  the  absence o f  the  un lawfu l  [ indist inct  – 

dropping vo ice]  We do not  be l ieve  tha t  the  host i le  

and heavy-handed a t t i tude adopted by  the  ev idence 

leaders  have ass is ted  the  process .   Our  c l ien t  has  

taken a  r i sky  dec is ion  to  tes t i f y  a t  her  own expense 

and tha t  o f  he r  ch i ld ren .   She is  now be ing  

por t rayed as  a  v i l la in  who i s  in  b reach o f  the  

Cha i rperson ’s  d i rec t ion  wh ich  is  bo th  wrong and 

unfor tunate .   We are  ava i lab le  to  d iscuss the  way  

fo rward  in  the  sp i r i t  o f  coopera t ion  and c i v ic  du ty.   20 

In  the  to ta l i t y  o f  the  c i rcumstances our  c l ien t  i s  o f  

the  f i rm v iew tha t  the  conduct  o f  the  Commiss ion  

towards her  has  been abus ive ,  d iscr im inatory  and  

d is respect fu l  and  no regard  has been g i ven to  her  

r igh ts  and the  t raumat ic  exper iences she has had to  
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endure  a t  the  hands o f  o ther  law enforcement  

agenc ies  in  the  past  n ine  months ,  ins tead these 

exper iences are  be ing  repeated  fo r  no  jus t i f ied  

reason.   She has now been summoned wi thou t  

be ing  g i ven an oppor tun i ty  to  make submiss ions as  

to  the  necess i ty  o f  [ ind is t inc t  –  d ropp ing  vo ice ] .   We 

t rus t  tha t  the  above is  in  o rder.   I f  the  Cha i rperson 

deems i t  necessary,  the  above  issues w i l l  be  

e labora ted  upon in  an  open fo rum. ”  

The le t te r  was s igned Yours  fa i th fu l l y,  RMC At to rneys.    10 

 Cha i rperson,  th is  i s  bas ica l l y  the  le t te r  tha t  we are  

aware ,  Cha i rperson,  has been in  hear ings the  who le  day  

today and unfor tunate l y  as  a  resu l t  wou ld  have been  

unab le  to  l ook  a t  the  contents  o f  th is  le t te r.   However,  what  

seek to  do ,  Cha i rperson,  i s  to  persuade the  Cha i rpe rson to  

cons ider  th i s  le t te r  and,  i f  necessary,  a l low Ms Gigaba to  

have the  oppor tun i ty  to  say Cha i rperson,  I  am here  

because I  respect  w i thout  fa i l  the  process o f  th is  

Commiss ion .   She ra ised var ious  concerns,  Cha i rperson,  

wh ich  have been  l i s ted  in  parag raph 8  and a l l  she  does,  20 

Cha i rperson,  i s  to  say I  am humb ly  request ing  tha t  these  

issues tha t  I  ra ise  be  cons idered and i f  th is  le t te r  fa i l s  to  

persuade the  Cha i rperson,  then Ms  Gigaba is  here  and she  

w i l l  be  ab le  to  exp la in  any  o ther  i ssues tha t  the  

Cha i rperson w ishes [ ind is t inc t  –  d ropp ing  vo ice ] .   However,  
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i f  there  i s  anyth ing  e lse  tha t  the  Cha i rperson wou ld  l i ke  me 

to  v is i t  be fore  you proceed,  Cha i rperson,  I  w i l l  be  happy to  

do  so .  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   But  i s  the  pos i t ion  

tha t  she is  here  on  the  bas is  tha t  a l though she has  

concerns she is  happy to  ass is t  the  Commiss ion  o r  i s  the  

pos i t ion  tha t  she  has concerns,  she is  on ly  here  because 

she is  compel led  th rough the  summons,  o therw ise  she  

wou ld  no t  l i ke  to  be  here?  

ADV QOFA:    Cha i rperson,  I  w i l l  s tea l  your  words,  ac tua l l y  10 

you summed i t  qu i te  we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  want  to  know …[ in tervenes ]  

ADV QOFA:    A l r igh t ,  Cha i r,  I  th ink  you have summed i t  

qu i te  we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because Mr  So lomon was in te rpre t ing  

the  le t te r  in  a  cer ta in  way,  tha t  i s  t he  a t to rney ’s  le t te r,  and  

I  had rece ived  a  cer ta in  impress ion  o f  i t  wh ich  was  

d i f fe ren t  f rom what  he  was say ing ,  so  I  want  to  hear  f rom 

you exact ly  what  her  pos i t ion  is .  

ADV QOFA:    Cha i rperson,  maybe  I  shou ld  s ta r t  f rom the  20 

onset  by  say ing  f i rs t  o f  a l l ,  Ms Gigaba fee l s  i t  i s  o f  

paramount  impor tance tha t  i f  she  can ass is t  the 

Commiss ion  in  any way she w i l l  be  happy to  do  so .   The  

on ly  g rave concerns tha t  she had,  Cha i rperson,  i s  tha t  the  

a f f idav i t  be fore  you does not  demonst ra te  –  f i rs t  i t  conta ins  
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in fo rmat ion  tha t  –  ce r ta in  in fo rmat ion  tha t  i s  no t  w i th in  

knowledge,  ce r ta in  in fo rmat ion  tha t  she has d ispu ted and 

cer ta in  in fo rmat ion  tha t  she does  not  ag ree w i th  and she  

says,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  un less  tha t  i s  b rought  c lear ly  and  

exp l i c i t l y  to  the  Commiss ion  so  tha t  the  Cha i r  i s  aware ,  

amongst  o the rs ,  tha t  fo r  ins tance Ms Gigaba is  no t  happy  

w i th  pa ragraphs 1 ,  2 ,  3 ,  4 ,  6  o r  1 ,  2 ,  3  and she says un less  

tha t  i s  made c lea r  to  the  Commiss ion  then the  Cha i rperson 

and the  Repub l ic  w i l l  be  under  the  unders tand ing  tha t  what  

i s  conta ined in  tha t  a f f idav i t  i s  what  Ms Gigaba is  say ing .   10 

Hence she is  say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  th rough you,  I  am happy 

to  f i le  an  a f f idav i t  to  ident i f y  fo r  the  Cha i rperson a l l  the  

aspects  tha t  I  say  do  not  re f lec t  tha t  wh ich  I  wou ld  want  to  

communica te  to  the  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV QOFA:    I  do  a lso  need to  emphas ise  tha t  she does 

[ ind is t inc t ] ,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  indeed she is  no t  a  

compel lab le  w i tness,  she says so  and she  says,  

Cha i rperson,  she  be l ieves tha t  she en joys  the  pr i v i lege – 

the  long d iscuss ions tha t  was had  ear l ie r,  Cha i rperson,  no t  20 

on ly  the  pr i v i lege tha t  fa l l s  under  mar i ta l  p r iv i lege,  

Cha i rperson,  fu r ther  the  p r iv i lege aga ins t  se l f - incr im inat ion  

and,  Cha i rpe rson ,  what  i s  c r i t i ca l  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  the  one  o f  se l f - incr im inat ion  is  

separa te .  
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ADV QOFA:    Indeed.   Indeed,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  tha t  s tands  on a  d i f fe ren t  foo t ing .   

Ja ,  okay,  cont inue?  

ADV QOFA:    Indeed,  Cha i rperson,  abso lu te ly,  I  agree.   

So,  Cha i rpe rson,  what  she is  jus t  s imp ly  say ing  is ,  i t  i s  

impor tan t  fo r  her  to  demonst ra te  t o  the  Cha i r  tha t  she w i l l  

no t  d is respect  the  d i rec t ion  o f  th is  Commiss ion .   She 

expresses he r  re luc tance in  th is  le t te r  no t  on ly  on  the  

bas is  tha t  she fee ls  she is  uncompel lab le [s ic ]  w i tness but  

she ra ises  a  p le thora  o f  i ssues tha t  she fee l s  have  caused  10 

her  even fu r ther  d iscomfo r t  fo r  pa r t i c ipa t ing  fu r ther  in  the  

Commiss ion .   Now,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  i s  l i ke  you are  confus ing  me even  

more  because when  you s tar ted  I  thought  you sa id  she i s  

say ing  she is  happy to  ass is t  the  Commiss ion ,  she th inks  i t  

i s  an  impor tan t  job  tha t  i t  i s  do ing  bu t  she jus t  has cer ta in  

concerns and par t i cu la r ly  she is  concerned tha t  in  her  

a f f idav i t  there  may be cer ta in  o r  there  are  cer ta in  par ts  

wh ich  are  no t  w i th in  her  pe rsona l  knowledge and she wou ld  

l i ke  or  she wou ld  have l i ked  to  have done a  supp lementa ry  20 

a f f idav i t  wh ich  wou ld  have ident i f ied  those.   Now tha t  is  

no t  a  p rob lem,  tha t  i s  somebody who says I  want  to  ass is t  

bu t  there  is  a  p rob lem wi th  some o f  the  – some par t s  o f  the  

a f f idav i t  bu t  then when you went  on  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV QOFA:    Cha i rperson,  I  was go ing  to  po in t  two.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Or  i s  the  ins t ruc t ions tha t  a re  d i f f i cu l t?  

ADV QOFA:    So ,  I  am sor ry,  Cha i rperson,  maybe I  am 

probab ly  t r ipp ing  ove r  myse l f  in  the  process,  I  do  

apo log ise .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV QOFA:    Bu t  tha t  i s  the  f i rs t  par t  to  say I  am unhappy 

w i th  aspects  o f  my a f f idav i t  fo r  the  reasons I  w i l l  be 

advanc ing .   Then  she goes fu r the r,  she says I  come here  

w i th  abso lu te  respect  fo r  the  Commiss ion  and a  c iv ic  du ty  

tha t  I  take  very  ser ious l y  and she sa id  tha t  be ing  the  case,  10 

I  am marr ied  to  Mr  G igaba s t i l l .   She sa id  I  be l ieve  fo r  tha t  

reason a lone,  I  am not  a  compel lab le  w i tness.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And there fore  I  wou ld  no t  l i ke  to  be  here  

i f  I  have a  cho ice .  

ADV QOFA:    I f  I  have a  cho ice  I  wou ld  ra ther  no t  be  here .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  I  th ink  tha t  answers  my quest ion ,  

no t  here  by  cho ice .  

ADV QOFA:    No,  she is  no t  here  by  cho ice .  

CHAIRPERSON :    She is  here  because o f  the  summons.  

ADV QOFA:    Indeed,  Cha i rpe rson .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :   Okay.  

ADV QOFA:    Not  on ly  the  summons but  she ra i sed tha t  

very  i ssue,  Cha i rperson,  in  the  las t  paragraph o f  the  le t te r  

where  she says  I  am concerned w i th  the  fac t  tha t  an  

impress ion  has  been created  out  there  tha t  I  have 
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vo lun tee red to  come to  the  Commiss ion  when in  fac t  I  was  

ca l led  by  the  Commiss ion  on  th is  par t i cu la r  da te  and so  on  

and so  on .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .   Wel l ,  I  seem to  have –  I  seem 

to  remember  tha t  she gave an in te rv iew to  one o f  the  

te lev is ion  s ta t ions and she sa id  she wou ld  be  prepared to  

g ive  ev idence be fore  the  Commiss ion  i f  she  was asked to ,  

i s  tha t  no t  t rue?  

ADV QOFA:    Cha i rperson,  to  quote  her  spec i f i ca l l y  –  and I  

hope I  quote  i t  as  verbat im as  she sa id  i t .   The response to  10 

the  quest ion  o f  whethe r  o r  no t  she wou ld  be  w i l l i ng  to  

come to  the  Commiss ion  was,  i f  I  am requested  by  the 

Commiss ion  to  come th rough,  I  w i l l  be  happy to  ass i s t  my 

husband in  i ssues where  he  needs me to  he lp  h im 

remember.   I  w i l l  no t  go  fu r ther  than tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV QOFA:    Bu t  tha t  i s  the  response tha t  she gave  

spec i f i ca l l y  to  tha t  quest ion .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  okay,  a l r i gh t .   A l r igh t ,  thank you.   

Le t  me say,  as  I  sa id  ear l ie r  on ,  i t  i s  the  du ty  o f  the 20 

Commiss ion  when i t  becomes aware  o f  anybody who might  

have knowledge  o f  in fo rmat ion  about  mat te rs  tha t  fa l l  

w i th in  i t s  te rms o f  re fe rence to  approach tha t  person and  

seek ev idence,  seek a  s ta tement ,  seek an a f f idav i t  and i f  i t  

i s  sa t is f ied  tha t  the  person knows mat te rs  tha t  a re  re levant  
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and  mate r ia l  to  the  Commiss ion  to  ask  tha t  person  to  make  

themse lves ava i lab le  and i f  they  are  no t  p repared to  make 

themse lves ava i l ab le  to  tes t i f y  un less  they are  compel led ,  

to  compel  then.  

ADV QOFA:    Indeed,  Cha i rpe rson .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  you might  jus t  be  ta l k ing  on  

te lev is ion  o r  you g ive  an  in te rv iew to  a  newspaper,  you say  

someth ing ,  i f  the  Commiss ion  becomes aware  tha t  you may  

be hav ing  knowledge o f  mat te rs  tha t  i t  i s  in te res ted  in ,  i t  

w i l l  approach you .  10 

ADV QOFA:    Indeed,  Cha i rpe rson .  

CHAIRPERSON :    And i t  wou ld  be  dere l i c t ion  o f  du ty  i f  the 

Commiss ion  wou ld  be  aware  o f  tha t  and not  approach you  

when i t  appears  tha t  you may have in fo rmat ion  tha t  fa l l s  

w i th in  the  te rms o f  re fe rence.  

ADV QOFA:    Indeed,  Cha i rpe rson ,  I  agree to ta l l y.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay,  a l r igh t ,  thank you.   And then  

le t  me jus t  ment ion  th is .   A l l  concerns tha t  your  c l ien t  has  

about  how the  Commiss ion  may  have t rea ted  her,  how 

invest iga to rs  may have t rea ted  her  o r  the  l ega l  team,  20 

requests  tha t  she may have made or  whatever,  she is  –  

there  is  no  prob lem ar t i cu la t ing  them.   I  w i l l  hea r  Mr  

Myburgh who might  be  ab le  to  say someth ing  about  them or  

some o f  them e i t her  now or  a t  a  la te r  s tage when they have 

had enough t ime to  look  a t  the  con tents  o f  the  le t te r  bu t  we 
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a re  in te res ted  in  mak ing  sure  tha t  i f  anybody has concerns  

and  they a r t i cu la ted  them,  we look a t  them and where  we  

th ink  the  concerns have got  mer i t ,  we w i l l  say  so .   Where  

they can be addressed,  we want  them to  be  addressed.  

ADV QOFA:    Indeed so ,  Cha i rpe rson.   In  fac t ,  tha t  i s  the  

very  reason why  Ms Gigaba ac tua l l y  sa id  –  I  th ink  i t  i s  

impor tan t ,  I  th ink  to  some exten t  the  Cha i r  i s  no t  aware  o f  

the  concerns tha t  I  keep ra i s ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Ja ,  ja ,  ja .  

ADV QOFA:    And i f  I  do  no t  le t  the  Cha i r  in to  the  p ic tu re  10 

o f  my concerns… 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  

ADV QOFA:    Then i t  means I  wou ld  have not  on ly  been 

unfa i r  to  the  Commiss ion  bu t  a t  a l l  t imes the  Cha i r  wou ld  

be l ieve  tha t  eve ry th ing  is  go ing  per fec t l y  we l l  and tha t  

there  i s  no  reason why I  am not  p resent ing  myse l f  as  I  

shou ld .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  no ,  no ,  tha t  i s  ve ry  impor tan t .   I  th ink 

ear l ie r  today I  may have made –  I  may have re fer red  to  Mr  

Montana who was g iv ing  las t  week,  fo rmer  Group CEO of  20 

PRASA,  he  had h is  own concerns,  he  chose to  come and  

make h i s  request  very  respect fu l l y,  a r t i cu la ted  h i s  concerns 

and they are  be ing  looked in to .   Those tha t  can  s t i l l  be 

addressed,  a t tempts  wou ld  be  made to  address them and 

he was a l lowed  to  cont inue to  g ive  ev idence.   He is  
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coopera t ing  w i th  the  Commiss ion  and my own sense is  tha t  

i f  anybody asks h im he wou ld  te l l  them tha t  he  is  be ing  

heard  fa i r l y  bu t  h is  concerns w i l l  be  looked a t  and the  

Commiss ion  w i l l  go  back to  h im and say on  th is  one,  we  

agree on th is  one ,  we do not  agree on th is  one,  th is  i s  the 

pos i t ion  so  tha t  he  knows what  has been done about  tha t .   

So …[ in tervenes]  

ADV QOFA:    Indeed,  Cha i rperson,  I  th ink  Ms Gigaba is  

there fo re  r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  same th ing  w i th  Ms Mngoma,  Ms  10 

G igaba,  and I  th ink  she w i l l  te l l  me jus t  now wh ich  she  

pre fe rs  I  must  use .   I f  she  has any  concerns we w i l l  look  a t  

them and some we might  no t  be  ab le  to  address bu t  those 

tha t  we can address we t r y  and  address and where  the  

Commiss ion  or  the  lega l  team o r  invest iga tors  m ight  no t  

have gone back to  he r,  they t ry  and go back to  her  on  

those.  

ADV QOFA:    Thank you very  much ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  thank you.   But  maybe one th ing  

tha t  I  can say about  the  change  o f  the  ev idence leader  20 

because I  d id  hear  tha t  she exp ressed a  concern  about  

tha t .   I  must  say  tha t  I  am respons ib le  fo r  tha t .   So i t  i s  no t  

Mr  Myburgh ’s  fau l t  and i t  i s  no t  fo r  any reason o ther  than 

s imp ly  tha t  Mr  P re tor ius  i s  busy w i th  ce r ta in  mat te rs ,  Mr  

Myburgh was busy w i th  cer ta in  mat te rs  a t  a  ce r ta in  t ime 
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and I  sa id  tha t  in  these c i r cumstances le t  Mr  Myburgh dea l  

w i th  the  mat te r  and –  so  i t  i s  no th ing  –  bu t  I  unders tand  

tha t  somet imes a  par t i cu la r  person might  f ind  tha t  maybe 

they dea l  be t te r  w i th  a  pa r t i cu la r  person or  maybe  tha t  i s  

no t  the  issue,  i t  i s  jus t  tha t  she  had to  now s tar t  a f resh 

w i th  somebody and te l l  the  same s tory,  so  – bu t  tha t  

dec is ion  came f rom me and i t  was s imp ly  a  way o f  t ry ing  to  

see how best  to  use our  resources.  

ADV QOFA:    Indeed,  Cha i rperson,  and I  th ink  she 

def in i te ly  unders tands tha t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes ,  yes .  

ADV QOFA:    And in  a l l  honesty  the  schedu le  o f  the  

Commiss ion  has been qu i te  hect ic .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  

ADV QOFA:    And I  do  no t  th ink  anybody is  no t  aware  o f  

tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes ,  i t  happens qu i te  f requent ly.   

Ac tua l l y  even today I  jus t  made another  change in  another  

work  s t ream and sa id  okay,  th is  one w i l l  dea l  w i th  tha t ,  th is  

one w i l l  dea l  w i th  tha t ,  so  i t  happens qu i te  f requent ly.   20 

Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV QOFA:    Thank you very  much ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  thank you.   Mr  Myburgh ,  wou ld  

you l i ke  to  say someth ing?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Cha i rperson,  sub jec t  to  your  
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d i rec t ion  I  wou ld  pre fe r  to  lead Ms Gigaba ’s  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  cer ta in l y  do  in tend to  respond to  

th is .  

CHAIRPERSON :    A t  some s tage,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  I  wou ld  no t  l i ke  tha t  to  in te r fe re  

w i th  the  presenta t ion  o f  her  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    As you have ment ioned there  m ight  

be  th ings he re  tha t  we need to  invest iga te  and look  a t  a  b i t  10 

more  ca re fu l l y.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   Good even ing ,  Ms  

Mngoma and you must  te l l  us  how you w ish  to  be  

addressed.   I s  i t  Ms Mngoma o r  Ms Gigaba or  e i ther  i s  

f ine?  Which  one do you pre fer?   E i ther  i s  f ine?   Okay,  

a l r igh t .   Okay,  you have been l i s ten ing  to  the  d iscuss ion ,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?   The one th ing  wh ich  I  d id  no t  ment ion  to  your  

counse l  and maybe she –  we l l ,  she  is  l i s ten ing ,  i s  the  issue  

o f  a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t .   I  wou ld  imag ine  tha t  she  

shou ld  be  f ine  w i th  a  s i tua t ion  where  as  she goes a long 20 

w i th  her  a f f idav i t ,  w i th  her  ev idence,  she can po in t  ou t  

what  she wou ld  have co r rec ted  in  a  supp lementary  

a f f idav i t ,  i s  tha t  f ine?  Jus t  po in t  on  your  m ic .  

ADV QOFA:    Thank you,  I  thought  to  ind ica te ,  Cha i r,  tha t  

when …[ in te rvenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON :    I f  necessary  she can f i le  i t  la te r  on  bu t  

as  she goes a long she says no ,  th is  i s  no t  accura te  or  

someth ing .   Would  tha t  be  f ine?  

ADV QOFA:    I  wou ld  abso lu te ly  p robab ly  reques t  tha t  i t  

may be he lp fu l ,  Cha i r,  tha t  she f i les  a  supp lementary  

a f f idav i t  f i rs t  and  I  say  th is ,  Cha i r,  fo r  numerous reasons  

because you w i l l  see ,  Cha i r,  when we f i led  the  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  tha t  no t  on ly  does Ms Mngoma 

query  the  na ture  and the  character  o f  the  ev idence in  

add i t ion  to  tha t  wh ich  I  have a l ready ind i ca ted  be low but  I  10 

th ink  ra the r,  Cha i r,  i t  wou ld  be  he lp fu l  to  the  Commiss ion  

to  no t  have her  go  th rough the  a f f idav i t  and cor rec t  i t  as  

she goes a long.   I  th ink  i t  w i l l  be  more  he lp fu l  to  the 

Commiss ion  tha t  she h igh l igh ts  those areas tha t  –  and  

wh ich  she i s  go ing  to  ind ica te  c lear l y  why  she is  

h igh l igh t ing  and  why she is  –  her  ob jec t ions to  those  

aspects  and I  t ru ly  th ink  tha t  fo r  pu rposes  o f  the  

Commiss ion  tha t  may t ru l y  be  a  be t te r  approach.  

CHAIRPERSON :    A re  you suggest ing  tha t  her  o ra l  

ev idence shou ld  be  postponed  unt i l  she  has  f i led  a 20 

supp lementary  a f f idav i t?  

ADV QOFA:    Cha i r,  we d id  make tha t  suggest ion  

[ ind is t inc t  –  d ropp ing  vo ice ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

ADV QOFA:    And I  know indeed –  I  must  say  tha t  i t  was 
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very  c lear  tha t  o f  course  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  there  is  a  p rob lem wi th  tha t .  

ADV QOFA:    Indeed,  indeed,  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  what  you r  s ide  cou ld  have done or  –  

we l l ,  I  do  no t  know how long ago you came in to  the  mat te r  

bu t… 

ADV QOFA:   Very  recent ly,  Cha i r.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Her  lega l  representa t i ves  cou ld  have 

prepared a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  even w i thout  invo l v ing  10 

the  lega l  team to  say here  are  in  here  ear l ie r  a f f idav i t s  tha t  

she wants  to  say A ,  B ,  C,  D about  and th i s  cou ld  have been 

made ava i lab le  to  the  Commiss ion  and the  ev idence 

leaders  much ea r l ie r  o r  even i f  i t  was made ava i lab le  on l y  

today he wou ld  have been ab le  to  see i t  be fore  she s ta r ts  

her  o ra l  ev idence,  bu t  postpon ing  is  p rob lemat ic  because 

we don ’ t  have the  t ime.  

ADV QOFA:   Cha i r  and I  do  apo log ise  fo r  tha t ,  I  do  

apprec ia te  tha t .   Unfo r tunate ly   Cha i r,  and I  w i l l  speak fo r  

myse l f  in  th is  regard ,  I  came in to  th is  mat te r  on  20 

Wednesday las t  week,  and unfor tunate l y  I  had a  fami ly  

i ssue to  a t tend to  over  the  weekend,  wh ich  I  cou ld  no t  ge t  

ou t  o f .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV QOFA:   And so  I  d id  say tha t  i f  i t  wasn ’ t  fo r  tha t  we 
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wou ld  have f ina l i sed the  app l i ca t ion ,  in  fac t  we had s tar ted  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  yes .  

ADV QOFA:   I t  i s  jus t  tha t  the  c l ien t  fee ls  tha t  tha t  

a f f idav i t  must  no t  on ly  be  in  the  dra f t  fo rmat  tha t  we have 

now,  i t  must  be  spec i f i c  enough  to  ident i f y  why  she i s  

unhappy w i th  pa ragraph 1  or  2  o r  3  o r  4  o r  5 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV QOFA:   But  o therwise  wha t  we have done was to  

g loba l i se  the  issues so  as  to  say we are  no t  happy w i th  the  10 

a f f idav i t  because o f  the  fo l low ing,  bu t  her  fee l ing  is  tha t  no  

i t  must  go  spec i f i ca l l y  to  paragraph as  to  why she d isputes  

th is  and why she is  no t  happy.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t .    No we w i l l  con t inue  

w i th  your  ev idence Ms Mnogoma and – bu t  in  the  end i f  

there  a re  aspects  o r  par t s  o f  you r  a f f idav i t  tha t  you be l ieve  

do not  co r rec t l y  re f lec t  the  pos i t ion  you a re  f ree  to  ind ica te  

tha t .   Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes thank  you.    Ms Gigaba the  

prac t ice  in  the  Commiss ion  is  tha t  I  am go ing  to  take  you  20 

to  your  a f f idav i t ,  take  you to  the  las t  page where  i t  was 

s igned . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV QOFA:    I  apo log i se  –  I  apo log i se  Cha i rpe rson I  am 

get t ing  a  no te  here  f rom my a t to rney tha t  says i t  w i l l  be 

cr i t i ca l  to  h igh l igh t ,  and I  apo log i se  fo r  m iss ing  th is  po in t ,  
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tha t  Ms Gigaba fee ls  tha t  the  a f f idav i t  wh ich  she is  be ing  

sought  to  be  led  on  does not  rep resent  what  she says,  so  

fa r  as  to  say,  and I  know tha t  i s  no t  go ing  to  be  a  s tep  by  

s tep ,  parag raph by  pa ragraph ev idence here  you know,  bu t  

i t  ought  to  be  p laced on record  tha t  he  e f fec t i ve ly  says tha t  

the  majo r i t y  o f  tha t  a f f idav i t  does not  represent  tha t  wh ich  

she says and even though she is  the  –  the  Cha i r  says i t  i s  

okay she must  be  le f t  on  tha t  a f f idav i t  i t  shou ld  be  brought  

to  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  Commiss ion  tha t  i t  i s  p r imar i l y  what  

she fee ls  i s  no t  heard .  10 

 Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  no  tha t  i s  f ine ,  a t  some – as  we go 

a long she must  fee l  f ree  to  ind ica te  what  she be l ieves does  

not  re f lec t  the  pos i t ion  and she w i l l  have to  say whethe r  

tha t ’s  what  she sa id  what  i s  wr i t ten ,  bu t  on  re f lec t ion  she 

does not  th ink  i t  i s  t rue  or  whethe r  she d idn ’ t  say  i t  a t  a l l ,  

bu t  by  the  t ime  she f in ishes i f  when Mr  Myburgh has  

f in ished i f  she –  i f  there  are  pa r ts  wh ich  were  no t  touched  

upon wh ich  she  wants  to  dea l  w i th  and say they don ’ t  

re f lec t  what  the  pos i t ion  is  she w i l l  be  a l lowed to  say tha t .  20 

 Okay,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank  you.   Cha i rpe rson Ms 

Gigaba ’s  a f f idav i t s  a re  Exh ib i t  BB26,  there  are  two o f  

them.   Ms Gigaba cou ld  I  take  you p lease to  page 999  

when we re fer  t o  pages they are  the  b lack  numbers  on  the  
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le f t  hand s ide ,  and we re fer  jus t  to  the  las t  d ig i t s .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  Transnet  Bund le  7  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  unders tand so  Mr  Cha i rperson yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And what  page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    999.   A re  you there  Ms Gigaba? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now there  is  an  a f f idav i t ,  i t  s ta r ts  a t  

page 999,  perhaps I  cou ld  ask  you to  go  th rough my 

learned co l league reminds me Cha i rperson tha t  Ms  Gigaba  

hasn ’ t  ye t  been sworn  in  as  a  w i tness.    I  do  apo log ise .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh yes,  no  thank you fo r  tha t .    P lease  

admin is te r  the  oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion ,  thank you.  

REGISTRAR:    P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MS GIGABA:    [No aud ib le  response]  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  

MS GIGABA:    No.  

REGISTRAR:    Do you cons ider  the  oa th  b ind ing  on  your  

consc ience?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  20 

REGISTRAR:    Do you so lemnly  swear  tha t  a l l  the 

ev idence you w i l l  g ive  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ,  the  who le  t ru th  and  

noth ing  bu t  the  t ru th .    I f  so  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  hand  

and say so  he lp  me God.  

MS GIGABA:    So  he lp  me God.  
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REGISTRAR:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Sor ry  they m ight  no t ,  you migh t  have 

been speak ing  too  so f t l y  Ms Gigaba,  they m ight  no t  have  

heard ,  i s  tha t  the  concern?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes I  am to ld  tha t  the  t ransc r ibe rs  

d idn ’ t  p ick  tha t  up .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  p lease ra ise  your  vo ice  so  i t  w i l l  be  

recorded.    Okay,  p lease s ta r t  a f resh.  

REGISTRAR:    P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MS GIGABA:    I  am Nomachu le  G igaba.  10 

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  

MS GIGABA:    No.  

REGISTRAR:    Do you cons ider  the  oa th  b ind ing  on  your  

consc ience?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

REGISTRAR:    Do you so lemnly  swear  tha t  a l l  the 

ev idence you w i l l  g ive  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ,  the  who le  t ru th  and  

noth ing  bu t  the  t ru th .    I f  so  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  hand  

and say so  he lp  me God.  20 

MS GIGABA:    So  he lp  me God.  

REGISTRAR:   Thank you.  

NOMACHULE GIGABA   [d .s .s . ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was i t  aud ib le?    I t  i s  f ine ,  oh ,  okay  

a l r igh t .   Thank you.   Mr  Myburgh?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes thank you.   So a t  999 i f  I  can  

ask  you then to  tu rn  to  page 1016 ,  you w i l l  see  tha t ’s  the  

end o f  the  a f f idav i t .   1016 is  the  s ignature  page Ms Gigaba 

and then –  are  you there ,  a t  1016.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then a t tached to  tha t  a f f idav i t  

a re  four  annexures,  A ,  B ,  C and D,  p ic tu res  o f  the  bag.   Do  

you see tha t?    

MS GIGABA:   Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  I  cou ld  ask  you to  go  to  page  10 

1016,  do  I  unders tand tha t  you a t tes ted  to  th is  a f f idav i t  a t  

Sandton on the  6 t h  o f  March 2021.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And w i l l  you  conf i rm the  t ru th  and 

accuracy o f  th is  a f f idav i t ,  sub jec t  to  any co r rec t ions tha t  

you w i l l  make du r ing  the  course  o f  your  tes t imony? 

MS GIGABA:    Can you p lease repeat  tha t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wou ld  you conf i rm the  t ru th  and 

accuracy o f  th is  a f f idav i t  sub jec t  to  any cor rec t ions tha t  

you may make dur ing  the  course  o f  your  ev idence th is  20 

even ing?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Maybe le t ’s  –  you might  have fo rmula ted  

the  quest ion  in  a  lega l  way.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cer ta in ly.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Except  fo r  say ing  tha t  in  the  course  o f  

your  ev idence you w i l l  po in t  ou t  those pa r ts  o f  th is  a f f idav i t  

tha t  you th ink  a re  no t  the  t ru th ,  o r  do  no t  re f lec t  the  

pos i t ion ,  except  fo r  say ing  tha t  a re  you happy to  say those 

par t s ,  o ther  par ts  o f  the  a f f idav i t  w i l l  be  t rue  and cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cha i rpe rson might  I  then ask  tha t  

you admi t  Ms G igaba ’s  a f f idav i t  da ted  the  6 t h  o f  March 

commencing  a t  page –  Bund le  7 ,  999,  as  Exh ib i t  BB26.1 .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    The a f f idav i t  o f  Ms Nomachu le  G igaba  

fo rmer l y  Mngoma which  s ta r ts  a t  8999 is  admi t ted  as  an  

exh ib i t  and w i l l  be  marked as  Exh ib i t  BB26.1  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Ms Gigaba you w i l l  see  

tha t  you then depose to  anothe r  a f f idav i t ,  i t  i s  a  shor t  one 

dea l ing  w i th  the  th rea ts .  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You w i l l  f ind  tha t  a t  page 1021,  and  

a t tached to  tha t  a f f idav i t  a re  –  or  i s  one annexure  marked 

NS1,  do  you see tha t?  20 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Can I  ask  you p lease to  go  to  page  

1023 and wou ld  you conf i rm tha t  you a t tes ted  to  th is  

a f f idav i t  a t  Sandton a lso  on  the  6 t h  o f  March  2021?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And wou ld  you s im i la r ly  then  sub jec t  

to  any cor rec t ions tha t  you may make dur ing  the  course  o f  

your  ev idence conf i rm the  t ru th  and accuracy o f  th is  

a f f idav i t?  

MS GIGABA:     Can you p lease rephrase tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t ’s  say  are  you conf i rm ing the  

cor rec tness o f  th is  a f f idav i t  on  the  same bas is  as  you d id  a  

few minutes  ago the  o ther  one,  namely  there  may be par ts  

tha t  you w i l l  po in t  ou t  dur ing  your  ev idence as  be ing  

inaccura te  or  no t  cor rec t ,  bu t  those tha t  the  res t  w i l l  be  10 

t rue  and cor rec t .  

MS GIGABA:    On th is  par t  every th ing  is  cor rec t  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh on th is  one every th ing  is  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cha i rpe rson i f  I  cou ld  ask  you to  

admi t  then Ms Gigaba ’s  a f f idav i t  da ted  the  6 t h  o f  March  

commencing  a t  bund le  7  page 1021 as  Exh ib i t  BB26 .2  

CHAIRPERSON:    The a f f idav i t  o f  Ms Nomachu le  G igaba  

fo rmer l y  Mngoma which  s ta r ts  a t  page 1021 is  admi t ted  as  20 

an exh ib i t  and w i l l  be  marked as  Exh ib i t  BB26.2 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  Ms Gigaba i f  I  cou ld  ask  you  

then to  go  back to  your  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  a t  page 999,  a re  you 

there?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes I  am.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  s ta r t  ou t  

by  ask ing  you a re  you in  a  pos i t ion  to  conf i rm tha t  you 

were  a t  a l l  t imes  when th is  a f f idav i t  was be ing  prepared 

rep resented by  Sen io r  Counse l?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And in  fac t  he  procured your  

s ignature  o f  th is  a f f idav i t ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  bu t  I  have concerns on  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  beg your  pardon?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  bu t  I  have concerns on  tha t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  we w i l l  come to  tha t .  

MS GIGABA:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  Ms Gigaba I  wonder  i f  I  can  jus t  

po in t  th is  ou t  to  you.    I  am go ing  to  ask  you the  quest ions 

because you speak qu i te  fa in t l y  and you are  more  than 

ent i t led  to  do  tha t ,  bu t  I  am go ing  to  ask  you the  quest ions,  

you need to  d i rec t  your  answers  a t  the  Cha i rperson,  so  you  

don ’ t  need to  –  don ’ t  fee l  you have to  look  a t  me when you 

are  speak ing ,  you  must  speak to  the  Cha i rperson,  okay?  

MS GIGABA:    Okay.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  l e t ’s  s ta r t  a t  paragraph 1 ,  

i t  says  tha t  you are  an  adu l t  female  bus inessman,  a  

bus inessperson sor ry,  and you res ide  in  Pre tor ia ,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And when d id  you marry  Mr  G igaba.  

MS GIGABA:    20  August  2014.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And a re  you  s t i l l  mar r ied?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes we are  s t i l l  mar r ied .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  parag raph 4  i t  says  tha t  on  the  

21 s t  and 22 n d  o f  January  the  Commiss ion  in te rv iewed you,  

i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes i t  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    How d id  you come to  be  in te rv iewed 

by  the  Commiss ion?  10 

MS GIGABA:    Sakh i le  ca l led  me and he to ld  me tha t  the  

Commiss ion  wants  to  in te rv iew me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That ’s  Sakh i le  Masuku?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And was tha t  a f te r  you r  ENCA 

in terv iew?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes I  rece ived the  ca l l  the  day a f te r  the 

in te rv iew.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  i t  co r rec t  tha t  you s ta ted  du r ing  

the  ENCA in terv iew tha t  you were  prepared to  ass is t  the  20 

Commiss ion?  

MS GIGABA:    I  sa id  i f  the  Commiss ion  ca l l s  me I  w i l l  

come and ass i s t  the  Commiss ion  where  Malus i  does not  

remember,  so  accord ing  to  me I  wanted Malus i  to  come and  

g ive  h i s  ev idence  and then where  he  doesn ’ t  remember  or  
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he  doesn ’ t  reca l l  any th ing  then I  w i l l  say  what  I  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say a t  parag raph 5  a t  page 1000  

tha t  you a re  ass is ted  by  your  counse l ,  we know tha t  you r  

sen ior  counse l ,  Thembeka Nce tobe,  w i thd rew as your  

counse l  and has now been rep laced,  bu t  have your  

a t to rneys th roughout  been RMT At to rneys?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  they a l so  ass is t  you in  the  

prepara t ion  o f  th is  a f f idav i t?  

MS GIGABA:    My a t to rney was  –  never  a t tended any o f  10 

th is  –  when we were  p repar ing  fo r  the  ev idence,  he  on ly  

a t tended once,  the  las t  one,  where  you were  te l l ing  me tha t  

I  need to  come to  the  Commiss ion ,  i t  was the  f i rs t  day I  

a lso  saw you,  and i t  was her  f i rs t  day as  we l l .   So  dur ing  

the  en t i re  p repara t ion  o f  the  ev idence she never  a t tended,  

I  was on ly  there  w i th  the  Advocate  . . . [ ind is t inc t ] .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay,  so  he  a t tended w i thout  the 

a t to rney.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you are  qu i te  r igh t ,  on  the  8 t h  o f  20 

Apr i l  when we met  your  a t to rney came a long.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and  then there  are  –  there  is  

a  head ing  say ing  the  government  pos i t ion  is  he ld  by  Malus i  

over  the  per iod  f rom 2009 to  2019,  and then they are  
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l i s ted ,  i t  says  a t  paragraph 6  Mr  G igaba he ld  pos i t ions  

tab led  be low over  the  years  2004  to 2018,  do  you  conf i rm 

tha t  he  he ld  those pos i t ions?  

MS GIGABA:    That  i s  the  f i rs t  in fo rmat ion  tha t  I  d idn ’ t  pu t ,  

a l l  th is  in fo rmat ion  was co l lec ted  by  the  Commiss ion ,  and I  

ra ised tha t  w i th  them,  because I  never  pa id  a t ten t ion  wh ich  

Depar tment  he  is  work ing  on ,  what  does he do,  wh ich  year,  

so  I  never  pay a t ten t ion  on  tha t  so  the  Commiss ion  pu t  

tha t ,  i t  i s  no t  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  presumably  . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  does i t  accord  w i th  your  knowledge 

or  you don ’ t  know whether  i t  i s  t rue  tha t  he  he ld  these 

pos i t ions  dur ing  these t imes?  

MS GIGABA:    I  know tha t  he  he ld  those pos i t ions  bu t  I  am 

not  su re  about  the  t imes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    About  the  da tes? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  the  years .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t  okay.   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  jus t  to  go  th rough th is  you knew 

tha t  a t  a  cer ta in  po in t  Mr  G igaba was the  Deputy  Min is te r  20 

o f  the  Depar tmen t  o f  Home Affa i rs ,  I  th ink  you go on  to  say 

in  your  a f f idav i t  tha t  when you met  h im he occup ied  tha t  

pos i t ion ,  i sn ’ t  tha t  so?  

MS GIGABA:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And  can you remember  
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app rox imate l y  when tha t  was,  in  what  years?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was 2010,  2009 to  2010 when we met ,  

because we met  in  2009.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay a t  tha t  po in t  he  was the  Deputy  

Min is te r  o f  the  Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then can you reca l l  when he  

became the  Min is te r  o f  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises ,  DPE,  d id  he  ho ld  tha t  pos i t ion  a t  a  t ime? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes tha t  t ime we were  a l ready togethe r,  i t  10 

was in  2010 i f  I  am not  m is taken.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then a f te r  tha t  he  became the  

Min is te r  o f  the  Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Can you reca l l  when tha t  was?  

MS GIGABA:    Not  exact ly,  because I  never  pay a t ten t ion  

to  the  da tes  and  every th ing ,  and  I  ra ised tha t  du r ing  our  

consu l ta t ion .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  and then what  was h is  f ina l  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh.   So is  the  

pos i t ion  tha t  one o f  the  th ings you wou ld  have cor rec ted  in  

te rms o f  th is  pa ragraph is  to  say  le t ’s  no t  pu t  the  da tes  

because I  am not  sure  about  the  da tes .  

MS GIGABA:    Yes I  sa id  tha t  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Those pos i t ions  I  know about  those  

pos i t ions .  

MS GIGABA:    I  know the  pos i t ions  bu t  I  don ’ t  know 

anyth ing  about  the  da tes  and I  don ’ t  want  to  be  he ld  

accountab le  fo r  the  da tes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS GIGABA:   In  case Malus i  comes and says a t  tha t  da te  

I  was not  because I  am not  sure  about  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja ,  no  tha t  i s  f ine ,  tha t  i s  fa i r  

enough.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you reca l l  then tha t  the  f ina l  

m in is te r i a l  pos i t ion  tha t  he  he ld  . . . [ in te rvenes]    

MS GIGABA:    Say tha t  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  was  h is  las t  pos i t ion  as  a  

Min is te r?  

MS GIGABA:    He was the  Min i s te r  o f  F inance.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And i f  you have a  look a t  pa rag raph 

7  d id  Mr  G igaba  ever  say anyth ing  to  you about  be ing  

invo l ved in  ANC e lec t ions?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  d id  he  te l l  you?  

MS GIGABA:    I  know a t  some po in t ,  I  am not  sure  wh ich  

day i t  was,  then he sa id  to  me he was the  head o f  

e lec t ions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then you go on to  dea l  w i th  your  
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re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Mr  G igaba and the  G igaba fami l y,  when 

d id  you meet  Mr  G igaba fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime? 

MS GIGABA:    I  don ’ t  remember  meet ing  h im fo r  the  f i rs t  

t ime?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  when d id  you meet  h im? 

MS GIGABA:    I  don ’ t  remember  exact ly,  bu t  I  know tha t  i t  

was in  2009.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  I  was ac tua l l y  ge t t ing  a t  the  

year,  I  don ’ t  need  you to  be  more  spec i f i c  w i th  the  day.  

MS GIGABA:    Okay.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  you say I  met  Mr  G igaba  

dur ing  2009 and  you have a l ready to ld  the  Cha i rpe rson 

tha t  a t  tha t  t ime when you met  h im he was the  Deputy  

Min is te r  o f  the  Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes i t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And was there  a  t ime when you  

moved in  w i th  h im in to  h is  Pre tor ia  home? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Can you remember  when tha t  was?  

MS GIGABA:    I  th ink  i t  was the  –  i t  was in  2010.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And were  you expect ing  a  ch i ld  a t  

tha t  po in t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  Mr  G igaba  prov ide  you w i th  any 

f inanc ia l  means when you moved in  w i th  h im? 
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MS GIGABA:    Yes he  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Can you exp la in  tha t?  

MS GIGABA:    He gave me h i s  ca rd  tha t  he  sa id  I  must  use  

or  i f  I  want  to  go  to  the  doctor  o r  i f  I  buy  anyth ing  fo r  the  

house.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    When were  you then subsequent ly  

marr i ed ,  you have a l ready to ld  us  tha t  was on the  30 t h  o f  

August  2014,  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Whereabou ts  i s  Mr  G igaba ’s  fami ly  10 

home s i tua ted?  

MS GIGABA:    In  Manden i  . . . [ ind is t inc t ] .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  G igaba ,  how many s i s te rs  does 

he have?  

MS GIGABA:    He has two s i s te rs .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    One o f  them Gugu Gigaba?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And do  you know where  she is  

employed?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Whereabouts?  

MS GIGABA:    Transnet  in  Jo ’bu rg .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And Mr  G igaba ’s  o the r  s is te r,  what  i s  

her  name? 

MS GIGABA:    I t  i s  Nos ipho.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And do you know where  she worked?  

MS GIGABA:    Las t  t ime I  know she worked fo r  Sahara ,  I  

am not  sure  about  the  name p roper ly  bu t  i t  was the  

company fo r  the  Guptas ,  the  one  in  Mid rand,  the  Sahara  

one.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Sahara  Computers?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Sahara  Computers?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  and was  there  a  t ime where  

she l i ved  togethe r  w i th  you and Mr  G igaba? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now the  next  head ing  dea ls  w i th  

meet ing  the  Guptas  and v is i t s  to  t he  Gupta  res idence and 

you w i l l  see  tha t  tha t ’s  a  par t  o f  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  goes on 

fo r  tha t  page,  the  next  page,  page  1033 and 1044,  qu i te  a  

lengthy  sect ion .   So le t  us  work  ou r  way th rough th is .   You 

re fer  in  pa ragraph 12 to  the  fac t  tha t  f rom the  t ime tha t  you  

met  Mr  G igaba,  when he was the  Deputy  Min is te r  o f  the  20 

Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs  he  wou ld  v is i t  cer ta in  persons,  

i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And who d id  he  re fer  to  those  

persons as?   
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MS GIGABA:    That  t ime as  h is  adv isors .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He re fe r red  to  them as?  

MS GIGABA:    Adv isors .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Adv isors ,  and d id  he  exp la in  to  you 

what  he  was do ing  in  meet ing  w i th  h is  adv i sors?  

MS GIGABA:    So  there  are  t imes  I  w i l l  be  confused when 

he ta lks  about  adv isors ,  because somet imes he w i l l  be  w i th  

Thami  Msomi  because he in t roduced Thami  to  me as a  

f r iend and an adv isor  bu t  then la te r  s tage he w i l l  say  I  am 

go ing  to  see an adv i sor  and then I  a l ready saw Thami  then 10 

I  w i l l  ask  who are  the  adv i so rs ,  then he w i l l  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  

them.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  a t  th is  po in t  in  t ime d id  you know 

who h is  adv i so rs  were?  

MS GIGABA:    Not  exact ly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And i f  I  unders tand your  ev idence  

d id  you make a  p resumpt ion ,  d id  you presume tha t  he  was  

ta lk ing  about  Thami  Msomi?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     And who was he.   20 

MS GIGABA:    I  th ink  a t  tha t  t ime Thami  was the  Ch ie f  o f  

S ta f f  a t  Home Affa i rs .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You then go on to  say –  you ta lk  

about  someth ing  hav ing  happened two or  th ree  months  

be fore  Mr  G igaba  took up  the  pos i t ion  o f  Min is te r  o f  DPE,  
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can  you remember  what  happened? 

MS GIGABA:    Can you p lease rephrase tha t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  paragraph 13 you dea l  w i th  

someth ing  tha t  occur red  two o r  th ree  months  be fore  he  

took up  the  pos i t ion  as  the  Min is te r  o f  DPE.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  happened?  

MS GIGABA:    He to ld  me tha t  he  w i l l  move  to  the 

Depar tment  o f  DPE and I  asked h im what  i s  DPE because I  

d idn ’ t  know what  i s  DPE a t  tha t  t ime.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  he  te l l  you  where  he  had 

rece ived th is ,  o r  f rom whom he had  rece ived th is  news tha t  

he  was go ing  to  move to  be ing  the  Min is te r  o f  the  DPE? 

MS GIGABA:    Ma lus i  sa id  he  heard  i t  f rom A jay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A jay  who?  

MS GIGABA:    A jay  Gupta .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was tha t  be fore  he  moved  to  the 

Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr ises?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    When he to ld  you tha t?  20 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you know how long befo re  he  ac tua l l y  

moved o r  can ’ t  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]   

MS GIGABA:    I  th ink  i t  was two to  th ree  months  be fore  he  

moved.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And a t  tha t  po in t  in  t ime had you met  

Mr  A jay  Gupta?  

MS GIGABA:    Not  ye t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then perhaps you cou ld  te l l  us  

how o f ten  d id  Mr  G igaba v is i t  h is  so-ca l led  adv iso rs  once  

he became the  Min is te r  o f  the  DPE,  can you remember?  

MS GIGABA:    I  don ’ t  remember  exact ly  how many t imes  

but  what  I  know when he was a t  DPE he w i l l  go  more  o f ten .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Can you reca l l  –  remember  how he fe l t  10 

about  th is  news tha t  he  had been to ld  namely  tha t  he  was  

go ing  to  move to  DPE,  can you remember  how he fe l t  about  

i t?  

MS GIGABA:   He was exc i ted  about  i t ,  tha t ’s  why  I  even 

asked what  i s  DPE,  so  then he exp la ined to  me what  i s  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .    Okay Mr  Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you Cha i rperson.   So you say 

when he became the  Min i s te r  o f  the  DPE he went  there  to  

meet  h is  adv iso rs  more  o f ten ,  i s  tha t  what  you sa id?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And was there  a  t ime when you  

asked h im about  who are  these adv isors?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  was h is  response?  

MS GIGABA:    Then he to ld  me tha t  h is  o f f i c ia l ,  unof f i c ia l  
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adv isors ,  peop le  who are  adv is ing  h im about  cer ta in  

dec is ions,  about  h is  work  then he  d i f fe ren t ia te  them f rom 

the  adv i sors  tha t  he  had a t  DPE which  I  know o f  them,  

wh ich  is  h i s  lega l  adv i sor  and Thami  Msomi  as  we l l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  he  te l l  you  who these unof f i c ia l  

adv isors  were?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes he  to ld  me.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  d id  he  say?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was the  Guptas ,  A jay  and h i s  b ro thers  

wh ich  I  don ’ t  know a l l  o f  them by names,  because I  on ly  10 

hear  f rom A jay  more  than the  o the r  ones.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  he  te l l  you  what  they adv ised 

h im about?  

MS GIGABA:    He sa id  they were  adv is ing  h im about  work ,  

about  th ings tha t  he  was supposed  to  do .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  the  f requency o f  Mr  G igaba ’s  

v is i t s  to  the  Guptas  ever  cause you concern  or  

unhapp iness?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Can you exp la in  tha t?  20 

MS GIGABA:    I  was not  comfor tab le  w i th  tha t  because we  

have a  young ch i ld  a t  home,  wh ich  I  don ’ t  wan t  to  ta lk  

more  about  tha t ,  I  don ’ t  want  to  invo l ve  my k ids  on  th is .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And when you ra ised tha t  concern  

w i th  h im what  was h is  response?  
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MS GIGABA:    Then he sa id  he  w i l l  in t roduce me to  them 

so tha t  I  can be comfor tab le  w i th  them.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And d id  he  te l l  you  why he needed to 

meet  these adv i sors?  

MS GIGABA:    The reason is  tha t  he  needs to  –  sor t  o f  I  

can unders tand when he is  w i th  them who are  they.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .    Now in  parag raph 16 you  

dea l  w i th  Mr  G igaba ’s  v i s i t s  to  h is  adv isors  when  i t  was  

s i t t ing  and then when Parl iament  was in  recess perhaps you 

could just  take the Chairperson through that .   10 

MS GIGABA:   Can you please repeat your quest ion? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So when Parl iament – when Par l iament  

was si t t ing now when would Mr Gigaba go to Cape Town in a 

typical  week? 

MS GIGABA:  Most  of  the t ime he wi l l  go on Monday 

evenings or he would leave on Tuesday mornings.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Monday evening or Tuesday morning? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And when would he come back? 

MS GIGABA:   He wi l l  come back on Thursday evenings or  20 

Fr iday mornings.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And would he then when Parl iament  

was si t t ing would he inform you as to when he was going to 

the Gupta’s? 

MS GIGABA:   Somet imes he wi l l  go before he f l ies to Cape 
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Town or somet imes he wi l l  go when he comes back f rom 

Cape Town.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So that  would ei ther on the Monday 

morning or the Fr iday evening? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then when Parl iament  was in 

recess? 

MS GIGABA:   He wi l l  go anyt ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And how would these meet ings come 

about? 10 

MS GIGABA:   What do you mean by that  quest ion could 

please ask the quest ion again? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   So how do you know that  he went  

to the Gupta ’s? 

MS GIGABA:   Oh because he wi l l  te l l  me. 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   He would tel l  you? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   When did you f i rst  meet Mr Gigaba’s 

advisors? 

MS GIGABA:   You mean the Gupta’s? 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MS GIGABA:   Oh when our son was born.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sorry.  

MS GIGABA:   When our f i rst  son was born.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And in what year was that? 
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MS GIGABA:   I t  was in 2011.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   2011.  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And how did that  meet ing come about 

you deal  wi th th is at  paragraph 17.1? 

MS GIGABA:   Because Ajay wanted to meet our son so he 

told me l ike a few t imes that  he wants to meet our son.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And did you agree then to go to the 

Gupta ’s residence? 

MS GIGABA:   Not  on the f i rst  t ime he told me but  eventual ly  10 

I  agreed af ter a certain t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  you then d id go there? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes I  went there.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And who did you meet at  the Gupta 

res idence on this f i rst  v is i t?  

MS GIGABA:   A jay,  his wi fe,  her son ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what happened dur ing the course 

of  that  meet ing? 

MS GIGABA:   I t  was not  a meet ing i t  was a vis i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Oh wel l  what happened during that  20 

vis i t?  

MS GIGABA:   He greeted me, my son we spoke but  i t  was 

l ike a – any vis i t  that  you wi l l  have when you vis i t  someone 

you welcome them.  But  i t  was not  a formal meet ing.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And did they give your son any gi f t  of  
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any sort? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Can you remember what i t  was? 

MS GIGABA:   A jay gave – Ajay gave my son a necklace but  

Malusi  took i t  so he never had i t .   He never used i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry I  d id  not  hear  the last  part  of  

your  – say what  you said.   Af ter but  I  d id not  hear what you 

said.  

MS GIGABA:   Okay I  am saying Ajay gave him a necklace 

which Malusi  took i t  then he kept  i t .   So he never ever gave 10 

i t  to my son.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What was the necklace made of? 

MS GIGABA:   I t  was a gold necklace.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now that  is in 2011 so that  was your  

f i rst  v is i t .   What happened in 2012? 

MS GIGABA:   In terms of  v is i t ing or  in terms of  ( ta lk ing over 

one another)  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   In terms of  v is i t ing the Saxonwold 

compound.  Did you go there in 2012? 20 

MS GIGABA:   Yes we did go vis i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   How of ten did you go to the Saxonwold 

res idence in 2012? 

MS GIGABA:   Somet imes he wi l l  go wi th me, somet imes he 

wi l l  go wi th his protectors.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   No I  am asking you yoursel f  how of ten 

did you go in 2012? 

MS GIGABA:   We would go of ten but  not  every day or  

weekly.   I t  wi l l  depend on him.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  see that  in the aff idavi t  paragraph 17.2 

you say:  

“On several  occasions dur ing 2012.”  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  correct? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Now your  second son 

when was he born? 

MS GIGABA:   2012.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Can you remember the month – I  

remember tel l ing you that  I  not iced that  your second son was 

born on Christmas day.  

MS GIGABA:   Yes he wa.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   25t h of  December.  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Did you – did you then have occasion 

to vis i t  the Gupta ’s again? 

MS GIGABA:   Not  then but  we went af ter a few months was 

gone.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And why did you go to the Gupta ’s 
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af ter your second son was born? 

MS GIGABA:   They wanted to meet my second born.  

CHAIRPERSON:   They were to? 

MS GIGABA:   They wanted – they wanted to meet my 

second born.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now in 2013 did you at tend the Gupta 

wedding? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes I  d id.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Right .   Now you in paragraphs 19 and 10 

20 deal  wi th the Waterkloof  Ai r force Base do you want to  just  

deal  wi th that? 

MS GIGABA:   And the quest ion again.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Did you go to the Waterkloof  Air force 

Base? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes I  d id.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Did you go there before or a f ter the 

wedding? 

MS GIGABA:   I  only went before the wedding.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was i t  the day before? 20 

MS GIGABA:   I t  was the day before.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Can you remember what day of  the 

week that  was? 

MS GIGABA:   I  do not  remember because I  do not  remember 

what day was thei r  wedding but  i t  was a day before the 
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wedding.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now how did i t  come about that  you 

went to Waterkloof? 

MS GIGABA:   Malusi  asked me to accompany him to go 

welcome the Gupta fami ly at  Waterk loof  Ai r force.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what did you do there? 

MS GIGABA:   What d id I  do? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MS GIGABA:   I  went  there wi th him.  We waited for them so 

– but  I  sat  inside the ai rport  wi th my – wi th my son so he 10 

went out  to fetch them.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then what…. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay I  am not  sure – I  just  want to make 

sure that  – so the two of  you and your sons went to 

Waterkloof ,  is that  r ight? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And – and the purpose of  going there was 

to … 

MS GIGABA:   Welcome the … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Was to welcome the guests.  20 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The Gupta ’s? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Guests.  Okay.  And you brought your sons 

wi th you? 



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 280 of 416 
 

MS GIGABA:   Not  sons we only took the older one.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The older one? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.   Al r ight  thank you.   Cont inue Mr 

Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you and then on the day of  

the Gupta wedding did you accompany Mr Gigaba? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes to the wedding.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And this paragraph then and you have 

– you have indicated to me during our  consul tat ion that  there 10 

is an error and we pointed i t  out  to you because i t  ref lects 

paragraph 20.  

“That  we packed and were escorted to at tend the Waterkloof  

to receive the Gupta ai rcraf t .   When we lef t  Waterkloof  there 

were many blue l ight  vehicles and Metro pol ice. ”  

That  is a sentence that  could ei ther  be deleted or should f ind 

i ts way into paragraph 19,  is that  correct? 

MS GIGABA:   I  prefer to – to repeat  as I  repeated again 

when I  was raising the concern about i t .   I  prefer  to  say i t  in 

my own words because what I  saw.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight  but  you only ment ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Say i t  in your own words.  

MS GIGABA:   Sorry.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Say i t  in your own words.  

MS GIGABA:   We only went once at  the ai rport  at  the 
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Waterkloof  Ai r force i t  was the day before in the evening 

when the Gupta ai rcraf t  landed.  Then I  stayed inside the 

ai rport  in that  room and then Malusi  went out  to fetch them.  

Then af ter that  a l l  the members were escorted to the cars 

and then we were taken by our protectors to go to our car.  

So when we lef t  the ai rport  we went home and then I  saw a 

lot  of  b lue l ights escort ing the members of  he Gupta’s when 

they were leaving at  the airport .   So we did not  go again 

because here somewhere i t  ment ions l ike we went there 

twice which we were never there twice.   I t  was the day 10 

before then on the day of  the wedding I  was at  work and 

Malusi  cal led me that  we have to go to the wedding and I  

was shocked why – I  cannot just  a t tend a wedding l ike that  

because I  wanted to do my hai r,  I  needed to buy some things 

but  he sa id we need to go someone else to go to the 

wedding and then I  had to leave work and then we home and 

we packed we went to the wedding.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Okay al r ight .  

MS GIGABA:   But  i t  was not  something was p lanned to go to  

the wedding according to my knowledge.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Just  one second Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you when you were at  the… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry Mr Myburg.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  one second.  Wi l l  the technicians 
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p lease switch off  th is screen here because i t  is dist ract ing 

me. Okay alr ight  we can cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Did you meet any of  the 

Gupta fami ly whi lst  you were at  the wedding? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes we –  

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  switch on your mic Ms Gigaba.  

MS GIGABA:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sorry you said Ms Gigaba? 

MS GIGABA:   I  was saying yes we met but  i t  was a lot  of  

them.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  was? 

MS GIGABA:   I t  was a lot  of  them.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .  

MS GIGABA:   But  I  was not  fami l iar  wi th  them because most  

of  them they were coming f rom India.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You refer  in th is paragraph 20 to a 

facebook photo what happened there? 

MS GIGABA:   When we at  the wedding so a lot  of  ladies 

were doing something cal led Henna i t  was l ike a design that  

they do i t  in the hand and I  asked to jo in  to  do i t  as wel l .   20 

And then later  because i t  was my f i rst  t ime doing i t  I  posted 

i t  on my facebook and then I  th ink i t  was later at  n ight  Malusi  

to ld me because we were supposed to s leep there because 

they booked for us.  So Malusi  to ld me that  we need to go 

home we cannot  sleep and because there were al ready 



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 283 of 416 
 

something on the media that  we at tended the wedding and 

that  Malusi  was complaining that  that  is why he did not  even 

want to at tend the wedding so we need to go home.  So then 

af ter that  he said I  need to delete someone cal led him.  So I  

do not  know who cal led him to tel l  me that  I  must  de lete the 

picture that  I  posted on the wedding of  that  Henna design.   

So I  went on my facebook I  deleted i t .   So the fol lowing day I  

wanted to remove i t  but  I  d id not  even know that  i t  does not  

– can be removed so i t  was – I  th ink i t  stayed there for the 

whole week but  I  deleted on facebook.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight  now af ter the Gupta wedding di  

you cont inue to go to the Gupta res idence in Saxonwold? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes we did.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   How of ten would you go there? 

MS GIGABA:   We wi l l  go maybe during the week or weekend 

i t  wi l l  depend.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then what you do at  paragraph 22 is  

you expla in the procedure that  would be fol lowed each t ime 

you at tended the Gupta residence.   Please explain that?  Tel l  

us about the procedure?  How did i t  work pract ica l ly? 20 

MS GIGABA:   So every t ime when you come in there is 

securi ty  which is  our protectors.   So they wi l l  te l l  thei r  

protectors because there were a lot  of  protectors outside 

who wi l l  be there and they wi l l  te l l  them that  we here and 

they wi l l  open.   And one of  them wi l l  take us in the house 
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and then someone wi l l  come and cal l  – wi l l  go and cal l  A jay 

and then someone wi l l  come maybe offer us some dr inks or  

something then later  Ajay wi l l  come and ta lk to us.   Then 

most ly i t  was l ike that  al l  the t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So can I  just  ask you to… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  one second.  The t ranscr ibers can you 

hear the wi tness wel l?  Okay al r ight .   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Gigaba do you mind.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Let  us cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  am actual ly st ruggl ing to hear you 10 

can you speak a l i t t le b i t  louder.   I  cannot see your … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Try and speak up a bi t .  

MS GIGABA:   Because we gave exhaustedly – so I  am so 

t i red.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A lr ight  so you were saying that  Ajay 

would arr ive just  explain how that  would work? 

MS GIGABA:   Say that  again.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   When you went to the – the Gupta 

res idence you gained access into the house or the 

res idence.   You ment ioned that  Ajay would then arr ive.  20 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay and what wi l l  happen then? 

MS GIGABA:   Then he wi l l  greet  us.   I f  we are just  there 

went there for a vis i t  so we would si t  wi th him – we talk but  i f  

i t  is a meet ing he wi l l  come br ief  Malusi  about  something 
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they wi l l  go in the meet ing then I  wi l l  stay in the room at  the 

lounge.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And would you have your ce l l  phone 

with you? 

MS GIGABA:   No.   But  somet imes I  wi l l  go fetch my cel l  

phone.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What happened with your cel l  phones 

when you went to the Gupta residence? 

MS GIGABA:   They a lways ask us to leave them at  the – I  

th ink i t  is l ike a foyer and then we wi l l  go leave them there.   10 

And then later I  wi l l  go take my phone when I  am bored – i f  I  

am bored.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And who would you see when you went  

to the Gupta residence? 

MS GIGABA:   Say that  again.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Who would you see?  Would you see 

other people – people you knew when you went to the Gupta 

res idence? 

MS GIGABA:   The only people I  saw i t  was Ajay,  his  wi fe,  h is 

brother,  h is son,  Thami Msomi and Siyabonga Mahlangu.   20 

They are the only people that  I  saw.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Msomi you have told us about.   

Mr Mahlangu who was he? 

MS GIGABA:   Say that  again.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Who was Mr Mahlangu? 
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MS GIGABA:   He was Malusi ’s legal  advisor.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And where would these meet ings be 

held between Ajay and Mr Gigaba? 

MS GIGABA:   They wi l l  be in the opposi te room f rom the 

lounge.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Did you ever ask Mr Gigaba why you 

had to turn in your cel l  phone? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes I  d id.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what did he say? 

MS GIGABA:   Because he said some of  the informat ion was 10 

conf ident ia l  so we had to leave our phones.  But  i t  was not  

something was st range for him because most of  the t ime 

when I  ca l l  h im h is phone wi l l  be answered maybe when he 

is at  work his phone wi l l  be answered by his PA or maybe 

when they are in the NEC they wi l l  leave – for him was thei r  

nature but  for  me I  d id  not  understand why must I  leave my 

phone.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now you have ment ioned to us that  

you saw Mr Ajay Gupta,  Mr Mahlangu and Mr Msomi.  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   There did you see anybody else 

at tending meet ings? 

MS GIGABA:   No.   But  I  knew that  they were inside because 

you can hear voices of  people in the room and when Ajay wi l l  

come and br ief  h im I  know that  there wi l l  be people but  I  do 
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not  want  to say who was there because I  have never  seen 

them.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And when you went to the residence 

did you somet imes f ind cars already parked there? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes there were a lot  o f  cars.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What sort  of  cars? 

MS GIGABA:   Cars simi lar to our  cars which is l ike state 

cars.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay how did you know they were 

state cars? 10 

MS GIGABA:   Because of  the blue l ights at  the f ront  and I  

a lso the body guards because most  of  them they dress the 

same and the car  they most  simi lar.   I t  is ei ther the – I  do 

not  know how to explain the nature of  the cars but  i t  is a bi t  

s imi lar most  of  the cars.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now you have ment ioned that  when 

you went to  the Gupta residence Ajay would meet wi th you 

and he would hold d iscussions wi th Mr Gigaba and then they 

would go off  to the meet ing room.  What sorts of  th ings 

would be discussed in your presence between Mr Ajay Gupta 20 

and Mr Gigaba before they went for a meet ing? 

MS GIGABA:   I t  was not  discussing i t  was l ike br iefs.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .  

MS GIGABA:   He was br ief ing him not  l ike discussion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what was Mr – or what was Ajay 
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Gupta br ief ing Mr Gigaba about?  What  was the sorts  of 

th ings that  he br ie fed him about? 

MS GIGABA:   So somet ime he wi l l  br ief  h im about the SAA 

or he wi l l  br ief  h im about Transnet  or he sets a meet ing that  

they wi l l  ta lk about  so that  he is aware before he goes to the 

meet ing.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And can you remember what  – what 

was discussed or what was br iefed in relat ion to Transnet? 

MS GIGABA:   Most  of  the t ime in Transnet  i t  wi l l  be the 

people that  Ajay feels l ike they need to be appointed or need 10 

to leave or  maybe they are restr ic t ing and maybe they wi l l  

just  argue a l i t t le  bi t  about  i t  because Malusi  had his own 

favouri tes of  people and Ajay has h is own favouri tes of  

people.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what – what did you hear  about  

SAA? 

MS GIGABA:   SAA most of  the t ime they wi l l  – they wi l l  – 

when he is wi th A jay they wi l l  be ta lk ing about the board so 

he wi l l  be asking him about the board or maybe Kalawe 

because there was a lot  of  d iscomfort  between Malusi  and 20 

the chai rperson of  SAA. So somet imes they wi l l  d iscuss that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Which chairperson of  SAA are you 

referr ing? 

MS GIGABA:   That  t ime Nomwabisi  Kalawe was the CEO 

then Dudu Myeni  was the chairperson and I  th ink Malusi  
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l iked Nomwabisi  Kalawe and Dudu did not  l ike him and they 

wi l l  have those arguments most  of  the t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .   Thank you.  Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And dur ing these br ief ing sessions did 

you ever hear any ment ion made of  Eskom? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what – what was said about  

Eskom? 

MS GIGABA:   There was a t ime Mr Brian Dames was the 

CEO of  Eskom and what I  remember Malusi  l iked Brian 10 

Dames and there was a certain t ime then the Gupta’s did not  

l ike him especia l ly Ajay let  me not  say Gupta’s because i t  

was most  of  the t ime i t  was Ajay and Ajay did not  l ike him. 

So he wi l l  say Brain Dames needs to resign he was 

uncomfortable about certain things but  he wi l l  be ta lk ing to  

him not  to me and then Malusi  l iked Brian Dames.  I  th ink 

even mysel f  I  l iked him.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight  and then was there ever  a t ime 

where Mr Gigaba held a discussion wi th you about Mr 

Dames? 20 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What did he say? 

MS GIGABA:   He told me that  the Gupta’s do not  l ike him 

and he does not  understand why they do not  l ike h im.  And I  

th ink they told him that  there wi l l  be a new restructur ing 
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someone else wi l l  move to Eskom and then Br ian Dames wi l l  

leave but  I  d id not  know how the process is going to happen 

which a few months later i t  happened.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .   These v is i ts to the Gupta 

res idence how long would they last  for usual ly? 

MS GIGABA:   Hour to two hours but  not  more than that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   An hour to two hours? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then at  page 1005 i t  deals – 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry Mr Myburgh I  just  want to make 10 

sure that  I  understood this.   Paragraph 26 of  your aff idavi t .  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You say at  some stage Mr Gigaba told me 

that  Mr Ajay Gupta wanted h im to get  r id of  Mr Br ian Dames.   

Having met Mr Dames I  asked Mr Gigaba why and he sa id 

that  the Gupta’s did not  l ike Mr Dames because there are 

things that  Mr Dames was supposed to do but  did not  do 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is correct? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Is i t  correct? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Chairperson.   Ms Gigaba 

you then go on to deal  wi th meet ings held at  our  home.   
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Whereabouts was that?  Was that  the minister ia l  home in  

Pretor ia? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .   And you start  by deal ing wi th  

meet ings wi th the Gupta ’s.  

MS GIGABA:   I t  was not  a lot  of  meet ings.  I  th ink Ajay only 

came to us 00:23:20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   He came to your home? 

MS GIGABA:   Sorry.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You say that  A jay came to your home? 10 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Right  how many t imes? 

MS GIGABA:   I  only remember twice.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And whereabouts – what did  he do 

there? 

MS GIGABA:   Mainly meet ings but  he i t  was the two of  them 

in the meet ings so I  was not  a part  of  the meet ings but  I  saw 

him because I  went to greet  him.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And whereabouts in what  room were 

the meet ings held? 20 

MS GIGABA:   So the way the house is st ructured there is an 

upstai rs because when I  said i t  was underground they 

quest ioned me. So let  me not  say i t  was underground i t  was 

a downstai rs.   So al l  of  us are staying upstai rs and when you 

go down with the steps there is  a room that  is under which 
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Malusi  used as his study or meet ing room – ja so Ajay was 

there.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .   And did Mr Gigaba tel l  you 

what he was meet ing A jay Gupta about? 

MS GIGABA:   I  th ink that  t ime there was this – there was 

some pro jects at  Eskom i t  was cal led Kusi le Projects.   I  th ink 

that  project  was giving Malusi  a lo t  of  s leepless n ights and 

then he was – then he said no Ajay was here to give him – 

they were discussing Eskom Kusi le but  he did not  give me al l  

the detai ls about  i t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So what Eskom project  was giving Mr 

Gigaba sleepless nights? 

MS GIGABA:   I  only remember Kusi le Projects.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sorry.  

MS GIGABA:   I  only remember Kusi le Projects.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then you go on to deal  wi th meet ings 

wi th Mr Gigaba’s staff .   Was there a t ime where his staff  

v is i ted your home? 

MS GIGABA:   I t  was a Minister ia l  staff .   So there is a staff  of  

the department and there is a Min ister of  Staff .  So Minister  20 

of  Staff  i t  is people that  he t ravels wi th wherever he -  i t  is 

ei ther he goes to Cape Town he comes back then the 

department.   But  most  of  the t ime i f  i t  is a Minister of  Staff  

maybe one person wi l l  come f rom the department maybe 

00:26:05 them i t  is the – i f  we are t ravel l ing on the state ’s.   
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Maybe somet imes i t  wi l l  be the DG or they wi l l  chose 

whoever is  relevant  to the t r ip so he wi l l  come and br ief  the 

ent i re minister ia l  team.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight  can I… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Can I  – I  am sorry Mr Myburgh can I  go 

back to paragraph 29?  Did i t  ever happen that  Mr Gigaba 

told you that  he and Mr Gupta – Ajay Gupta were discussing 

any projects at  Transnet? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Huh-uh tel l  me about that .  10 

MS GIGABA:   So they used to talk about  maybe renewing 

contracts maybe Ajay wi l l  ask Malusi  no there is a  project  

needs to be renewed or maybe someone needs to sign a 

certain project  but  I  do not  know exact ly who needs to sign i t  

but  they wi l l  ta lk about  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Now you go on at  

paragraph or in 30 and 30.1 you deal  wi th a t r ip to Mumbai 

and New Delh i  and what we ident i f ied dur ing our consul tat ion 

you wi l l  remember is that  there is an error.   This is another 20 

area where there is an error.  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   In the aff idavi t  because i t  says at  30.1:  

“During the last  per iod of  Mr Gigaba’s tenure 

as Deputy Minister of  Home Affai rs”  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 294 of 416 
 

Now that  would have been in late 2010 you go on to talk  

about  a t r ip in 2010 to India.   In  what year did that  t r ip 

actual ly occur? 

MS GIGABA:   I  said to people who were leading because 

you were not  there to people who were leading this part  I  

said to them I  do not  want to say exact ly which year because 

I  do not  have my passport  wi th me.   I  remember there was a 

t r ip to India but  I  do not  remember exact ly when was i t .   And 

then when the aff idavi t  came i t  was wri t ten this year and I  

even ment ioned to say okay that  I  do not  want  to be 10 

accountable for the year exact ly but  I  remember we went to 

India to Mumbai.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay.   So we know f rom Mr Gigaba’s 

aff idavi t  that  he says i t  happened in 2015 do you accept  that  

now? 

MS GIGABA:   I f  he says so.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay.    

MS GIGABA:   Because I  do not  have my passport  because 

af ter – on that  day we were talk ing about th is  I  said to the 

commission team I  wi l l  go check my passport  at  home so 20 

what I  have done on my way when I  was leaving where we 

had the meet ing wi th the commission team I  cal led his  

former PA then I  asked her about  my passport  – the state 

passport  because we do not  keep those passports wi th us.   

And then – because I  wanted to know exact ly when did we 
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go then she said she is going to come back to me.  By the 

t ime I  arr ived at  home because my passport  was there before 

– when – before I  lef t  because I  wanted to remember certain  

t r ips because we were t ravel l ing a lot  because I  had two 

separate passports.   I  have the normal passports then we 

have the dip lomat passports.   So when I  got  home on that  

day af ter cal l ing his PA my passport  was not  there and my 

two kids passport  was st i l l  there.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight  so this is a part  of  your aff idavi t  

that  I  understand you would want to  correct .  10 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   In a supplementary aff idavi t  because i t  

may very wel l  be that  the change of  the date then has knock-

on effect  as these things of ten do.   But  present ly do you 

remember what happened in India,  what was the pu rpose o f  

th is  t r ip?  

MS GIGABA :    I  do  no t  remember  exact ly  bu t  what  I  heard  

what  Malus i  was ta lk ing  about .   They were  ta l k ing  about  to  

meet  some –  wha t  i s  i t  –  the  Gupta  fami ly  members ,  some 

peop le  who were  work ing  –  who were  go ing  to  ass i s t  in  20 

work ing  and the  Mumbai  t r ip  because there  was an  a i r l ine  

tha t  they used to  ta lk  about  when he was a t  DPE.   So there  

were  peop le  who used to  come work ing ,  the i r  permi t s .    

 So most  o f  the  t imes they wou ld  ta lk  about  the  

permi ts  o f  –  f rom Gupta  fami ly.   So I  do  no t  know how tha t  
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was fac i l i ta ted  because I  remember  when Malus i  was  

say ing  i t  i s  no t  easy fo r  h im to go  to  Ind ia  when i t  i s  no t  a  

s ta te  t r ip  because everyone w i l l  quest ion .   So,  then –  I  do  

no t  know how i t  ended up,  i t  was a  s ta te  t r ip .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   And in  Ind ia ,  who d id  you  

t rave l  w i th?   Who  d id  Mr  G igaba t rave l  w i th?  

MS GIGABA :    Wi th  h is  s ta f f .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wou ld  tha t  have inc luded Mr  Msomi?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you say tha t  they had a t tended 10 

var ious meet ings.    

“ I  d id  no t  see w i th  whom they met  as  I  was out  

shopp ing  when they a t tended the  meet ings. ”    

 I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then you dea l  w i th  the  

Johannesburg /Mumbai  f l i gh t  rou te .   What  happened there?  

MS GIGABA :    What  I  know about  i t .   I t  i s  -  when he was 

s t i l l  a t  DPE,  they used to  ta lk  about  the  Mumbai  Route  tha t  

–  I  th ink  i t  was South  A f r i can A i r l ines  tha t  they need to  20 

conso le(?)  and under (?)  the  rou te  f rom Mumbai  need to 

take  ove r.   So they used to  have a  lo t  o f  d iscuss ions about  

tha t .   That  i s  wha t  I  on ly  can remember.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Jus t  wh i ls t  we are  on  th i s  i ssue o f  a  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t .   As  I  unders tand i t ,  because i t  has  
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been shared w i th  me.   Mr  Ngetob i (? ) ,  you r  counse l ,  

ac tua l l y  p repared  a  dra f t  supp lementary  a f f idav i t .  

MS GIGABA :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A f te r  our  consu l ta t ion  on  the  

8 t h  o f  Apr i l ,  was i t?  

MS GIGABA :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And th i s  was –  you wou ld  have seen,  

was one o f  the  pa rag raphs tha t  i s  addressed in  there .  

MS GIGABA :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You conf i rm  tha t?  10 

ADV QOFA :    Cha i rperson,  i f  I  may?  

MS GIGABA :    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja?  

ADV QOFA :    I  wou ld  l i ke  to  –  I  have had th is  d iscuss ion  

ear l ie r.   We have  concerns about  a f f idav i t s  tha t  the  c l ien t  

says have to  be  spec i f i c  to  he r.   She must  have read them 

and she has made i t  c lear  tha t  she w i l l  no t  g ive  any  

ev idence on d ra f ts  tha t  she  has no t  par t i cu la r ly  

commiss ioned.   And there fore  I  request  tha t  the  issue on 

the  dra f t  a f f idav i t  no t  be  led ,  Mr  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh is  –  a l l  

Mr  Myburgh is  t r y ing  to  do  is  to  check whethe r  th is  i s  one 

o f  the  a f f idav i t s  wh ich  are  go ing  to  be  the  sub jec t  o f  

cor rec t ions in  the  supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t .  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes .   So I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh  wanted  

to  be  fa i r  so  tha t  we know tha t  we must  no t  take  th is  

a f f idav i t ,  th is  paragraph as  no t  sub jec t  to  co r rec t ions.  

ADV QOFA :    Cha i rperson,  i f  I  unders tood cor rec t l y  and 

maybe I  d id  no t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV QOFA :    What  Mr  Myburgh is  suggest ing  to  the  

w i tness is  tha t  there  is  a  d ra f t  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  that  

he  is  in  possess ion  o f  wh ich  he  says cor rec ts  some o f  the  

issues tha t  have been dea l t  w i th .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV QOFA :    And what  I  have ind ica ted ,  even pr io r  to  the  

s i t t ing  to  Mr  Myburgh is  tha t  the  dra f t  a f f idav i t  wh ich  he  

has been fu rn ished w i th  i s  bu t  a  d rop(?) ,  accord ing  to  the 

w i tness.   There  i s  –  the  w i tness has been c lea r.   Noth ing  

shou ld  be  d iscussed in  the  Commiss ion  un t i l  I  have  

persona l l y  commiss ioned an a f f idav i t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV QOFA :    To  do  so  wou ld  be  premature  because 

whatever  d ra f t  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  tha t  i s  be fore  h im 20 

and not  be fore  th is  Commiss ion  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV QOFA :    . . . i s  no t  . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I . . .   Mr  Myburgh has not  sa id  –  has no t  

responded to  you  but  I  have a  ve ry  good sense tha t  he  was  
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no t  say ing  tha t  because he wants  to  ho ld  the  w i tness to  

whatever  i s  in  the  dra f t  a f f idav i t .   I  do  no t  th ink  he  wanted  

to  –  I  th ink  tha t  is  what  you maybe be concerned w i th .   I  do 

not  th ink  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV QOFA :    Cha i rperson,  maybe  he can c la r i f y  i t?  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  do  no t  th ink  Mr  Myburgh . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV QOFA :    Because tha t  i s  a  concern  fo r  us  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  do  no t  th ink  Mr  Myburgh wants  to  say 

la te r  on :   I  saw tha t  a f f idav i t .   Th i s  i s  what  i t  was say ing .   10 

Or  anyth ing  l i ke  t ha t .   No,  no .   I  do  no t  th ink .   Mr  Myburgh,  

ta lk  fo r  yourse l f .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No,  abso lu te ly,  DCJ.   I  mean,  tha t  

the  s imp le  po in t .   I  am not  suggest ing  tha t  the  w i tness is  

bound by  any a f f idav i t  and o f  course  she can say what  she 

wants  to .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  the  s imp le  po in t  i s  tha t  dur ing  

the  consu l ta t ion  on  the  8 t h  o f  Apr i l ,  i t  was ident i f ied  tha t  

there  was a  prob lem wi th  th is  paragraph.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  a le r ted  Mr  Ngetob i (? )   [00 :05 :26]  to  

tha t  and as  I  unders tand i t ,  he  se t  about  work ing  on  a  d ra f t  

a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    The reason tha t  I  h igh l igh t  tha t  i s  

there  i s  no  po in t  in  me then tak ing  th is  w i tness th rough 

every  s ing le  l ine  o f  a l l  these paragraphs because i t  need to  

be  amended.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because you know the re  is  a  p rob lem,  

ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS GIGABA :    Can I  say  someth ing  on  tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    P lease do.  

MS GIGABA :    I  th ink  what  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  i s  t ry ing  to  

h igh l igh t  because i f  we cor rec ted  th is  because I  ra ised  

these issues before  even . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  was g iven in  my 

a f f idav i t .   And when Malus i  heard  my a f f idav i t ,  he  was 

g iven my a f f idav i t .   On the i r  response on my a f f idav i t  they  

went  fo r  those e r rors  and they were  g iven an upper  hand 

l i ke  i t  looks  l i ke  I  was ly ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MS GIGABA :    A cer ta in  na tu re(? )  [00 :06 :19]  d id  no t  20 

happen.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MS GIGABA :    Bu t  i f  the  Commiss ion  have l i s tened when  

we were  consu l t ing  because I  ra ised those issues.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  
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MS GIGABA :    Because I  th ink  some o f  the  th ings,  when 

we wro te  them they d id  no t  pu t  i t  in  my words and now 

when Malus i  lawyers  and h imse l f  responded to  them,  now 

they are  jus t  quest ion ing  most  o f  a l l  those er rors  because  

they know i t  d id  no t  happen l i ke  tha t  because  in  the  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  happened . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS GIGABA :    . . . tha t  the  fac t  remains  bu t  now the  on ly  

par t  i s  the  year (?)  o r  what  happened.   So now we have 

been choos ing  the  words.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS GIGABA :    Because they know i t  i s  no t  exact ly  l i ke  

tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MS GIGABA :    Bu t  i f  we have addressed those  issues 

before  we w i l l  no t  be  faced by  th is .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS GIGABA :    And a lso ,  I  wi l l  be  comfor tab le  to  answer  

th is  quest ion  and  hence I  sa id  I  d id  no t  come to  g ive  my  

ev idence the  t ime when I  was supposed to  come because I  20 

d id  no t  want  to  say th ings because they are  wr i t ten  and  

then one day someone w i l l  ho ld  me accountab le  to  say I  

have sa id  th is  and I  d id  no t  say  i t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA :    So ,  because I  th ink  the  way i t  i s  wr i t ten  
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. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS GIGABA :    Th ings tha t  she sa id .   And what  they 

h igh l igh ted ,  a l l  o f  them,  wh ich  is  the  a f f idav i t  o f  

Noma/Soma(?)  [00 :07 :32]   So i t  i s .   I  -  S iyabonga Gama –  I  

Soma(?)  th i s  i s . . .   What  they were  –  they h igh l igh t  more  is  

the  er rors  tha t  I  made.   But  i t  was  –  d id  no t  change  the  fac t  

o f  the  th ings bu t  i t  how th ings are  pu t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .    

MS GIGABA :    I t  i s  . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no ,  no .   That  i s  f ine .   I  th ink  

Mr  Myburgh i s  say ing ,  because he is  aware  tha t  you d id  

ra ise  issues  w i th  th is  paragraph and  he  th inks  the  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  tha t  co r rec t s  th is  m ight  a f fec t  

cer ta in  o the r  pa ragraphs tha t  fo l low,  shou ld  ra ther  no t  -  he  

wou ld  ra ther  no t  take  you th rough them.  

MS GIGABA :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because he is  aware  o f  tha t .  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  i s  what  he  wanted –  he  was t ry ing  20 

to  convey.  

MS GIGABA :    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   Then,  Ms Gigaba,  a t  

page 106 there  is  a  head ing :   P r io r  Knowledge o f  
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Appo in tments  in  S ta te-owned Ente rpr ises .   Now you  dea l  a t  

parag raph 31.1  w i th  The New Age Breakfas t  and tha t  

Mr  G igaba then in fo rmed you o f  someth ing  a f te r  one o f  

those breakfas t s .   What  d id  he  te l l  you?  

MS GIGABA :    Can you p lease repeat  the  quest ion?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Paragraph 31.1 .  

MS GIGABA :    Yes?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You say a f te r  one o f  The New Age 

Breakfas ts ,  Mr  G igaba then to ld  you someth ing .   What  d id  

he  te l l  you?  10 

MS GIGABA :    About  the  TNA Breakfas t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA :    The on ly  th ing  I  know a t  TNA they used to  

d iscussed who s i t s  on  wh ich  tab le .   Ja ,  tha t  i s  what  I  know 

about  them.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.   So the  head ing  to  th i s  sect ion  

is  Pr io r  Knowledge o f  Appo in tments  o f  S ta te-owned  

Enterp r ises .   Was the re  a  t ime when Mr  G igaba wou ld  te l l  

you :   Wel l ,  m is te r  so  and so  is  go ing  to  move here  and  

then tha t  wou ld  happen?  That  i s  what  th is  sec t ion  dea ls  20 

w i th .  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Were  there  occas ions where  he  sa id  

X  is  go ing  to  happen and then i t  d id  happen?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Can you remember  those ins tances?  

To whom was he ta lk ing  about?  

MS GIGABA :    I  remember  when he sa id  Br ian  Dames w i l l  

leave a t  Eskom and then Br ian  Mole fe  w i l l  go  to  Eskom.   

So I  knew tha t  i t  wou ld  happen and i t  happened.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And so  he  sa id  to  you tha t  Br ian 

Mole fe  wou ld  go  to  Eskom? 

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And I  th ink  you have ment ioned 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

MS GIGABA :    I  th ink  even Gama a lso .   I  knew be fore  he  

even –  ja .   I  mean,  be fore  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  he to ld  you . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Maybe le t  us  take  one a t  a  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  cer ta in ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  i t  i s  c lea r.   Le t  us  ta lk  about  

Mr  Br ian  Mole fe .   You say tha t  a f te r  one o f  The New Age  

Breakfas ts  sess ions,  Mr  G igaba  to ld  you tha t  Mr  Br ian  

Mole fe  was go ing  to  be  moved f rom Transnet  to  Eskom 

Hold ings S tock  L im i ted .   And you say he  to ld  you th is  20 

be fore  Mr  Mole fe  was o f f i c ia l l y  appo in ted  to  Eskom? 

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    He to ld  you tha t  the  Guptas  wanted  

Mr  Mole fe  a t  Eskom and not  Mr  Br ian  Dames.   I s  tha t  

cor rec t?  
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MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   You d id  no t  pu t  a  da te  he re .   Do 

you have some reco l lec t ion  o f  wh ich  year  i t  may have  

been?  

MS GIGABA :    No,  I  do  no t  remember.   What  I  know.   He 

was the  Min i s te r  o f  DPE a t  tha t  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    He was Min i s te r  a t  DPE a t  tha t  t ime? 

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    And i t  was dur ing  the  t ime where  they used  10 

to  host  a  lo t  o f  TNA Breakfas ts  meet ings on  SABC 2 .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry.   Jus t  repeat  tha t ,  p lease?  

MS GIGABA :    I  am say ing  i t  was a round the  t ime they  

used to  host  a  lo t  o f  TNA meet ings a t  SABC 2 on – in  l i ve 

in  the  morn ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   Now Ms Lynne Brown was  

g iv ing  ev idence las t  week and she  sa id  she was appo in ted  

as  Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses  a t  some s tage in  2014.   

So I  th ink  i t  wou ld  have been a f te r  the  Genera l  E lec t ions o f  

2014.   So i f  you  say tha t  Mr  G igaba to ld  you th is  wh i le  he  20 

was s t i l l  M in is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises ,  i t  wou ld  mean tha t  

he  to ld  you th is  e i ther  a t  some s tage du r ing  the  f i rs t  ha l f  o f  

2014 or  ear l ie r.  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wou ld  you say tha t?  
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MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay a l r igh t .   I s  there  a  chance tha t  you 

might  be  m is taken about  tha t?  

MS GIGABA :    I  do  no t  remember  exact ly  wh ich  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  bu t  he  was s t i l l  M in i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises ,  you say?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   So tha t  dea ls  w i th  

Mr  Mole fe .   D id  Mr  G igaba ever  ment ion  anyth ing  to  you  10 

about  Mr  Gama? 

MS GIGABA :    Yes,  I  remember.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What  d id  he  te l l  you?  

MS GIGABA :    I  th ink  i t  was –  there  was a  t ime he was –  

he  had a  pos i t ion  a t  Eskom – no t  a t  Eskom,  so r ry  about  

tha t .   A t  Transnet .   And then he le f t  bu t  when he was 

appo in ted  aga in .   So I  do  no t  wh ich  secto r  he  was mov ing  

f rom,  to  anothe r  secto r,  then he to ld  me tha t  Gama wi l l  be  

appo in ted  as  a  CEO.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Be  appo in ted  as  the  CEO? 20 

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  d id  no t  hear  the  ea r l ie r  par t ,  the  f i rs t  

par t  o f  what  you  were  say ing .   Were  you say ing  tha t  you 

are  no t  sure  when . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    Because what  I  know.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MS GIGABA :    S iyabonga was a l ready a t  Transnet .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA :    So  he was -  when he was appo in ted  as  the 

CEO,  he  was not  a r r i v i ng  as  a  new person.  

CHAIRPERSON :    He was not  coming f rom outs ide?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes,  because I  remember  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  Mr  S iyabonga Gama was CEO of  a  10 

d iv is ion  o f  Transnet  a t  some s tage,  TFR.   And he was 

d ismissed in  2010.   Ja ,  I  th ink  June 2010 and  he was  

re ins ta ted  in  February  –  or  the  se t t lement  agreement  was  

in  February  2011 .   He s tar ted  or  resumed dut ies  in  tha t  

pos i t ion  as  CEO of  TFR,  namely,  a  d iv i s ion  o f  Transnet ,  I  

th ink  in  Apr i l  2011.   And then la te r  on  when Mr  Br ian  

Mole fe  was seconded to  Eskom in  2015,  Apr i l ,  Mr  Gama 

was ac t ing  CEO o f  Transnet .  

MS GIGABA :    O f  Transnet .  

CHAIRPERSON :    And then,  I  th ink  la te r  on  he  was 20 

appo in ted .   So tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    Yes,  I  on ly  remember  tha t  las t  par t  o f  h im 

because I  was . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    The las t  par t .  

MS GIGABA :    . . . .because I  was f rom wi th  h im in  2011 and 
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. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   So  you heard  tha t  he  was 

go ing  to  be  appo in ted  as  Ch ie f  Execut ive  Off i cer  o f  

Transnet  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . in  2015?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or  you are  no t  sure  when i t  was?  

MS GIGABA :    Ja ,  i t  was –  because dur ing  the  t ime,  Malus i  

was . . . [ in te rvenes ]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Was he s t i l l  M in is te r  . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

MS GIGABA :    He was . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .a t  tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    He was the  DPE.  

CHAIRPERSON :    He was s t i l l  M in is te r  o f  Pub l i c  

Enterp r ises?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    When he to ld  you about  Mr  Gama 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .be ing  in  l ine  to  be  appo in ted  as  CEO 

of  Transnet?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   And you do not  th ink  you are  

m is taken about  the  fac t  tha t  he  was . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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MS GIGABA :    I  am not  sure  about  the  year.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the  t ime? 

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  no t  sure  whether  he  was s t i l l  a t  

DPE a t  tha t  t ime ,  tha t  i s  Mr  G igaba,  when he to ld  you?  

Cou ld  i t  be  tha t  he  was no longer  Min i s te r  o f  DPE a t  the 

t ime?  

MS GIGABA :    He was.  

CHAIRPERSON :    He was?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay a l r igh t .  

MS GIGABA :    Because we went  in  Cape Town.   So I  do  

no t  –  somet imes he needed to  a t tended Eskom funct ions.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS GIGABA :    Bu t  Gama was not  there  bu t  Br ian  Mole fe  

was there .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MS GIGABA :    So  and I  remember  Malus i  was s t i l l  the  

Min is te r  o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Pub l i c  Enterpr ises .  20 

MS GIGABA :    Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    But  in  th is  -  I  do  no t  remember  exact ly  

about  the  years .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   No,  tha t  is  f ine .  
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MS GIGABA :    And I  sa id  tha t  to  the  Commiss ion  tha t  I  am 

not  su re  about  the  years .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS GIGABA :    Because I  was not  keep ing  t rack  o f  

every th ing  tha t  he  was do ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You see,  Ms Gigaba,  perhaps to  be  

o f  some ass is tance to  you.   Th is  i s  anothe r  i ssue tha t  we  

looked a t  du r ing  our  consu l ta t ion .   Because as  the  

Cha i rperson has po in ted  out  to  you.   In  2011,  Mr  Gama was 10 

re ins ta ted  as  the  Ch ie f  Execut ive  o f  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  

and tha t  was a t  a  t ime when Mr  G igaba was the  DPE 

Min is te r.   He was then in  2015  made the  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive  o f  Transnet  by  wh ich  t ime Mr  G igaba was no  

longer  the  DPE Min is te r.   And as  I  reca l l ,  you  ta lked about  

be ing  pu t  back in to  a  pos i t ion .   Do  you remember  tha t?  

MS GIGABA :    Because -  what  happened i s .   Le t  us  say 

. . . [ ind is t inc t ] .   I  do  no t  pu t  t imes on cer ta in  i ssues.   What  I  

wanted to  h igh l i gh t  i s ,  l i ke ,  eve ry  t ime when someth ing  

happens,  he  w i l l  say  be fore .   So he w i l l  come and  say i t .   20 

And when I  o r  g iv ing  my consu l ta t ion ,  I  sa id  I  do  no t  want  

to  pu t  exact  t imes w i th  what  he  was ta lk ing  about .    

 What  I  wanted to  h igh l igh t  i s ,  l i ke ,  each and a l l  

those t imes when they were  appo in ted  we knew before  

because he w i l l  te l l  me about  i t  maybe two or  th ree  months  
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be fore  tha t  so  and so  w i l l  go  to  th is  one or  th is  one w i l l  

move.   Some he w i l l  be  sad about  i t .   Some because there  

is  no th ing  you can do.   So i t  was those k ind  o f  sub jec ts .    

 So I  knew tha t  Mr  Gama wi l l  be  b rought  back to  

the  pos i t ion .   He was jus t  l i ke  I  do  no t  know h im .   [Speaker  

no t  c lea r ]   But  I  knew a l so  about  –  a lso  Br ian ,  tha t  B r ian 

w i l l  move to  Eskom before  he  was appo in ted  to  Eskom.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wou ld  you have made a  d is t inc t ion  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    Yes?  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .be tween be ing  to ld  tha t  Mr  Gama was 

go ing  to  be  made or  appo in ted  as  CEO of  TFR,  a  d iv is ion  

o f  Transnet?   Or  be ing  to ld  t ha t  he  was go ing  to  be  

appo in ted  as  CEO of  Transnet?   In  your  m ind wou ld  you  

have been ab le  t o  make tha t  d is t i nc t ion?  

MS GIGABA :    I  th ink  maybe the  m is take is  there .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS GIGABA :    Because I  do  no t  remember  exact ly  what  he  

was –  what  pos i t ion  he  was ho ld ing .   But  I  know tha t  –  a t  

some po in t  when  Malus i  was a t  DPE,  S iyabonga was in  a  20 

pos i t ion  tha t  he  was appo in ted .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS GIGABA :    And he  –  because he sa id  tha t  a t  home(?) .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   Mr  Myburgh.  

MS GIGABA :    Then I  sa id  –  what  I  do  no t  know because I  
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was not  keep ing  t racks  o f  the i r  movements .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

MS GIGABA :    Because I  was not  t rack ing  th is  one is  do ing  

th is  and th is .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS GIGABA :    Bu t  I  knew tha t  a t  some po in t .   Because i f  I  

remember  cor rec t l y,  when S iyabonga was appo in ted  in  tha t  

pos i t ion ,  there  was l i ke  a  l i t t le (?)  b i t  o f  a  no ise .   I  th ink  i t  

was in  the  med ia  about  h im mov ing  and he needs to  come 

back.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MS GIGABA :    So  and then S iyabonga,  Mah langu and 

Malus i  they had some d i scuss ion  a t  home,  ta lk ing  about  i t  

tha t  S iyabonga must  come back.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now you ta lk  about  Mr  Gama coming  

back o r  someth ing  l i ke  th is  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .appo in tment .  

MS GIGABA :    Because I  do  no t  know h i s  pos i t ion  proper ly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

MS GIGABA :    Because I  have never  done tha t  research .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   You see,  he  was d ismissed  in  –  a t  

the  end o f  June 2010 f rom h is  pos i t ion  as  CEO of  TFR,  no t  

o f  Transnet .  

MS GIGABA :    That  i s  . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Then he . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    . . .what  I  do  no t  know.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .he  was f igh t ing  h is  d ismissa l .  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And then there  were  negot ia t ions  fo r  a  

se t t lement .   The  negot ia t ions  happened when Mr  G igaba 

was . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

MS GIGABA :    . . .was s t i l l  DPE.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l i c  Enterpr ises .  

MS GIGABA :    Yes,  I  remember  tha t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    And as  a  resu l t  o f  those negot ia t ions ,  a  

se t t lement  agreement  was reached in  te rms o f  wh ich  he  

was a l lowed back .  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    He was re ins ta ted .  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  he  was not  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA :    That  i s  what  I  am ta lk ing  about .  

CHAIRPERSON :    When he was re ins ta ted ,  he  was go ing  

back to  h is  ear l ie r  pos i t ion  . . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .o f  CEO of  TFR.  

MS GIGABA :    Yes,  tha t  i s  what  I  was ta lk ing  about .  

CHAIRPERSON :    He was not  be ing  made  CEO of  

Transnet .  
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MS GIGABA :    Yes,  tha t  i s  what  I  was ta lk ing  about .  

CHAIRPERSON :    You were  ta lk ing  about  the  f i rs t  one?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.  

MS GIGABA :    Because tha t  t ime I  remember  Malus i  was a t  

DPE.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay a l r i gh t .   But  d id  you say they he ld  

a  meet ing  in  –  a t  your  home,  Mr  G igaba,  Mr  Mah langu and 

Mr  Gama a t  some s tage?  

MS GIGABA :    No.   Gama has never  been a t  my home.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

MS GIGABA :    Bu t  we –  we a re  l i ke  –  they were  l i ke  f r iends 

o f  some so r ts  because . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    [ Ind is t inc t ]   

MS GIGABA :    . . .A tho l  ca l l ed .   We a t tended the  wedd ing .  I  

th ink  i t  was h is  daughter ’s  wedd ing .   And a lso ,  they were  

c lose.  

CHAIRPERSON :    The th ree  o f  them? 

MS GIGABA :    Ja ,  they were  c lose .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.  20 

MS GIGABA :    So  as  I  remember,  Ma lus i  wou ld  ta lk  –  w i l l  

have tha t  k ind  o f  d iscuss ion  w i th  S iyabonga,  Mah langu.   

He wou ld  d iscuss  how they need to  ass is t  S iyabonga Gama 

to  come back.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  
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MS GIGABA :    Because there  was some bus iness(? )  s t i l l  

tha t  happens.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MS GIGABA :    So  I  remember  tha t .   Those d iscuss ions.   I t  

i s  jus t  l i ke  I  was not  par t  o f  them but  I  remember  them.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  were  those  d iscuss ions,  were  they 

tak ing  p lace in  your  p resence or  you were  hear ing  f rom 

Mr  G igaba tha t  such d iscuss ions had taken p lace? 

MS GIGABA :    I t  was h im and  Msomi ,  Thami .   Thami  

Msomi .   They were  ta lk ing .    10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA :    Yes,  bu t  Gama was not  in  the  meet ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Not  in  the  meet ing?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    They are  ta l k ing  on  the  phone? 

MS GIGABA :    No,  i t  was a  meet ing .   I t  was Thami  Msomi  

and Malus i ,  they  were  ta lk ing  abou t  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

MS GIGABA :    And then  la te r,  Ma lus i  was te l l ing  me 

because I  th ink  he  d id  no t  l i ke  how S iyabonga Gama was  20 

d ismissed.   I  th ink .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.    

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   A t  paragraph 31.3 ,  you 
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a lso  say someth ing  about  Mr  Gama.  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Can you dea l  w i th  tha t ,  p lease?  

MS GIGABA :    Can you p lease say tha t  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  was the re  –  how –  do you know 

how Gugu Gigaba  came to  be  employed a t  Transnet?  

MS GIGABA :    I  have a  l i t t le  knowledge about  i t .   What  I  

know i s ,  when Gogotso(? )  Malus i  a t  SAPI (?) ,  they  want  h im 

to  take  the  package because he was very  s i ck  and then  

Malus i  was l i ke :   No,  you must  take  the  package and move  10 

to  Joburg .   He a lso ,  th rough S iyabonga,  to  f ind  h im a  

pos i t ion  there .    So then he came – he  s tayed w i th  us ,  I  

th ink ,  fo r  two months .   Then a f te r  tha t  he  went  to  work  a t  

Transnet .   [Speaker  no t  c lear ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry.   Jus t  repeat  tha t  answer.   I  

have missed some th ings.    

MS GIGABA :    Okay.   So what  I  know.   Gugu was work ing  

in  KZN a t  SAPI .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.  

MS GIGABA :    Bu t  jus t  because he was o f ten  ve ry  s ick  a t  20 

work .   So SAPI  o f fe red  her (?)  the  board ing  package.   So 

Malus i  sa id  no  she must  take  i t  and she must  move to 

Joburg  to  s tay  w i th  us .   So wh ich  she came to  s tay  w i th  us .   

And he exp la ined to  me tha t  h is  s is te r  has come to s tay  

w i th  us  bu t  he  w i l l  speak to  S iyabonga Gama to  f ind  her  a  
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job  a t  Transnet .   Then once he f inds  a  job ,  he(?)  w i l l  leave 

our  home and f ind  h is (?)  p lace  to  s tay  and tha t  happened.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m.   Okay.   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Then Ms Gigaba,  there  

is  a  head ing ,  Tens ions R is ing .   Do you see tha t?  

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now wh i ls t  Mr  G igaba was the  

Min is te r  o f  the  DPE,  was there  a  t ime when you fe l t  tha t  

the  Guptas  were  pu t t ing  pressure  on  h im o r  d id  he  ment ion  

tha t  to  you?  10 

MS GIGABA :    He ment ioned tha t  to  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what  d id  he  say?  

MS GIGABA :    There  were  t imes where  Malus i  w i l l  have h i s  

own d ia ry  f rom h i s  depar tment  and  then wh i le  he  is  s i t t ing  

a t  home maybe he w i l l  say  A jay  i s  ca l l ing  h im.   He needs to  

go .   Or  he  w i l l  have to  leave the  depar tment .   So he w i l l  

come a t  home.   He was l i ke :   No,  le t  us  go  to  Saxon .   They  

want  to  see me.   But  i t  came to  a  t ime where  he  d id  no t  

want  to  do  i t .   He says they pu t  p ressure  on  h im because  

he has h i s  own d ia ry  tha t  he  runs i t  w i th  h is  PA.    20 

 So now when they do  these random ca l l s .   So 

now he needs to  cance l  the  th ings  and then he had  to  rush  

to  Saxon.   So he was not  happy  w i th  tha t .   And  a lso  I  

remember.   He was rea l l y  no t  happy w i th  when the re  were  

a  lo t  o f  a rguments  and pressure  on  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  to  use  
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SAA because Malus i  thought  he  was good as  the  CEO.  

 And a lso ,  I  remember  tha t  he  l i ked  Mr  Dames a t  

Eskom.   He sa id  he  was a  good guy.   He was work ing .   So  

but  the  Guptas  d id  no t  l i ke  them.   So there  were  a  lo t  o f  

d iscuss ions abou t  them.   So somet imes he wou ld  no t  take  

the i r  ca l l s  when they were  ca l l ing  and I  was l i ke :   No,  why 

are  you not  tak ing  the i r  ca l l s?   He was l i ke :   They  a lways 

put  p ressure  on  me.   They want  me to  run  my work  the  way  

they want .   And now I  want  to  run  the  depar tment  the  way I  

want .    10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  was there  a  t ime where  you 

d iscussed th i s  w i th  Mr  G igaba,  the  pressure  tha t  you say  

was be ing  put  on  h im? 

MS GIGABA :    Ja ,  a  lo t  o f  t imes because i t  w i l l  –  most  o f  

the  ca l l s  they w i l l  make h im uncomfor tab le .   I t  is  e i ther  

when maybe he  ta lks  to  Dudu Myen i .   Maybe they are  

d iscuss ing  SAA and then a f te r  tha t  he  w i l l  ta lk  to  me and 

say he  is  no t  okay because I  th ink  i t  was more  o f  he 

wanted me to  g ive  h im suppor t .   And a lso ,  there  are  cer ta in  

peop le  tha t  he  –  he  rea l l y  en joyed  to  work  w i th  them.   And 20 

then he fe l t  the  Guptas ,  they a lso  want  to  change th ings  

around and he was comfor tab le  w i th  those peop le .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  was there  ever  a  t ime in  tha t  

contex t  in  tha t  you suggested to  Mr  G igaba tha t  he  m ight  

s top  us ing  these adv ices?  
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MS GIGABA :    Can you p lease repeat  tha t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    D id  you –  you say i n  the  m idd le  o f  

parag raph 32:    

“When I  asked Mr  G igaba why he d id  no t  s top  

us ing  the  Guptas  as  h i s  adv isors . . . ”  

 What  d id  he  te l l  you  then?  

MS GIGABA :    Oh,  I  asked h im tha t  because I  fe l t  l i ke  –  

because these peop le  are  s t ress ing  h im.   So why  do you 

not  jus t  cu t  communica t ion  w i th  them?  So he sa id  he  

cannot .    10 

CHAIRPERSON :    And what  d id  you  say in  response? 

MS GIGABA :    I  do  no t  remember.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You cannot  remember.   

MS GIGABA :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Was the re  a  t ime –  have  a  look a t  

parag raph 33 –  when the  re la t ionsh ip  be tween Mr  G igaba  

and the  Guptas  appeared to  be  s t ra ined? 

MS GIGABA :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And when was tha t?   Can you  20 

remember?  

MS GIGABA :    F i rs t l y,  I  no t iced every  t ime when they w i l l  

ta lk  about  . . . [ ind is t inc t ] .   Ma lus i ,  he  d id  no t  l i ke  t hose.   And  

a lso  I  remember  when they were  ta lk ing  about  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ] .   He rea l l y  d id  no t  l i ke  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  to  be  
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removed.   And I  remember  a t  the  t ime i t  was more  when 

they ta l k  about  –  because he has  ca l led  Dudu Myen i  –  in  

the  beg inn ing  they used to  be  very  f r iend ly  and la te r  when 

he was a t  the  DPE they used to  a rgue a  lo t  about  the  board  

and the  dec i s ions o f  the  board  and a lso  how SAA is  

opera t ing .    

 So Malus i  was very  uncomfor tab le  how – I  th ink 

she –  he  fe l t  tha t  Dudu was jus t  in  eve ry th ing .   He wanted  

to  be  hands on where  he  is  no t  supposed to  be  hands on.   

So i t  was more  o f  tha t  most  o f  the  t ime.    10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now d id  Mr  G igaba o f ten  rece ive  

ca l l s  f rom Mr  A jay  Gupta?  

MS GIGABA :    Ja ,  somet imes A jay  w i l l  ca l l  h im.   

Somet imes he w i l l  take  the  ca l l s ,  somet imes he w i l l  no t  

take  h i s  ca l l s .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And why –  what  wou ld  cause  h im not  

to  take  the  ca l l s?  

MS GIGABA :    I  th ink  i t  was a t  the  la te r  s tage where  these 

ca l l s  because knew tha t  he  w i l l  te l l  h im someth ing  tha t  i s  

go ing  to  upset  h im or  he  w i l l  te l l  h im someth ing  about  a  20 

cer ta in  ind iv idua l  tha t  needs to   be  moved,  because every  

t ime when there  is  someone,  AJ wants  h im to  be  appo in ted ,  

he  wou ld  jus t  pu t  p ressure  on  h im and Malus i  wou ld  ha te  

tha t .   

 So and a t  some po in t ,  somet imes he wou ld ,  then he 
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wou ld  [ ind is t inc t ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what  wou ld  happen i f  he  ignored  

the  Guptas  ca l l s?  

MS GIGABA:   I  on ly  remember  one ins tance where  AJ sa id  

Malus i  must  remember  why he was  appo in ted  as  a  m in is te r.    

CHAIRPERSON:   What  d id  Mr  AJ Gupta  say?  

MS GIGABA:   He sa id  he  needs to  remember  why  he was  

appo in ted  as  a  m in is te r.    

CHAIRPERSON:   As  a  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Ente rpr i ses?  

MS GIGABA:   Pub l i c  en te rpr i ses .   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   D id  he  say th is  in  your  p resence  or  d id  

you get ,  d id  you  hear  f rom Mr  G igaba tha t  tha t  is  what  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA:   Ma lus i  to ld  me.   

CHAIRPERSON:   He to ld  you?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes,  bu t  I  was there  when he was ta lk ing  to  

h im on the  phone .   But  a lso  he  to ld  me.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  okay a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  thank you.   I  jus t  want  to  take  

you th rough paragraph 33.   Te l l  me i f  there  i s  pa r ts  o f  i t  20 

tha t  a re  wrong.   I t  says :  

 “Dur ing  ear ly  2014 Mr  G igaba ’s  re la t ionsh ip  

w i th  the  Guptas  began to  appear  s t ra in .   The 

Guptas  wanted Mr  G igaba to  ge t  r id  o f  Mr  

Danus as  the  ch ie f  execut ive  o f f i cer  o f  Eskom,  
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because Mr  Danus was not  do ing  what  the  

Guptas  wanted h im to  do  fo r  them a t  Eskom.   

However,  Mr  G igaba d id  no t  agree w i th  the  

Guptas  ins t ruc t ion .   Mr  G igaba then s tar ted  

avo id ing  te lephone ca l l s  f rom the  Guptas .   

When Mr  G igaba  ignored the  phone ca l l s ,  the  

Guptas  wou ld  send Mr  Mosane to  speak to  h im 

and Mr  G igaba wou ld  then agree to  meet  w i th  

them.   Mr  AJ Gupta  wou ld  regu lar ly  ca l l  Mr  

G igaba and demand tha t  he  a t tend the  Gupta  10 

res idence to  mee t  cer ta in  peop le .   Th is  upset  

Mr  G igaba,  because he wou ld  have to  cance l  

h is  p lanned o f f i c ia l  appo in tments  in  o rder  to  

do  so .   Mr  G igaba a lso  to ld  me tha t  AJ Gupta  

to ld  h im tha t  i f  he  wanted to  run  the  DPE as he  

w ished,  he  wou ld  be  moved back to  the  

Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs .   I  unders tand tha t  

Mr  AJ Gupta  wou ld  o f ten  te l l  Mr  G igaba tha t  he  

shou ld  remember  why he was appo in ted  a t  the  

DPE. ”  20 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I s  tha t  cor rec t  o r  i s  there  someth ing 

wrong w i th  th is  parag raph?  I s  there  anyth ing  wrong w i th  

i t?  

MS GIGABA:   There  is  no th ing  wrong.   
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   Then you go on to  dea l  w i th  

Mr  G igaba ’s  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Dudu Myen i .   Now was the re  

a  t ime where  Mr  G igaba had a  c lose  work ing  re la t ionsh ip  

w i th  Ms Myen i?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   When was tha t?  

MS GIGABA:   I  th ink  when he  was appo in ted  in  the  

beg inn ing  a t  DPE,  they were  c lose .   They were  l i ke  a  s is te r  

and a  bro the r.   A l though they were  co l leagues as  we l l .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Paragraph 34 goes on to  read tha t  10 

Ms Myen i  fac i l i ta ted  our  honeymoon t r ip  to  Maur i t ius .   

What  do  you mean by  tha t?  

MS GIGABA:   Wel l ,  le t  me say a  honeymoon,  because i t  

was not  the  exact  honeymoon,  and I  ra ised tha t  on  the 

consu l ta t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   So  th is  was a  t r ip  to  Maur i t ius  i f  

I  unders tand cor rec t l y  what  you say.   

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  you took shor t l y  be fore  you got  

marr i ed .  20 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And when you say Ms  Myen i  

fac i l i ta ted  the  t r ip ,  what  do  you mean by  tha t?  

MS GIGABA:   So  he a r ranged the  who le  t r ip  fo r  us .   They  

booked fo r  us  to  go  to  Maur i t ius .   We went  to  meet  h im,  
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meet  he r  a t  the  Shera ton  Hote l .   Then she sent  us  the  

who le  i t inera ry  about  t rave l l ing  and I  remember  when we  

were  in  Maur i t ius  we were  s tuck ,  because I  th ink  [ ind is t inc t   

was not  so  fami l ia r  w i th  t rave l l ing  by  h imse l f .   

 So  when we were  there  we d id  no t  know where  to  

p ick  up  the  ca r,  what  happened.   So we were  ca l l ing  her  

when we were  there  because she is  the  one who a r ranged  

the  t r ip .   So he d id  tha t  because he sa id  he  wanted  h im to 

go  to  res t ,  because wh i le  we were  ar rang ing  my wedd ing ,  

Ma lus i  was not  par t  o f  the  wedd ing  ar rangements  because 10 

he was work ing ,  and  i f  I  remember  proper ly,  tha t  t ime  

Malus i  was the  head o f  e lec t ions.   

 So he was  fo rever  ou t  w i th  the  door  to  door,  do ing  

the  prepara t ions o f  the  e lec t ions and a lso  g ive  us  the  t ime 

we were  prepar ing  fo r  our  wedd ing .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  who pa id  fo r  th is  t r ip  to  Maur i t ius?  

MS GIGABA:   Dudu pa id  fo r  i t .   Ma lus i  to ld  me tha t  he  pa id  

fo r  i t ,  bu t  what  I  remember  she is  the  one who gave  us  the  

who le  a r t i l l e ry,  our  f l i gh ts  and when we get  the re ,  where  

we must  s leep.   Who must  we ca l l ,  who needs to  p ick  us  up  20 

a t  the  a i rpo r t  and  eve ry th ing .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now can you remember  where  Mr  

G igaba wou ld  meet ,  t yp ica l l y  meet  w i th  Ms Myen i?  

MS GIGABA:   A t  Shera ton  Hote l  in  Pre tor ia .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .    
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MS GIGABA:   Bu t  somet imes she wou ld  come a t  home.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sor ry?  

MS GIGABA:   There  was somet imes she wou ld  come a t  our  

home.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   She wou ld  come to  your  home? 

MS GIGABA:   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And was there  a  t ime then where  

the i r  re la t ionsh ip  soured?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   How d id  tha t  come about ,  why?   10 

MS GIGABA:   They used to ,  because they s ta r ted  and they 

had a  s i s te r l y  and a  bro ther l y  re la t ionsh ip  and a lso  as  

co l leagues,  bu t  then i t  became sour  when Dudu used to  te l l  

Ma lus i  tha t  you need to  do  a  cer ta in  th ing ,  and Malus i  w i l l  

be  l i ke  he  does not  want  Dudu to  te l l  her  the  k ind  o f  job 

tha t  he  needs to  do .   

 A lso  I  remember  on  the  Mona lus i  and Galawaya  

saga,  Dudu d id  no t  l i ke  Mona lus i  and Malus i  d id  and a lso 

Malus i  was not  happy when Dudu  was in te r fe r i ng  w i th  the  

board  dec is ions.   So he w i l l  ca l l  her  and say l i ke  why she 20 

is  a lways invo lved in  th ings.   

 I  remember  they  w i l l  have l i ke  a  lo t  o f  a rguments .   

Then Dudu w i l l  be  l i ke  Malus i  w i l l  go  back to ,  he  w i l l  be  

taken back to  Home Affa i rs  and Malus i  i s  l i ke  no  one w i l l  

take  me back to  Home Affa i r s .   
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 So  they w i l l  jus t  f igh t  about  tha t  and Malus i  o r  

somet imes he w i l l  come and say  the  pres ident  sa id  you  

need to  do  th is ,  and then Malus i  was l i ke  pres iden t ,  i f  you  

want  to  te l l  me someth ing ,  he  w i l l  come to  me.   He must  

no t  go  to  you and  te l l  me someth ing .   

 So they had tha t  k ind  o f  a  re la t ionsh ip  where  i t  

became,  they d id  no t  want  to  meet ,  because I  remember  

there  was a  ce r ta in  t ime where  Ma lus i  d id  no t  want  to  ta lk  

to  her  anymore ,  bu t  i t  was more  o f  how she runs SAA.   

Ma lus i  fe l t  l i ke  he  was not  supposed to  be  appo in ted  as  the  10 

Cha i rperson o f  SAA.   

 He fe l t  l i ke  he  d id  no t  know how to  do  the  job .   

Somet imes he in te r fe res .   So they had tha t  k ind  o f  a  

s t ra ined re la t ionsh ip .   But  in  the  beg inn ing  they were  very  

c lose.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now you say a t  paragraph 37,  le t  me 

ask you d id  Mr  G igaba ever  ment ion  anyth ing  to  you about  

the  SAA Johannesburg  Mumbai  f l i gh t  rou te?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was tha t  an  issue tha t  was  caus ing  20 

concern?  

MS GIGABA:   I t  was the i r  top ic ,  because I  th ink  Malus i  

was not  in te res ted  in  th is  th ing  o f  Mumbai  rou te ,  SAA has 

to  be  cance l led ,  bu t  i t  was a  bus iness th ing  and then he 

wou ld  say they w i l l  d iscuss i t  w i th  Malus i  and every  t ime 
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they  ta lk  about  tha t ,  Ma lus i  w i l l  be  very  angry  l i ke  why he  

is  te l l ing  her  wha t  to  do .   

 Why she is  in te r fe r ing  because somet imes he wou ld  

jus t  sw i tch  o f f  the  phone and he w i l l  te l l  me l i ke  I  do  no t  

know why she was jus t  appo in ted .   So every  t ime  Malus i  

used to  quest ion  why he was ho ld ing  the  pos i t ion  o f  the 

new Cha i rpe rson because he  fe l t  l i ke  he  was jus t  

in te r fe r ing  everywhere .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson ,  I  have a  request  tha t  we 

take a  shor t  comfor t  b reak.   I  see  tha t  i t  has  jus t  gone n ine  10 

o ’c lock .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  you  have been s tand ing  the  who le  

day.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   How are  you fee l ing?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   No,  I  am f ine .   

CHAIRPERSON:    You are  f ine?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  I  am keen I  am sure  l i ke  

everyone to  f in ish  th is  ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Ms Gigaba,  can we cont inue a f te r  20 

a  break and t r y  and f in ish?  

MR SOLOMON:   Okay.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  a l r igh t .   We wi l l  take  a  ten  m inutes  

ad journment .    

We ad journ .  
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INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Cha i rperson.   Ms  Gigaba,  

can I  ask  you to  have a  look a t  pa rag raph 37 a t  the  bo t tom 

o f  page 1007.   You say tha t  on  Sundays Mr  G igaba and I  

wou ld  regu lar ly  have lunch in  Sandton.   I s  tha t  cor rec t?    

CHAIRPERSON:   Jus t  sw i tch  on  your  m ic  p lease and then 

repeat  the  answer.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You say a t  paragraph 37:  10 

 “On Sundays Mr  G igaba and I  wou ld  regu lar l y  

have lunch in  Sandton. ”  

 I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:   That  i s  37  po in t  wha t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   37 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   The p rev ious page.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sor ry,  page 1007.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A t  the  bo t tom.  

MS GIGABA:   Oh ,  okay.    

CHAIRPERSON:   A t  the  bo t tom.  20 

MS GIGABA:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  paragraph 37 is  a t  the  bo t tom.   

A re  you there?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   “So on Sundays Mr  G igaba and I  
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wou ld  regu lar l y  have lunch in  Sandton.   Whi le  

d r iv ing  to  re turn  home I  wou ld  overhear  Mr  

G igaba ’s  te lephone d i scuss ions w i th  Ms Myen i .   

He wou ld  somet imes share  the  de ta i l  o f  these 

d iscuss ions w i th  me and tha t  wou ld  inc lude. ”  

 What  does the ,  i f  you  go ove r  the  page,  what  was 

the  sor ts  o f  th ings tha t  he  wou ld  te l l  you  a f te r  ho ld ing  

these d iscuss ions  w i th  Ms Myen i?  

MS GIGABA:   That  i s  what  I  a l ready ment ioned before .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sor ry?  10 

MS GIGABA:   I t  is  what  I  have a l ready ment ioned before .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay,  and  tha t  i s  about  fo l low ing  

ins t ruc t ions,  e tce tera .   

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was there  a  t ime where  he  sa id  to  

you tha t  he  d id  no t  unders tand why she had been 

appo in ted  as  the  Cha i r  o f  SAA because he d id  no t  be l ieve  

she was competent?  

MS GIGABA:   He  sa id  tha t  to  me,  no t  to  her.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  and d id  he  say to  you tha t  she 20 

wou ld  feed in fo rmat ion  to  the  fo rmer  pres ident?  

MS GIGABA:   Can you p lease ask  the  quest ion  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   D id  he  say  to  you tha t  Ms  Myen i  

wou ld  feed in fo rmat ion  to  the  fo rmer  pres ident  w i thout  

te l l ing  h im about  tha t?  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 330 of 416 
 

MS GIGABA:   Ma lus i  fe l t  l i ke  tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   He fe l t  tha t?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then paragraph 37.3 ,  and these  

are  th ings I  th ink  tha t  you have a l ready touched on:  

 “When Mr  G igaba d id  no t  want  to  fo l low the  

ins t ruc t ions o f  Mr  AJ Gupta  o f  Ms Myen i ,  one 

or  o ther  wou ld  phone the  fo rmer  pres ident  to  

compla in  about  h im. ”  

 I s  tha t  r igh t?  10 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   “Ms Myen i  wou ld  then pass on  

ins t ruc t ions f rom Pres ident  Zuma to  Mr  G igaba  

wh ich  wou ld  upset  h im.   Mr  G igaba be l ieved 

tha t  he  shou ld  have a  d i rec t  l ine  of  

communica t ion  to  the  fo rmer  p res ident  and not  

rece ive  ins t ruc t ions v ia  Ms Myen i ,  because he  

d id  no t  repor t  to  he r. ”  

 I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then a t  38 ,  can you dea l  w i th  

tha t  p lease?   

MS GIGABA:   What  do  you want  me to  do  about  38?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   What  d id  Ms  Myen i  te l l  Mr  G igaba?  

MS GIGABA:   He  sa id  i f  he  does not  want  to  do  someth ing ,  
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he  w i l l  be  taken back to  Home Affa i rs .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And was  there  a  t ime when Mr  

G igaba d id  re turn  to  the  Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i r s?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   You sa id  ear l ie r  on  tha t  Mr  AJ Gupta  to ld  

you,  to ld  Mr  G igaba . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   That  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA:   The same th ing  tha t  you jus t  sa id .   

CHAIRPERSON:   He wou ld  be  re tu rned to  Home Affa i rs .   10 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   So  now I  see tha t  you a re  say ing  tha t  Ms  

Myen i  a lso  sa id  tha t  same th ing .   

MS GIGABA:   They both  sa id  i t ,  yes .   

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  you sure  tha t  bo th  o f  them sa id  the 

same th ing?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes,  I  am sure .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  okay.   Mr  Myburgh?   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  thank  you.   Then you  have a  

head ing ,  Mr  G igaba ’s  re tu rn  to  the  Depar tment  o f  Home 20 

A f fa i rs  and paragraph 39:  

 “On 26 May Mr  G igaba was t ransfe r red  back to  

the  Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i r s  as  m in is te r. ”  

 I  take  i t  tha t  tha t  was not  a  da te  tha t  you cou ld  

persona l l y  reca l l ,  bu t  you were  ass is ted  w i th  tha t  da te .   I s  
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tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:   I  d id  no t  ass is t  w i th  the  da tes ,  I  th ink  the  

commiss ion  pu t  the  da tes .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   

MS GIGABA:   Bu t  I  sa id  Malus i  was taken back.   I  

remember  when he was taken back .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Because tha t  da te  accords w i th  the  

da te  in  the  schedu le ,  in  pa ragraph 6 .   A l l  the  d i f fe ren t  

pos i t ions  tha t  he  he ld .   

MS GIGABA:   Remember,  a l l  those dates  a re  the  da tes  10 

they were  no t  pu t  by  me.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   

MS GIGABA:   They were  pu t  by  the  commiss ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  i s  ac tua l l y  Ms Gigaba what  I  am 

say ing  here ,  i s  tha t  th is  i s ,  you d id  no t  remember  th is  da te ,  

you were  ass is ted  w i th  the  da te .  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cor rec t .   But  you do remember  h im 

be ing  t ransfer red  back to  the  Depar tment  o f  Home A ffa i rs .   

MS GIGABA:   Yes,  I  do .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  I  am not  sure  tha t  i s  t he  r igh t  

language perhaps ,  bu t  he  moved.   

MS GIGABA:   Yes,  he  moved back .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   D id  Mr  G igaba th ink  tha t  he  wou ld  be  

moved back?  
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MS GIGABA:   No .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why?  

MS GIGABA:   Because he had a  very  c lose  re la t ionsh ip  

w i th  the  pres iden t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what  was Mr  G igaba ’s  react ion  to  

be ing  re turned o r  to  mov ing  back as  you put  i t ,  to  the 

Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs?   How d id  he  fee l  about  i t?  

MS GIGABA:   He was shocked and a lso  I  th ink  he  was  

hur t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   D id  he  te l l  you  what  had happened? 10 

MS GIGABA:   In  te rms o f?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   D id  he  te l l  you  what  the  p res ident  

to ld  h im?  

MS GIGABA:   He sa id  he  to ld  h im tha t  he  w i l l  be  taken 

back to ,  you need  to  go  back to  Home Affa i rs .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And d id  he  te l l  you  why the  p res ident  

had sa id  tha t  he  was go ing  to  be  moved back?   

MS GIGABA:   He sa id  he  need to  t igh ten  the  boarders  a t  

the  Home Affa i r s .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .    20 

CHAIRPERSON:   And what  d id  Mr  G igaba th ink  o f  tha t  

reason,  o r  th ink  o f  tha t?   Do you  know what  h i s  react ion  

was to  be ing  to ld  tha t  he  needed to  go  back to  Home 

Affa i rs  in  o rder  to  s t rengthen border  cont ro ls?  

MS GIGABA:   He thought  he  was taken back because he 
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was a l ready th rea tened tha t  he  w i l l  be  taken back.   So he 

thought  [ ind is t inc t  bu t  the  pres ident  d id  no t  say  those  

words.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   You then go on to  dea l  

w i th  the  Gupta ’s  app l i ca t ion  fo r  South  A f r i can c i t i zensh ip .   

What  d id  Mr  G igaba te l l  you  about  th is?  

MS GIGABA:   I  am not  supposed to  ta lk  abou t  th is ,  

because I  never  work  a t  the  depar tment .   So what  I  w i l l  say  

is  [ ind is t inc t ] .   So I  am not  comfor tab le  w i th  . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sor ry,  fo r  some reason I  am not  

hear ing  you c lear ly.   What  d id  you say?  

MS GIGABA:   I  am say ing  I  am not  comfor tab le  to  ta lk  

about  the  app l i ca t ion  c i t i zensh ip  o f  the  Guptas ,  because I  

have never  worked fo r  the  depar tment .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  bu t  what  d id  Mr  G igaba te l l  you?  

MS GIGABA:   So  maybe you w i l l  ask  someth ing ,  then he 

w i l l  respond to  tha t  because most  o f  every th ing  I  have sa id  

here ,  i s  the  quest ions tha t  . . .  the  quest ions tha t  I  was 

asked on the  consu l ta t ion .   Then  I  w i l l  respond to  what  I  20 

know.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   

MS GIGABA:   Based on the  quest ions [ ind is t inc t ] .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  is  th is  a  par t  o f  the  a f f idav i t  tha t  

you want  to  cor rec t?  
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MS GIGABA:   Ja ,  because I  do  no t  want  to  say  cer ta in  

th ings because they are  here  and I  do  no t  want  to  say 

those words because I  do  no t  want  to  be  accountab le  fo r  a  

cer ta in  yes,  because most  o f  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  i s  

per ta ined,  the  commiss ion  summar ised.   Maybe i t  i s  the i r  

own in te rp re ta t ion  and I  do  no t  want  to  be  par t  o f  tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Okay,  we l l  when i t  says  a t  42  tha t  

dur ing  Mr  G igaba ’s  tu rn  o f  o f f i ce  as  Min is te r  o f  the 

Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs ,  he  i n fo rmed me tha t  he  was 

ass is t ing  some o f  the  Gupta  fami ly  members  to  ob ta in  10 

c i t i zensh ip  in  Sou th  A f r i ca .   

ADV OLDWAGE SC:   Cha i rperson,  th rough you.   The 

w i tness is  mak ing  i t  very  c lear  tha t  she does not  in tend to 

dea l  w i th  the  contents  o f  pa ragraph 42,  43  and 44.   She  

says she does not  in tend to  do  so ,  because one the  

in fo rmat ion  there  was prov ided to  her  by  the  commiss ion .  

 Second ly  because she does not  have pe rsona l  

knowledge o f  these fac ts .   Now re fe r r ing  he r  to  th is  

in fo rmat ion  fo r  her  to  conf i rm,  does not  take  cogn isance o f  

the  fac t  tha t  she is  say ing  I  am not  comfo r tab le ,  tha t  20 

in fo rmat ion  is  no t  w i th in  my persona l  knowledge.   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no .   The w i tness i s  no t  be ing  asked 

to  say anyth ing  she does not  know.   She is  be ing  asked  

whethe r  tha t  sen tence is  t rue  o r  no t  and the re fo re  she is  

ab le  to  say no ,  i t  i s  no t  t rue  or  i t  has  been put  in  a  way  
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tha t  I  am not  comfor tab le  w i th  o r  anyth ing  l i ke  tha t .   

MS GIGABA:   Yes,  tha t  i s  what  I  meant .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV OLDWAGE SC:   Cha i r  I  apo log ise .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

ADV OLD WAGE SC:   Once aga in ,  the  w i tness is  say ing  I  

do  no t  know th is  in fo rmat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

ADV OLDWAGE SC:   I t  was put  by  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no ,  no .   The  w i tness has deposed to  10 

an  a f f idav i t  and she then says there  is  someth ing  in  the  

a f f idav i t  tha t  she is  unhappy about .   The ev idence leader  i s  

en t i t led  to  say is  i t  the  f i rs t  sentence tha t  you are  unhappy 

about .   

 I s  there  anyth ing  un t rue  about  i t .   He is  en t i t led  to  

ask  tha t  and the  w i tness is  qu i te  en t i t led  to  say yes,  i t  i s  

no t  t rue  or  yes ,  i t  i s  t rue .    

ADV OLDWAGE SC:   Cha i rperson,  my ob jec t i on  was 

mere ly  because  the  w i tness  spec i f i ca l l y  sa id  th is  

in fo rmat ion  was put  here  by  the  commiss ion  and the re fore  I  20 

do  not  have know ledge o f  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l ,  I  th ink  Mr  Myburgh wants  to  

es tab l i sh  wh ich  par t  o f  th is  paragraph the  w i tness says was  

put  by  the  commiss ion ,  because tha t  i s  a  ser ious  

a l legat ion .  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 337 of 416 
 

ADV OLDWAGE SC:   As  the  Cha i r  p leases.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  those a re  ser ious a l legat ions.   So i t  

i s  impor tan t  tha t  i f  there  i s  someth ing  tha t  she never  t o ld  

the  commiss ion  wh ich  has been  put  here ,  le t  us  have 

c la r i t y.   I f  she  says,  as  I  be l ieve  she d id  w i th  regard  to  

some ear l ie r  pa rag raph where  she says the  substance 

might  be  f ine  bu t  the  way i t  has  been put  i s  no t  r igh t ,  i t  i s  

impor tan t  tha t  we  know exact ly  what  i t  i s .    

 So  Ms Gigaba,  when Mr  Myburgh ask  quest ions  

about  th is  pa ragraph,  fee l  f ree  to  say what  you w ish  to  say.   10 

I f  you want  to  say th is  i s  no t  t rue  or  i t  has  no t  been put  in  

the  r igh t  way,  fee l  f ree  to  say so .   I f  you  say i t  i s  t rue ,  bu t  

the  way i t  i s  pu t  o r  whatever,  fee l  f ree .  

 But  i f  you  say tha t  the  invest iga to rs  o r  members  o f  

the  lega l  team o f  the  commiss ion  have put  in fo rmat ion  in  

your  a f f idav i t  w i thout  hav ing  been to ld  tha t  by  you,  i t  i s  

impor tan t  tha t  we  know.   

MS GIGABA:   Okay.   So what  I  sa id  to  h im,  I  am not  

comfor tab le  to  answer  th is  pa r t  because there  is  a  year  

tha t  i s  ment ioned ,  wh ich  I  never  I  do  no t  ta lk  about  years ,  20 

because I  never  kept  the  years  record ing  every th ing  what  

happened.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

MS GIGABA:   And a lso  even the  summary a t  the  end.   

CHAIRPERSON:   You can take  i t ,  Ms Gigaba you can take  
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i t  tha t  i f  you  have a  p rob lem abou t  a  year  o r  a  da te ,  as  fa r  

as  I  am concerned tha t  i s  no t  go ing  to  be  a  b ig  dea l  you  

know,  bu t  i t  i s  more  about  whethe r  the  substance does not  

re f lec t  what  you to ld  whoever  p repared the  a f f idav i t .   

MS GIGABA:   Okay,  because what  makes me comfor tab le  

i s  i f  I  sa id  someth ing ,  because pa r t  o f  the  paragraph,  there  

is  someth ing  tha t  I  say.   But  now the  way tha t  i t  i s  

summar ised . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes .   

MS GIGABA:   I t  has  so  much o f  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  has 10 

got  no th ing  to  do  w i th  me.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MS GIGABA:   Espec ia l l y  44 .   I t  i s  someth ing  tha t  was  

co l lec ted  by  the  commiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  okay.  

MS GIGABA:   And i t  makes i t  d i f f i cu l t  fo r  me to  be  he ld  

accountab le  fo r  the  who le  parag raph and to  se lec t  cer ta in  

par t s .   So I  w ish  they have put  my words . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  I  th ink  I  unders tand  comple te ly  what  

you are  say ing .   Mr  Myburgh?  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l ,  perhaps we cou ld  ask  you in  

your  own words what  happened in  re la t ion  to  the  Guptas  

app l i ca t ion  fo r  South  A f r i can c i t i zensh ip ,  tha t  you know.   

That  you lea rn t  f rom Mr  G igaba.   

CHAIRPERSON:   In  o ther  words even i f  you d id  no t  look  a t  
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th is  a f f idav i t ,  a t  these paragraphs,  in  te rms o f  what  he  to ld  

you i f  you  were  to  jus t  re la te  tha t .   

MS GIGABA:   I  w i l l  no t  remember  a  long par t  o f  i t ,  tha t  he  

sa id  he  was ass is t ing  them.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MS GIGABA:   Bu t  I  jus t  want  to  express myse l f  on  the  

pub l i ca l l y  [ ind i s t inc t ]  because I  do  no t  want  to  go  i n  te rms 

o f  what  happens  in  the  depar tment  because I  have never  

worked fo r  the  depar tment .   So I  do  no t  want  to  use a  

cer ta in  word  and then when the  depar tment  comes back he  10 

says no  we never  done tha t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MS GIGABA:   Because I  have  never  worked fo r  the  

Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MS GIGABA:   And here  i t  i s  a l ready,  the  answer  i s  b road.   

Th is  who le  in fo rmat ion  i t  i s  no t  my words.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  i f  I  unders tand you cor rec t l y,  

p lease co r rec t  me i f  I  am wrong.   You have a  pa r t i cu la r  

concern  w i th  pa ragraph 44.   Because the re  i t  says :  20 

 “ I t  i s  pub l i ca l l y  known tha t  Mr  G igaba dur ing  

h is  te rm o f  the  Min is te r  o f  the  Depar tment  o f  

Home Affa i rs  had approved  the  ear ly  

na tura l i sa t ion  o f  members  o f  the  Gupta  fami ly. ”  

 That  you say . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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MS GIGABA:   I t  is  you tha t  commiss ioner  to  tha t ,  no t  me.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  you say . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA:   I  never  done any invest iga t ion  about  what  

pub l i c  says abou t  h im.   Every th ing  tha t  i s  g iven here  i t  i s  

what  I  heard  f rom h im,  i t  i s  what  I  have seen,  bu t  I  d id  no t  

go  do  an invest iga t ion  when happened when and how the  

pub l i c  v iews h im.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MS GIGABA:   And tha t  what  Malus i  was cha l l eng ing  on h is  10 

a f f idav i t .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  i f  you  take  out  tha t  and we take  

out  the  da te  in  2015 you have any par t i cu la r  concerns in  

re la t ion  to  pa ragraph 42 and 43,  because i t  re fe rs  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We were ,  bu t  what  I  am in teres ted  in  

i s  your  own persona l  exper ience.    

CHAIRPERSON:   O f  what  he  to ld  you.  20 

MS GIGABA:   Ja ,  bu t  you a re  mak ing  my l i fe  so  d i f f i cu l t ,  

because I  so  w ish  you d id  no t  m ix  my words because now I  

have to  se lec t  what  i s  my words  ou t  o f  tha t  who le  

parag raph,  because a l l  th is  i t  i s  what  you know o f  h im.   I t  

i s  the  invest iga t ion  tha t  you have done.   
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 I t  i s  what  the  pub l i c  th ink  o f  h im and then now I  

have to  f ind  myse l f  in  be tween and  tha t  i s  the  reason I  sa id  

I  do  no t  want  to  come to  the  commiss ion  be fore  every th ing  

is  cor rec ted  because now I  have to  t i ck  p ieces and  p ieces  

o f  what  I  sa id .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Wou ld  you be happy to  th rough your  lega l  

rep resenta t i ves ,  pu t  in  an  a f f idav i t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   How you wanted i t  to  be  pu t?  

MS GIGABA:   That  i s  what  yes ,  we propose.   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   So you can  s t i l l  dea l  w i th  i t  bu t  you 

wou ld  l i ke  to  pu t  i t  in  your  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA:   In  my own words.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MS GIGABA:   So  tha t  I  can say what  I  have seen and what  

I  know.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MS GIGABA:   Because I  do  no t  want  to  ag ree w i th  the  

s ta tement  tha t  has go t  no th ing  to  do  w i th  me.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Wel l ,  Mr  Myburgh I  do  no t  know 20 

what  you th ink  bu t  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  when we see tha t  

a f f idav i t ,  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  wha tever  you might  w ish  to  

pursue,  you migh t  look  . . .  do  tha t  a f te r  look ing  a t  tha t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes,  I  th ink  we are  happy to  move on,  

on  tha t  bas is .   
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CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rperson .   So th is  i s  one o f  those 

areas tha t ,  l i ke  w i th  the  Ind ia  t r ip  you need to  re -cra f t  the  

passage.   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:   That  i s  the  th ing  tha t  I  d id  no t  want  to  do,  

and I  do  no t  wan t  you to  fo rce  me to do  i t ,  because when 

you fo rce  me to  do  i t  now,  I  have to  look  and t r y  to  se lec t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   

MS GIGABA:   And I  d id  no t  want  to  do  tha t .   I  p re fer red ,  

tha t  i s  what  I  p ropose to  my lawyers  and  to  the  10 

commiss ion .   I  p re fer red  to  s t i ck  t o  my words,  so  tha t  I  can 

g ive  the  in fo rmat ion  what  I  know.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   

MS GIGABA:   Because now i t  i s  to  se lec t  the  b i t s  and 

p ieces . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Abso lu te ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  tha t  i s  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA:   That  i s  d i f f i cu l t  because some here ,  on  43  I  

know what  I  have  sa id .   

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   20 

MS GIGABA:   And now . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no  . . . [ in te rvenes]  

MS GIGABA:   And now i t  i s  m ixed w i th  the  who le  overa l l  o f  

the  invest iga t ion  o f  the  commiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Do not  wor ry,  tha t  i s  f ine  because you 



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 343 of 416 
 

want  to  pu t  i t  in  your  own words.   

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   That  tha t  i s  acceptab le .   You cou ld  do  

tha t  in  a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t .   

MS GIGABA:   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And then once the  commiss ion  has go t  

tha t  we can look a t  tha t  and take  i t  f rom there .   

MS GIGABA:   Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .    

ADV OLDWAGE SC:   Cha i rperson ,  i f  I  may?  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes .   

ADV OLD WAGE SC:   I  do  need to  ind ica te  tha t  my or ig ina l  

concern  was tha t  as  Ms Gigaba is  be ing  led  on  aspects  o f  

th is  a f f idav i t ,  a t  a  la te r  s tage she then fu rn i shes an  

a f f idav i t  to  t ry  and exp la in  th is  I  d id  no t  say,  th is  I  d id  no t  

say.  

 The reason why th is  has been a  concern  is  pu re l y  

because a t  some po in t  o r  the  o the r,  when we come to  dea l  

and I  am jus t  g iv ing  a  s imp le  example .   When we come to  

dea l  w i th  paragraph 45 o r  43  o f  th is  o r ig ina l  a f f idav i t ,  the 20 

quest ion  then becomes you agreed to  cer ta in  aspects  o f  i t  

and now you are  now re fus ing .   

 Hence the  concern  Cha i rperson was tha t  we t ry  and  

we make the  exerc ise  s imp le  fo r  the  commiss ion .   Not  on ly  

fo r  the  cred ib i l i t y  and mak ing  sure  tha t  the  proper  
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in fo rmat ion  be fo re  th is  commiss ion  is  exact ly  tha t  wh ich  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no ,  no ,  no .   I t  i s  f ine  the  way i t  i s .   

What  has been sa id ,  i s  he  has sa id  tha t  some o f  the  th ings  

tha t  a re  here  she knows,  bu t  o thers  have been put  in  a 

cer ta in  way.   She d id  say Mr  G igaba d id  say he  was  

ass is t ing ,  I  th ink  the  Guptas  about  the  c i t i zensh ip .  

 But  as  fa r  as  I  am concerned,  the  ar rangement  i s  a  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  w i l l  be  ob ta ined where  under  the  

Guptas  app l i ca t i on  fo r  South  A f r i can c i t i zensh ip  t hey can 10 

put  he r  ev idence  they  say she wants  to  pu t  in  te rms o f  

what  she knows,  and in  te rms o f  what  she was to ld  by Mr 

G igaba.    

 Then we w i l l  have tha t .   What  happens a f te r  tha t  

w i l l  depend on what  emerges because i f  her  supp lementary  

a f f idav i t  says  what  i s  wrong is  the  2015 and the  44 ,  and 

then the  way th is  th ing  is  pu t  has los t  the  essence o f  what  

I  to ld  whoever  was dra f t ing  the  a f f idav i t .   

 Th is  i s  what  I  sa id ,  i t  i s  f ine ,  bu t  I  do  no t  th ink  there  

is  any o ther  way  o f  do ing  i t ,  because th is  i s  an  a f f idav i t  20 

wh ich  she s igned .   

ADV OLDWAGE SC:   Cha i rperson,  as  I  had a l ready 

submi t ted  be fore ,  we ra ised concerns and Cha i rperson,  

one o f  the  reasons why she fee ls  i t  i s  c r i t i ca l  tha t  she  

exp la ins  the  c i r cumstances under  wh ich  she s igns th is  
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a f f idav i t ,  we saw tha t  th is  a f f idav i t  does not  ge t  p laced on 

he r.   Because she is  spec i f i ca l l y  say ing  the  contents  o f  th is  

a f f idav i t  conta in  in fo rmat ion  tha t  i s  no t  m ine.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  I  have heard  tha t .   I  have heard  

tha t ,  I  have heard  tha t .   I t  i s  enough.   I  know what ,  I  know 

a l l  the  po in t s  you have made.   I  have not  fo rgo t ten  them.   

We a re  go ing  to  p roceed,  bu t  we proceed on the  bas i s  tha t  

one,  as  fa r  as  these pa ragraphs are  concerned a  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  w i l l  be  prov ided in  wh ich  she w i l l  

pu t  her  knowledge or  her  ev idence the  way she wants  to  10 

put  i t .   

 I f  in  subsequent  paragraphs there  is  anothe r  

parag raph where  she has a  s im i la r  d iscomfo r t  we  w i l l  ta lk  

about  tha t  and probab ly  do  the  same th ing .   But  le t  us  

make progress.   I t  i s  la te  in  the  n igh t ,  we a l l  want  to  f in ish ,  

okay.  

ADV OLDWAGE SC:   As  the  Cha i r  p leases.   

CHAIRPERSON:   A l r igh t .    

MS GIGABA:   A lso  can I  say  someth ing  on  tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   20 

MS GIGABA:   When i t  comes to  the  s ign ing  o f  the  a f f idav i t ,   

because I  remember  on  our  las t  consu l ta t ion  one o f  the  

ev idence leaders  were  say ing  bu t  you s igned i t .   So  when 

i t  came to  th is ,  and me s ign ing  i t ,  i t  was a  day because 

dur ing  those days when we were  about  to  wrap up th is ,  
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there  were  a  lo t  o f  th rea ts ,  peop le  th rea ten ing  me about  

coming here  and I  was rece iv ing  a  lo t  o f  ca l l s .   

 I  fe l t  l i ke  my l i fe  was so  th rea tened.   So i t  was more  

o f  the  secur i t y  concern ,  so  on  tha t  day we were  s ign ing  

th is ,  i t  was the  day we rece ived the  news tha t  there  was 

someone,  they t r ied  to  k i l l  someone o r  someth ing .   So  

when Pau l  gave the  a f f idav i t  to  my sen io r  counse l ,  so  then  

he was l i ke  we on ly  have ten  m inutes .   

 We need to  s ign  i t  qu ick ly.   I  do  no t  want  i t  on  me 

because these peop le ,  what  i f  these peop le  they you know,  10 

because we were  so  scared to  have the  a f f idav i t  w i th in  us ,  

because the  med ia  was ca l l ing  me,  wanted the  a f f idav i t .   

Cer ta in  peop le ,  they wanted the  a f f idav i t  f rom me and I  d id  

no t  have i t .   

 So  when I  was  answer ing  peop le ,  te l l ing  them 

espec ia l l y  the  med ia  to  say I  do  no t  have the  a f f idav i t  and I  

was not  l y ing .   I  d id  no t  have my a f f idav i t  w i th  me,  and tha t  

i s  what  we proposed w i th  the  ev idence leader.   That  I  do 

no t  want  to  have i t ,  because I  fe l t  l i ke  hav ing  th is  a f f idav i t  

w i l l  pu t  my l i fe  more  in  danger,  because a  lo t  o f  peop le  20 

wanted my a f f idav i t  and my l i fe  was so  under  th rea t  dur ing  

the  t ime.   

 So when on the  day we were  s ign ing  i t ,  we were  

on ly  g iven cer ta in  few minutes .   So we s ign  i t  qu i ck l y  and 

then the  sen ior  counse l  went  to  d rop i t  o ff  to  the  ev idence 
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leader,  bu t  i t  was the  na ture  o f  bo th  o f  us  we were  so  

scared o f  ou r  l i ves .   

 Myse l f ,  I  was sca red o f  my l i fe  and  I  ra ised tha t  and  

we were  d iscuss ing  the  secur i t y,  the  th rea t .   How I  am 

go ing  to  be  pro tec ted  wh ich  I  was not  p ro tec ted  by  the  

commiss ion  and i t  p romised to  p ro tec t  me.   So eve ry  t ime 

when now they are  say ing  I  s igned  i t ,  I  d id  no t  s ign  i t  in  my 

comfor t .  

 I  s ign  i t  under  p ressure .   We d id  no t  go  th rough i t  

because o f  there  was tha t  on  tha t  day.   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Do not  wor ry  about  tha t  fo r  now.   

MS GIGABA:   Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:   In  your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  you can 

exp la in  the  c i rcumstances under  wh ich  you s igned i t ,  

because when you p repare  your  supp lementary  a ff idav i t ,  

when you . . .  i t  i s  looked a t ,  i t  may we l l  be  tha t  in  

substance you w i l l  no t  be  dev ia t ing  much f rom what  you 

have sa id .   

 But  one can on ly  make tha t  judgment  ca l l  when one 

compares the  two,  bu t  when you  do your  supp lementa ry  20 

a f f idav i t  you can jus t  exp la in  tha t  these a re  the  

c i rcumstances under  wh ich  you s igned th i s  f i rs t  one.   

MS GIGABA:   Okay.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   A l r igh t ,  le t  us  cont inue.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .   Thank you.   Ms Gigaba,  
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there  i s  another  head ing  then,  Malus i  G igaba ’s  t ransfer  

f rom the  Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs  to  the  Depar tment  o f  

F inance.   You remember  tha t  he  moved f rom Home Affa i rs  

to  the  depar tment  o f  f inance?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Remember  tha t ,  and how d id  you 

come to  learn  about  tha t?  

MS GIGABA:   Because he to ld  me.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And can you remember  where  you  

were  a t  the  t ime when he to ld  you? 10 

MS GIGABA:   We were  in  Cape Town.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And were  you a t  a  funct ion  or  

someth ing?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what  happened when,  d id  he  

rece ive  a  te lephone ca l l?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A f te r  he  rece ived the  ca l l ,  what  d id  

he  say to  you?  

MS GIGABA:   He  to ld  me tha t  [ ind is t inc t ] .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   P lease speak c loser  to  the  m ic .   

MS GIGABA:   So  he to ld  me abou t  h is  appo in tment  as  the  

Min is te r  o f  F inance.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was he happy about  tha t?    

MS GIGABA:   He  was not .   
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why?  

MS GIGABA:   What  he  ment ioned ,  he  sa id  he  knows tha t  

he  was not  the  person wh ich ,  fo r  h im to  be  a  Min i s te r  o f  

F inance.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sor ry?  

MS GIGABA:   He  sa id  he  knew tha t  he  was not  the  person  

wh ich  to  be ,  fo r  h im to  be  a  Min i s te r  o f  F inance.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   He is  no t  the  pe rson the  p res ident  

w ish  to  be  the  Min is te r  o f  F inance? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   D id  he  te l l  you  who the  pres ident  

wanted to  be  the  Min is te r  o f  F inance?  

MS GIGABA:   He  sa id  he  wanted [ ind is t inc t ] .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now a f te r  Mr  G igaba moved to  the 

Depar tment  o f  F inance,  d id  he  cont inue to  go  to  the  Gupta  

res idence?  You cont inued to  go  the  Gupta  res idence? 

MS GIGABA:   Can you p lease repeat  the  quest ion?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A f te r  Mr  G igaba moved  to  the ,  

became the  Min is te r  o f  F inance,  d id  he  car ry  on  go ing  to  

the  Gupta  res idence?  20 

MS GIGABA:   A f te r  when he was a t  f inance.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  what  we  are  dea l ing  w i th  here  i s  

Mr  G igaba t ransfers  f rom the  Depar tment  o f  Home Affa i rs  

to  the  Depar tmen t  o f  F inance.   He  becomes the  Min is te r  o f  

F inance.   
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MS GIGABA:   Oh ,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   When he was the  Min i s te r  o f  F inance,  

d id  he  car ry  on  go ing  to  the  Gupta  res idence? 

MS GIGABA:   The i r  re la t ionsh ip  was not  good by  tha t  t ime.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  le t  us  then dea l  w i th  the  next  

head ing .   G i f t s ,  cash and benef i t s  rece ived f rom the  

Guptas .   Now you have a l ready  to ld  us  about  the  go ld  

neck lace tha t  he  gave to  your  e lde r  son,  cor rec t?    

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Le t  us  dea l  w i th  o ther  g i f t s .   There  is  10 

a  head ing  tha t  says the  wh i te  th ree  se r ies  BMW motor  

veh ic le ,  the  BMW.  Cou ld  you te l l  us  about  tha t?  

MS GIGABA:   They g i ve  h im tha t  car  as  a  g i f t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sor ry?  

MS GIGABA:   They gave h im tha t  car  as  a  g i f t .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Who is  they? 

MS GIGABA:   Guptas ,  AJ.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And when you say they gave i t  to  

h im,  how do you know tha t?  

MS GIGABA:   Because he went  to  co l lec t  i t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Where  about  d id  you co l lec t  i t?  

MS GIGABA:   A t  Sahara .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Sahara  computers?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And d id  you dr ive  th is  ca r,  th is  BMW? 



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 351 of 416 
 

MS GIGABA:   Yes,  I  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Was i t  your  p r iva te  veh ic le  fo r  a  

wh i le?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Was i t  a  BMW? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  and what  co lou r?   Do you reca l l?  

MS GIGABA:   Say tha t  aga in?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Do you reca l l  what  co lour?  

MS GIGABA:   I t  was wh i te .   10 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  was wh i te .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And was  i t  t ransfer red  in to  your  

name? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then what  happened to  the  ca r?  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry.   D id  you say,  was th is  a  new 

car  as  fa r  as  you know?   

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   And . . . [ in te rvenes ]   

MS GIGABA:   Bu t  I  am not  sure  i t  was new new or  i t  was 20 

second hand,  bu t  i t  was new.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  i t  looked new.   

CHAIRPERSON:   D id  you say i t  was t ransfe r red  in to  your  

name? 

MS GIGABA:   Yes,  they d id  a t  some s tage.   
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CHAIRPERSON:   A t  some s tage?  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you,  and then what  happened 

to  th is  car?  

MS GIGABA:   He  gave i t  to ,  we took i t  to  h is  f r iend  to  f i x  

the  l igh ts .   I t  never  came back.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t  and then you dea l  w i th  cash 

and benef i t s ,  there  is  …[ in tervenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry,  be fore  tha t ,  Mr  Myburgh.   10 

How d id  i t  come to  be  reg i s te red in  your  name?  Was th is  a  

g i f t  fo r  Mr  G igaba ,  was i t  a  g i f t  fo r  you?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was h i s  –  aga in  tha t  t ime -  I  am the  one  

who was us ing  the  ca r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You were?  

MS GIGABA:    I  am the  one who was us ing  the  ca r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay but  when i t  was g iven to  h im was i t  

g iven as  a  g i f t  o r  was i t  loaned to  h im to use  as  he  

…[ in tervenes]  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was a  g i f t  to  h im.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    H ’m?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was a  g i f t  to  h im.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was a  g i f t  to  h im? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  he  a l lowed you –  then he gave i t  to  
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you?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And you got  i t  reg is te red in  your  name? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r ight .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or  you say you took i t  to  somebody to  f i x  

the  l igh ts?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And then what  happened about  i t?   I t  10 

never  came back? 

MS GIGABA:    I t  never  came back,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    D id  you take  i t  there  or  Mr  G igaba took i t  

there  o r  somebody e lse?  

MS GIGABA:    I  took  i t  there .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Why d id  you not  go  back to  fe tch  i t?  

MS GIGABA:    I  kep t  on  ask ing  about  i t  un t i l  I  dec ided to  

buy myse l f  a  ca r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Who were  you  ask ing?  The person to  

whom you had taken i t  o r  Mr  G igaba?  20 

MS GIGABA:    Bo th .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bo th?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay and …[ in te rvenes]  

MS GIGABA:    I t  i s  a  f r iend.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  the  pe rson to  whom you took the  ca r  

was h is  f r iend?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And tha t  pe rson was somebody who  

f i xes  cars?  

MS GIGABA:    He sa id  he  w i l l  take  i t  somewhere  so  tha t  

they f i x  the  l igh t  fo r  me.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   So i t  was  noth ing  se r ious,  i t  was 

jus t  the  l igh ts?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    And when you asked fo r  i t  back what  d id  

tha t  person say to  you about  i t?  

MS GIGABA:    So  he kept  on  te l l ing  me tha t  when  I  come 

back,  so  a t  a  cer ta in  s tage I  went  to  buy a  ca r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You bought  your  own ca r?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And Mr  G igaba,  d id  he  te l l  you  anyth ing  

about  the  ca r  about  why i t  was not  coming back?  

MS GIGABA:    I  s topped ask ing  h im about  i t ,  so  I  dec ided  

to  buy a  car  fo r  myse l f .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes and you cannot  remember  t he  year  

when th is  car  was g iven to  Mr  G igaba as  a  g i f t?  

MS GIGABA:    I  do  no t  want  to  say exact ly  the  year  bu t  I  

can check.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  you remember  wh ich  pos i t ion  he  was 
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ho ld ing  a t  the  t ime,  what  m in i s t ry  he  was in?  

MS GIGABA:    I  do  no t  remember  the  pos i t ion  bu t  i t  was I  

th ink  around 2015,  there .  

CHAIRPERSON :    A round 2015.  

MS GIGABA:    Ja ,  bu t  I  am no t  sure  bu t  I  can  check 

because a t  cer ta in  po in t  the  car  was under  my name.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r ight .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.   Le t  us  dea l  

w i th  wedd ing  g i f ts  o f  cash.   So we know tha t  you marr i ed  

Mr  G igaba on the  30  August  2014.   Who d id  your  wedd ing  10 

p lann ing  and who  d id  you inv i te  to  your  wedd ing .   D id  you  

inv i te  the  Pres ident?   D id  you inv i t e  the  Guptas.  

MS GIGABA:    We inv i ted  a  lo t  o f  peop le  bu t  I  d id  no t  have 

an access to  inv i t e  Guptas or  the  P res ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  beg your  pardon?  

MS GIGABA:    I  d id  no t  have an access to  inv i te  the  

Pres ident  o r  Guptas so  Malus i  was inv i t ing  h is  f r i ends,  I  

was inv i t ing  my f r iends.   He was inv i t ing  h i s  fami ly,  I  was 

inv i t ing  my fami ly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  where  i t  says :  20 

“We inv i ted  bo th  the  fo rmer  Pres ident  and the  

Guptas  bu t  none o f  them a t tended. ”  

I s  tha t  wrong?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  they d id  no t  a t tend.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes bu t  i s  i t  wrong where  i t  says  we  
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inv i ted  bo th  the  fo rmer  Pres ident  and the  Guptas?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  they were  inv i ted  bu t  they d id  no t  

come.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.   Mr  Mole fe  was inv i ted  and he  

d id  a t tend,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  he  d id  a t tend.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now d id  you get  any wedd ing  g i f t  o f  

any so r t  f rom the  Guptas?  

MS GIGABA:    Not  me,  bu t  Ma lus i  sa id  he  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what  d id  he  te l l  you  about  tha t?  10 

MS GIGABA:    There  was a  cer ta in  t ime when he to ld  –  

because we knew about  the  Guptas pr io r  the  wedd ing  tha t  

they were  no t  coming,  on l y  Pres ident  Zuma I  th ink  two  

days be fore  the  wedd ing  tha t  they were  no t  coming.   So 

they gave h im –  so  he  sa id  they w i l l  g ive  h im money as  a  

g i f t  as  a  compensat ion  o f  the i r  a t tend ing  the  wedd ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And who pa id  fo r  you r  honeymoon? 

MS GIGABA:    Say tha t  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Who pa id  fo r  your  honeymoon? 

MS GIGABA:    A jay  d id .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you know how much money Mr  

G igaba was g iven? 

MS GIGABA:    No,  I  do  no t  know.  

CHAIRPERSON :    How do you know tha t  i t  was Mr  A jay  

Gupta  who pa id  fo r  your  honeymoon? 
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MS GIGABA:    Because he to ld  me when someone pays.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Who to ld  you?  

MS GIGABA:    Ma lus i  to ld  me.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  he to ld  you tha t  A jay  Gupta  had pa id  

fo r  your  honeymoon? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  the  paragraph reads:  

“Mr  G igaba in fo rmed me tha t  as  a  wedd ing  g i f t  the  

Guptas gave h im  a  cash donat ion  towards the  cos t  10 

o f  the  wedd ing  in  add i t ion  to  pay ing  fo r  the  cost  o f  

honeymoon in  Duba i .   I  do  no t  know how much 

money the  Guptas in  fac t  gave. ”  

I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    I  do  no t  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bu t  tha t  paragraph,  i s  i t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now how long d id  you go  on  

honeymoon fo r?  

MS GIGABA:    I  th ink  we were  there  fo r  a  week.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And in  what  ho te l  d id  you s tay?  

MS GIGABA:    I  th ink  i t  was a  ho te l  ca l led  Waldor f .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The Waldo r f?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    In  Duba i?  
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MS GIGABA:    Yes bu t  I  have to  check exact ly  the  name 

but  I  th ink  i t  i s  someth ing  l i ke  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now you go  on to  es t imate  how much 

your  wedd ing  cos t .   How much was  tha t?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was 4  m i l l ion  to  5  m i l l ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And who pa id  the  wedd ing  expenses.  

MS GIGABA:    I t  i s  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And how d id  you pay them? 

MS GIGABA:    I  a lways pa id  them cash.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And where  d id  you rece ive  th is  cash  10 

f rom? 

MS GIGABA:    He gave me because he was busy w i th  h i s  

work .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sor ry?  

MS GIGABA:    Because tha t  t ime i t  was dur ing  e lec t ions so  

he  was busy w i th  the  work ,  so  I  was dea l ing  w i th  the 

wedd ing  ar rangements .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  R4 mi l l ion  to  R5 mi l l ion  fo r  the  cost  

o f  wedd ing  appears  to  …[ in tervenes]  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was not  even on the  consu l ta t ion  I  ra ised 20 

tha t ,  i t  was not  l ike  he  came to  me wi th  4  m i l l ion ,  sa id  here  

is  4  m i l l ion ,  65  m i l l ion ,  i t  was not  l ike  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA:    So  my wedd ing  was p lanned f rom 2013  

because I  wanted  to  ge t  marr ied  on  my b i r t hday wh ich  is  in  
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Apr i l  2014 and then i t  was not  approved by  par l iament  

because tha t  t ime i t  was dur ing  e lec t ions,  mos t  o f  the  

government  m in is te rs  were  busy so  then we have to  move 

the  wedd ing  date  to  Malus i ’s  b i r thday so  i t  took  l i ke  a lmost  

th ree  years ,  so  the  payments  were  happen ing  l i ke  tha t ,  i t  

was not  l i ke  the re  was a  4  m i l l i on  or  5  m i l l ion  came a t  

once.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  even i f  i t  was not  a  possib ly tha t  

was made a t  one t ime,  i t  i s  s t i l l  sounds qu i te  a  lo t .   How do 

you know tha t  i t  was about  R4 to  R5 mi l l ion?  10 

MS GIGABA:    Because a l l  the  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I s  tha t  amount  –  i s  tha t  number,  i s  tha t  

f igure  [ inaudible – speaking simultaneously]   

MS GIGABA:    I t  i s  the  es t imat ion ,  no t  l i ke  a  spec i f i c  

f igure .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes bu t  i s  i t  an  es t imat ion  tha t  you made  

because you were  us ing  the  money,  you know the  money 

tha t  was ava i lab le  to  you and you were  us ing  i t?  

MS GIGABA:    No,  i t  was not  I  was us ing  the  money tha t  i s  

ava i lab le  i t  was because o f  the  – each and eve ry  person  20 

who was par t  o f  the  wedd ing  prepara t ion ,  l i ke  the  ca te re r,  

they  w i l l  send me the i r  b i l l ,  f lowers ,  peop le  were  prepar ing  

because my wedd ing  was in  Durban.   So each and every  

person –  and my wedd ing  happened two days,  so  i t  was not  

on ly  fo r  the  wh i te  wedd ing ,  i t  was two wedd ings because i t  
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happened in  two days.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  [ inaudible – speaking 

simultaneously]  as  we l l .  

MS GIGABA:    So  prepared two  wedd ings a t  the  same 

t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MS GIGABA:    So  i t  was l i ke  two ca tere rs ,  one  fo r  the 

wh i te  wedd ing ,  one fo r  the  t rad i t iona l  wedd ing .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MS GIGABA:    So  i t  was l i ke  tha t ,  th is  venue and tha t  10 

venue,  th is  ten t  and tha t  ten t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MS GIGABA:    So  i t  was l i ke  in  b i t s  and p ieces,  no t  l i ke  we 

have a  m i l l ion ,  have never  had a  m i l l ion  a t  hand but  i t  was  

more  o f  maybe the  ca terer  fo r  the  wh i te  wedd ing  w i l l  send  

l i ke  600 000,  then they want  a  depos i t  then maybe  I  w i l l  go 

pay a  cer ta in  amount  and th is  one is  fo r  the  venue a t  a  

cer ta in  - ,  so  i t  was more  o f  b i t s  and p ieces th rough the  

en t i re  who le  year  and year  and a  ha l f .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  okay.   And d id  you say you  pa id  in  20 

cash o r  you pa id  in  d i f fe ren t  ways o f  pay ing?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  I  pa id  cash.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   A l l  the  expenses were  pa id  in  

cash o r  some were  pa id  by  EFT o r  whatever?  

MS GIGABA:    The one tha t  I  remember  was pa id  in  cash.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    In  cash.   And when you say the  es t imate  

o f  the  cost  o f  your  wedd ing ,  the  es t imate  is  R4 to  R5  

mi l l ion  you th ink  tha t  e i ther  4  m i l l ion ,  5  m i l l i on  was in  cash 

a t  d i f fe ren t  t imes? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Th roughout  the  year.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sor ry,  Ms Gigaba,  I  jus t  rece ived a  

request  f rom some o f  the  techn ica l  peop le ,  they have  10 

asked aga in  i f  you  cou ld  jus t  t ry  and speak a  l i t t le  b i t  more  

c lea r ly.   Apparen t ly  your  vo i ce  is  d ipp ing  in  and ou t ,  I  can  

imag ine  i t  makes t ranscr ip t ion  d i f f i cu l t .  

MS GIGABA:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  d id  you  not  f ind  i t  s t range tha t  

you have been g iven a l l  th is  cash?  I  mean,  where  d id  i t  

come f rom as fa r  as  you were  concerned? 

MS GIGABA:    As  I  ment ioned on  the  –  un fo r tunate ly  you  

were  no t  there ,  so  I  d id  no t  f ind  i t  s t range because  Malus i  

has been a  m in i s te r  fo r  a  very  long t ime and a l so  he  to ld  20 

me tha t  he  has sav ings w i th  th is  money market  tha t  he  

saved monies  f rom and most  o f  the  expenses we  do not  

pay fo r  them because i t  i s  pa id  by  the  s ta te  so  mos t  o f  the 

t ime h is  sa la ry  and my sa lary,  we  were  us ing  i t  to  pay ou r  

s tu f f .   So to  have a  lo t  o f  cash,  i t  was not  someth ing  tha t  
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was s t range to  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  I  th ink  perhaps we are  speak ing 

a t  c ross-purposes,  I  am not  suggest ing  tha t  you found i t  

s t range tha t  you cou ld  a f fo rd  a  wedd ing  o f  th is  va lue ,  my 

quest ion  i s  more  d i rec ted  a t  why is  every th ing  be ing  pa id  

in  cash?  As you say Mr  G igaba – the  s ta te  pa id  a  lo t  o f  h is  

expenses,  he  had a  good sa la ry,  he  had a  money  market  

account  bu t  none  o f  tha t  exp la ins  why –  jus t  bear  w i th  me?  

None o f  tha t  exp la ins  why one wou ld  be  go ing  around w i th  

la rge  bund les  o f  cash.  10 

MS GIGABA:    When you say la rge  you are  ta lk ing  about  

how much?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  to  the  tune u l t imate ly  o f  R4 to  

R5 mi l l ion .  

MS GIGABA:    Bu t  I  never  sa id  he  wa lked around w i th  R5 

mi l l ion  a t  once.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  added up to  tha t .  

MS GIGABA:    Ja ,  add ing  up to  tha t ,  i t  i s  in  b i t s  in  p iece  in  

a  year  and a  ha l f  so  i f  you  break  i t  down tha t  –  i t  i s  no t  

tha t  la rge .   I t  can  be la rge  to  you but  i t  was not  la rge  to  20 

h im and maybe to  us ,  as  a  fam i ly  because o f  how our  

expenses,  we spend them because maybe the  way  you are  

jus t  compar ing ,  you are  compar ing  by  maybe a  cer ta in  

ind iv idua l  who have a  sa la ry  and  tha t  sa la ry,  you  have to  

pay fo r  every th ing .   So our  l i fe  was d i f fe ren t  f rom tha t .   So 
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he  has h is  sa la ry,  I  have my sa la ry  and we hard ly  pa id  fo r  

anyth ing  in  the  house.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Can I  pe rhaps ask  you a  quest ion  i n  

another  way?  I  unders tand what  you are  say ing  bu t  d id  

you th ink  in  you r  m ind tha t  Mr  G igaba was go ing  to ,  fo r  

example ,  F i r s t  Nat iona l  Bank in  Sandton C i ty  w i th  h is  

bodyguards and was drawing these bund les  o f  cash to  g ive  

you to  pay fo r  f lowers?   I s  tha t  what  you th ink  was  

happen ing?  

MS GIGABA:    Because most  o f  the  t ime,  every  January  he  10 

used to  take  the  money tha t  he  is  pa id  fo r  the  who le  year  

f rom h is   -  what  i s  th is  th ing ,  market  someth ing ,  so  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Money market  account .  

MS GIGABA:    Ja ,  h is  money market  because he used to  

pay fo r  h i s  –  schoo l  fees was cash because he wou ld  say I  

save the  money fo r  the  who le  year,  so  he  does tha t .   So 

somet imes he w i l l  s i t  w i th  h is  f inanc ia l  adv i se r  about  h is  

money.   Then end o f  the  year  o r  beg inn ing  o f  the  year  he  

w i l l  take  ou t  the  money and then he w i l l  use  h is  own 20 

th ings.   So when  there  is  ex t ra  money –  so  I  do  no t  know 

th is  one was com ing f rom where  i t  was,  was i t  f rom h im or  

f rom  -  bu t  –  because I  found i t  l i ke  tha t ,  so… 

CHAIRPERSON :    A re  you ab le  to  –  are  you say ing  tha t  i t  

was no rmal  o r  usua l  fo r  h im to  g ive  you amounts  o f  cash  
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tha t  maybe somebody e l se  m ight  regard  as  la rge  amounts  

bu t  you d id  no t  regard  as  la rge  amounts?  

MS GIGABA:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA:    Because to  me what  peop le  do ,  w i l l  be  

shocked tha t  oh ,  you have k ind  o f  money,  fo r  me i t  was 

normal .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .   And what  k ind  o f  amounts  d id  you 

regard  as  normal  in  te rms o f  cash  tha t  he  wou ld  g ive  you  

or  he  wou ld  have? 10 

MS GIGABA:    Maybe 50 000,  100 000,  fo r  me i t  was  

normal .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was normal  to  have tha t ,  yes .  

MS GIGABA:    Bu t  maybe to  o the r  peop le  i t  was not .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay,  al r ight .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Le t  us  then  tu rn  to  

another  top i c  under  the  head ing :  

“Cash co l lec ted  f rom the  Gupta  res idence. ”  

You say a t  paragraph 53 tha t  Mr  G igaba had two c lose  

pro tec t ion  o f f i ce rs  who accompanies  h im in  the  same 20 

veh ic le .   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you knew one o f  them,  what  was 

h is  name? 

MS GIGABA:    I  do  no t  want  to  ment ion  h i s  name.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    I  wonder  whether  –  ja ,  i t  m igh t  be  good 

not  to  ment ion  the  name because I  do  no t  know,  you know,  

the  dr ivers  whether  one o f  them …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Po in t  taken,  DCJ,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now le t  us  have a  look a t  pa rag raph  

54 and perhaps  you can exp la in  to  us  what  you saw 

happen ing  in  re la t ion  to  the  co l lec t ion  o f  cash a t  the  Gupta 

res idence.  

MS GIGABA:    Can you p lease repeat  the  quest ion? 10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What  d id  you see happen ing  about  

the  co l lec t ion  o f  cash f rom the  Gupta res idence?  

MS GIGABA:    I  never (? )  see co l lec t ion  o f  cash  a t  the 

Gupta  res idence.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.   R igh t ,  tha t  i s  the  head ing .  

MS GIGABA:    So  I  can say what  I  saw? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  te l l  us  what  you saw.  

MS GIGABA:    Sor ry,  on  the  cash? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA:    I  th ink  you have to  ask  the  quest ion  in  a  20 

d i f fe ren t  way.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

MS GIGABA:    Because I  do  no t  want  to  g ive  the  who le  

th ing  tha t  you do not  need.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.   Wel l ,  th is  i s  impor tan t  so  le t  
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us  go  th rough i t .    

“On severa l  occas ions tha t  we a t tended the  Gupta  

res idence I  persona l l y  observed Mr  G igaba leav ing  

the  ad jacent  mee t ing  room. ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  you were  s i t t ing  there ,  as  you  

have exp la ined,  he  was hav ing  meet ings in  the  pr iva te  

meet ing  room,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what  wou ld  happen a f te r  he  le f t  

the  meet ing  room? 

MS GIGABA:    Wel l ,  somet imes he  w i l l  ask  h is  bodyguards  

to  b r ing  the  bag.  

CHAIRPERSON :    To  what?  

MS GIGABA:    He w i l l  ask  h i s  bodyguards to  b r ing  the  bag  

f rom the  ca r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t  and wou ld  the  bag  then be 

brought?  20 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wou ld  i t  be  g iven to  Mr  G igaba? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    By  the  CPO? 

MS GIGABA:    What  i s  CPO? 
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    The c lose  p ro tec t ion  o f f i ce r.  

MS GIGABA:    Oh,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    R igh t?   And what  wou ld  Mr  G igaba  

then do w i th  the  bag once i t  was g iven to  h im? 

MS GIGABA:    I t  looked l i ke  th is  was happen ing  a l l  the  

t ime,  bu t  the  t imes tha t  I  remember.   So somet imes he w i l l  

go  in ,  in  tha t  room,  and then when he w i l l  have tea  he  w i l l  

leave w i th  the  bag,  go  to  the  room,  bu t  no t  l i ke  I  saw the  

money.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And how many bags d id  Mr  G igaba  10 

have?  

MS GIGABA:    He had two b ig  ones then one smal l  one.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now can I  jus t  ask  you to  have a  

look a t  these annexures,  I  th ink  th is  i s  another  th ing  tha t  

we might  have ident i f ied  in  the  consu l ta t ions .   We a re  

ta lk ing  about  lea ther  bags he re .  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now the  annexures re fer red  to  

parag raph 54 are  A and B .   I s  A and B  the  cor rec t  bag or  i s  

i t  C  and D the  cor rec t  bag?  20 

MS GIGABA:    Jus t  g ive  me a  second?  Sor ry,  repeat  the  

quest ion?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  wh ich  bags –  what  a re  the  co r rec t  

photographs?  These bags tha t  were  brought  to  h im a t  the 

Gupta  res idence tha t  he  wou ld  ca l l  fo r,  a re  they the  bags 
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marked A and B  o r  a re  they bags tha t  looked l i ke  C and D? 

MS GIGABA:    That  A ,  tha t  lea the r  bag,  i s  more  [ indist inct ]  

bag.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA:    The A ,  C and D because he had two bags  

l i ke  th is ,  tha t  were  d i f fe ren t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   I  th ink  what  I  am get t ing  to ,  Ms  

Gigaba,  i f  you  go back to  pa rag raph 54,  do  you conf i rm 

tha t  ins tead o f  read ing  A and B  i t  shou ld  ac tua l l y  read C 

and D?  10 

MS GIGABA:    I t  i s  A and D,  the  smal l  bag and the  b ig  bag 

but  now when you look a t  D,  i t  i s  the  brown bag.   He has  

the  brown bag.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA:    He a lso  have a  b lack  bag o f  a  s im i la r  na tu re  

and a l so  A and B  is  someth ing  s im i la r,  wh ich  he  has a  bag  

l i ke  tha t  bu t  i t  i s  one bag,  bu t  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  le t  us  jus t  go  back to  paragraph  

54.  

MS GIGABA:    Okay.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  he wou ld  ca l l  h is  CPO to  br ing  in  

a  lea the r  bag,  kept  in  the  boot  o f  the  veh ic le ,  the  bag 

wou ld  be  b rough t  to  h im,  he  wou ld  go  in to  the  pr iva te  

meet ing  room,  he  wou ld  come out  w i th  the  bag,  the  bag 

wou ld  be  p laced in  the  boot .   Now what  bag are  we ta lk ing  
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about  there?   A re  we ta lk ing  about  bags tha t  look  l i ke  A 

and  B  or  a re  we look ing  a t  –  ta lk ing  about  bags tha t  look  

l i ke  C and D?  

MS GIGABA:    The one goes in  the  boot ,  C and D.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sor ry?  

MS GIGABA:    C  and D is  the  one tha t  goes in  the  boot .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   So i f  you  go back to  54 ,  a t  the  

end,  tha t  A and B  shou ld  change to  C and D.   I s  tha t  what  

you say?  

MS GIGABA:    Say tha t  aga in?  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I f  you  go to  the  end o f  pa rag raph 54.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Where  i t  re fe rs  to  annexures A and B 

shou ld  cor rec t l y  read C and D.   I t  was the  b ig  bag.  

MS GIGABA:    The b ig  bag,  i s  f rom C and D.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA:    And tha t  i s  what  I  sa id  because you guys,  

you asked th is  fo r  a  lo t  t imes a t  the  consu l ta t ion  and I  sa id  

the  same th ing  and I  am say ing  i t  aga in .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja .  20 

MS GIGABA:    C  and D,  e i the r  i t  i s  those two bags,  so  I  do  

no t  want  to  say on ly  th is  bag because he has a  b lack  one.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .  

MS GIGABA:    Somet imes he w i l l  car ry  th is .   A lso  a t  D,  i t  

i s  a  b rown bag,  he  has th is  bag,  s im i la r ly,  Cha i r.   So 
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somet imes he w i l l  take  th is  back,  he  goes to  the  boot ,  he  

goes in  w i th  i t  bu t  now A and B  is  the  smal l  bag tha t  he  

a lways has w i th  h im.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   D id  you come to  learn  o f  

what  was conta ined in  these bags?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What  d id  you come to  lea rn  was 

conta ined in  them? 10 

MS GIGABA:    I t  was not  a l l  the  t ime I  saw what  is  in  the 

bag but  once we  were  in  Sandton  then I  saw what  was in  

the  bag.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   So have a  look a t  pa rag raph 

55.1 .   D id  you and Mr  G igaba go to  Sandton C i ty  together?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When d id  you do tha t?  

MS GIGABA:    What  do  you mean when? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  when you were  a t  the  Gupta 

res idence were  there  t imes where  you wou ld  go  then to  20 

Sandton C i ty?  

MS GIGABA:    Somet imes we  leave f rom [ ind ist inct  – 

dropping voice]  o r  somet imes we w i l l  jus t  leave f rom home.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what  wou ld  happen when you  

went  f rom the  Guptas to  Sand ton C i ty?   Wha t  wou ld  
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happen a t  Sandton C i ty?  

CHAIRPERSON :    And aga in  do  not  ment ion  the  name.  

MS GIGABA:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Bu t  you can ta lk  w i thout  ment ion ing  i t .  

MS GIGABA:    So  there  was th i s  one t ime then he  opened 

the  boot ,  then he  got  the  money and he put  i t  on  th is  smal l  

bag,  the  smal l  one tha t  he  ca r r ies  i t  a round h is  shou lde r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are  mak ing  cer ta in  gestures  I  th ink 

towards you shou lder  o r  hands –  d id  he  pu t  i t  in  h is  –  d id  

he  car ry  i t  on  h is  a rm or  shou lder?  10 

MS GIGABA:    He a lways car r ies  bag.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t .   Cont inue?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  so  what  wou ld  happen a t  

Sandton C i ty,  wou ld  he  go shopp ing ,  wou ld  you go 

shopp ing?  

MS GIGABA:    He w i l l  go  to  the  shop,  the  HTK shop.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What  shop?  

MS GIGABA:    HTK.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what  wou ld  he  do the re?  

MS GIGABA:    Then they w i l l  g ive  h im c lo thes o r  su i t s ,  20 

then he w i l l  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    P lease  can you speak  up,  Ms  

Gigaba.  

MS GIGABA:    Sor ry?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :   P lease speak up.   Do you not  want  to  
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lower  the  m icrophone a  l i t t le  b i t?   Perhaps tha t  w i l l  he lp .   

A l r igh t .   So you  say he  wou ld  go  shopp ing  a t  the  HTK 

s tore?  

MS GIGABA:    Say tha t  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    He wou ld  go  shopp ing  a t  the  HTK 

s tore?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I s  tha t  what  you say?  Would  he  

shop a t  o the r  s to res?  

MS GIGABA:    Once in  a  wh i le  he  go  [ indist inct ] ,  i t  was not  10 

o f ten .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  i f  we go to  paragraph  55.2 ,  I  

th ink  you have a l ready to ld  the  Cha i rperson tha t  Mr  G igaba 

wou ld  t ransfer  money f rom one bag to  the  o the r  bag,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes he  d id  tha t  once in  Sandton.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am so r ry,  when shopp ing  how d id  he  

pay fo r  whatever  he  was buy ing?  

MS GIGABA:    So  most  o f  the  t ime he w i l l  g ive  the  money  

o f  the  pro tec tors .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    One o f  the  pro tec tors?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    To  go  and pay.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes because when  he got  to  the  shop he 

never  take  the  money and g i ve  i t  to  them.   So he w i l l  take  
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the  money and g ive  i t  to  the  pro tec tor  and then he w i l l  go  

the  res taurant ,  so  the  pro tec tor  i s  the  one who has pa id .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wou ld  he  take  the  money out  o f  h is  

wa l le t  maybe?  

MS GIGABA:    He w i l l  take  i t  f rom h is  bag.   So the  o the r  

t ime he took h im  f rom the  b igger  bag,  then he put  on  the  

smal le r  bag.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MS GIGABA:    And then he w i l l  g ive  to  the  pro tec to r  to  

pay.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   So a t  55 .2  you say:  

“On severa l  occas ions I  a lso  pe rsona l l y  observed  

Mr  G igaba t ransfer r ing  money f rom h is  b rown and 

b lack  lea ther  bags in to  h is  b rown lea ther  persona l  

car ry  bag.   I  a t tach  a  s im i la r  example  o f  the  

persona l  ca r ry  bag obta ined on an in te rnet  sea rch  

marked C and D. ”  

So is  tha t  …[ in te rvenes]  

MS GIGABA:    So  I  d id  no t  say  on  severa l  occas ions  20 

because severa l  means many t imes,  wh ich  I  never  sa id  

tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay,  so  how many occas ions?  

MS GIGABA:    So  I  saw h im once in  Sandton and the  o ther  

t ime I  saw the  money i t  was a t  home wh ich  the  ins tance 
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tha t  I  ment ioned here  somewhere .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  you saw h im once t ransfe r?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  th is  pe rsona l  ca r ry  bag,  i s  tha t  

p ic tu re  A and B  or  C and D?  Have a  look a t  the  photos  

aga in?   We are  a lmost  f in ished.   So you are  ta lk ing  about  

the  bag tha t  he  t ransfer red  money in to .  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I s  i t  photographs A and B  or  C and  

D?  10 

MS GIGABA:    C  and D.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    C  and D?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A re  you su re?  

MS GIGABA:    Then he w i l l  t ransfe r  the  money to  a  smal le r  

one wh ich  is  A and B .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Oh,  the  smal le r  was A and B? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   Now d id  Mr  G igaba ever  buy 

you anyth ing  in  Sandton C i ty?  20 

MS GIGABA:    Say tha t  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r igh t .   Now d id  Mr  G igaba ever  buy 

you anyth ing  in  Sandton C i ty  wh i ls t  shopp ing?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What  he  buy you?  
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MS GIGABA:    I  th ink  i t  was a  bag.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    D id  he  ever  buy you anyth ing  e lse?  

MS GIGABA:    We never  shopped togethe r,  l i ke  do  my 

shopp ing  [ indist inct  – dropping voice] .   Because even with 

him he never go around do shopping at  Sandton,  so when he 

used to go to that  certain shop they used to put  the clothes 

aside for him.  So what he wi l l  go to – when he gets there he 

wi l l  just  f i t  the clo thes.   I f  they f i t  h im he wi l l  take them and 

then maybe he wi l l  send the bodyguards to pay later or i f  

they do not  f i t  he wi l l  just  give them – the ir  ta i lor wi l l  f ix  10 

them for him, so he never goes around and do shopping.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So  a t  parag raph 55.3 :  

“Apar t  f rom a  Lou is  Vi t tone handbag bought  in  

Sandton C i ty  wh ich  Mr  G igaba pa id  in  cash,  he  d id  

no t  t yp ica l l y  buy g i f t s  fo r  me wi th  the  cash co l lec ted  

a t  the  Gupta  res idence. ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.   Sor ry,  sor ry,  sor ry,  say  tha t  aga in?   I  

am sor ry,  sor ry,  repeat?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    55 .3 :  20 

“Apar t  f rom a  Lou is  Vi t tone handbag bought  in  

Sandton C i ty  wh ich  Mr  G igaba pa id  in  cash,  he  d id  

no t  t yp ica l l y  buy g i f t s  fo r  me wi th  the  cash co l lec ted  

a t  the  Gupta  res idence. ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  
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MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    How many t imes d id  you see Mr  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sor ry.   Ear l ie r  on  you sa id  you 

never  saw I  th ink  h im wi th  cash a t  the  Gupta  res idence.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So  when he re  you say –  you re fer  to  

cash co l lec ted  a t  the  Gupta res idence,  what  i s  the  bas i s  

fo r  say ing  tha t?  

MS GIGABA:    I  am say ing  tha t  on  the  bas is  o f  –  i t  was the  10 

same bag tha t  [ indist inct  – dropping voice] .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was the same bag that  the protector took 

aside.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MS GIGABA:    When he cal led him, he got  i t  in and he took 

i t  outside and when we got  to Sandton he went wi th a simi lar 

bag then he took money – and when he opened the boot ,  i t  

was me and the bodyguards and when he opened,  so al l  of  

us were just  shocked because i t  was me and the bodyguard.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  you say when he opened 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  Mr  G igaba open ing  the  bag?  

MS GIGABA:    Ja .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    And he opened the  boot ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    The bag was in  the  boot .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  and you  and the  –  bodyguards 

ar r i ved.  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And d id  you see  anyth ing  in  the  bag?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  d id  you see?  

MS GIGABA:    He took ou t  the  money.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.    10 

MS GIGABA:    And he put  i t  in  the . . . [ in te rvene]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Was the i r  a  lo t  o f  cash in  the  bag? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  you say about  ha l f  a  bag  or  you 

are  no t  ab le ,  bu t  you know i t  was a  lo t  o f  money.  

MS GIGABA:    No,  I  do  no t  want  to  assume.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t ,  okay.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you Cha i rpe rson.   A t  55 .3  

a f te r  ta lk ing  about  the  Louie Vi t tone handbag,  you  re fer  to  

the  cred i t  ca rd  tha t  Mr  G igaba had  g iven you,  what  was the  20 

l im i t  on  tha t  c red i t  card?  

MS GIGABA:    I  do  no t  know what  was the  l im i t ,  what  I  

know is  he  sa id  I  must  no t  use  i t  up  to  a  spec i f i c  amount ,  

so  I  do  no t  know what  was the  l im i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  d id  he  say you cou ld  use i t  up 
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to  how much?  

MS GIGABA:    That  I  must  no t  use  i t  up  to  100 000,00.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Beyond 100  000,00?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  bu t  I  never  use  i t  even c lose r  to  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And when you were  shopp ing  

overseas?  

MS GIGABA:    Ja ,  when I  go t  to  overseas,  he  w i l l  g ive  me 

money to  buy s tu f f .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    How much money wou ld  he  g i ve  

you?  10 

MS GIGABA:    Somet imes 100 or  150 because overseas is  

expens ive  and I  never  s tay  there  fo r  l i ke  no rma l ly  jus t  

t rave l led  to  ove rseas fo r  one day.   So I  need to  be  ab le  to  

spend money fo r  a  who le  week when I  am there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  you say when you were  t rave l l ing  

together  overseas,  he  wou ld  g i ve  you money?  

MS GIGABA:    Most  o f  the  t ime I  wou ld  t rave l  a lone 

w i thout  h im.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  w i thout  h im,  and then he wou ld  g ive  

you money to  spend.  20 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay and you say somet imes i t  wou ld  be  

100 000,00 somet imes 150 000,00,  i s  tha t  r igh t?   

MS GIGABA:    Yeah,  because somet imes I  w i l l  use  the  

cash and a l so  I  w i l l  use  my own ca rd  as  we l l  f rom work .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay a l r igh t  Mr  Myburgh.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you  d id  Mr  G igaba want  you  

to  shop in  Sandton C i ty?  

MS GIGABA:    No.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why not?  

MS GIGABA:    Because -  when I  am wi th  h im o r  when I  am 

a lone?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Whenever.   

MS GIGABA:    No,  when we together  he  never  wan ts  to  do  

shopp ing  because a lso  he  is  no t  tha t  k ind  o f  a  person who  10 

jus t  wa lks  around  the  mal l .   So i f  we leave home we wou ld  

jus t  go  to  the  res taurant  o r  he  goes and pu rchase c lo thes.   

So he sa id ,  he  does not  want  to  wa lk  a round  and do 

shopp ing  because he i s  a  pub l i c  servant  and a l so  he  does  

not  want  to  wa lk  a round w i th  cash,  so  when I  w i l l  do  tha t ,  I  

w i l l  do  tha t  when I  am a lone not  w i th  h im.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see,  and then a  parag raph  56 you  

say tha t  about  a  week a f te r  the  Gupta  wedd ing  he ld  a t  Sun  

C i ty  dur ing  2013.   Mr  G igaba  now v i s i ted  the  Gupta  

res idence and then you ta lk  about  what  happened on your  20 

re turn  home.   Can you exp la in  tha t  p lease?  

MS GIGABA:    What  must  I  ta lk  about?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The pa ragraph,  what  happened once 

you re turned home? 

CHAIRPERSON:    Paragraph 56.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    56 .  

MS GIGABA:    Oh,  okay we went  to  Saxon.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t ,  what  you dea l  w i th  a t  56 :  

“On our  re tu rn  home,  the  CPO’s  took the  bag f rom 

the  boot  o f  h is  o f f i c ia l  veh ic le . ”  

I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And where  had those bags come 

f rom? 

MS GIGABA:    I t  was the  same bags tha t  he  takes in  and 10 

out  when he is  there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    When he is  a t  the  Gupta  res idents?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  d id  Mr  G igaba then  do w i th  

those bags?  

MS GIGABA:    He w i l l  pu t  them in  the  s tudy.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And d id  you then go in to  the  s tudy?  20 

MS GIGABA:    Somet imes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  on  th is  pa r t i cu la r  day,  d id  you 

enter  the  s tudy?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  d id  you see?  
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MS GIGABA:    I  saw h im pack ing  money.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Pack ing  money in to  what?  

MS GIGABA:    In to  the  sa fe .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  was  your  react ion  when you  

saw tha t?   

MS GIGABA:    I  was shocked.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why?  

MS GIGABA:    Because he was jus t  pack ing  a  lo t  o f  money 

f rom the  bag.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  d id  he  te l l  you  as  to  where  10 

he got  the  money  f rom? 

MS GIGABA:    He sa id  he  got  i t  f rom A jay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And d id  he  te l l  you  what  i t  was fo r?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  i s  me who asked h im what  i t  was fo r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes and what  was h is  response?  

MS GIGABA:    He sa id  i t  was fo r  the  e lec t ions because a t  

tha t  t ime he was the  head o f  e lec t ions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  was fo r  the  ANC e lec t ions? 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and  then Ms Z iz ipho  Gigaba 20 

payment  o f  her  bad debt  and  employment  a t  Sahara  

Computers .   Now you speak about  the  fac t  tha t  dur ing  2013 

Mr  G igaba ’s  fa ther  ca l led  us  to  a  meet ing  a t  the i r  fami ly  

home.   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  happened there?  

MS GIGABA:    I  was not  pa r t  o f  the  meet ing ,  I  on ly  asked 

h im when we were  on  the  way back t0  Joburg .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  d id  Mr  G igaba te l l  you ,  as  

to  what  had been  d iscussed?  

MS GIGABA:    He sa id  h is  fa ther  asked h im to  ass is t  to  

pay the  cred i t  bureau money tha t  was owing on the  cred i t  

bureau.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  had she been b lack l i s ted?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you say tha t  Mr  G igaba ’s  fa ther  

asked h im to  he lp  her?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And do you know;  what  debts  i t  i s  

tha t  she had?  

MS GIGABA:    So  he  to ld  me tha t  she was owing 850  

000,00.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  d id  Mr  G igaba –  d id  Mr  

G igaba agree to  he lp  her?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  he  agreed bu t  i t  was,  I  asked h im l i ke  20 

where  he  is  go ing  to  ge t  tha t  k ind  o f  a  money.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  so r ry.   

MS GIGABA:    I  asked h im where  he  is  go ing  to  ge t  tha t  

k ind  o f  money.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  d id  he  say in  response?  

MS GIGABA:    He sa id  he  w i l l  go  ra ise  i t  w i th  –  he  w i l l  go 

ask  A jay  and he w i l l  go  ra ise  i t  fo r  h is  s is te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay,  so ,  he  sa id  he  wou ld  ask  

A jay?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  he  eve r  then te l l  you  whether  o r  

no t  A jay  had agreed?  10 

MS GIGABA:    Say tha t  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  he  te l l  you  whethe r  A jay  had  

agreed to  g ive  the  money?  

MS GIGABA:    Ja ,  a  few weeks la te r  he  to ld  me tha t  they  

w i l l  g ive  h im ha l f ,  no t  a l l  o f  i t  a t  once.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And was any ar rangement  made as  

to  who wou ld  co l lec t  the  money?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  was tha t  a r rangement?  

MS GIGABA:    He sa id  to  me,  he  spoke to  S iyabonga 20 

Mah langu then he w i l l  ass i s t  h is  s is te r  to  c lear  her  name 

on cred i t  bureau  and he w i l l  go  co l lec t  the  money f rom 

A jay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  Mr  Mah langu was to  co l lec t  the  

money f rom A jay  and ass is t  in  c lea r ing  her  name? 
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MS GIGABA:    Yes,  because they sa id  i t  was a  be t te r  

p rocess to  c lea r  her  name.  

 

 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now,  Mz ipho Gigaba you have 

a l ready to ld  the  Cha i rperson tha t  fo r  a  t ime she worked a t  

Sahara  Compute rs .  

MS GIGABA:    Yes,  she worked the re .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and  then we dea l  w i th  cash  

fo r  renovat ions to  Mr  G igaba ’s  on  The Fami l y  P lo t .   So 10 

whereabouts  i s  th is  in  Kwazu lu  Nata l?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  i s  in  Manden i .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Manden i ,  and what  happened?  

MS GIGABA:    Where  are  you,  on  61?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Paragraph 60.  

MS GIGABA:    Okay,  what  i s  the  quest ion?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  was there  a  bu i ld ing  

under taken on the  p lo t?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was a  renovat ion  an  ex tens ion  and 

ex tens ion  o f  the  house.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And can you remember  when th is  

happened? What  pos i t ion  d id  Mr  G igaba ho ld  wh i ls t  these  

renovat ions were  under taken?  

MS GIGABA:    He was the  DPE a t  the  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And who d id  the  bu i ld ing  work?  
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MS GIGABA:    I t  was h is  b ro ther  in  law.  

 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And who pa id  fo r  th is?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  i s  h im.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry?  

MS GIGABA:    Ma lus i  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay,  and where  d id  Mr  G igaba get  

the  money f rom,  d id  you come to  learn  o f  tha t?  

MS GIGABA:    So  most  o f  the  t ime he w i l l  pay  them cash 

and the re  was a  cer ta in  t ime,  he  sa id  he  w i l l  go  take  the  10 

money f rom A jay  and then you w i l l  f l y  to  KZN so tha t  t ime 

he f lew the re  a lone.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  paragraph 61 says:  

“ I  learn t  tha t  Mr  A jay  Gupta  funded the  bu i ld ing  

renovat ion .   When one day Mr  G igaba to ld  me tha t  

he  was go ing  to  ge t  the  money f rom A jay  Gupta  to  

pay the  bu i lde r.   He la te r  ca l led  the  same day to  te l l  

me tha t  he  was f l y ing  to  Kwazu lu  Nata l  immedia te ly  

to  pay the  bu i lde r.   I  do  no t  know the  cost  o f  the  

bu i ld ing  renovat ions,  e tce tera . ”  20 

Is  tha t  cor rec t?   

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Were  you  eve r  p resent  when Mr  

G igaba pa id  the  bu i lder  in  cash?  

MS GIGABA:    Somet imes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Can you remember  how many t imes?  

MS GIGABA:    Maybe two or  th ree  t imes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  now a  paragraph 63 i t  says:  

“Desp i te  assu rances tha t  Mr  G igaba gave me I  do  

no t  know i f  he  o f f i c ia l l y  dec la red any g i f t s ,  cash o r  

benef i t s  to  the  ANC and to  the  re levant  government  

au thor i t ies . ”  

I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then we ge t  to  the  next  head ing ,  we 10 

have now on ly  go t  two pages to  go .   The Gupta  money 

counte r,  can you  exp la in  to  us  about  th is  Gupta  money  

counter?  

MS GIGABA:    I  do  no t  l i ke  tha t  par t  a l though i t  i s  no t  you 

but  i t  i s  be fore  the  Commiss ion  so  –  i t  i s  no t  every  t ime I  

w i l l  see  tha t ,  I  on ly  saw i t  one,  i t  was a  funct ion  and th is  –  

tha t  was the  second funct ion  tha t  I  a t tended because th is  

was the  f i r s t  one ,  and tha t  was the  second.  And then we 

were  tak ing  a  tou r  a round the  house and a l l  o f  a  sudden we 

saw th is  cash counter,  bu t  I  though t  i t  was an ATM because  20 

I  have never  seen a  case counter  be fore .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  happened when you saw 

i t?  

MS GIGABA:    When  A jay  was demonst ra t ing  how i t  works?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And how d id  i t  work?  
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MS GIGABA:    So  you jus t  p ress  -  I  do  no t  know how the  

money was put  in  because I  d id  no t  see when the  money  

was put  in  bu t  you jus t  p ress  maybe the  amount  o f  money 

then i t  takes the  money out .   So tha t 's  the  on ly  th ing  I  saw.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And how much money came out?  

MS GIGABA:    I t  was a  lo t  o f  money but  maybe 10 000,00  

but  no t  l i ke ,  a  lo t  o f  money in  te rms o f  l i ke  100 000,00 or  

someth ing  because he was jus t  demonst ra t ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  64  you say:  

“ In  one o f  the  v is i t s  to  the  Gupta  res idence when Mr  10 

G igaba was s t i l l  M in i s te r  o f  DPE,  we a t tended a  

funct ion  a t  the  Gupta  res idence.   A jay  Gupta  took  

us  on  a  tou r  o f  one o f  the  newly  renovated houses  

in  the  Gupta  compound. ”  

I s  tha t  cor rec t?   

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    “We were  par t  o f  a  smal l  g roup o f   

peop le  who were  unknown to  me,  he  showed us a  

room tha t  had been conver ted  in to  a  smal l  c i nema 

and in  another  a rea I  saw a  sauna. ”  20 

Is  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Parag raph 65,  as  you have a l ready 

sa id :  

“ In  one a rea I  saw a  dev i ce  wh ich  looked l i ke  a  
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smal l  vers ion  o f  an  au tomated te l le r  mach ine ,  an  

ATM.   Mr  A jay  Gupta  demonst ra ted  how i t  opera ted  

by  punch ing  an  amount  on  the  keyboard  o f  the  

mach ine ,  wh ich  was 10 000,00,  i f  I  reca l l  co r rec t ly,  

and i t  d ispensed the  cash notes  in  denominat ions o f  

R100,00 and R200,00. ”  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then we dea l ,  you dea l  w i th  the 

conf isca t ion  o f  my dev ices to  dest roy  poss ib le  ev idence.   

You say tha t :  10 

“ In  February  o f  2020,  you asked Mr  G igaba fo r  

d ivo rce . ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say:  

“You do not  want  to  go  in to  any de ta i l  bu t  you w ish  

to  b r ing  the  fo l low ing to  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  

Commiss ion . ”  

What  d id  Mr  G igaba ask you to  do?  

MS GIGABA:    So  he to ld  me I  must  g ive  h im t ime because 20 

he was dea l ing  w i th  -  because tha t  t ime he was busy do ing  

h is  a f f idav i t  to  come to  the  Commiss ion ,  and a l so  he  was 

busy w i th  h is  PhD.   So he sa id  I  must  g ive  h im t ime 

because r igh t  now he is  no t  in  a  s ta te  o f  do ing  the  d ivo rce  

and the  Commiss ion  and h is  PhD a t  the  same t ime.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  61 says:  

“Mr  G igaba asked me to  de lay  the  d ivorce  

proceed ings un t i l  a f te r  he  appears  be fore  the  

Commiss ion . ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then you say tha t :  

“A round June o f  2020 Mr  G igaba asked you fo r  your  

e lec t ron i c  dev ices. ”  

I s  tha t  cor rec t?   10 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  in  what  c i r cumstances d id  

he  ask  you fo r  them,  how d id  tha t  happen? 

MS GIGABA:    He came to  my room,  he  asked me to  g ive  

h im my phones and my lap top ,  then I  asked h im why.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And what  d id  he  say in  response? 

MS GIGABA:    He sa id  the re  was someone a t  home who 

was an IT exper t  who was a t  home to  ass is t  us  to  de le te  

some in fo rmat ion  so  I  asked h im why our  in fo rmat ion  must  

be  de le ted .   I  th ink  on  tha t  day he  d idn ’ t  exp la in  a  lo t  o f  20 

th ings why and then there  was a  second t ime the  person 

came then he asked fo r  my in fo rmat ion  and then I  re fused  

to  g ive  h im my gadgets  so  then he sa t  down he exp la ined  

to  me tha t  the  reason he wants  my gadgets  he  wanted to  

ge t  some in fo rmat ion  because he  is  about  to  wrap up h is  
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ev idence,  because o f  the  Commiss ion .   The prob lem why 

he wants  my dev ices so  then he made an example  about  

when g iv ing  to  the  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  the  t ime when there  was  

tha t  invest iga t ion  about  Br ian  Mole fe  so  when Br ian  sa id  

he  was a t  the  Guptas ,  I  don ’ t  know i f  he  sa id  once  or  two  

t imes,  and then the  invest iga t ion  showed tha t  he  was there  

so  many t imes,  so  he  used tha t  example  to  me,  he  sa id  he  

is  about  to  wrap up h i s  tes t imony,  h is  ev idence but  now he 

a l ready sa id  he  went  to  the  Guptas  two o r  th ree  t imes,  bu t  

now he is  wor r ied  about  my phone in  case someone does  10 

an invest iga t ion  then they w i l l  see  tha t  we were  the re  more  

than so  many t imes,  so  I  sa id  to  h im why don ’ t  you go to  

the  Commiss ion  and te l l  the  t ru th  tha t  you were  there  so  

many t imes,  so  he  sa id  he  doesn ’ t  want ,  then I  re fused to  

h im my gadgets .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And were  there  photog raphs  o f  t r ips 

tha t  he  was a l so  in te res ted  in?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay,  photographs o f  what  t r ips?  

MS GIGABA:    Even t r ips  tha t  we  took togethe r  and t r ips  20 

tha t  I  took  by  myse l f  and the  t r ips  tha t  we took w i th  the 

S ta te  v is i t s .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay and then pa ragraph 66.3 ,  do  

you want  to  read tha t?  

MS GIGABA:    Say tha t  aga in?  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Pa ragraph 66.3  do  you want  to  read  

tha t?  

MS GIGABA:    I  am so t i red ,  can p lease read i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay,  te l l  me i f  i t  i s  r igh t  o r  wrong,  

we have one page le f t ,  we w i l l  see  whether  you fa l l  as leep  

before  I  fa l l  down.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thankfu l l y  tha t  i s  the  las t  page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  i s  the  las t  page,  thank you,  I  

th ink  everyone i s  keep ing  i t  . . . [ ind is t inc t ] .    Now Mr  G igaba  

a lso  asked not  to  –  sor ry  Mr  G igaba a lso  asked me not  to  10 

speak to  the  Commiss ion  nor  Law Enforcement  Agenc ies  

about  Gupta  v is i t s ,  the  cash and the  g i f t s ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then you  ta lk  about  a  domest ic  

inc ident  tha t  occu r red ,  what  happened there?  

MS GIGABA:    Th is  one I  do  no t  want  to  ta lk  about  i t  

because i t  invo l ves my k ids ,  the  domest ic  inc ident  tha t  

happened,  so  fo r  the  sa fe ty  o f  my k ids  I  do  no t  wan t  to  ta lk  

about  i t ,  bu t  someth ing  happened on 18 t h  o f  June.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay,  bu t  we know tha t  that  20 

domest ic  inc ident  then gave r i se  to  a  h igh  cour t  judgment ,  

wh ich  is  re fe r red  to  in  the  press  and there  is  the  c i ta t ion  

g iven,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS GIGABA:    Say tha t  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  gave r i se  to  a  h igh  cour t  judgment  
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in  you r  favour.  

MS GIGABA:    I  don ’ t  unders tand the  quest ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  he  is  say ing  is  i t  cor rec t  tha t  as  a  

resu l t  o f  tha t  inc ident  tha t  you don ’ t  want  to  ta lk  about  o f  

the  18 t h  June 2020 the re  was p roceed ings and a  j udgment  

tha t  was handed down in  your  favour.    

MS GIGABA:    No tha t  was anothe r  inc ident .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  was another  inc ident ,  okay,  a l r igh t ,  

okay.    Mr  Myburgh the  answer  i s  tha t  was  another  

inc ident .  10 

MS GIGABA:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    The one tha t  resu l ted  in  a  judgment  i s  

another  inc ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .    Do I  unders tand co r rec t l y,  I  

am ter r i b ly  so r ry  bu t  –  do  I  unders tand tha t  you do not  w ish  

to  speak to  th is  paragraph?  

MS GIGABA:    Ja ,  fo r  the  sake o f  my k ids .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   And then the  las t  th ing 

dea ls  w i th  the  loss  o f  your  persona l  passpor t s ,  do  you want  

to  jus t  dea l  w i th  tha t  qu ick l y.    What  happened to  your  20 

passpor ts?  

MS GIGABA:    So  las t  month  when we were  do ing  our  

consu l ta t ion  w i th  the  Commiss ion  team then because I  

wanted to  be  spec i f i c  about  da tes  because I  don ’ t  know the 

t r ips  tha t  we took when they happened,  and a l so  I  don ’ t  
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remember  the  pe rsona l  t r ips  and the  S ta te  t r ips  because I  

have two passpor ts .    

 So my ent i re  s tay ing  w i th  h im we  were  no t  a l lowed 

to  keep ou r  d ip lomat ic  passpor ts  so  each and every  t r ip  

when we go overseas the  PA takes i t  and the  Depar tment  

keeps i t  fo r  us ,  so  we are  on ly  a l lowed to  keep ou r  

persona l  passpor ts .   So what  happened,  because the  

Commiss ion  were  ask ing  me about  cer ta in  t r ips  and  I  d idn ’ t  

want  to  g ive  da tes  f rom the  head ,  I  wanted to  be  spec i f i c  

based on how those t r ips  happened,  so  what  happened on 10 

tha t  day in  the  even ing  I  ca l led  h i s  fo rmer  PA,  then I  asked 

her  do  you have our  t rave l l ing  h i s to ry  o r  do  you know what  

i s  the  process  o f  me get t ing  my passpor t  f rom the  

depar tment .   Then she sa id  she has the  who le  h i s to ry  and 

she w i l l  ca l l  me in  f i ve  m inutes .  

 A t  tha t  t ime I  was dr i v ing  f rom Sandton.    Then 

when I  was about  to  ge t  to  Pre tor ia  then I  ca l led  her  tha t  I  

am s t i l l  wa i t ing  then she sa id ,  bu t  her  tone changed,  

because when I  ca l led  he r  in  the  f i rs t  p lace  she was  l i ke  oh  

no,  I   have every th ing ,  I  w i l l  go  th rough the  sys tem now,  I  20 

w i l l  send you every th ing  and I  can get  you,  I  don ’ t  

remember  who she sa id  who w i l l  ge t  my passpor t ,  because 

I  don ’ t  know who keeps i t  and she sa id  I  w i l l  ge t  your  

passpor t  r igh t  now.  

 So then now 25 minutes  la te r  when I  ca l led  her  then 
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she  answered the  phone she was l i ke ,  then her  tone 

a l ready changed,  she was l i ke  oh  no,  I  don ’ t  have the  

records,  I  cannot  g ive  you the  passpor ts ,  she doesn ’ t  know 

how I  am go ing  to  ge t  my passpor ts ,  bu t  now she is  the  

one who used to  keep a l l  my s tu f f  and – bu t  when I  ca l led  

be fore  she sa id  she has every th ing  and she knows how I  

am go ing  to  ge t  i t ,  and then when I  go t  home I  was –  le t  

me jus t  go  on  the  persona l  one,  because I  made the  cop ies  

in  the  morn ing  on  the  day,  then I  fo rgo t  them when I  was  

go ing  to  the  Commiss ion ,  so  I  wanted to  ba lance w i th  the  10 

t r ips  tha t  I  took  w i th  the  S ta te ,  w i th  the  t r ips  tha t  I  took  as  

persona l  t r ips  and I  wanted to  pu t  a l l  o f  them.  

 So I  made cop ies  in  the  morn ing  and I  pu t  them in  

my passpor t .    I  went  to  the  Commiss ion ,  so  when  I  came 

back home a f te r  ca l l ing  –  because  I  was ta lk ing  to  the  PA, 

so  I  was l i ke  I  w i l l  ca l l  in  the  morn ing  to  check how to  ge t ,  

because now she  was jus t  to ta l l y  b lank.  

 So when I  go t  home my passpor t  was not  there ,  the  

cop ies  were  no t  there ,  so  where  I  keep my passpor t  i t  i s  

c loser  to  my bed,  so  i t  i s  my  passpor t  and my k ids  20 

passpor ts ,  I  keep  them,  a l l  o f  them a t  the  same p lace,  so  

when I  opened there  I  on ly  found the  cover  o f  my passpor t ,  

the  pouch,  then my passpor t  was  not  there  and my k ids  

passpor t  was not  there  as  we l l ,  and then I  was shocked,  

because they were  there  in  the  morn ing  and I  ca l led  



26 APRIL 2021 – DAY 382 
 

Page 395 of 416 
 

someone –  I  ca l led  someone e lse  who worked a t  Home 

Affa i rs ,  bu t  he  does not  work  the re  anymore ,  he  was an  

o f f i c ia l ,  then I  asked h im how do I  ge t  passpor ts  and the  

records,  so  then he to ld  me the  process,  wh ich  I  –  he  gave 

me an emai l  o f  someone how do  I  ge t  my t r ips  f rom the  

immigra t ion  wh ich  I  d id ,  I  wro te  an  emai l ,  because tha t ’s   

how he to ld  me  what  to  do ,  and I  d id  tha t ,  bu t  in  the 

morn ing  –  so  the  same day I  sent  the  message  to  the  

Commiss ion  then  I  was l i ke  I  go t  home and my passpor t  i s  

no t  here  and in  the  morn ing  I  met  the  caucus,  and  a lso  I  10 

sent  them the  p i c tu re  o f  the  pouch and then I  sa id  I  don ’ t  

have my passpor ts  anymore ,  can you p lease ass is t  me to  

ge t  the  t r ips ,  because now I  d idn ’ t  even know how do I  ge t  

them.  

 So then in  the  morn ing  I  sent  an  emai l  to  the  

Depar tment ,  so  they wanted –  the re  is  a  lo t  o f  p rocess fo r  

me to  ge t  past  secur i t ies  w i th  i t ,  bu t  they sa id  they w i l l  

g ive  me a l l  the  records  f rom the  immigra t ion ,  so  then a f te r  

tha t  I  went  to  h im,  and I  sa id  Malus i  where  is  my passpor t ,  

because i t  was here  yesterday and I  have been keep ing  my 20 

passpor t  my who le  l i fe ,  so  where  is  my passpor t .   So he 

sa id  your  passpor t ,  I  d idn ’ t  see i t ,  I  was l i ke  okay  where  

are  the  k ids  passpor ts ,  he  sa id  I  d idn ’ t  see them,  then I  

was l i ke  tha t  i s  very  s t range because passpor t s  were  here ,  

and I  a lways keep them,  so  –  bu t  I  am not  say ing  I  am 
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say ing  a  conc lus ion  bu t  what  I  th ink  had happened ,  I  th ink  

when I  ca l led  the  PA the  PA ca l led  h im,  she to ld  h im,  and 

tha t  i s  why my passpor t  was taken,  so  I  on l y  app l ied  two 

weeks ago fo r  a  new one,  so  I  haven ’ t  go  there  to  co l lec t  

i t ,  so  where  I  am s tand ing  r igh t  now I  don ’ t  have my  

passpor t ,  and the  one tha t ,  the  d ip lomat ic  passpor t ,  I  

haven ’ t  rece ived the  records bu t  the  Depar tment  sa id  they 

can g ive  me the  who le  t r ips ,  bu t  I  need to  wr i te  a  le t te r  

because the re  i s  a  po r t ion  where  they sa id  I  need to  wr i te  

a  le t te r  why they need to  g i ve  me the  t r ips ,  because  I  sa id  10 

to  them can they  send them f rom 2009 to  2018,  so  I  th ink  

anyt ime i f  I  were  to  ge t  them I  w i l l  ge t  them,  so  tha t  i s  how 

my passpor t  go t  los t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  Cha i rperson we have no fu r ther  

quest ions fo r  the  w i tness.   I  wou ld  l i ke  i f  I  may –  I  know i t  

i s  la te ,  bu t  to  address you fo r  the  record  on  cer ta in  

aspects  o f  Ms Gigaba ’s  le t te r.    I  don ’ t  want  to  –  I  don ’ t  

want  to  become a  w i tness in  these  proceed ings and  I  don ’ t  

want  to  be  seen  to  be  cross-examin ing  Ms Gigaba about  

these issues,  obv ious l y  th is  i s  someth ing  tha t  we as  the  20 

lega l  team take ser ious ly  and we  are  sympathet ic  to  her  

p l igh t ,  bu t  there  are  some th ings tha t  we need to  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  the  f i rs t  po in t  wh ich  i s  

overa rch ing  and impor tan t  and someth ing  tha t  Ms Gigaba  
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has  a l ready accepted,  i s  tha t  th roughout  the  product ion  o f  

her  a f f idav i t  she was rep resented by  a  pre-eminent  sen ior  

counse l ,  and tha t  sen ior  counse l  was in  fac t  respons ib le 

fo r  p rocur ing  he r  s ignature  o f  the  f ina l  vers ion  o f  the  

a f f idav i t .  

 In  paragraph 8  o f  Ms Gigaba ’s  le t te r,  le t te r  f rom her  

a t to rneys,  she l i s ts  a  number  o f  concerns,  as  she i s  more  

than ent i t led  to  do .   Paragraph 8 .1  and 8 .2  re la te  to  the  

change in  ev idence leaders ,  wh ich  you Cha i rperson have 

a l ready addressed.   Then in  paragraph 8 .3  Ms  Gigaba 10 

re fers  to  the  fac t  tha t  the  a f f idav i t  conta ined cer ta in  th ings  

tha t  a re  no t  w i th in  he r  persona l  knowledge and tha t  seems 

to  be  cor rec t  and a  process has  been put  in  p lace  to  

reso lve  tha t .  

 A t  paragraph 8 .4  she ment ions  tha t  dur ing  the  

consu l ta t ion  tha t  I  had w i th  her  on  the  8 t h  o f  Apr i l  ment ion  

was made o f  why these er rors  had not  been  p icked up  

before ,  and she  is  a lso  cor rec t  when she says  tha t  I  

p roposed tha t  tha t  cou ld  be  c la r i f ied  in  a  supp lementa ry  

a f f idav i t ,  so  we  went  th rough th is  a f f idav i t ,  we noted  20 

cer ta in  e r ro rs ,  and remember  we were  p repar ing  Ms Gigaba  

fo r  ev idence.   We hadn ’ t  as  the  ev idence leaders  f ina l i sed 

th is  a f f idav i t ,  p rocured the  s ignature  on  i t ,  tha t  had been 

done by  he r  sen ior  counse l .   So a f te r  th is  meet ing  I  made 

contac t  w i th  her  sen ior  counse l  and I  s imp ly  sa id  to  h im 
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you  may want  to  cons ider  dea l ing  w i th  these issues .  

 So i t  was a  s i tua t ion  where  we rea l i sed there  were  

er rors ,  and we put  in  p lace  a  mechan ism to  t r y  and c la r i f y  

tha t ,  and in  fac t  a t  8 .4  the  le t te r  reads:  

“As suggested by  Advocate  Myburgh and ag reed to  

by  our  c l ien t  these aspects  cou ld  be  c la r i f ied  in  a  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t . ”  

Now we had hoped tha t  tha t  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  wou ld  

have been produced by  now.   I  have seen a  dra f t  copy o f  

the  a f f idav i t  p repared by  Ms Gigaba ’s  fo rmer  counse l .     10 

 Then we get  to  the  issue o f  secur i t y  concerns .    

Uhm,  you ment ion  a t  paragraph 8.5:  

“Ser ious securi ty concerns pertaining to our  

cl ient ’s safety have been brought to the 

at tent ion of  the commission and an 

undertaking was made that  the commission 

would look into th is aspect .   Our cl ient  has 

not  heard f rom the commission in th is regard 

nor has she been offered any form of  

securi ty or the courtesy of  an explanat ion for  20 

the fai lure to do so.”  

So here I  am af ra id that  th is is the one part  where the 

vers ions of  the two part ies are i r reconci lab le.   Saki le Maseku 

has provided me with a f low chart  of  occasions where he has 

met and evidence leaders have met wi th Ms Gigaba and as I  
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understand i t  and I  am new to this but  as I  understand i t  

securi ty measures were put  in p lace r ight  f rom the beginning 

but  i t  came with a condi t ion and that  is that  Ms Gigaba had 

to t r igger the process.  She had to say I  want to take up your  

offer and as soon as she said that  then those measures 

would be t r iggered.   And repeatedly she was reminded that  

she needed to take up the offer before the measures could 

be t r iggered and she did not  do so.   So that  is what I  am 

instructed to ( ta lk ing over one another. )  

MS GIGABA:   That  is not  t rue at  al l .   I t  is not  t rue at  a l l .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight  wel l .  

MS GIGABA:   I t  is t rue.   I  can say what happened.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja – ja hang on – hang on Ms Gigaba let  

Mr Myburgh f in ish,  make a note of  what you want to say.  

ADV QOFA:   Apologies Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV QOFA:   I  th ink i t  would be proper maybe i f  I  do inter ject  

and clar i fy.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Sorry.  

ADV QOFA:   I  th ink i t  would be important  that  we do clar i fy 20 

because we have consul ted wi th Mr … 

CHAIRPERSON:   No wai t  unt i l  Mr Myburgh has f in ished.   I  

wi l l  g ive you a chance to clar i fy.  

ADV QOFA:   Okay.   Thanks Chairperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So just  so that  I  make sure that  what I  
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am saying accords exact ly wi th what I  am instructed.   And i f  

necessary Chai rperson we can put  up an aff idavi t  to deal  

wi th th is we do not  want to get  in a big debate.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   About th is issue because obviously we 

have an interest  in ensuring the safety and securi ty of  Ms 

Gigaba insofar as we can.   But  for example Mr Maseku 

instructs me that  on the 20t h and the 21s t  of  January Ms 

Mngoma consul ted wi th state capture for two days.   On both 

days Ms Mngoma was offered secur i ty i f  she feels that  her  10 

l i fe is in danger.   Ms Mngoma indicated that  she is not  

scared and wi l l  cont inue wi th her aff idavi t .  

 Then on the 8t h of  February Ms Mngoma a lerted state 

capture commission on threatening cal ls she had received 

and shared screen shots of  some of  these.   Cal ls are f rom a 

no number cal ler.  

 On the 8 t h of  February invest igators alerted the state 

capture head of  securi ty about  the above.   On the 28t h of  

February invest igator returned Ms Magma’s cal l  –  Ms 

Mngoma indicated that  she had received addi t ional  20 

threatening cal ls wi th no name cal ler.   Ms Mngoma shared 

these wi th the invest igators.  

 On the 1s t  of  March invest igator met  wi th the state 

capture commission head of  securi ty and also shared screen 

shots of  threatening cal ls.   Securi ty opt ions were d iscussed 
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wi th the invest igator which were later  shared wi th Ms 

Mngoma.   

 She indicated that  she was okay for  now wi l l  advise 

once she has decided to take up the securi ty opt ion.  

 On the 4 t h of  March Ms Mngoma cal led the 

invest igator regard ing addi t ional  threatening cal ls  screen 

shot  shares – screen shot  shared.    

 10 March Ms Mngoma cal led the invest igator she 

advised that  she fel t  unsafe.   Invest igator alerted her that  

state capture commission is await ing her to advise when she 10 

is ready to take up the securi ty opt ion.   She ind icated that 

she wi l l  move and stay somewhere.   

 20 March state capture commission consul ted wi th  

Ms Mngoma and her legal  advisors.   At  the end of  the 

consul tat ion Ms Mngoma advised that  she st i l l  needs to  

advise the state capture commission when she is ready to  

take up the securi ty offer.  She indicated that  she wi l l  get  

back to the state capture commission.  

 8 Apri l  state capture commission consul ted wi th Ms 

Mngoma.  Ms Mngoma informed that  she st i l l  needed to 20 

advise state capture commission once she had decided to 

take up the securi ty opt ion.  

 Now there may be d i fferent  ways of  v iewing this but  

what you can see on these inst ruct ions is  that  invest igat ions 

are undertaken.   A system was put  in place that  needed to be 
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t r iggered so that  is f rom what I  am instructed.  

 Then the next  complaint  is the cl ient ’s f i rst  aff idavi t  

was leaked to the media and the commission undertook to 

invest igate the source of  the leak and revert  to her.   That  

invest igat ion is  at  a  – I  am told a very advanced stage.   Not  

qui te as simple as i t  might  appear but  act ion is being taken.  

 Then the next  concern and I  am not  saying they are 

unfounded or wi thout  meri t  but  on each of  these things you 

wi l l  see that  there has been an at tempt – there has been 

interact ion – there has been work done by the commission.  10 

 8.7 the complaint  is our cl ient  also highl ighted to the 

commission her d iscomfort  about  the commission shar ing of  

her aff idavi t  wi th  Ajay Gupta wi thout  informing her  or her  

legal  team. 

 Now I  am told that  that  is wrong.   That  there was in  

fact  a discussion and Ms September wi l l  correct  me i f  I  have 

got  th is wrong because I  am told th is evening – there was in 

fact  a discussion between Ms Nkobe and Mr Pretor ius about  

the fact  that  her  3.3 had to be issued in relat ion to Ajay 

Gupta because he was so cent ral  –  is so central  to  th is  20 

aff idavi t  and the 3.3 was then issued in that  context .  

 So i t  was done in consul tat ion wi th her legal  team.  

MS GIGABA:   That  is not  t rue.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hang on.   Ms Gigaba I  wi l l  g ive you a 

chance af ter Mr … 
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MS GIGABA:   And then… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  w i l l  g ive one of  you a chance not  both of  

you – you or your counsel .   Let  us  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  is  that  st ick that  has got  to handed 

around.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.     

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then at  8.8 the commission has 

wrongly suggested that  our cl ient  volunteered to come to the 

commission when the correct  vers ion is that  she was 

approached.  We accept  ent i re ly that  – that  she was 10 

approached by Sikele Maseku af ter  ENCA intervened. 

 So Chai rperson that  is  –  that  is the posi t ion f rom our 

side.   I t  is not  something that  we want to enter into any sort  

of  acr imonious discussion or  debate but  obviously we accept 

that  Ms Mngoma and her counsel  may very wel l  have a 

di fferent  v iew that  we must respect  and then we must f ind 

out  a way to get  to the bot tom of  th ings wi th your – wi th your  

di rect ion and advice.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   I  wi l l  a l low one of  you and not  both of 

you so … 20 

ADV QOFA:   Chai rperson I  th ink 00:07:46 that  we  

CHAIRPERSON:   Counsel  – Counsel  you should be the one 

because you are here and she… 

MS GIGABA:   No I  rather ta lk.  

CHAIRPERSON:   She has brought you here so you can 
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speak on her behal f .  

MS GIGABA:   No I  was saying I  th ink i t  is only fa i r  that  she 

expresses hersel f  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh you prefer that  she – okay.  

ADV QOFA:   Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay Ms Gigaba do you want  to say 

anything.  

MS GIGABA:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   In response.  

MS GIGABA:   About the – the changing of  the leaders i f  you 10 

took that  decision.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS GIGABA:   So when Paul  Pretor ius was leading this  

whole consul tat ion we took l ike three to four hours in a day 

preparing and we got  comfortab le wi th him leading i t  then he 

knows and he promised that  he would be one – he wi l l  be the 

one who wi l l  be leading the evidence.   Then only two weeks 

ago then the 00:08:41 came. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh.  

MS GIGABA:   And most  of  the things he was not  aware – 20 

okay there is errors here there was errors there because the 

team was aware of  the errors.   And he was not  aware 

because he was new to the team.  I  only saw him once and I  

was so uncomfortable to come that  he must  come and lead 

my evidence because I  d id not  prepare wi th him the ent i re  
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preparat ion he was not  there i t  was someone else.   So – and 

also my senior counsel  did not  even know as wel l  when he 

was changed so both of  us were shocked or – because he 

promised us that  he is the one who wi l l  lead so why they 

changed and why were we not  to ld.   That  was one concern.  

 So when i t  comes to the securi ty every t ime I  wi l l  te l l  

S ikele here is th is and there was not  one point  when Sikele 

was showing the threats what was happening even himsel f  

he was – he said to me this is so scary this is get t ing out  of  

hand.   He is the man he was even scared himsel f .   What  10 

about me as the woman?  

 And then he said to me I  wi l l  ta lk to the head of  the 

securi ty I  wi l l  come back we need to do something and on 

that  day he did not  come back.   And then when we were 

having our second consul tat ion then those issues were 

ra ised by my senior counsel  and in the meet ing al l  of  us 

were so cool  because they said no they expla ined how the 

securi ty works and then I  have to choose to be taken in a 

place of  safety or they would – I  wi l l  be given a securi ty.   But 

they said each and every meet ing so and so wi l l  contact  you.  20 

 So no-one has ever contacted me af ter the meet ing.  

The last  consul tat ion where the threats were so bad and then 

– then they said oh he said the head of  the secur i ty says 

show us the proof .   Then I  took a l l  the proof  I  show i t  to  

them.   
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 And then what happened he – so the head of  the 

securi ty  came to the meet ing.   So they said we heard your  

concerns here is  the head of  secur i ty  he wi l l  take care of  

your concerns because we can see – and I  th ink they were 

taking i t  ser iously  al l  00:10:50.   Then they said the head of  

the securi ty wi l l  contact  you af ter th is.  

 So I  do not  even have the number of  the head of  the 

securi ty and he explained also how the secur i ty wi l l  work.   

So every t ime they wi l l  say that  in the meet ing but  no-one 

has ever contacted me.  So no-one told me that  I  have to cal l  10 

them because I  ca l led them to say there is these now – there 

is these – I  th ink this is get t ing out  of  hand – now I  am 

scared.  

 And then they wi l l  say okay we wi l l  go the 00:11:24 

someone wi l l  contact  you.   So no-one has ever cal led me to 

say okay here is the decision – so I  do not  understand where 

i t  was my faul t  because I  to ld them they were supposed to 

cal l  me to say here is the securi ty.   The last  meet ing we 

were wi th them the head of  the securi ty was there.   They 

said this is  his name he wi l l  contact  you – he d id not  contact  20 

me and then I  thought just  because my l i fe was so in – 

because I  was receiving those threats on a dai ly basis.  A lot  

of  cal ls c loser to hundred.   I  have never seen such a thing.   

But  there was a t ime where things that  came a bi t  s low and I  

to ld them I  was on.   So I  said for th is week I  d id not  receive 
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any cal ls but  st i l l  I  am so scared because in the beginning 

when they offered me the securi ty there was nothing.

 Al l  these things came once my aff idavi t  – when my 

aff idavi t  and the media knew about i t  and my aff idavi t  – 

Malusi  have – Ajay have then that  is where al l  these threats 

were a bi t  hect ic.  

 So in the beginning when they offered me the 

securi ty I  to ld them that  no I  am not  scared because no-none 

has threatened me so I  d id not  want to l ie and say I  need a 

securi ty when I  do not  need i t .  I  said no I  am not  scared 10 

there is nothing.    

 But  when they started coming I  to ld them and they 

said they wi l l  contact  me.  So no-one in the commission has 

ever  cal led me to say okay based on the meet ing here is the 

securi ty.   That  is where I  became so uncomfortable that  the 

commission they want me to give evidence and this  evidence 

come with a lot  of  threats in  my l i fe.   Because everyone 

when they were cal l ing me they were l ike where is your  

evidence – we want to see your evidence.   We want to come 

and col lect  the evidence.   Then to deaths go to the 20 

commission.   My l i fe became so miserable dur ing the 

process and I  was tel l ing them there is no even one person 

in th is commission who said here you are coming wi th the 

securi ty go f ind a securi ty.   Even the  last  meet ing my former 

senior counsel  he raised those quest ions and he was l ike 
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guys what happened – what is happening wi th the securi ty?  

They said no we are – we wi l l  sort  i t  out .   He – af ter  here at  

the meet ing they wi l l  contact  Mngoma so these are the 

measures.   So they explained how the commission take the 

measures but  no-one has contacted me.  So i t  is – so – so i t  

is not  t rue that  I  was supposed to cal l  because I  a l ready 

cal led.   So what type of  cal l  must  I  say?  So that  – that  is the 

second thing.  

 About that  I  am not  leaving anyth ing.   Yeah I  th ink 

that  is i t  unless someone 00:14:18 can remind me i f  you 10 

remember ear l ier.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MS GIGABA:   But  the s i tuat ion – I  am very fai led because I  

even said i t  that  I  fe l t  l ike the commission did not  protect  me 

and I  was cooperat ing wi th them and what I  do not  

understand i t  was that  day they sa id I  d id not  appear on the 

commission I  agreed on a Fr iday.   On that  Fr iday I  said 

everything.   They said to me when I  land in Cape Town I  wi l l  

be taken somewhere to give my evidence.   Then I  said I  am 

not  going to do that  because the – how the commission is 20 

l inking everyth ing I  do not  want – because I  have done 

everything to cooperate wi th the commission and the 

commission wi l l  say something and then they would never  

met everything that  they promised me.  Or when i t  comes to 

this the leaking of  my aff idavi t  so the commission said to me 
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everything is conf ident ia l .   Hence I  d id not  even have t ime to 

read and read my aff idavi t  a lot  because we were not  

al lowed to be – they said they cannot send this electronical ly  

– my aff idavi t  because everything needs to be t reated 

conf ident ia l .   And they promised me that  there are a very few 

people in the commission who wi l l  have my aff idavi t .   So my 

senior – former senior counsel  he did not  know that  my 

aff idavi t  was shared wi th Ajay.   How i t  came about?  So I  

received a cal l  f rom Sunday Times.   Sunday Times said to 

me we have your ent i re aff idavi t .   Then I  was shocked 10 

because how can they have my ent i re aff idavi t  when the 

commission sa id to me my aff idavi t  would be t reated wi th – 

conf ident ia l  unt i l  I  appear to the commission.   And then I  

cal led them and I  was very angry I  even cal led the former 

00:16:06 so on that  day a l l  of  us we met in the af ternoon.  I  

ra ised my concerns that  how come you guys leaked my 

aff idavi t  so they said to me no i t  is  not  the commission who 

leaked i t  maybe i t  is Malusi .   Then my former counsel  was 

l ike there is no way Malusi  would leak the aff idavi t  because 

i t  impl icates him.  So on my way going to the meet ing one of  20 

the – one of  the commission team he said to me no you are – 

your aff idavi t  was given only to two people the ent i re 

aff idavi t  which is Malusi  and A jay Gupta.   Then I  was l ike I  

d id not  know that  my aff idavi t  was given because my senior 

counsel  to ld me that  my aff idavi t  would be given to Malusi .  
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 So when we got  to the meet ing he asked al l  of  them 

l ike how Ajay Gupta got  – he was given my aff idavi t  wi thout  

his knowledge and he did not  know that?  So no-one said – 

he d id not  know about i t  and he was l ike why guys gave h im 

– my cl ient ’s aff idavi t  because he does not  even cooperate 

wi th the commission?  He is  not  even prepared to come to 

the commission so why you are giving him the aff idavi t?  

 And on that  for me my quest ion is because we were 

not  al lowed to receive the aff idavi t  v ia elect ronic – e lectronic 

Ajay – A jay Gupta stays in Dubai  so how did he receive i t?   10 

So us who are cooperat ing wi th the commission then they 

brought i t  to me v ia the other day they – i t  was the USB then 

af ter that  i t  was copies.   But  now Ajay Gupta have my ent i re 

– so I  fe l t  l ike the commission did not  keep to thei r  promises.  

 So I  said because of  that  I  do not  want to come to the 

commission,  I  do not  want to give my – because you say this 

and you say that  and I  was not  happy that  my aff idavi t  was 

given to Ajay wi thout  me being told   because they to ld me a 

few days ago that  they would give my aff idavi t  to Malusi  and 

I  asked why then they said they quoted why he needs to be 20 

given – and what what and also because of  his impl icated in.  

 Then I  understood but  Ajay,  mysel f  the former 

counsel  we did not  know about i t .   And then the leak to the 

Sunday Times that  one I  d id not  take i t  wel l  because I  fe l t  

l ike my aff idavi t  was supposed to be protected especial ly  
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because the ent i re team of  the commission knew that  my l i fe 

was under threat .  

 So when my – my aff idavi t  was sent  – was leaked to 

the media so what they did the day we met al l  of  us.   My 

former senior counsel  was upset  as wel l .   Mysel f  was l ike 

this but  they apologised.  They said they would do an 

invest igat ion because each and every copy of  the aff idavi t  

has a mark on so the commission wi l l  know who leaked the 

aff idavi t .   

 And I  am st i l l  wai t ing for that  because I  have not  10 

received that  exact  – who leaked the ent i re aff idavi t .  

 So those were the concerns that  made me not  to 

adhere to the commission not  just  because I  was 

disrespect ful  of  the commission or I  was undermin ing the 

commission.   I  thought l ike the way everything was t reated i t  

was not  in the manner that  I  was promised.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Chai rperson - I  am sorry Chai r.   I  just  

have – I  –  I  would l ike to correct  something that  I  said as 

soon as I  can? 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  having l istened to Mr Gigaba about 

Ajay Gupta receiving the aff idavi t  I  asked Ms September 

whether I  was r ight  in relat ion to what I  had told you that  

there was a discussion between Mr Ngotome and Mr 
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[ Ind ist inct ]  about  the aff idavi t  being sent  to  Ajay Gupta.  

 He tel ls me there was no discussion what I  said to  

you was there was a discussion about the t iming of  the 

issuing of  the 3.3’s i t  was not  a d iscussion par t icular ly  

around Ajay Gupta so Ms Gigaba may very wel l  be r ight .   

She tel ls  me of  course that  who is  impl icated and to whom 

3.3’s must  issues clear ly as a matter of  law.  So there was 

not  a – there was not  a discussion expressly around (not  

speaking into mic) .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay al r ight .   Ms Gigaba i t  is  –  i t  is good 10 

that  you have art iculated what  your concerns were and are 

and the legal  team has deal t  wi th those matters that  they are 

able to deal  wi th.   I  th ink Mr Myburgh i t  would be good that  

there be an aff idavi t  that  expla ins everything f rom the side of  

the invest igators.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or the legal  team in response to the – to  

the  concerns and a copy thereof  obviously should be made 

avai lab le to Ms Gigaba’s legal  team and once they have got  

i t  i t  would be up to them whether  they want to  f i le an 20 

aff idavi t  that  responds to i t  and then one can i t  f rom there 

just  so that  we know exact ly as far as possible exact ly what 

happened.  So that  is the one point .  

 The second point  I  want  to make is that  wi th regard 

to leaks Ms Gigaba you may or may not  be aware but  dur ing 
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in – in 2018 soon af ter the commission had started having 

hearings we had a problem of  wi tness’ aff idavi ts leaking or  

f inding their  way to the media and we were not  sure whether 

i t  was happening f rom within the commission or whether i t  

was people who were served wi th  copies in  terms of  the 

ru les of  the commission that  is people who were impl icated 

 I  went  on record and said that  I  was asking the 

invest igat ion team to invest igate how that  had happened 

because a number of  people were also complain ing and 

there was an invest igat ion that  was done then and I  do not  10 

think i t  was the only one I  th ink later there was another one 

and I  had appealed to the media p lease not  publ ish 

informat ion f rom the commission that  is not  author ised – that 

is not  off ic ia l  and a lot  of  media houses compl ied but  there 

was one or two that  did not  comply and publ ic ly I  have talked 

about  them I  have said which ones they are.   I  know that  one 

of  them is I  th ink Sunday Independence or Independents on 

Sunday and I  th ink at  a certain stage Business Day also did 

that  -  d id not  comply but  a lot  of  other media houses 

respected the processes of  the commission.  20 

 But  the point  I  want to make to you to make you is  

that  the invest igat ions that  in the past  have been conducted 

have not  always been able to determine exact ly how whether 

the media got  the informat ion f rom the commission or f rom 

somebody else.  I  th ink maybe at  some stage there was an 
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invest igat ion that  said the leak would not  have come f rom 

the commission must  have come from outside.   I  am not  sure 

but  invest igat ions have been done in the past .  Some of  the 

invest igat ions have not  been able to pin down who exact ly  

did that .  

 So – but  Mr Myburgh has said that  he has been told 

that  the invest igat ion in regard to th is leak is at  an advanced 

stage and – so once i t  has been completed he wi l l  need to – 

the commission wi l l  need to let  you know exact ly what the 

outcome is.  10 

 So any leak of  informat ion that  has not  been 

presented to the commission and by way in a publ ic hearing 

is most  regret table.  But  I  just  make the point  that  we have 

been talk ing about i t    There have been invest igat ions in the 

past  and whereas a number of  media houses have respected 

our – respected our processes.  There are some who have 

not  done so.    

 So but  once the invest igat ion has completed the – 

you wi l l  be not i f ied what the outcome is.  

MS GIGABA:   Okay can I  ask something? 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MS GIGABA:   So since you have heard al l  my concerns and 

also I  th ink you are aware I  have been cooperat ing wi th the 

commission and I  feel  for you to summon me i t  was a b i t  

harsh because I  just  did not  –  not  just  come to the 
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commission.   So now in terms of  th is summons where do we 

stand? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  the summons you have compl ied wi th  

the summons is i t  not?  You have been summoned – you 

have been - you have compl ied wi th summons and the 

summons was issued because your legal  representat ive 

informed the commission that  you had wi thdrawn your  

part ic ipat ion you had decided to wi thdraw i t  and you have 

conf i rmed that  you had wi thdrawn i t  so the issuing of  the 

summons was f ine.   So i t  was f ine.   You may have had 10 

certain concerns but  once you – we were aware that  you had 

informat ion that  is important  for the commission you had 

deposed to an aff idavi t ,  you had undertaken to come to the 

commission but  you changed your  mind.   I t  was proper  that   

summons be issued.  

MS GIGABA:   That  is – now are you aware that  I  am not  just  

did not  come to the commission? 

MS GIGABA:   Wel l  I  am aware that  you have certain 

concerns I  th ink at  that  t ime i t  was said that  you d id have 

certain concerns but  I  th ink we – i t  was made clear even 20 

then I  th ink I  must  have said that  even i f  you had – you had 

concerns you needed to come to the commission and 

art iculate your concerns here rather than say I  am not  going 

there because of  whatever concerns.  

 I f  you had come here and art iculated your concerns 
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then that  would have been di fferent .   Okay.    

 We – this is the longest  session that  we have had.   I t  

is now about twelve minutes past  e leven.   I  th ink we need to 

adjourn and we do need to adjourn because al though i t  is a 

publ ic hol iday tomorrow some of  us wi l l  be working.   So the 

commission wi l l  be si t t ing tomorrow this is for the benef i t  of  

the publ ic.   I  w i l l  be hearing the evidence of  Mr Mosebenzi  

Zwane former Min ister of  Mineral  Resources tomorrow.  

 So we – we wi l l  cont inue wi th ev idence to t ry and 

f in ish our work wi thin t ime.  I  take this opportuni ty to thank 10 

everybody for the ir  cooperat ion for  us to have been able to 

si t  unt i l  th is  t ime.   Thank you to the staff  and the 

technic ians,  thank you to you Mr Myburgh and your team.  

Thank you to Ms Gigaba – thank you to her  team for  thei r  

cooperat ion.   Thank you very much to everybody for  having 

cooperated so that  we could si t  la te and f in ish Ms Gigaba’s 

evidence.    

 I f  her team wishes to re-examine arrangements can 

be made for the re-examinat ion to  happen at  another date – 

another t ime but  then they would have to communicate that .  20 

 Thank you very much – we adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 27 APRIL 2021 
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